Public Document Pack

ABERDEEN

CITY COUNCIL

To: Councillor Malik, Convener; Councillor Houghton, Vice-Convener; and Councillors
Allard, Alphonse, Bonsell, Massey, McRae, van Sweeden and Yuill.

Town House,
ABERDEEN 11 February 2026

AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

The Members of the AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE are requested to
meetin Committee Room 2 - Town House on THURSDAY, 19 FEBRUARY 2026 at 2.00

pm.

JENNI LAWSON
CHIEF OFFICER - GOVERNANCE

BUSINESS

NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS

1.1 There are no items of urgent business at this time

DETERMINATION OF EXEMPT BUSINESS

2.1 Members are requested to determine that any exempt business be
considered with the Press and Public excluded

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3.1 Members are requested to intimate any declarations of interest

DEPUTATIONS

4.1 There are no requests at this time

MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING

5.1 Minute of Previous Meeting of 27 November 2025 (Pages5 - 12)




COMMITTEE PLANNER

6.1 Committee Business Planner (Pages 13 - 16)

NOTICES OF MOTION

7.1 There are none at this time

REFERRALS FROM COUNCIL, COMMITTEES AND SUB COMMITTEES

8.1 There are none at this time

COMMITTEE BUSINESS

Risk Management

9.1 ALEO Assurance Hub Workplan and Terms of Reference - CORS/26/033
(Pages 17 - 30)

Legal Obligations

9.2 Use of Investigatory Powers Annual report - CORS/26/032 (Pages 31 - 40)

Scrutiny

9.3 Lessons learned following the decision of the Court of Session: Norman
Esslemont v Aberdeen City Council - CRE/26/035 (Pages 41 - 90)

Internal Audit

9.4 Corporate Landlord Responsibilities- Follow Up Report - F&C/26/034
(Pages 91 - 96)

9.5 Internal Audit Charter - IA/26/002 (Pages 97 - 116)

9.6 Internal Audit Update Report - IA/26/001 (Pages 117 - 134)

9.7 RAAC Response - AC2610 (Pages 135 - 158)

9.8 Agency Costs - AC2604 (Pages 159 - 182)




9.9 City Region Deal - AC2611 (Pages 183 - 206)

9.10 Trade Waste - AC2614 (Pages 207 - 226)

9.11 Internal Audit Plan 2026-2029 - 1A/26/003 (Pages 227 - 250)

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS

10.1 There is no exempt business at this time

Integrated Impact Assessments related to reports on this agenda can be viewed here
Search Integrated Impact Assessments | Aberdeen City Council

To access the Service Updates for this Committee please click here

Website Address: aberdeencity.gov.uk

Should you require any further information about this agenda, please contact Karen
Finch, tel 01224 053945 or email kfinch@aberdeencity.gov.uk


https://sites.aberdeencity.gov.uk/search-integrated-impact-assessments
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13450&path=0
http://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5.1

AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

ABERDEEN, 27 November 2025. Minute of Meeting of the AUDIT, RISK AND
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE. Present:- Councillor Malik, Convener; and Councillors
Allard, Alphonse, Bonsell, Clark (as substitute for Councillor McRae), Massey,
van Sweeden and Yuill.

The agenda and reports associated with this minute can be found here.
Please note that if any changes are made to this minute at the point of

approval, these will be outlined in the subsequent minute and this document
will not be retrospectively altered.

MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING OF 11 SEPTEMBER 2025
1. The Committee had before it the minute of its meeting of 11 September 2025.

The Committee resolved:-
to approve the minute as a correct record.

COMMITTEE BUSINESS PLANNER

2. The Committee had before it the Committee Business Planner prepared by the
Chief Officer — Governance.

The Committee resolved:-
to note the content of the business planner.

ALEO ASSURANCE HUB UPDATE REPORT - CORS/25/268

3. The Committee had before it a report by the Executive Director of Corporate
Services which provided assurance on the governance arrangements, risk management
and financial management of Arm’s Length External Organisations (ALEOs) as detailed
within the ALEO Assurance Hub’s terms of reference.

The report recommended: -

that the Committee -

(@ to note the level of assurance provided by each ALEO on governance
arrangements, risk management and financial management respectively and the
risk ratings applied by the ALEO Assurance Hub, as detailed in appendices B-H;
and

(b)  to note that the ALEO Assurance Hub would discuss any outstanding issues
specifiedinthe appendices with ALEO representatives, with a view to maintaining
low/very low risk ratings and improving any medium risk ratings to low/very low.

The Assurance Manager advised that the governance risk rating was low in relation to
BPJV.

Page 5


https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=507&MId=9611&Ver=4

AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
27 November 2025

In response to a question relating to Aberdeen Performing Arts, and what the acronym
CE stood for, to note that this was Cyber Essentials.

In response to questions relating to Bon Accord Care and whether a formal business
plan and medium term financial plan would be put in place, the Chief Officer — Finance
advised that work was ongoing to complete the medium term financial plan for 2025-26
to 2027-28.

The Committee resolved:-
@) to note the update provided in relation to the governance risk rating of BPJV; and
(i) to otherwise approve the recommendations contained in the report.

COUNTER FRAUD POLICY - CORS/25/269

4, The Committee had before it a report by the Executive Director of Corporate
Services which presented the updated Counter Fraud Policy.

The report recommended: -

that the Committee -

(@) approves the Counter Fraud Policy attached at Appendix A; and

(b) notes the associated Counter Fraud Policy Guidance attached at Appendix B.

In response to a question relating to the Integrity Group, the Counter Fraud Officer
advised that the group was made up of officers from across the Council whose role was
to oversee the new Fraud Risk Management framework and that they reported to the
Risk Board.

In response to a question relating to the main changes in the versions of the policy, the
Counter Fraud Officer advised that the new policy provided effective guidance to officers
to identify, manage and record evidence of fraud.

In response to questions relating to the Counter Fraud Officers and the Fraud Sharepoint
site, the Counter Fraud Officer advised that the Counter Fraud Officers were Council
employees who operated under the Chief Officer — Finance and that a fraud page was
available on the intranet which was available to officers and Councillors.

In response to a question relating to the terminology used in fraud models and why
personality analysis was used in the fraud pentagon model, the Counter Fraud Officer
advised that the fraud models had developed over time to capture what fraud was and
how to prevent it, with personality components added at later stages.

In response to a question relating to whether the new policy was a significant

enhancement or an update to the existing policy, the Counter Fraud Officer advised that
it was a significant enhancement due to the Council now having an obligation to prove

Page 6



AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
27 November 2025

they were taking steps to prevent fraud where officers were actively looking to identify
fraud weaknesses resulting in proactive measures being implemented.

In response to a question relating to the Counter Fraud Policy and how the exposure to
fraud would be managed by the ALEO Assurance Hub, the Assurance Manager advised
that the ALEO Assurance Hub looked for assurance across all aspects of governance
with the workplan setting out the details of what was expected in terms of providing
assurance around counter fraud. She further advised that the Counter Fraud Officer had
held a briefing session for ALEO’s around this.

In response to a question relating to this Committee’s role and the nature of the reports
from the Chief Officer — Finance, the Chief Officer — Finance advised that where there
were any identified fraud related matters, that reports would be submitted to this
Committee.

In response to a question relating to what the three levels of defence were in relation to
fraud, the Counter Fraud Officer advised that these were Doers, Helpers and Checkers
with assurance taken from controls across the model.

In response to a question relating to whether consideration was given to the existing
responsibilities for officers when policies were updated or replaced, the Assurance
Manager advised that all policies when reviewed where presented to the Policy Group
first to ensure that officer responsibilities were cross referenced across both versions.

In response to a question relating to the expectations of ALEO’s and who was
responsible, the Counter Fraud Officer advised that each ALEO were responsible for
compliance with legislation which the ALEO Assurance Hub would monitor to ensure
that the Council were not exposed, with the Council manging their own exposure.

The Committee resolved:-
to approve the recommendations contained in the report.

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2025/26- ACTION PLAN & KEY DATES - CORS/25/267

5. The Committee had before it a report by the Executive Director of Corporate

Services which provided high level information and key dates in relation to the 2025/26
Annual Accounts including linkages to the plans and timetables of the Council's External
Auditors.

The report recommended: -
that the Committee note the information in relation to the 2025/26 annual accounts
process contained in the report.

In response to a question relating to a recent training session for the Committee and the
list of things that would be useful for the accounts, the Assurance Manager advised that

Page 7



AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
27 November 2025

the Senior Audit Manager would hold detailed sessions ahead of the accounts being
presented to the Committee. She further advised that the training programme to roll out
scrutiny training for other committee’s was being developed.

In response to a question relating to what additional actions were required to comply with
the regulations of being listed on the London Stock Exchange (LSE), the Chief Officer —
Finance advised that there were some procedural changes implemented which were set
out in the Bond Protocol. He further advised that the main impact was preparation and
reporting of the annual accounts within a compressed timeframe.

The Committee resolved:-
to approve the recommendation contained in the report.

INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT -1A/25/013

6. The Committee had before ita report by the Chief Internal Auditor which provided
an update on the work of Internal Audit since the last update to Members. The report
contained details of progress against the approved Internal Audit plans, audit
recommendations follow ups, and other relevant matters for the attention of the
Committee.

The report recommended: -

that the Committee —

(@) note the progress of the Internal Audit Plan; and

(b) note the progress that management had made with implementing
recommendations agreed in Internal Audit reports.

In response to a question relating to the high number of overdue audit recommendations,
the Audit Team Manager advised that Internal Audit had no concerns regarding the
number and that management were providing updates in relation to the progress. The
Assurance Manager advised that the audit recommendations were monitored by the Risk
Board.

In response to a question relating Audit AC2404 and when the NEC system would be
available, the Executive Director of Corporate Services advised that the system was a
system that would be used by more than one cluster in relation to property and housing
services which would require digital support for each of the clusters to go live in the first
guarter of 2026.

In response to a question relating to the executive summary and the three reviews
mentioned versus the two reports before the Committee and whether the third report
would be presented to the Committee, the Audit Team Manager advised that the third
review was inrelation to financial controls that was issued to management only and that
a separate report was presented to this Committee at its last meeting by the Chief Officer
— Finance.

Page 8



AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
27 November 2025

In response to a question relating to Audit AC2418 and whether an alternative partner
could be appointed, the Climate and Environment Policy Manager advised that there was
a well established relationship with the partner and that on this occasion this would be
brought in house to complete the work and that this had added additional work onto the
team.

In response to a question relating to Audit AC2504 and whether the reporting on business
planning would be a specific piece of work or part of standard workstreams, the Executive
Director of Families and Communities advised that there was a Resettlement Strategy
and Delivery Planin operation with the audit providing areas to enhance the work already
being undertaken.

The Committee resolved:-
to approve the recommendations contained in the report.

COMPLAINTS HANDLING - AC2603

7. The Committee had before it a report by the Chief Internal Auditor which
presented the planned Internal Audit report on Complaints Handling.

The report recommended:
that the Committee review, discuss and comment on the issues raised within this report
and the attached appendix.

In response to a question relating to the increase in stage 1 complaints and the reasons
for this, the Customer Services Manager advised that there was an increased awareness
of recording complaints and that an analysis was undertaken and presented in the annual
report showing the key themes for the year. She further advised that there were different
trends each year and these these varied across the organisation.

In response to a question relating to why there was no subsequent orindependent review
to confirm closed complaints had been categorised correctly and whether this was
something that would be undertaken in the future, the Customer Services Manager
advised that where capacity allowed within the central team, spot checks would be
undertaken to review the outcomes of complaints, working with services to ensure the
correct use of outcomes were recorded, providing additional training where required.
She further advised that new guidance had been issued via the intranet.

In response to a question relating to why central records did not indicate timescales or
progress, the Customer Service Manager advised that this related to lessons learnt which
services are asked to identify. She stated that the actions to follow up on the identified
lessons learnt could take a variety of formats with differing timescales that the service
managed and were not reported back to the central team.

Page 9



AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
27 November 2025

In response to a question relating to whether compliments were also recorded, the
Customer Services Manager advised that these were recorded and feedback provided
to the relevant service.

The Committee resolved:-
to note the report and the attached internal audit report.

CARBON BUDGETING - AC2602

8. The Committee had before it a report by the Chief Internal Auditor which
presented the planned Internal Audit report on Carbon Budgeting.

The report recommended:
that the Committee review, discuss and comment on the issues raised within this report
and the attached appendix.

In response to a question relating to the risk rating and whether it would be categorised
differently if judged on the minimum statutory duty, the Climate and Environment Policy
Manager advised that the Council were going beyond the statutory requirements to
deliver net zero by 2045 and that the scrutiny undertaken was based on the work taking
place rather than the statutory duties. The Audit Team Manager advised that a goal had
been set to reach net zero by 2045 where good carbon budget setting and monitoring
would drive that and this is where the major risk rating came from.

In response to a question relating to the service not accepting the risk rating and whether
actions were being taken to address the recommendations made within the audit, the
Chief Executive advised that the Council were on a journey of materiality with carbon
budgeting setting and reporting being new which would take time to fully discuss and
integrate carbon budgeting processes throughout the Council.

In response to questions relating to the Climate Oversight Group and how long they had
been established and the reasons for frequent absences from the meetings, the Climate
and Environment Policy Manager advised that the group had been meeting on a regular
basis since the start of climate change in 2020/2021 and that there had been challenges
with diary clashes for some attendees. The Chief Executive advised that the specialist
officers required to have leadership and commitment from the senior leadership team
with accountability from the Corporate Management Team (CMT). She further advised
that the introduction of quarterly reports on carbon budgeting from the Chief Officer —
Strategic Place Planning to the CMT would see improved patrticipation.

In response to a question relating to whether there was a requirement for more people
to be involved with the Climate Oversight Group to ensure business was completed, the
Chief Executive advised that the Council had specialists and that the challenge was the
data and how it was gathered. The Climate and Environment Policy Manager advise that
the Climate Oversight Group monitored the process and ensured that the key information
was available to those making key decisions.

Page 10



AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
27 November 2025

In response to a question relating to ensuring that there was a defined process in place
to chieve a balanced carbon budget and whether the Council would have this in place,
the Climate and Environment Policy Manager advised that carbon budgeting guidance
had been issued to officers and that although a budget setting process was in place it
had not been documented. He further advised that this had now been drafted with an
expectation to have it finalised by the year end.

In response to a question relating to whether carbon budgeting key decision making
processes were quantified and whether there were barriers to quantifying, the Climate
and Environment Policy Manager advised that the quantifying of data was different
across the sectors which all required methodologies to measure carbon data. He further
advised that the Scottish Climate Intelligent Service were developing industry standards
however there was not a timescale at this stage.

In response to a question relating to how home working carbon data was quantified, the
Climate and Sustainability Policy Team Lead advised that there was set methodology
used to capture the data.

In response to a question relating to the reporting of carbon budget monitoring, Climate
and Sustainability Policy Team Lead advised that carbon data was collated on a quarterly
basis with the data reported annually.

In response to a question relating to whether the 2024/25 target would be met, the
Climate Change and Environment Manager advised that for that period, the figures would
be different due to a period of time where the Energy from Waste plant was not
operational.

In response to a question relating to when the Energy Board was established, the Interim
Chief Officer — Strategic Place Planning advised that it was established in October 2024
which was chaired by the Executive Director of City Regeneration and Environment and
met on a regular basis.

In response toa question relating to whether the national template for recording data
changed, the Climate and Sustainability Policy Team Lead advised that the templates
were preloaded with the conversion factors and that it was known in advance if any
guestions had been altered.

The Committee resolved:-

0] to note that officers would circulate the methodology used to capture home
working carbon data out with the meeting; and

(i) to otherwise note the report and the attached internal audit report.

- COUNCILLOR M. T.MALIK, Convener

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



C

D

E

AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE BUSINESS PLANNER
The Business Planner details the reports which have been instructed by the Committee as well as reports which the Functions expect to be submitting for the calendar year.

Delayed or
Report Title Minute Reference/Committee Decision Update Report Author Chief Officer Directorate Terms of I::::::nn;i::jzf Explanation if delayed, removed or
or Purpose of Report Reference transferred
transfer, enter
either D, R, or T
2
3 19 February 2026
Use of Investigatory Powers Annual to present the use of investigatory powers |a report is on the agenda Jessica Anderson Governance Corporate Services 5.2
report annual report
4 |CORS/26/032
SPSO Decisions, Inspector of In order to provide assurance to Committee Lucy McKenzie People and Citizens | Corporate Services 6.4 R There have been no SPSO decisions since
Crematoria Complaint Decisions that complaints and Scottish Welfare Fund the last report to Committee.
applications are being handled
appropriately, this report provides
information on all Scottish Public Services
Ombudsman (SPSO) and Inspector of
Crematoria decisions made in relation to
Aberdeen City Council since the last
5 reporting cycle.
-U Internal Audit Update Report To provide an update on progress of the areport is on the agenda Jamie Dale Internal Audit Corporate Services 2.2
W) 1A/26/001 Internal Audit Plan, Audit
Recommendations Follow Up and other
relevant information for the Committee.
Internal Audit Charter to present the Internal Audit Charter for a report is on the agenda Jamie Dale Internal Audit Corporate Services 21
L2 |IA/26/002 2026-2027
(D) Internal Audit Plan 2026-2029 to present the Internal Audit Plan for 2026- |a report is on the agenda Jamie Dale Internal Audit Corporate Services 21
8 |IA/26/003 2029
City Region Deal The objective of this audit is to provide areport is on the agenda Jamie Dale Internal Audit Corporate Services 2.2
AC2611 assurance over the governance and
financial spend of the Aberdeen City
9 Region Deal.
RAAC Response The objective of this review is to obtain areport is on the agenda Jamie Dale Internal Audit Corporate Services 2.2
AC2610 assurances around compliance with safety
regulations and mitigation of risks to public
10 safety.
Agency Costs The objective of this audit is to ensure that |a report is on the agenda Jamie Dale Internal Audit Corporate Services 2.2
AC2604 appointments are made from appropriately
tendered contracts and that individual
appointments are adequately managed.
11
Trade Waste The objective of this audit is to consider a report is on the agenda Jamie Dale Internal Audit Corporate Services 22
AC2614 whether adequate control is in place
covering trade waste income and
expenditure, that appropriate agreements
are in place and that accounting
12 arrangements are robust.

T'9 Wai-epueby



C

D |

E

AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE BUSINESS PLANNER
The Business Planner details the reports which have been instructed by the Committee as well as reports which the Functions expect to be submitting for the calendar year.

Report Title

Minute Reference/Committee Decision
or Purpose of Report

Update

Report Author

Chief Officer

Directorate

Terms of
Reference

Delayed or
Recommended
for removal or
transfer, enter
either D, R, or T

Explanation if delayed, removed or
transferred

13

Corporate Landlord Responsibilities
F&C/26/034

ARSC - 27/07/25

(ii) to note that the Chief Officer — Corporate
Landlord would provide a report to
Committee in two cycles detailing the
progress on the audit recommendations,
including detail on which matters were
related to available budget and which were
in relation to the updating and reviewing of
procedures

areport is on the agenda

Stephn Booth

Corporate Landlord

Families and
Communities

23

14

ALEO Assurance Hub Workplan and
ToR
CORS/26/033

To present the ALEO Assurance Hub
Workplan for 2026 including dates for
reporting

a report is on the agenda

Vikki Cuthbert

Governance

Corporate Services

1.3

ETRO2 Lessons Learnt
CRE/26/035

Delayed from May 2025

The purpose of this report is to detail the
lessons learnt regarding advice given by
officers on the Motion to Council on 11th
October 2024 relating to Report
CR&E/24/287 — City Centre Transport
Measures.

a report is on the agenda

Mark Reilly

Operations

City Regeneration &
Environment

6.1

ZE ooed

14 May 2

026

17

Use of Investigatory Powers - Quarter 1

to present the use of investigatory powers
quarterly report.

Jessica Anderson

Governance

Corporate Services

52

18

SPSO Decisions, Inspector of
Crematoria Complaint Decisions

In order to provide assurance to Committee
that complaints and Scottish Welfare Fund
applications are being handled
appropriately, this report provides
information on all Scottish Public Services
Ombudsman (SPSO) and Inspector of
Crematoria decisions made in relation to
Aberdeen City Council since the last
reporting cycle.

Lucy McKenzie

People and Citizens

Corporate Services

6.4

19

Unaudited Annual Accounts 2025-26

to present the unaudited annual accounts
and registered charities accounts for 2025-
26

Lesley Fullerton

Finance

Corporate Services

41

20

External Audit Plan

to present the External Audit Plan for the
2025-26 audit of the accounts

Anne MacDonald

External Audit

Corporate Services

3.1

21

Internal Audit Update Report

To provide an update on progress of the
Internal Audit Plan, Audit
Recommendations Follow Up and other
relevant information for the Committee.

Jamie Dale

Internal Audit

Corporate Services

22

22

Internal Audit Reports

Reports that have been finalised will be
submitted to Committee

Jamie Dale

Internal Audit

Corporate Services

22

23

25 June 2026

24

Use of Investigatory Powers - Quarter 2

to present the use of investigatory powers
quarterly report.

Jessica Anderson

Governance

Corporate Services

52




C

D

E

AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE BUSINESS PLANNER
The Business Planner details the reports which have been instructed by the Committee as well as reports which the Functions expect to be submitting for the calendar year.

Report Title

Minute Reference/Committee Decision
or Purpose of Report

Update

Report Author

Chief Officer

Directorate

Terms of
Reference

Delayed or
Recommended
for removal or
transfer, enter
either D, R, or T

Explanation if delayed, removed or
transferred

25

SPSO Decisions, Inspector of
Crematoria Complaint Decisions

In order to provide assurance to Committee
that complaints and Scottish Welfare Fund
applications are being handled
appropriately, this report provides
information on all Scottish Public Services
Ombudsman (SPSO) and Inspector of
Crematoria decisions made in relation to
Aberdeen City Council since the last
reporting cycle.

Lucy McKenzie

People and Citizens

Corporate Services

6.4

26

Corporate Risk Register, Cluster
Assurance Maps and Inspections
Planner

to present the Corporate Risk Register,
Cluster Assurance Maps and Inspections
Planner

Ronnie McKean

Governance

Corporate Services

1.1

Risk Appetite Annual Review

to present the Council's updated Risk
Appetite Statement

Ronnie McKean

Governance

Corporate Services

1.1

ALEO Assurance Hub Update Report

To provide an update of risk and financial
management and governance
arrangements in accordance with Hub TOR
and annual workplan.

Vikki Cuthbert

Governance

Corporate Services

1.3

[=be

External Audit Annual Report 2025-26

to present the the Extwernal Audit annual
report

Anne MacDonald

Exteranal Audit

Corporate Services

3.1

30

Audited Annual Accounts for 2025-26

to predsent the audited annual accounts for
2025-26 and the registered charities
accounts for 2025-26

Lesley Fullerton

Finance

Corporate Services

4.1

Internal Audit Annual Report 2025-26

to present the Internal Audit Annual Report
for 2025-26

Jamie Dale

Internal Audit

Corporate Services

21

32

Internal Audit Update Report

To provide an update on progress of the
Internal Audit Plan, Audit
Recommendations Follow Up and other
relevant information for the Committee.

Jamie Dale

Internal Audit

Corporate Services

22

33

Internal Audit Reports

Reports that have been finalised will be
submitted to Committee

Jamie Dale

Internal Audit

Corporate Services

22

34

24 September 2026

35

Use of Investigatory Powers - Quarter 3

to present the use of investigatory powers
quarterly report.

Jessica Anderson

Governance

Corporate Services

5.2

36

SPSO Decisions, Inspector of
Crematoria Complaint Decisions

In order to provide assurance to Committee
that complaints and Scottish Welfare Fund
applications are being handled
appropriately, this report provides
information on all Scottish Public Services
Ombudsman (SPSO) and Inspector of
Crematoria decisions made in relation to
Aberdeen City Council since the last
reporting cycle.

Lucy McKenzie

People and Citizens

Corporate Services

6.4




C

D |

E

AUDIT, RISK AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE BUSINESS PLANNER
The Business Planner details the reports which have been instructed by the Committee as well as reports which the Functions expect to be submitting for the calendar year.

Report Title

Minute Reference/Committee Decision
or Purpose of Report

Update

Report Author

Chief Officer

Directorate

Terms of
Reference

Delayed or
Recommended
for removal or
transfer, enter
either D, R, or T

Explanation if delayed, removed or
transferred

37

Business Continuity Annual Report

to provide the annual assurance report on
the Council's Business Continuity
arrangements

Ronnie McKean

Governance

Corporate Services

1.2

3

®

Information Governance Management
Report 2025-26

to present the annual report for the
Council's Infromation Governance

Caroline Anderson

Data Insights

Corporate Services

1.4

39

Internal Audit Update Report

To provide an update on progress of the
Internal Audit Plan, Audit
Recommendations Follow Up and other
relevant information for the Committee.

Jamie Dale

Internal Audit

Corporate Services

22

40

Internal Audit Reports

Reports that have been finalised will be
submitted to Committee

Jamie Dale

Internal Audit

Corporate Services

22

26 November 2026

Use of Investigatory Powers - Quarter 4

to present the use of investigatory powers
quarterly report.

Jessica Anderson

Governance

Corporate Services

5.2

gT obe

43

SPSO Decisions, Inspector of
Crematoria Complaint Decisions

In order to provide assurance to Committee
that complaints and Scottish Welfare Fund
applications are being handled
appropriately, this report provides
information on all Scottish Public Services
Ombudsman (SPSO) and Inspector of
Crematoria decisions made in relation to
Aberdeen City Council since the last
reporting cycle.

Lucy McKenzie

People and Citizens

Corporate Services

6.4

ALEO Assurance Hub Update Report

To provide an update of risk and financial
management and governance
arrangements in accordance with Hub TOR
and annual workplan.

Vikki Cuthbert

Governance

Corporate Services

1.3

45

Annual Accounts 2025/26- Action Plan &
Key Dates

to present the information relating to annual
accounts key dates for 2025-26 audit.

Lesley Fullerton

Finance

Corporate Services

46

Internal Audit Update Report

To provide an update on progress of the
Internal Audit Plan, Audit
Recommendations Follow Up and other
relevant information for the Committee.

Jamie Dale

Internal Audit

Corporate Services

22

47

Internal Audit Reports

Reports that have been finalised will be
submitted to Committee

Jamie Dale

Internal Audit

Corporate Services

22

48

TBC

49




Agenda Iltem 9.1

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny

DATE 19t February 2026

REPORT TITLE ALEO Assurance Hub — Workplan and Terms of
Reference

REPORT NUMBER CORS/26/033

CHIEF OFFICER Jenni Lawson

REPORT AUTHOR Vikki Cuthbert

TERMS OF REFERENCE | Remit - 1.2

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

To present the ALEO Assurance Hub workplan for 2026 including the dates for
reporting.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Committee —

21 note the workplan for the ALEO Assurance Hub in 2026 which has been
consulted upon with the ALEOs and the relevant Conveners; and

2.2 note the Terms of Reference for the ALEO Assurance Hub which have been
amended to remove Bon Accord Care (BAC) from the remit of the Hub following
the Council decision on 10" December to transfer BAC back into Aberdeen City
Council in 2026/27.

3. CURRENT SITUATION

3.1 The ALEO Assurance Hub is one component of the ALEO Assurance Framework
which provides a basis for the Council to oversee and support its arms-length
external organisations. The Hub reports twice a year to this Committee to provide
assurance that systems and policies are in place in each ALEO to mitigate and
manage risks to them and to the Council.

3.2 The Hub has in place a Terms of Reference which are reviewed annually. The
Terms of Reference are attached at appendix A to the report. These have been
amended to remove reference to Bon Accord Care following the decision of
Council on 10t December 2025 that BAC would transfer back into Aberdeen City
Council in 2026/27. The next reporting cycle for ALEOs is June 2026, by which
time it is expected that BAC will no longer be an ALEO and therefore no longer
within the remit of the Assurance Hub. A further adjustment has been made to
reflect that the ALEO Strategic Partnership meets monthly rather than every six
weeks, which addresses an internal audit recommendation on Group Assurance.

Page 17



3.3

3.4

4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

6.1

Attached at appendix B is a workplan for 2026. Slight changes have been made
to workplan: to ensure that ALEOs undertake horizon scanning in respect of
changes to the law and risks which may impact them, to seek assurance on
procurement practices, and to ensure that ALEOs confirm readiness for external
inspection from any relevant regulatory bodies.

The workplan has been agreed with each of the ALEOs and the relevant
Conveners, as per the requirements of the Hub Terms of Reference.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in
this report.

The role of the Hub is to ensure that ALEOs provide assurance that risks,
including financial ones are identified and managed. One of the Hub’s primary
functions is to ensure that the Council is able to follow the public pound as
outlined in Accounts Commission guidance.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Legal officers within Commercial and Procurement Services keep ALEO Service
Level Agreements under review. These aim, amongst other things, to facilitate
the ALEO Assurance Framework. These include reference to the requirements of
the Assurance Hub to receive assurance regarding systems of governance,
company outcomes and risk management and mitigation.

The Hub will help identify any projects and/or initiatives that could influence
investment decisions of Bond holders or the Council’s credit rating and ensure
that the appropriate governance is put in place. This adds to the Council’s
existing Bond governance arrangements.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.

RISK

Category

Primary
Controls/Control
Actions to achieve

Risks *Does

Target

*Target
Risk

Target Risk Level

Level (L,
M or H)

*taking into
account
controls/cont
rol actions

Risk
Level
Match
Appetite
Set?

Strategic

Ability of ALEOs
to support the

The Assurance Hub
process mitigates

L

Yes

Page 18




Category

Risks

Primary
Controls/Control
Actions to achieve
Target Risk Level

*Target
Risk
Level (L,
M or H)

*taking into
account
controls/cont
rol actions

*Does
Target
Risk
Level
Match
Appetite
Set?

Council in
meeting its
strategic
outcomes.

against this risk by
monitoring ALEO
contribution to ACC
strategic outcomes.
This includes review
of ALEO risk
registers.

Compliance

ALEO service
level agreements
are not up to date
and ALEOs are
not delivering on
Council
outcomes.

GDPR
Compliance.

Commercial and
Procurement
Services reviews
ALEO service level
agreements to ensure
they remain robust
and fit for purpose.

The Council has
oversight of how
ALEOs are achieving
Council outcomes
and complying with
the terms of their
service level
agreements.

The Hub will continue
its oversight of
ALEOQOs’ approach to
embedding strong
governance, including
audits, policies,
procedures and
systems to ensure
that these are being
reviewed and staff
training is being
delivered to mitigate
the risk of
governance failure.

Yes

Operational

Failure of ALEOs
to deliver
services

Monitored by Council
which has oversight
of ALEO strategic

Yes

Page 19




Category Risks Primary *Target *Does
Controls/Control Risk Target
Actions to achieve Level (L, Risk
Target Risk Level M or H) Level
- Match
" | Appetite
controls/cont Set?
rol actions
according to business plans.
agreed Service
Level
Agreements
Financial Financial failure ALEOSs report L Yes
of ALEOs financial performance
impacting on the | and governance to
Council and its their boards and
credit rating. present their annual
accounts for scrutiny
by an external
auditor, then reported
through the Finance
and Resources
Committee. One of
the Hub’s key
functions is to provide
assurance to
Committee on the
financial stewardship
of Council ALEOs.
Reputational | Impact of Regular reporting to L Yes
performance or this Committee from
financial risk on the Hub provides
reputation of adequate control.
ACC.
Environment/ | No direct risks L Yes
Climate arising from the
report’s
recommendations

8. OUTCOMES

8.1 The recommendations within this report have no direct impact on the Council
Delivery Plan.
9. IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
Assessment Outcome

Integrated Impact Assessment Full impact assessment not required.

Confirmed by Chief Officer — Governance.

Page 20



| Data Protection Impact Assessment | Not required.

10.

11.

12.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
None.
APPENDICES

Appendix A — ALEO Assurance Hub Terms of Reference
Appendix B — ALEO Assurance Hub Workplan 2026

REPORT AUTHOR CONTACT DETAILS

Vikki Cuthbert
Assurance Manager
vcuthbert@aberdeencity.gov.uk

Page 21


mailto:vcuthbert@aberdeencity.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



ALEO Assurance Hub — Terms of Reference

Arms-Length External Organisations (ALEOS) are companies, charities and other bodies that
are separate from the Council but subject to its control or influence.

The purpose of the Assurance Hub is to receive assurance from ALEOSs that appropriate
systems and policies are in place to mitigate and manage risks to the organisation and to the
Council. For the avoidance of doubt, the ALEO Assurance Hub shall provide high level,
strategic oversight of ALEOs but will not undertake quality checks on the operation of ALEOS.

The Assurance Hub shall promote the principles of accountability and transparency as set out
in the Following the Public Pound Guidance.

1) The Assurance Hub is one component of the ALEO Assurance Framework which is

2)

3)

4)

5)
6)

7)

8)

the basis for how the Council oversees and supports its arms-length bodies. The other

elements of the Framework are:

a.

b.

e.

Regular performance review of ALEOs by Full Council through the submission
of annual business plans.

Quarterly financial reporting for ALEOs within the Council's Financial
Performance Report to the Finance and Resources Committee to provide
assurance on the Council’s bond issue and on financial performance;

Monthly meetings of the ALEO Strategic Partnership as a forum for senior
Council and ALEO representatives to discuss high level strategic issues such
as business planning and horizon scanning, in line with the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy (MTFS);

Representatives of the Head of Commercial and Procurement, known as
Service Leads are assigned to each ALEO to provide them with a single point
of contact at the Council. Service Leads will be the Council’s primary liaison
officer with ALEOs and will be in regular contact with ALEOs to discuss
strategic, operational and performance matters; and

The Director of Corporate Services acts as a key strategic liaison for all ALEOs.

The membership of the Hub shall consist of:

a.

b
C.
d

The Assurance Manager;

The Corporate Risk Lead

A representative of the Chief Officer - Finance; and
The Committees Lead (officer).

The Assurance Manager shall be the Chairperson of the Assurance Hub.

The Head of Commercial and Procurement or his or her nominee shall be invited to
attend meetings as advisers to the Hub as required.

The Hub may co-opt additional advisors as required.

The Hub shall receive assurance from each ALEO within its remit at least once a

year.

The Hub shall have the authority to increase or reduce its oversight of ALEOs based
on the level of assurance it has received.

The Hub may invite ALEO representatives to attend Hub meetings to provide
information and assurance on relevant matters as requested.

Page 23



9) The Hub shall report its level of assurance on ALEOSs to the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny
Committee.

10) The Hub shall be responsible for setting its own programme of scrutiny in the form of
an annual workplan. The Hub shall consult on this with the Risk Board, ALEOs and
Conveners and Vice Conveners of the following Committees and Boards:-

Audit, Risk and Scrutiny;

Full Council;

Finance and Resources; and

Integration Joint Board

aooTo

11) An open invitation shall be extended to the Council’s internal and external auditors to
attend Hub meetings as appropriate in order for them to meet their audit objectives.

12) The Hub shall receive assurance on ALEOs risk management, financial management
and governance arrangements through exception reporting and officers will assess
ALEO governance and management of risk through a scoring matrix.

13) To ensure that risk posed to the Council by ALEO operations is monitored, the Hub
shall oversee ALEO risk management arrangements including:

Risk management policy;

Management of risk registers;

Risk identification structures, including horizon-scanning;
Risk appetite;

Business continuity planning; and

ALEO internal and external audit reports.

"0 Q0T

14) To ensure compliance with Following the Public Pound guidance, the Hub shall
oversee ALEOs:

a. Financial Resilience to ensure oversight of forward planning;

b. Financial governance and financial management to provide assurance on
stewardship;

c. Accounting practices; and

d. Financial performance.

15) The Hub shall review ALEO decision making structures including:

a. Reporting arrangements, including powers reserved to the Board and powers
delegated to executive officers;

Compliance with key governance standards, such as codes of conduct;

The composition and capacity of the board;

Transparency and accountability;

Induction and ongoing training programmes for Board members;

Ongoing assurance around information governance arrangements and data
protection compliance;

Progress against recommendations made within Audit Scotland’s report on
How councils use arms-length organisations; and

h. Compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010.

~oQ0T

«©Q

16) The Hub shall monitor high level employment practices.

17) The Hub shall monitor reports relating to ALEOs from the Council’s internal and
external auditors and address any recommendations which are within the remit of the

2

Page 24



Hub’s terms of reference. The Hub shall monitor best practice guidance from
organisations such as Audit Scotland and the Standards Commission for Scotland on
the development of guidance relating to ALEOS.

18) The Hub shall monitor co-ordination arrangements between ALEO partners where the
Council is not the sole shareholder.

19) The Hub shall receive assurance that ALEOs are supporting the Council to meet its
obligations under the CONTEST Strategy and under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004
as a Category 1 responder.

20) The following organisations have been deemed to be ALEOs and will be subject to the
Hub’s oversight arrangements:

Aberdeen Heat and Power;

Aberdeen Performing Arts;

Aberdeen Sports Village;

bp Aberdeen Hydrogen Energy Ltd and
Sport Aberdeen.

PaooT

21) The Risk Board, chaired by the Chief Officer — Governance, will review these Terms
of Reference annually to ensure their ongoing appropriateness in monitoring ALEO
governance.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



the organisation's agreed risk management policy. The assurance
will be provided through a short written summary of ALEOs current
risk environment, including risks that been added, escalated or de-
escalated rather than through provision of the risk register. This will
also include an overview of activity, including horizon scanning
undertaken to identify any risks relative to legislative changes or
other changes to the law, and controls in place across the three lines
of defenc).

A B C D E F | G | H |
A § Aberdeen Aberdeen Aberdeen bp AHEL Sport
rea o Item Purpose TOR Heat and Performing Sports Aberdeen
Assurance -
[ 1] Power Arts Village
Governance Training and Development Assurance on the on-going training and development of Board 15(e) November November November n/a November
Programmes members including any changes to Board stucture, rationale for any 16
structure changes, training plans for Board members-
2
Employment Practices Assurance that all employment practices are in alignment with 16 June June June n/a June
employment legislation, the ALEQO's people polices and employment
best practice.
3
Procurement Compliance Assurance that internal governance procedures in respect of 15 June June June June June
procurement are in place and that these include risk assessment
processes to prevent procurement fraud. This is required as
evidence of compliance with public Procurement Regulations.
4
Governance Documentation Assurance of on-going review of all governance documentation and 15 June June June n/a June
policies. The assurance will be provided through a short written November November November November
LY) summary of planned and completed activities in this area and should
Q) include reference to information governance, health and safety
o] governance, public liability and employer's liability insurance and
D cyber governance.
N\
Assurance that arrangements are being made by the Joint Venture to n/a n/a n/a June n/a
put in place the required governance documentation, including
information governance, health and safety governance and cyber
governance.
6
Risk Management |Risk Environment Assurance that risks are being regularly reviewed in accordance with 13(b) June June June June June




C

E

F

G

H

Risk Register

Assurance that risks are being regularly reviewed in accordance with
the organisation's agreed risk management policy, are kept under
regular review with control actions monitored to completion, and are
linked to the achievement of outcomes for the ALEO and the
Council. This assurance will be provided through provision of risk
registers and relevant supporting minutes/documentation.

13(b)

November

November

November

November

November

(Y=}

Internal and External Audit and
Regulatory Compliance

Assurance that ALEOs have risk-based internal and external audit
plans in place and a process to address and close out audit
recommendations to completion.

Assurance of readiness for external inspection by any relevant
regulatory/accreditation bodies and compliance with any
recommendations made.

Assurance that there have been no internal control failures or that
any failures have been addressed and/or notified if they are of
significance to the Council.

13(f)

June

June

June

n/a

June

o¢ I9UEd

10

Resilience

Assurance that emergency plans/major incident plans and processes
and appropriate business continuity arrangements are in place and
kept under review.

Assurance that testing and exercising arrangements or schedules
are in place which recognise the evolving risk environment for the
city; in particular that provision is made within plans and exercising to
ensure resilience around critical service delivery; that each
organisation has an awareness of the Council's responsibilities as a
Cat 1 responder under the Civil Contingencies Act and has agreed
mechanisms in place to support these; and that each organisation is
fully conversant with the implications for their operations of the
CONTEST Strategy (UK Govt strategy for counter-terrorism), in
particular in respect of the Prevent and Protect duties.

13(e)

June
November

June
November

June
November

n/a

June
November

11

Finance

Quarterly Trading Accounts

Assurance that accounts are being managed within budget, that the
level of financial risk to the Council is low and that there is
compliance with the Following the Public Pound Code of Practice.

14

June
November

June
November

June
November

June
November

June
November

12

Medium-Term Financial
Planning and Financial
Resilience

Assurance that ALEOs undertake medium-term financial planning or
have incorporated medium term planning into a Business Plan to
provide assurance that ALEOs are prepared for core funding
pressures. Again this ensures compliance with the Following the
Public Pound Code of Practice.

14

June
November

June
November

June
November

June
November

June
November




B

C

G

13

Audited Annual Accounts 2024-
25

Assurance that accounts are being managed within budget, are in
line with statutory requirements and Following the Public Pound

Code of Practice, and that the level of financial risk to the Council is
low.

June

June

November

June

June

6¢ obed




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Agenda Iltem 9.2

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee

DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Use of Investigatory Powers — Annual Report 2025
REPORT NUMBER CORS/26/032

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR | Andy MacDonald

CHIEF OFFICER Jenni Lawson, Chief Officer - Governance
REPORT AUTHOR John Forsyth

TERMS OF REFERENCE | 5.2

11

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

3.3

PURPOSE OF REPORT

To provide Elected Members with an overview of the Council's use of
investigatory powers during 2025, particularly focussing on the Committee’s
role in respect of assurance. Further, Committee is being asked to confirm that
the Use of Investigatory Powers Policy is fit for purpose.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That Committee -

Notes the overview of the council's use of investigatory powers during the
calendar year 2025, as set out in this report; and

Agrees that the Use of Investigatory Powers Policy Remains fit for purpose.
CURRENT SITUATION

The Council has powers under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers
Scotland) Act 2000 (RIPSA), and Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA) to use
different investigatory techniques. RIPSA provides a legal framework for covert
surveillance by public authorities, an independent inspection regime to monitor
these activities and sets out a process for the authorisation of covert
surveillance by designated officers. It further provides for the duration of that
authorisation and for the review, renewal or termination of authorisations.

RIPSA gives the Council powers to conduct two types of covert surveillance:

3.2.1 Directed Surveillance. This is covert surveillance in places other than
residential premises or private vehicles.

3.2.2 Use of Covert Human Inteligence Sources (CHIS). This is the use of
undercover officers.

This Committee has had oversight of covert surveillance activity conducted
under RIPSA since 2017 and regularly receives and reviews reports on its use.

Page 31



3.4

3.5

3.6

The IPA permits the Council to acquire Communications Data for certain
purposes. Communications data is the way in which, and by what method, a
person or thing communicates with another person or thing. This includes
telephone and internet communications. The IPA sets out the processes and
authorisations required for the Council to acquire Communications Data. This
is supplemented by the Home Office Data Code of Practice.

The Investigatory Powers Commissioner (IPCO) has oversight of both RIPSA
and IPA. Accordingly, IPCO also has oversight of the Council’'s use and
management of the powers granted by these pieces of legislation. IPCO
regularly inspects public authorities, including the Council.

The last IPCO inspection of the Council took place in September 2023. This
inspected the Council's compliance with RIPSA and IPA. The inspection
concluded positively and noted that IPCO was satisfied with the Council's
ongoing compliance. The next IPCO inspection is expected later this year.

Use of Investigatory Powers Policy

3.7

3.8

3.9

This Committee approved the Council's Use of Investigatory Powers Policy in
December 2021. This Committee agreed that this Policy remained fit for
purpose in February 2025. This policy governs compliance with both RIPSA
and the IPA. It remains a mandatory requirement that all members of staff
wishing to use investigatory powers must undertake training prior to being able
to make an application to use such investigatory powers.

This Committee is asked every year to confirm that the Use of Investigatory
Powers Policy remains fit for purpose. There have been no substantive changes
to the Use of Investigatory Powers Policy since the Policy was reviewed last
year. The IPCO were content with the policy at the last inspection. The Policy
is supported by a number of operational procedures, which are kept under
regular review.

The Team Leader, Regulatory and Compliance, Legal Services, as the
Council's RIPSA Co-Ordinator has reviewed the Policy and confirms that, in her
professional opinion, the Policy remains fit for purpose.

Applications for Covert Surveillance

3.12 There were six Covert Surveillance authorisations during 2025. As highlighted

in the graph below, this represents an increase in the number of
authorisations when compared to the previous five years. These applications
are broken down in more detail below.

Page 32



Covert Surveilance Authorisations

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

3.14 Three of these authorisations related to the test purchasing of Tobacco and
Nicotine Vapour Products (NVPs). As demonstrated below, the number of
such authorisations has remained steady following emergence from COVID
related lockdowns in 2021.These operations are a normal part of the work of
the Protective Services team.

Tobacco and NVP Authorisations

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

3.15 These three applications relating to test purchases of Tobacco and Nicotine
Vapour Products again allowed the Protective Services team to significantly
exceed their Scottish Government targets. The team is expected to, each year,
attempt test purchases at 10% of premises registered to sell tobacco products

Page 33



3.16

3.17

3.18

and 10% of premises selling nicotine vapor products. This resulted in a target,
for 2025, of fifteen premises for tobacco and nineteen for nicotine vapor
products. The authorisations allowed the Team to undertake fifteen test
purchases for tobacco and to undertake thirty-nine test purchases for nicotine
vapour products. This means that the Team has, as in previous years,
significantly exceeded their target numbers. The focus on nicotine vapour
products is driven by intelligence.

The remaining three authorisations related to different operations to investigate
the alleged sale of counterfeit goods. Two of these authorisations were for
directed surveillance, with the third being for the use of a Covert Human
Intelligence Source (CHIS). As is shown below, this represents an increase in
the number of such authorisations. The operations these authorisations relate
to are driven by received intelligence, so itis normal to see the numbers rise
and fall in different years.

Alleged Sale of Counterfeit Goods

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

As noted above, one of theses authorisations was for the use of a Covert
Human Intelligence Source. A CHIS is a person who establishes or maintains
a relationship with someone in order to covertly obtain information, to provide
another person with access to information or to disclose information. This
essentially covers the use of undercover officers.

This authorisation was the first authorisation for the use of a CHIS in a number
of years. As with all covert surveillance, any application for the authorisation for
the use of a CHIS is driven by the operational needs of the service applying for
that authorisation.

Page 34



IPA

3.19

3.20

3.21

There were two applications made in 2025 for the acquisition of
communications data. One application was granted. The other was rejected
because it was considered that the data sought was not recoverable. Both of
these applications related to investigations into the alleged sale of illicit or
counterfeit tobacco.

These two applications represent a slight increase on 2024, when one
application was made. 2024 which was the first time the Council had acquired
communications data in a significant period. As was reported to this
Committee in the annual report relating to 2024, an increase in the number of
applications for communications data was anticipated over 2025 and beyond.

Communications Data

2024 2025

The Council maintains the ability to acquire communications data under the
IPA. Should there be an operational requirement in the coming year, officers
remain able to make an application the acquisition of communications data.

Authorising Officers

3.22

There continue to be four Authorising Officers in post. Authorising officers are
responsible for authorising applications for the use of investigatory powers by
Council officers. These Authorising Officers have been appropriately trained
and operate on a rota basis.

Training

3.23

Training has been provided on an ongoing basis to Authorising Officers and to
those officers who might apply for an authorisation. A bespoke training session
was provided to a new Authorising Officer at the time of their appointment. This
ensured that they were ready to take up their duties. In addition, a training

Page 35



sessionwas provided to all relevant officers on the use of a CHIS and the legal
framework surrounding this area and the PowerPoint slides were uploaded to
the restricted online portal to which all trained officers have access. Additional
training will be provided throughout 2026 as is required.

Workplan 2026

3.24

4.1

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

6.1

The intended main focus of 2026 isto engage with services to understand how
the ever-increasing usage of social media is impacting on operations and
investigations. Work will then be undertaken to ensure that the processes in
place under the policy are adaptative and flexible enough to support any
necessary operations.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in
this report.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The Scottish Government Code of Practice on Covert Surveillance sets an
expectation that elected members review and monitor the use of RIPSA on a
guarterly basis. This is also a matter which is taken into account by the IPCO
when they carry out their inspections.

The Home Office Code of Practice on Communications Data states that any
public authority wishing to acquire Communications Data must have regard to
the Code and that there should be a robust process in place for accessing such
data which should be overseen by the Senior Responsible Officer.

Annual and quarterly reporting of the Council’s use of investigatory powers to
Elected Members provides assurance that the Council’s use of such powers is
being used consistently and that the standards set by its policy remain fit for
purpose.

It is recommended as good practice, under paragraph 4.43 of the Scottish
Government's Code of Practice for Covert Surveillance and Property
interference, that elected members consider a statement on the Council's
Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Scotland) Act 2000 (RIPSA) policy and
statistical information on relevant activity on an annual basis.

The Council's management, knowledge and awareness of those involved with
RIPSA activity has been commended by the IPCO in previous inspections.
Officers hope that reporting on the use of investigatory powers more broadly,
enhances transparency and provides another level of scrutiny and assurance
on the use of these powers.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct environmental implications arising from the
recommendations in this report.

Page 36



7. RISK

7.1  The assessment of risk contained within the table below is considered to be
consistent with the Council’s risk appetite statement.
Category Risks Primary *Target *Does
Controls/Control Risk Level Target
Actions to achieve (L, M or H) | Risk Level
Target Risk Level Match
e | Appetite
controls/control Set?
actions
Strategic None L Yes
Risk identified
Compliance | That the This report sets out the L Yes
Council’s methods by which
use of Members can take
investigatory | assurance that the use
powers is of these powers is
not legally legally compliant.
compliant.
This committee receives
guarterly and annual
reports on the use of
investigatory powers
and policies and
undertakes scrutiny
thereof.
This report also fulfils
the requirement in para
4.4.3 of the Scottish
Government’'s Code of
Practice for Covert
Surveillance and
Property Interference.
Operational | Employees Appropriate and L Yes
are not mandatory training arms
suitably staff with the correct
trained for skills to carry out
surveillance surveillance and thus,
work. there is little to no risk to
Failure to staff. All requests for
report to training are met.
and update | Reporting to Committee
Committee occurs quarterly on
on surveillance activity.

Page 37




surveillance
activity
means that
it would
undermine
public
confidence
in the
Council and
how it
operates.
Financial None L Yes
identified
Reputational | Failure to External inspections on L Yes
update RIPSA activity operate
Committee every 3-4 years. This
on RIPSA provides external
activity assurance to the
would mean Committee of the
that the Council’'s compliance
Council with  RIPSA. Further,
would be at whilst there is no
risk of requirement to report to
reputational Committee about the
damage Council's use of
when Communication Data,
identified in | the broader reporting of
an IPCO both demonstrates the
inspection. Council's wish to be
transparent about its
use of such powers.
The Inspection Report is
shared with Committee
and an Action Plan
created (where
necessary) and is
endorsed and approved
by Committee.
Environment | None L Yes
/Climate | jdentified

8. OUTCOMES

Local Outcome Improvement Plan 2016-2026

Prosperous Economy Whilst the recommendations of this report are for
Stretch Outcomes noting, the use of investigatory powers by the
Council as an investigatory tool may have an impact
on the economy as a result of enforcement action
taken by services such as Trading Standard, e.g.

Page 38


https://communityplanningaberdeen.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Final-Draft-LOIP-Refresh-21.pdf
https://communityplanningaberdeen.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Final-Draft-LOIP-Refresh-21.pdf

such as in enforcing the law around counterfeit
goods.

Prosperous People Stretch
Outcomes

Enforcement activity undertaken by the Council by
using, where appropriate, its powers under the IPA
and RIPSA, may have an impact on this by tackling
the selling of counterfeit goods.

9. IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
Assessment Outcome
Integrated Impact No assessment required. | confirm this has been

Assessment

discussed and agreed with Jenni Lawson, Chief Officer —
Governance on 16 January 2026.

Data Protection Impact
Assessment

Not required.

Other

There are no other impact assessments relevant to this
report.

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS

10.1 Use of Investigatory Powers Policy

11. APPENDICES

12. REPORT AUTHOR CONTACT DETAILS

Name John Forsyth

Title Solicitor

Email Address  jforsyth@aberdeencity.gov.uk

Page 39




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



Agenda Iltem 9.3

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny

DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Lessons learned following the Decision of the Court of
Session: Norman Esslemont v Aberdeen City Council

REPORT NUMBER CR&E/26/035

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR | David Dunne

CHIEF OFFICER Mark Reilly/ Claire McArthur/ Jenni Lawson

REPORT AUTHOR Vycki Ritson

TERMS OF REFERENCE | 6.1

11

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

3.1

PURPOSE OF REPORT

To present lessons learned following a review of process and internal controls
relating to the Court of Session on Case: XA15/25 Norman Esslemont v
Aberdeen City Council.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Committee:-

notes the changes made to Standing Order 29.1 by Council on 16™ April 2025,
which requires proposed motions and amendments to be submitted to the Clerk
two working days prior to the meeting rather than one;

notes the processes now put in place to ensure structured engagement with
Legal Services to support clearer assessment of risks and capacity
requirements;

notes the improved guidance for officers, to be presented to Council on 4%
February 2026, when managing delegated authority matters that have the
potential to be politically sensitive, engaging with Members to mitigate
reputational risks, where appropriate; and

recognise the lessons learned which will be reflected within the Council’s
Annual Governance Statement for 2025/26.

CURRENT SITUATION
In Autumn 2023, “The Aberdeen City Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic

Management) (Experimental) Order 2023” was implemented to achieve the
safe and efficient movement of active travel and public transport users through

Page 41



3.2

3.3

3.4

the city centre. The Order introduced, on an experimental basis, bus priority
and local access only restrictions on Market Street, Guild Street and Bridge
Street; pedestrian and cycle priority measures on Schoolhill and Upperkirkgate;
and introduced a right-turn ban (except cycles, buses and taxis) from Union
Terrace to Rosemount Viaduct. A summary of all the measures established can
be viewed in the “Statement of Reasons” in Appendix 1. During the
experimental period, the measures were subject to public consultation (six
months), monitoring and evaluation.

At Net Zero, Environment and Transport Committee on the 11™" June 2024 “The
Aberdeen City Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management)
(Experimental) Order 2023 - Statutory Public Consultation - CR&E/24/169” was
reported, including all objections received to the order. A recommendation was
made to make the order permanent. At the subsequent “Requisitioned Meeting,
on the 16" July 2024”, Council instructed the Chief Officer - Strategic Place
Planning, using funding from the Bus Lane Enforcement reserve, to report as
soon as possible on:

e the feasibility and impact of reopening Bridge Street to all vehicles in
one or both directions; and

e the feasibility and impact of removing the ban on right turns from Union
Terrace onto Rosemount Viaduct.

At a meeting of the Council on 11 October 2024, in response to report “City
Centre Transport Measures - CR&E/24/287”, Members resolved to adopt the
motion which instructed:

“(xii) therefore, agree, subject to the removal of the ban on right turns from
Union Terrace onto Rosemount Viaduct, to approve the making of The
Aberdeen City Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management)
Experimental Order 2023 as a permanent Order, with continued
monitoring in terms of the ongoing City Centre Masterplan. The cost of
undertaking these works is estimated to be approximately £3,000 and is
to be funded from the General Fund Capital Programme contingency
budget in 2024/25. Noting the Chief Officer - Finance’s advice above there
is a risk of up to £8m of Bus Partnership Fund grant being reclaimed by
Transport Scotland and agreeing if this has to be repaid (in part or whole)
the capital grant will have to be replaced by borrowing at a cost to the
General Fund Revenue Budget of up to approximately £480,000 per
annum for the next 30 years, which will increase the budget gap in the
Medium Term Financial Strategy from financial year 2025/26;

(xiii) instruct the Chief Officer - Operations to commence the procedure for the
Order to be made permanent;”

Officers had reviewed this motion prior to the original date of the Council
meeting 2" October 2024, alongside 10 other motions to be considered at the
same meeting. When reviewing the motion, officers were of the view that
Regulation 13 of the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (Scotland)
Regulations 1999 (“the 1999 Regulations”) could be applied. As such, it was
considered that a modification to remove the said right turn ban could be made

Page 42


https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=109515

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

3:12

as it did not extend the application of the order nor increase the stringency of
any prohibition or restriction contained within the order.

Subsequently the Council received a letter challenging the legality of
implementing the instruction from Council on the 11t October 2024 (as given
in 3.3 above). The challenge focused primarily on the Council’s ability to make
modifications to the Experimental Traffic Regulation Order in accordance with
Regulation 20B of the 1999 Regulations.

Advice was sought from King’'s Counsel due to the complexity of the
Regulations. King’'s Counsel did not conclude that the intended modification
(i.e. removal of the right turn ban) was incompetent - rather that it was an area
within the 1999 Regulations that was open to interpretation. As such, risk
mitigation might be the most appropriate way forward.

Officers reported to the Urgent Business Committee on 18th December 2024,
highlighting the challenge and recommending the most appropriate route to
mitigate risk of future challenge.

The Chief Executive agreed at the meeting that there were lessons to be
learned to improve scrutiny, particularly around complex statutory processes,
and that officers would explore with the Governance Reference Group ways in
which improvements can be made to the advice given on amendments and
motions.

In January 2025, Aberdeen City Council made the Aberdeen City Council (City
Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management) Order 2025 (a redacted copy of the
Order is available to view at Appendix 2). The Order made permanent all the
measures provided within the original Experimental Traffic Regulation Order.

A legal challenge was subsequently brought against the 2025 Order by local
retailer Norman Esslemont on behalf of local businesses, objecting to the
making of the permanent order. In response to this, on 11 November 2025 a
hearing was held at the Court of Session. The decision of this hearing is
available to view in Appendix 3.

The decisionwas made in favour of Aberdeen City Council meaning that, in the
judgement of the Court, the permanent Order was lawfully made. In line with
the commitment made at the Urgent Business Committee in December 2024,
officers have sought to identify lessons for the future and improvements which
can be made to internal process and controls. An update on these, including
implementation status, is outlined below.

Lessons Learned

Directors, Chief Officers, Roads and Legal teams have reflected onthe process
leading to the legal challenge and subsequent Court decision. While the Court
determined that the permanent Traffic Regulation Order was lawfully made, the
circumstances have provided an opportunity to identify learning points to further
strengthen governance, assurance and risk management arrangements for
future complex statutory decisions.

Page 43



3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

3.18

3.19

3.20

Committee Process

A review of the timeline associated with motions and amendments to the
Council meeting on 2" October 2024, which subsequently went to the
reconvened meeting on 11" October 2024, noted a high volume of motions and
amendments were submitted close to the deadline permitted under Standing
Order 29.1 at that time.

Ten of the eleven motions and amendments were submitted the evening of 30t
September or morning of 1St October 2024. The compressed timescales
significantly reduced the time available for officers across the Council to assess
the legal competency and potential statutory implications of the motions and
amendments, particularly where matters involved complex and technical areas
of law.

It is noted that colleagues across the Council were involved in reviewing all the
motions and amendments, with an amendment specific to the report referenced
in 3.2 above not being finalised until the day of the re-convened meeting on
11th October.

Allowing additional time for officer review supports a more robust assessment
process, clearer articulation of legal risk, and enhanced assurance to Members.

In this instance, although this compressed timeline was not ideal, it should be
recognised that — as borne out by the advice from King’s Counsel - this is a
complex area of law that is open to interpretation. Where the law is open to
interpretation, and the matter is one of public interest, there will be a particular
risk of legal challenge - irrespective of how long officers have to consider
competency.

The amendment to Standing Order 29.1 approved by Council on 16 April 2025,
requiring proposed motions and amendments to be submitted two working days
in advance, reflects this learning and provides a proportionate safeguard to
mitigate future risk.

The case demonstrated the importance of clearly distinguishing between legal
competence and legal risk when advising Members on motions and
amendments. Where legislation is open to interpretation, itis helpful for advice
to articulate areas of uncertainty and potential challenge, enabling Members to
make informed decisions with a clear understanding of associated risks. Whilst
Standing Orders do not refer to, or stipulate mitigation of, risk in determination
of competency, it is the responsibility of officers to bring such risks to the
attention of members where these risk factors are clear.

Governance, Legal Risk and Assurance
A review of the statutory process followed in relation to the Experimental Traffic

Regulation Order and the subsequent permanent Order confirmed compliance
with legislative requirements. However, the challenge highlighted differing legal

Page 44



3.21

3.22

3.23

3.24

3.25

3.26

views over interpreting the legislation and where the ultimate recourse was to
have the Court of Session make a definitive judgement on the matter.

The experience reinforced the importance of early identification and escalation
of legal risk where statutory powers are subject to interpretation and where
decisions are high profile or likely to attract public or stakeholder challenge.

While Roads Service officers have significant expertise in managing Traffic
Regulation Orders, it was recognised that earlier and more structured
engagement with Legal Services in complex or novel cases supports clearer
assessment of risk, capacity requirements and whether external legal advice
should be sought at an earlier stage. Legal Services have developed an
assurance map detailing all the existing controls in place to mitigate the risk of
legal challenge across the three lines of defence. This reflects the agreed Risk
Appetite Statement which states that the Council is averse to any risks that will
result in non-compliance or breaches in statutory obligations, regulations, and
law. Whilst this risk is owned by Governance, all services contribute to the
overall set of controls in place to manage this risk. Gaps identified as part of
this process are now positioned in a risk register entry which will be reported to
the Finance and Resources Committee in May.

The development of structured checklists for complex and/or high-profile Traffic
Regulation Orders will provide a consistent audit trail, support professional
judgement, and help ensure that legislative changes, consultation requirements
and legal risks are considered systematically. This is one of the mitigations in
place within the assurance map referred to above.

Supporting Effective Decision-Making

Council on 4™ February was asked to approve guidance for officers when
managing matters which have the potential to be politically sensitive. This
acknowledges that there is scope for delegated matters to cause reputational
damage to the Council and that engagement with elected members is advisable
in these types of situations.

In addition, as part of the Scheme of Governance review in April 2024, guidance
was prepared for members on their rights to access information, including legal
advice. This included a process to be followed when such information was
sought.

Finally, the Council's Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 2025/26, which
will be reported to this Committee in May, seeks to provide assurance on the
Council's internal controls and any significant governance issues which have
arisen during the year. Consideration is being given to how the lessons learned
from this process can be reflected in the AGS, which will be subject to audit
from our external auditors.

Page 45



3.27

3.28

3.29

4.1

5.1

5.2.

5.3

5.4

Conclusion

This Committee is responsible for undertaking scrutiny of matters, process or
practice which have been the subject of a report to Council or another
committee, to ensure good practice and the effectiveness of decision making.

The experience has highlighted the value of learning from the process of legal
challenge itself, regardless of outcome. Understanding how decisions may be
perceived externally supports continual improvement in transparency,
communication and public confidence in statutory decision making.

Collectively, these lessons have informed improvements to Standing Orders,
guidance to officers and elected members on matters of potential political
sensitivity, reinforced controls around the risk of legal challenge, and supported
the introduction of enhanced governance and assurance measures for future
complex statutory processes.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The addition of legal checks and checklist preparation to the traffic regulation
order process will require further staff time resource costs from Roads and
Legal Teams. These will vary dependant on the volume of complex/ “out of the
ordinary” orders being delivered. It is not anticipated to impact business as
usual projects.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Aberdeen City Council made the Experimental Traffic Regulation Order in
exercise of the powers conferred on them by sections 9 and 10 of the Road
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and of all other enabling powers and after
consultation with the Chief Officer of Police Scotland in accordance with Part IlI
of Schedule 9 to said Act and having complied with the statutory requirements
of the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations
1999 (“the 1999 Regulations”), as amended.

The Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO) was brought into effect on
1 August 2023 and, interms of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, could not
continue in force for longer than 18 months. The Council therefore made the
Aberdeen City Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management) Order
2025 on 17 January 2025, which came into operation on 31 January 2025.

The Council received a Petition for Statutory Appeal on 5 March 2025, under
Paragraph 35, Schedule 9 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. The
Statutory Appeal sought to challenge the decision of the Council dated 17
January 2025 to make The Aberdeen City Council (City Centre, Aberdeen)
(Traffic Management) Order 2025. The judgement of the Court was published
on 9" December 2025 and is available to review in Appendix 3.

Following a period of statutory consultation the said right hand turn ban has
been removed. The Traffic Regulation Order was made on 15t April 2025.

Page 46



6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from the
recommendations of this report.
7. RISK
Category Risks Primary *Target *Does
Controls/Control Risk Level Target
Actions to achieve (L, M or H) | Risk Level
Target Risk Level Match
“Sean® | Appetite
controls/control Set?
actions
Strategic L Yes
Risk Risk that Legal Challenge Risk
successful Register in place to
legal ensure all services
challenge have controls in place.
impacts on
delivery of Advice for members
strategic and officers on
outcomes. managing matters that
have the potential to be
politically sensitive.
Compliance | Insufficient Standing Orders have L Yes
time for been amended to allow
officers to officers additional time
consider the to undertake this task.
competency
of motions Legal Challenge Risk
and Register in place to
amendments. ensure all services
have controls in place.
Operational | Time Standing Orders have L Yes
pressure on been amended to allow
officers when | officers additional time
reviewing to undertake this task.
motions and
amendments Officers have a
for responsibility to alert
competency members to risks
arising from motions
and amendments,
albeit itis the member’s
responsibility to take
this on board.
Financial | There are Standing Orders have M Yes
financial risks been amended as

Page 47




associated mentioned above to
with potential | reduce the risk of legal
legal challenge.
challenges.
Legal Challenge Risk
Register in place to
ensure all services
have controls in place.

Reputational | There is Standing Orders have M Yes
reputational been amended as
risk mentioned above to
associated reduce the risk of legal
with potential challenge.
legal
challenge. Legal Challenge Risk

Register in place to
ensure all services
have controls in place.

Environment | None N/A
/ Climate

8. OUTCOMES

The recommendations in the report do not impact on the Council Delivery Plan.

9. IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
Assessment Outcome
Integrated Impact No assessment required. | confirm this has been
Assessment discussed and agreed with Mark Reilly, Chief Officer

Operations on 23th January 2026.

Data Protection Impact | Not required
Assessment

Other N/A

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS

10.1 The Aberdeen City Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management)
Experimental ) Order 2023 — Statutory Public Consultation — CR&E/24/169 and
supporting documents can be viewed at Iltem 15 on this page
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=685&Mld
=9062&Ver=4

10.2 ETROZ2 Bus Priority Measures Report CRE21169 and supporting documents
can be viewed at ltem 2 on this page
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=122&Mld
=9483&Ver=4

Page 48


https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=685&MId=9062&Ver=4
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=685&MId=9062&Ver=4
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=122&MId=9483&Ver=4
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=122&MId=9483&Ver=4

10.3

104

City Centre Transport Measures — CR&E/24/287 and supporting documents
can be viewed at item 4 on this page
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=122&Mld
=9644&Ver=4

The Aberdeen City Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management)
(Experimental) Order 2023- Implementation — CR&E/24/360 can be viewed at
ftem 5 on this page
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=334&Mld
=9729&Ver=4

11. APPENDICES
11.1 Appendix 1 — Statement of Reasons - THE ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL (CITY
CENTRE, ABERDEEN) (TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT) (EXPERIMENTAL)
ORDER 2023
11.2 Appendix 2 - THE ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL (CITY CENTRE, ABERDEEN)
(TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT) ORDER 2025 (copy with signatures redacted)
11.3 Appendix 3 — Opinion of the Court — XA15/25
12. REPORT AUTHOR CONTACT DETAILS
Name Vycki Ritson
Title Team Leader

Email Address | vritson@aberdeencity.gov.uk

Page 49


https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=122&MId=9644&Ver=4
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=122&MId=9644&Ver=4
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=334&MId=9729&Ver=4
https://committees.aberdeencity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=334&MId=9729&Ver=4

Appendix 1: - Statement of Reasons - THE ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL (CITY CENTRE, ABERDEEN)
(TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT) (EXPERIMENTAL) ORDER 2023

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL
ROAD TRAFFIC REGULATION ACT 1984

THE ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL (CITY CENTRE, ABERDEEN) (TRAFFIC
MANAGEMENT) (EXPERIMENTAL) ORDER 2023

STATEMENT OF REASONS

Bus priority measures in the form of Bus Gates / Lanes are being established in the city
centre to enhance bus reliability and travel time, with access also maintained for pedal
cycles, and the public transport modes of taxis and local hire vehicles. Goods vehicles will
also be exempt in terms of access for the loading / unloading of goods and burden. The
removal of general through traffic will establish an improved environment for pedestrians and
cyclists, while facilitating future streetscape improvements.

There will be a north-eastly one-way established for vehicles on Trinity Street, this with
consideration to the operation of the new bus priority measures.

A general prohibition on motor vehicles, except for the purpose of access, on certain city
centre roads will support the operation of the ‘Bus Gates / Lanes’. Also supporting the ‘Bus
Gates’ will be certain prohibitions on specific turns from nearby junctions.

The prohibition of right turn from Union Terrace to Rosemount Viaduct (except for buses,
pedal cycles, taxis and authorised vehicles) is to discourage through traffic routing via Union
Street.

The ‘Pedestrian and Cycle Zone' on Schoolhill / Upperkirkgate establishes an enhanced
environment for pedestrians and cyclists, while facilitating future streetscape improvements.
Access for the purpose of loading will be maintained for motor vehicles from midnight to
11am, and from 4.30pm to midnight, on any day. A section of easthound one way for
vehicular traffic, except cycles, will also manage vehicle flow on this corridor. There will also
be a dedicated facility for goods vehicle loading and disabled parking established within the
layby on Schoolhill, just east of its junction with Belmont Street.

There will be wider provision of disabled parking facilities, with bays established on
Carmelite Lane, Exchange Street, Flourmill Lane and Stirling Street. The purpose of these
bays being to provide close proximity parking for disabled persons visiting nearby city centre
facilities.

In the interests of road safety, particularly when considering vulnerable road users, a
mandatory 20mph speed limit is being established on lengths of Bridge Street, Carmelite
Street, College Street, Guild Street and Wapping Street.

A length of prohibition of waiting and loading will be established on the south side of Guild
Street, between its junctions with the accesses that serve the Bus Station and the Railway
Station. This restriction is to allow a certain length of the road to function as an area where
vehicles can only stop to allow passengers to actively board or alight.

Page 50



Appendix 2: - THE ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL (CITY CENTRE, ABERDEEN)
MANAGEMENT) ORDER 2025 (redacted copy)

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL
ROAD TRAFFIC REGULATION ACT 1984

THE ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL (CITY CENTRE, ABERDEEN) (TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT)
ORDER 2025

Aberdeen City Council, in exercise of its powers under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, as
amended (hereinafter referred to as "the 1984 Act”"), and of all other enabling powers, and after
consultation with the Chief Constable of Police Scotland in accordance with Part |l of Schedule 9
to the 1984 Act, and having complied with the requirements of The Local Authorities’ Traffic
Orders (Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 1999, hereby makes the following order:-

CITATION

1.  This order may be cited as “The Aberdeen City Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic
Management) Order 2025" and shall come into effect on 31 January 2025.

DEFINITIONS IN RELATION TO SUBSEQUENT ARTICLES

2. In this order, unless the context reguires otherwise, the following interpretations shall
apply.

“authorised vehicle” has the same meaning given to that expression in the eleventh
schedule to this order;

“bus” shall have the same meaning as in Schedule 1 "Definitions" of the Statutory
Instrument 2016 No.362 “The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016";

“bus lane” shall have the same meaning as in Schedule 1 "Definitions" of the Statutory
Instrument 2016 No.362 "The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016,

“disabled person’s badge” means —

(a) a badge issued under section 21 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled

Persons Act 1970 (c. 44),

(b) a badge issued under a provision of the law of Northern Ireland correspending to that
section, or

(c) a badge issued by any member State other than the United Kingdom for purposes
corresponding to the purposes for which badges under that section are issued;
“disabled person’s vehicle” means a vehicle lawfully displaying a disabled persons' badge;

“motor vehicle” has the same meaning as in the "Road Traffic Regulation Act 19847

"pedal cycle" shall have the same meaning as in Schedule 1 "Definitions” of the Statutory
Instrument 2016 No.362 “The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2016,

‘private hire vehicle” — shall have the same meaning as in section 23(1) of the Civic
Government (Scotland) Act 1982;

"taxi" - shall have the same meaning as in section 23(1) of the Civic Government
(Scotland) Act 1982;

Page 51

(TRAFFIC



DISABLED PARKING BAY (SCHOOLHILL)

Upon the coming into effect of this order, from midnight to 7.00am, and from 11.00am to
midnight, on any day, the length of road specified in the first schedule hereto shall have
been taken to be added to the first schedule of “The Aberdeen City Council (Disabled
Persons’ Parking Places) (Ref 1/16) Order 2016”.

LOADING BAY (SCHOOLHILL)

Save as provided in Articles §, 6, and 7 of this order, no person shall, except upon the
direction or with the permission of a police constable in uniform, cause or permit any
vehicle to wait on the length of road in Aberdeen specified in the first schedule hereto
between 7.00am and 11.00am on any day.

Nothing in Article 4 of this order shall apply to any goods vehicle being used to load or
unicad goods or burden at premises accessible only by use of that length of road.

Nothing in Article 4 of this order shall prevent any person from causing or pemitting a
vehicle to wait on any of the length of road referred to in that article for so long as may be
necessary:

(a) to enable a person to board or alight from the vehicle;
(b) when the person in control of the vehicle is:

() required by law to stop; or

(i) obliged to stop in order to avoid an accident; or

(i) prevented from proceeding by any circumstances beyond their control,
where the said circumstances relate directly to the movement or
otherwise of traffic on the road.

(c) if the vehicle is in material use in connection with a funeral undertaking;

(d) If the vehicle is in the service of, or is being employed by, a security company
and is in actual use while currency or other valuables:
()] are being unlocaded from the vehicle; or
() having been unloaded from the vehicle, are being delivered; or

(i) are being collected from premises adjacent to that road for loading onto
the vehicle; or

(iv) having been collected from such premises, are being loaded onto the
vehicle.

Nothing in Article 4 of this order shall prevent any person from causing or permitting a
vehicle to wait in any of the length of road referred to in that article for sc long as may be
necessary:

(2) to enable a vehicle in actual use or materially necessary for such purpose
(provided that the vehicle cannot conveniently be used for the same purpose
in any other road) to be used in or adjacent to that road in connection with any:
() building operation;

(il  demolition;

(i) laying, erection, alteration, or repair of any sewer or of any main, pipe or
apparatus for the supply of gas, water, or electncity, or of any electronic
communicaticns apparatus; or

Page 52



10.

11.

12.

(v) excavation, provided that, in the case of any of the operations described in
sub-paragraphs (iif) and (iv) above, the said operation or operations are
to be conducted within the extents of the road.

(b) to enable a vehicle in actual use or materially necessary for such purpose
(provided that the vehicle cannot conveniently be used for the same purpose
in any other road) to be used in connection with the;

(i)  cleansing or lighting of any road;

(i) removal of any obstructicn to traffic on any road,

(i) maintenance or improvement or reconstruction of any road; or

(v) placing, maintenance or removal of any traffic sign or parking meter on

any road.

(c) if the vehicle, being a liveried vehicle, is in the service of, or is being employed

by, a universal service provider, and is in actual use while postal packets:

() addressed to premises adjacent to that road are being unloaded from
the vehicle;

() addressed to premises adjacent to that rcad and having been unloaded
from the vehicle, are being delivered;

() are being collected from postal boxes or premises adjacent to that road
for loading onto the vehicle; or

(iv) having been so collected, are then being loaded onto the vehicle.

PROHIBITION OF MOTOR VEHICLES

Save as provided in Articles 10, 11, 12 and 13 of this order, no person shall, except upon
the direction or with the permission of a police constable in uniform, dnve or permit to be
driven, any motor vehicle on the lengths of road in Aberdeen specified in the second
schedule hereto.

Save as provided in Article 8 of this order, no person shall, except upon the direction or
with the permission of a police constable in uniform, drive or permit to be driven, any motor
vehicle on the lengths of road in Aberdeen specified in the third schedule hereto.

Nothing in Article 8 of this order, shall prevent any person, from driving, or causing or
permitting to be driven, any motor vehicle on any day, from midnight until 11.00am, and
from 4.30pm until midnight, for the purpose of loading goods or burden to or from premises
only accessible from that road.

Nothing in Article 8 of this order shall apply to a motor vehicle being used for police,
ambulance, or fire and rescue purposes in pursuance of statutory powers or duties, and
in any regard for those emergency purposes specified in [tem 3 (4), Part 4, Schedule 3 of
the Statutory Instrument 2016 No.382 “The Traffic Signs Regulations and General
Directions 2016".

Nothing in Article 8 of this order, shall prevent any person, from driving, or causing or
permitting, to be dnven on that road any motor vehicle in actual use or matenally
necessary for such purpose (provided that the vehicle cannot conveniently be used for
the same purpose in any other road):

(a) to be used in connection with the:
0] cleansing or lighting of the road,;
() winter road maintenance purposes;

(i) removal of any obstruction to traffic on any road;

Page 53



13.

14,

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

{iv) maintenance or improvement or reconstruction of any road; or
(v) placing, maintenance or removal of any traffic sign or parking meter

on any road.
(b} if the vehicle, being a liveried vehicle, is in the service of, or is being employed
by, a universal service provider, and is in actual use while postal packets:
(i) addressed to premises adjacent to that road are being unloaded from
the vehicle;
(i) addressed fo premises adjacent to that road and having been unloaded

from the vehicle, are being delivered;

(i) are being collected from postal boxes or premises adjacent to that road
for loading onto the vehicle; or

(iv) having been so cellected, are then being loaded onto the vehicle

(c) If the vehicle is in the service of, or is being employed by, a security company

and is in actual use while currency or other valuables:

(1) are being unloaded from the vehicle; or

(i) having been unloaded from the vehicle, are being delivered; or

(i are being collected from premises adjacent to that road for loading onto
the vehicle; or

(iv) having been collected from such premises, are being loaded onto the
vehicle.

Nothing in Article 8 shall apply to a vehicle being used in the service of the local roads
authority in pursuance of statutory powers or duties relevant to the specified length of
road.

Ncthing in Article 9 of this order, shall prevent any perscn, from driving, or causing or
permitting to be drven, any motor vehicle for the purpose of local access to the lengths
of road specified in the third schedule.

ONE WAY RESTRICTION (EXCEPT FOR PEDAL CYCLES)

Save as provided in Article 17 of this order, no person shall drive, or cause or permit to
be driven, any vehicle on Schoolhill, Aberdeen, between its junctions with Belmont Street
and Upperkirkgate, other than in an easterly direction.

Save as provided in Article 17 of this order, no person shall drive, or cause or permit to
be driven, any vehicle on Upperkirkgate, Aberdeen, between its junctions with Schoolhill
and Flourmill Lane, other than in an easterly direction.

Nothing in Articles 15 and 16 of this order shall apply to a pedal cycle.

ONE WAY RESTRICTION

No person shall drive, or cause or permit to be driven, any vehicle on Trinity Street,
Aberdeen, other than in a north-easterly direction.

ROUTE / LANES FOR USE BY BUSES, GOODS VEHICLES, PEDAL CYCLES, TAXIS
AND AUTHORISED VEHICLES ONLY

Save as provided by Articles 21 and 24, no person shall, exceptupon the direction or with
the permissicn of a police constable in uniform, drive, or cause, or permit to be driven,
any vehicle, on the lengths of road specified in the fourth schedule hereto.

4

Page 54



20.

21.

22.

23.

Save as provided by Articles 21, 22, 23 and 24, no person shall, except upon the direction
or with the permission of a police constable in uniform, drive, or cause, or permit to be
driven, any vehicle, on the lengths of road specified in the fifth schedule hereto.

Nothing in Articles 19 and 20 shall apply: -

(a) to a bus;

{b) to a goods vehicle;

{©) to a pedal cycle;

{d) to a taxi;

{e) to an authorised vehicle; or

{f) to a motor vehicle being used for police, ambulance, or fire and rescue

purposes in pursuance of statutory powers or duties in an emergency situation,
and in any regard for those emergency purposes specified in ltem 3 {4), Part
4, Schedule 3 of the Statutory Instrument 2016 No.362 “The Traffic Signs
Regulations and General Directions 2016,

Nothing in Article 20 of this crder, provided a driver as soon as reascnably practicable
causes the vehicle to leave the bus lane thereafter, shall prevent any person from causing
or permitting a vehicle to enter the lengths of road referred to in that article for so long as
may be necessary:

{a) to enable a person to board or alight from the vehicle;
{b) to enable goods or burden to be Icaded onto, or unloaded, from the vehicle;
{c) when the person in control of the vehicle is:

{iy required by law to stop; or

{ii) obliged to stop in order to avoid an accident; or

{iin) prevented from proceeding by any circumstances beyond their control,
where the said circumstances relate directly to the movement or
otherwise of traffic on the road.

{d) if the vehicle is in material use in connection with a funeral undertaking;

{e) If the vehicle is in the service of, or is being employed by, a security company
and is in actual use while currency or other valuables:
{i) are being unlcaded from the vehicle; or
{ii) having been unloaded from the vehicle, are being delivered; or

{iii} are being collected from premises adjacent to that road for loading onto
the vehicle; or

(iv) having been collected from such premises, are being loaded onto the
vehicle.

Nothing in Article 20 of this order, provided a driver as soon as reasonably practicable
causes the vehicle to leave the bus lane thereafter, shall prevent any person from causing
or permitting a vehicle to enter the lengths bus lanes referred to in that article for so long
as may be necessary:

{a) to enable a vehicle in actual use or materially necessary for such purpose
{provided that the vehicle cannct conveniently be used for the same purpose
in any other road) to be used in or adjacent tc that road in connection with any:

Page 55



24,

{b)

{c)

{i)
{ii)
(i)

(iv)

building operation,;

demoliticn;

laying, erection, atteration, or repair of any sewer or of any main, pipe
or apparatus for the supply of gas, water, or electricity, or of any
electronic communications apparatus; or

excavation, provided that, in the case of any of the operations described
in sub-paragraphs {iii) and {iv) above, the said operation or operations
are to be conducted within the extents of the road.

to enable a vehicle in actual use or materially necessary for such purpose
{provided that the vehicle cannot conveniently be used for the same purpose
in any other road) to be used in cennection with the:

{»

(i)
(i)
{iv)

cleansing or lighting of any read;

removal of any obstruction to traffic on any road;

maintenance or improvement or reconstruction of any road; or
placing, maintenance or removal of any traffic sign or parking meter on
any road.

if the vehicle, being a liveried vehicle, is in the service of, oris being employed
by, a universal service provider, and is in actual use while postal packets:

i)

(i)
(i
{w)

addressed to premises adjacent to that road are being unlocaded from
the vehicle;

addressed to premises adjacent to that road and having been unloaded
from the vehicle, are being delivered,

are being collected from postal boxes or premises adjacent to that road
for loading onto the vehicle; or

having been so collected, are then being loaded onto the vehicle.

Nothing in Articles 19 and 20 of this order shall prevent any person from causing or
pemitting a vehicle to enter the lengths of road referred to in that article for so long as
may be necessary:

{a)

(b)

to enable a vehicle in actual use or materially necessary for such purpose
(provided that the vehicle cannot conveniently be used for the same purpose
in any other road) to be used in or adjacent to that road in connection with any:

{i)
(ii)
(i)

(iv)

building operation;

dempolition;

laying, erection, alteration, or repair of any sewer or of any main, pipe
or apparatus for the supply of gas, water, or electricity, or of any
electronic communications apparatus; or

excavation, provided that, in the case of any of the operations described
in sub-paragraphs {iii) and {iv) above, the said operation or operaticns
are to be conducted within the extents of the road.

to enable a vehicle in actual use or materially necessary for such purpose
{provided that the vehicle cannot conveniently be used for the same purpose
in any other road) to be used in connection with the:

(i)

{ii)
(i)
(ii)
{iv)

cleansing, orlighting of any road,

winter road maintenance purposes;

removal of any obstruction to traffic on any road;

maintenance or improvement or reconstruction of any road; or

placing, maintenance or removal of any traffic sign or parking meter on
any road.

Page 56



25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32

PROHIBITION OF TURNS

Save as provided by Articles 29 and 30, no person shall, except upon the direction or
with the permission of a police constable in uniform, drive, or cause, or permit to be
driven, any motor vehicle on Union Terrace, Aberdeen, so as to make a right turn onto
Rosemount Viaduct.

Save as provided by Article 30, no person shall, except upon the direction or with the
permission of a police constable in uniform, drive, or cause, or permit to be driven, any
motor vehicle on Fiourmill Lane, Aberdeen, so as to turn left onto Upperkirkgate.

Save as provided by Articles 29 and 30, no person shall, except upon the direction or with
the permission of a police constable in uniform, drive, or cause, or permit to be driven,
any motor vehicle on any of the roads specified in Column 1 of the sixth schedule to this
Order so as to make a right turn onto the road specified opposite to such road in Column
2 of the said schedule.

Save as provided by Articles 29 and 30, no person shall, except upon the direction or with
the permission of a police constable in uniform, drive, or cause, or pemit to be driven,
any motor vehicle on any of the roads specified in Column 1 of the seventh schedule to
this Order so as to make a left turn onto the road specified opposite to such road in Column
2 of the said schedule.

Nothing in Articles 27 and 28 shall apply: -

(a) to a bus;
(b) to a taxi; or
(c) to an authorised vehicle.

Nothing in Articles 25, 26, 27 and 28 shall apply to a motor vehicle being used for police,
ambulance, or fire and rescue purposes in pursuance of statutory powers or duties in an
emergency situation, and in any regard for those emergency purposes specified in ltem 3
(4), Part 4, Schedule 3 of the Statutory Instrument 2016 No.362 "“The Traffic Signs
Regulations and General Directions 2016”.

DISABLED PARKING PLACES
Upon the coming intc effect of this order, the length of road in Aberdeen specified in the
eighth schedule hereto shall be added to the first schedule of "The Aberdeen City Council

{Disabled Persons’ Parking Places in Aberdeen City Centre) (Regulatory Parking Places)
Order 2015".

PROHIBITION OF WAITING AND LOADING

Save as provided in Articles 33 and 34 of this order, no person shall, except upon the
direction or with the permission of a police constable in uniform, cause or permit any
vehicle to wait at any time on the length of road specified in the ninth schedule hereto.

Page 57



33. Nothing in Article 32 of this order shall prevent any perscn from causing or permitting a
vehicle to wait on any of the lengths of road referred to in that article for so long as may be
necessary:

34.

(a)

(b)

tc enable a person to board or alight from the vehicle;

when the person in control of the vehicle is:

()] required by law to stop; or

(i) cbliged to stop in order to avoid an accident; or

(il prevented from proceeding by any circumstances beyond their control,
where the said circumstances relate directly to the movement or
ctherwise of traffic on the road.

if the vehicle is in material use in connection with a funeral undertaking;

If the vehicle is in the service of, or is being employed by, a security company

and is in actual use while currency or other valuables:

(0] are being unloaded from the vehicle; or

(i) having been unloaded from the vehicle, are being delivered; or

(iii) are being collected from premises adjacent to that road for loading onto
the vehicle; or

(iv) having been collected from such premises, are being loaded onto the
vehicle.

Nothing in Article 32 of this order shall prevent any person from causing or permmitting a
vehicle to wait in any of the lengths of road referred to in that article for so long as may be
necessary:

(a)

to enable a vehicle in actual use or materially necessary for such purpose

(provided that the vehicle cannot conveniently be used for the same purpose

in any other road) to be used in or adjacent to that road in connection with any:

(i} building operation;

(i) demolition;

(iii) laying, erection, alteration, or repair of any sewer or of any main, pipe
or apparatus for the supply of gas, water, or electricity, or of any
electronic communications apparatus; or

(iv) excavation, provided that, in the case of any of the operations described
in sub-paragraphs (iii) and (iv) above, the said operation or operations
are to be conducted within the extents of the road.

to enable a vehicle in actual use or materially necessary for such purpose

(provided that the vehicle cannot conveniently be used for the same purpose

in any other road) to be used in connection with the:

3] cleansing or lighting of any road;

(i) removal of any obstruction to traffic on any road,

(i) maintenance or improvement or reconstruction of any road; or

(iv) placing, maintenance or removal of any traffic sign or parking meter on
any road.

if the vehicle, being a liveried vehicle, is in the service of, or is being employed
by, a universal service provider, and is in actual use while postal packets:

8

Page 58



(i) addressed to premises adjacent to that road are being unloaded from
the vehicle;

(ii) addressed to premises adjacent to that road and having been unloaded
from the vehicle, are being delivered;

(iii) are being collected from postal boxes or premises adjacent to that road
for loading onto the vehicle; or

(iv) having been so collected, are then being loaded onto the vehicle.

MANDATORY 20MPH SPEED LIMIT

35. No person shall drive, or cause or pemit to be driven, any vehicle at a speed exceeding
20mph on the lengths of road specified in the tenth schedule hereto.

AMENDMENT

36. Upon the coming into effect of this order Articles 26 and 27 of “The Aberdeen City Council
(Central Union Street / Belmont Quarter, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management) Order 2023”
are hereby revoked.

Given by Aberdeen City Council on this Seventeenth Day of January in the year Two
Thousand and Twenty-five.

Page 59



First Schedule
(Loading Bay / Disabled Bay)

Schoolhill

South side, from 19 metres or thereby east of its junction with Belmont Street, eastwards for
a distance of 27 metres or thereby.

10

Page 60



Second Schedule

(‘Pedestrian and Cycle Zone - Prohibition of motor vehicles at any time, except for loading from
midnight to 11.00am, and from 4.30pm to midnight)

Upperkirkgate
Between its junctions with Schoolhill and Flourmill Lane.
Schoolhill

Between its junctions with Back Wynd and Upperkirkgate

11

Page 61



Third Schedule
(Prohibition of motor vehicles, except for access)

Unless otherwise stated, the length of road concerned is in its entirety.

Bath Street
Bridge Place
Bridge Street — southbound carriageway between its junctions with Union Street
and Bath Street.

Bridge Street — northbound carriageway between its junction with Union Street
and a point 36 metres or thereby south of its junction with Bath Street.

Broad Street - between its junctions with Union Street and Queen Street.
Carmelite Lane

Carmelite Street — from its junction with the Green, southwards for a distance of
78 metres or thereby.

Carmelite Street — inner two lanes, between its junction with Trinity Street and
Guild Street.

Castle Street

Concert Court

Guild Street — westbound carriageway between its junction with Exchange
Street and its junction with the access that serves Aberdeen Railway Station.
Guild Street — eastbound carriageway between its junctions with Carmelite
Street and Stirling Street.

Exchange Lane

Exchange Street

Exchequer Row

Green

Hadden Street

Imperial Place

King Street — between its junctions with Castle Street and East North Street.
Lodge Walk

Marischal Street

Market Street — between its junctions with Guild Street and Union Street.
Queen Street

Union Street — between its junctions with Castle Street and the Adelphi.
Shiprow
Shoe Lane
Shore Brae
Stirling Street
Trinity Lane
Trinity Street

12

Page 62



Fourth Schedule
(Bus Gates — Route for use by buses, goods vehicles, pedal cycles, taxis and authorised
vehicles only)

Bridge Street

The southbound carriageway, between its junctions with Bath Street and Wapping
Street.

Guild Street

The eastbound carriageway, between its junctions with Stirling Street and Exchange
Street.

The eastbound carriageway, between its junctions with Exchange Street and Market
Street.

The westbound carriageway, between its junctions with Exchange Street and Market
Street.

Market Street

The northbound carriageway, between its junctions with Hadden Street and Union
Street.

Union Street
The westbound carriageway, between its junctions with Market Street and Adelphi.

The westbound carriageway, from its junction with Market Street, westwards for a
distance of 20 metres or thereby.

The eastbound carriageway, from its junction with Union Terrace, eastwards for a
distance of 26 metres or thereby.

13

Page 63



Fifth Schedule
(Bus Lanes - Lanes for use by buses, goods vehicles, pedal cycles, taxis and authorised
vehicles only)

Bridge Street

Inside lane of the northbound carriageway, between a point 36 metres or thereby south
of its junction with Bath Street and a point 19 metres or thereby north of its junction with
College Street.

Outside lane of the northbound carriageway, from a point 11 metres or thereby south of
its junction with Union Street, southwards for a distance of 18 metres or thereby.

Union Street

Central lane of the eastbound carriageway, from a point 15 metres or thereby west of its
junction with Union Terrace, westwards for a distance of 17 metres or thereby.

Market Street

Inside lane of the northbound carriageway, from a point 18 metres or thereby south of its
junction with Guild Street, southwards for a distance of 45 metres or thereby.

Trinity Quay

Outside westbound lane of Trinity Quay, from its junction with Market Street and a point
72 metres or thereby east of its junction with Market Street.

14

Page 64



Sixth Schedule
(Prohibition of right turn — except for buses, goods vehicles, pedal cycles, taxis, and
authorised vehicles)

Column 1 Column 2
(from) (to)
Bath Street Bridge Street
St Catherine’s Wynd Union Street

15

Page 65



Seventh Schedule
(Prohibition of left turn — except for buses, goods vehicles, pedal cycles, taxis, and
authorised vehicles)

Column 1 Column 2
(from) (to)
Adelphi Union Street
Exchange Street Guild Street
Market Street Guild Street

16

Page 66



Eighth Schedule
(Disabled Parking Bays)

Flourmill Lane

East side, from 2 metres or thereby north-west of its junction with Netherkirkgate, north-
westwards for a distance of 18 metres or thereby.

Carmelite Lane

West side, from 12 metres or thereby south of its junction with Stirling Street, southwards for
a distance of 7 metres or thereby.

Stirling Street

East side, from 7 metres or thereby south of its junction with Hadden Street, southwards for
a distance of 7 metres or thereby.

Exchange Street

West side, from 8 metres or thereby south of its junction with Hadden Street, southwards for
a distance of 7 metres or thereby.

17

Page 67



Ninth Schedule
Guild Street

South side, between its junctions with the accesses that serve the Aberdeen Bus Station and
the Aberdeen Railway Station.

18

Page 68



Tenth Schedule
(Mandatory 20mph Speed Limit)

Unless otherwise stated, the length of road concerned is in its entirety.

Bridge Street
Carmelite Street
College Street — from its junction with Bridge Street / Guild Street, southwards for a

distance of 50 metres or thereby.
Guild Street
Wapping Street.

19

Page 69



Eleventh Schedule
(Definition of an authorised vehicle)

A vehicle is an authorised vehicle for the purposes of this Order if it is —

* 3 private hire vehicle.

20

Page 70



Appendix 2 — Opinion of the Court — XA15/25

FIRST DIVISION, INNER HOUSE, COURT OF SESSION
[2025] CSIH 31
XA15/25
Lord President
lLady Wise
Lord Clark
QPINION QF TIIE COURT
delivered by LORD PENTLANT1, the LORID PRESIDEN'T

in the appeal under paragraph 35 of Schedule 9
ta the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

by

P

NORMAN ESSLEMONT

Appellant
against

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

Respondent

Appellant: Burnet KC, Sutherland, sol adv; Burness Paull LLP
Respondent: Byrne KC; Morton Fraser MacRoberts LLP

9 December 2025

Introduction

[1] The appellant has been a retailer in Aberdeen City Centre for about 60 years. Heisa
partner in a retail business, Esslemonts, which has premises on Thistle Street. He was
tormerly managing director of Esslemont and Macintosh, a well-known department store on

Union Street.

Page 71



[2] The appellant challenges the respondent’s decision of 17 January 2025 to make a
traffic regulation order: the Aberdeen City Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic
Management) Order 2025 (“the TRO). In broad outline, the effect of the TRO is to prohibit
private vehicles from using certain defined sections of public roads in Aberdeen city centre.
The TRO continued indefinitely the effect of an experimental order made two years
previously. The appellant contends that it was not within the respondent’s powers to make

the TRO and that certain procedural requirements for making it were not complied with.

Background

[3] The respondent issued the Aberdeen City Centre Masterplan in 2015. One of the key
aims of the Masterplan was to improve transport infrastructure in Aberdeen. This included
the introduction of bus priorily measures within the cily and on ils approaches. The
Masterplan envisaged that some streets in the city centre would be reserved for bus, cycle
and taxi use only. This was to be achieved, in part, by the installation of bus gates at key
intersections of the city centre to ensure that buses were not adversely affected by traffic
congestion.

[4] In February 2021, the respondent submitted a bid to the Scottish Government’s Bus
Partnership Fund. On 18 June 2021, the Scottish Ministers offered the respondent a grant of
£12,030,000 to assist in the implementation of the bus priority measures in Aberdeen city
centre, which included £10,000,000 for improvement works in the vicinity of South College
Street. The grant was to be payable over the financial years 2021/2022 and 2022/ 2023.

5] Subsequently, the respondent used the powers conferred on it by sections 9, 10

and 14 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (“the RTRA"”) to make the Aberdeen City

Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management) (Experimental) Order 2023 on 24 July

Page 72



2023 (“the ETRO”). An ETRO allows a local authority to introduce new traffic measures
while simultaneously receiving feedback from the public and interested stakeholders on
their effect. The ETRO came into force on 1 August 2023. Under section 9(3) of the RTRA,
the ETRO had a testing period of 18 months. The respondent used the grant funding from
the Scottish Government to carry out various street works to implement the bus
prioritisation measures. These included the creation of bus priority and local access only
restrictions on Union Street, Market Street, Guild Street and Bridge Street.

[6] The operation of the ETRO was strongly opposed by several stakeholders in the
Aberdeen business community between 2023 and 2024. Those sections of the business
community considered that the ETRO had led to a reduction in footfall and sales for
businesses in the city centre.

[7] Wilh the end of the lesling period approaching, the respondent had Lo consider
whether to make the ETRO permanent. Its officers submitted a report on the operation of
the ETRO to the Net Zero, Environment and Transport Committee for consideration at its
meeting on 11 June 2024. The report recorded that over 500 objections had been received to
the ETRO. Notwithstanding those objections, the respondent’s officers recommended,
following a review of all the relevant factors, that the committee should vote to make the
ETRO permanent. The committee voted on the proposal and, by a majority ot 6 to 3, it
resolved to make the ETRO permanent, subject to two changes. The minority insisted, as
they were entitled to do, that the vote be referred to a full sitting of the Council for
determination.

[8] On 11 October 2024 the meeting of the full Council took place. Before the meeting,
the respondent’s officers produced a second report: it maintained the recommendation to

make the ETRO permanent. Officers were concerned that, if the ETRO was not made

Page 73



permanent, there would be: (i) a detrimental impact on the improvements which had been
experienced in bus journey times; and (ii) a risk that the grant might have to be repaid. The
second report also responded to the “Common Sense Compromise”. That referred to a
compromise proposal put forward by local media, a consortium of businesses in the city
centre and business representatives, including the appellant. Key amongst their suggestions
was for the bus gates, which had been installed as part of the ETRO, to be removed. The
respondent’s officers considered that the “Common Sense Compromise”, if implemented,
would fundamentally undermine the purpose of the ETRO being made permanent.

[9] By a majority of 21 to 15, the recommendations of the respondent’s officers in the
second report were accepted by the full sitting of the Council: the ETRO was to be made
permanent, subject to a modification removing the prohibition on right turns from Union
Terrace Lo Rosemount Viaducl.

[10]  That modification was, however, to prove problematic. In October 2024, the
respondent’s officers notified the Urgent Business Committee that the modification was
incompetent. The committee met on 18 December 2024 to consider the officers’ concerns. It
allowed Adrian Watson, Chief Executive Otficer of Aberdeen Inspired, who was also
appearing on behalf of the Aberdeen & Grampian Chamber of Commerce, the Federation of
Small Businesses and Our Union Street, to make representations against the ETRO being
made permanent. Mr Watson requested that the council reconsider its position on making
the ETRO permanent. Notwithstanding his submission, the committee, by a majority of 4 to
3, voted to remove the modification proposed in October while still making the ETRO
permanent.

[11]  The respondent formally made the TRO on 17 January 2025 and it came into effect on

31 January 2025.

Page 74



[12]  In January 2025, the appellant instructed his solicitors to write to the respondent
contending that it could not convert the ETRO into a TRO unless it had obtained the consent
of the Scottish Ministers. 1le also submitted that the respondent’s decision to convert the
ETRO into a TRO was outwith its powers. The respondent did not agree. This led to the

appellant bringing this appeal.

The statutory framework

[13] Insofar as it applies to Scotland, section 1 of the RTRA permits the traffic authority
for a road to make a TRO where it appears to the authority making the TRO that it is
expedient to make it to achieve one or more of the purposes prescribed in sub-paragraphs
(a) to (g). These purposes include facilitating the passage on the road or any other road of
any class of traffic (including pedestrians) and prevenling the use of the road by vehicular
traffic of a kind which, or its use by vehicular traffic in a marmer which, is unsuitable having
regard to the existing character of the road or adjoining property.

[14]  Section 9 permits a traffic authority to make an order “for the purposes of carrying
out an experimental scheme of traffic control”.

[15]  Interms of section 122 the local authority has a duty to exercise its functions as trafttic
authority to “secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other
traffic (including pedestrians) and the provision of suitable and adequate parking facilities
on and off ... the road”. In doing so, the authority should, so far as practicable, have regard
to the matters set out in subsection (2)(a) to (d); these include “(a) the desirability of
securing and maintaining reasonable access to premises”.

[16]  Paragraph 13(1) of Schedule 9 to the RTRA provides inter alia as follows:

Page 75



[17]

[18]

[19]

“Where in the case of any order proposed to be made by a local authority ... under or
by virtue of ... [section] 1 ... it is proposed to include in the order any provision—

{a) so prohibiting or restricting the use of a road as to prevent, for more than
8 hours in any period of 24 hours, access for vehicles of any class to any
premises situated on or adjacent to that road or any other premises accessible

for vehicles of that class from, and only from, that road...

then (except in a case to which sub-paragraph (2) ... applies ...) the order shall not be
made without the consent of the [Scottish Ministers].”

Sub-paragraph (2) provides inter alia as follows:
“This sub-paragraph applies where—
(b)...
(i) no owner, lessee or occupier of premises such as are mentioned in
sub-paragraph (1)(a) above has submitted to the authority any
objection to the inclusion of that provision in the order...”
Paragraph 34 of Schedule 9 provides inter alia as follows:

“{1) This Part of this Schedule applies—

{a) to any order made under or by virtue of any of the following provisions ot
this Act, namely, [section] 1...

(2) In this PPart of this Schedule—

{b) “the relevant requirements”, in relation to any such order as is mentioned
in sub-paragraph (1)(a) above, means any requirement of ... any provision of
this Act with respect to such an order...”

Paragraph 35 of Schedule 9 provides inter alia as follows:

“If any person desires to question the validity of, or of any provision contained in, an
order to which this Part of this Schedule applies, on the grounds—

{a) that it is not within the relevant powers, or
(b) that any of the relevant requirements has not been complied with in
relation to the order,

he may, within 6 weeks from the date on which the order is made, make an
application for the purpose to the ... Court of Session.”

Page 76



[20]  Paragraph 36 of Schedule 9 provides inter alia as follows:
“(1) On any application under this Part of this Schedule the court—
{b) if satisfied that the order, or any provision of the order, is not within the
relevant powers, or that the interests of the applicant have been substantially

prejudiced by failure to comply with any of the relevant requirements, may
quash the order or any provision of the order.”

[21]  The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 1999
prescribe the procedure to be followed in Scotland for making the main types of traffic and
parking orders under the RTRA. The Regulations applied to the ETRO and the TRO.
[22]  Regulations 4, 5, 6 and 7 govern the procedure to be followed before an order is
made; they contain rules governing consultation, publication of proposals, giving notice of
proposals and the making of objections to proposals.
[23] Regulation 8(1)(c) provides that before making any order to which the Regulations
apply, the authority must hold a hearing where infer alia:
“...the order is one which requires the consent of the [Scottish Ministers] under
paragraph 13 of Schedule 9 to the [RTRA], and [they have] notified the authority that
[they] will not be willing to consider giving [their] consent to the making of the order
until a hearing has been held by the authority in connection with it.”
[24]  Regulation 8(2) provides that hearings are to be conducted by an independent
reporter appointed by the Scottish Ministers.
[25] Interms of regulation 17(1)(b), the authority is obliged inter alia to notify in writing
each person who has objected to the order in accordance with regulation 7 and has not
withdrawn his objection, of the authority’s reasons for making the order in spite of the
objection.

[26]  Regulation 20B(3) provides that any objection to the making of an experimental order

is to be treated as if it was an objection to the order being made permanent where the eftect

Page 77



of the permanent order is to reproduce and continue in force indefinitely the provisions of a

relevant experimental order.

The appellant's submissions

[27]  These may be summarised as follows. The appellant has been substantially
prejudiced by the respondent’s procedural breach. The requirement to show substantial
prejudice for the purposes of paragraph 36(1)(b) of Schedule 9 to the RTRA should not be
construed too rigidly (Walton v Scottish Ministers [2012] UKSC 44; 2013 SC (UKS5C) 67, 111
and 154). An applicant’s interest may be established through his participation as a member
of a campaign group (Brice v Moray Council [2023] CSIH 11; 2023 5C 197, [29]).

[28]  The respondent failed to comply with paragraph 13(1)(a) of Schedule 9. It required
Lo seek the Scoltish Ministers’ consent before making, the TRO, given that il prohibits,
restricts and prevents access for more than 8 hours in a period of 24 hours to Union Street,
Bridge Street, Guild Street and Market Street. Having failed to comply with that condition,
the TRO ought to be quashed.

[29]  The perceived risk of having to repay grant funding to the Scottish Ministers was an
irrelevant consideration in making the TRO (R (on the application of East Bergholt Parish
Council) v Babergh DC [2019] EWCA Civ 2200, 82 and 87). Separately, the making of the TRO
to avoid such a risk was an improper purpose. The grant funding did not relate to any of
the statutory purposes for making a TRO.

[30]  The respondent did not act fairly in balancing the relevant considerations and
attached undue weight to the benetits of making the TRO. Separately, the ETRO had not
been experimental. The correspondence between the local public transport operators and the

Chief Officer of Strategic Place Planning for the respondent demonstrated that he sought to

Page 78



influence a particular outcome. The respondent had attached no (or insufficient) weight to
the evidence and representations on economic impact stemming from the decline in footfall.
[31]  Regulation 17 of the 1999 Regulations required the respondent to give reasons for its
decision. Those reasons required to be adequate and intelligible. Notwithstanding that
requirement, the respondent failed to explain: (i) the basis for the making of the TRO on

11 October 2024; and (ii) the basis upon which it had decided that it was expedient to
include the modification for the TRO on 11 October 2024 and then subsequently remove it in

December 2024.

The respondent’s submissions

[32]  The following is a summary. The appellant failed to identify any substantial
prejudice that he had suffered because consent had not been obtained from the Scottish
Ministers. Substantial prejudice to the interests of the appellant was an essential
prerequisite to the quashing of the TRO it any relevant requirements had been infringed
(Tomkins v City of London Corporation [2020] EWHC 3357 (Admin), 66).

[33] The TRO restricted access to parts of Union Street, Bridge Street, Guild Street and
Market Street for certain and specific times during the day. The appellant purported to
represent the interests of several objectors on these roads. Paragraph 13(1)(a) of Schedule 9
requires an objector to be “on or adjacent” to the road subject to TRO and not located
beyond the road affected by TRO. The use of the words “on or adjacent” emphasised the
need for propertics to be directly at the road subject to the restriction. In any event, it

remained possible to access the premises of these objectors, notwithstanding the restrictions

Page 79



10

of the TRO. The respondent provided the following table and plan illustrating and

explaining how access remained viable:

1

Annie Mo's

39 Union Street

Kerbside can be accessed travelling
west along Union Street with
vehicles progressing through the bus
gate if permitted or turning at
Adelphi and heading eastbound
along Union Street, if not.

Douglas
Hotel

43-45 Market
Street

Kerbside can be accessed by vehicles
accessing the area through the
Merchant Quarter, Hadden Street
onto Market Street, and exiting
south, down Market Street, while the
same applies to that route vice versa.

Gamola Golf

53 Market Street

As above,

Core Citi
Lets

19 Adelphi

Access travelling west along Union
Street with vehicles turning in
Adelphi and exiting towards the
east.

6 Shiprow

Access from Shiprow with exit onto
Virginia Street.

Wapping Street

Access from Wapping Street onto
Rennie’s Wynd with exit onto
Carmelite Street (B983).”

Excerpt of the TRO Plan. Objectors shown in orange and numbered. Traffic restrictions shown in red.

Page 80




11

As all the premises upon which the appellant relied were unatfected by the TRO, the
respondent did not require the consent of the Scottish Ministers.

[34]  The TRO was made for a legitimate statutory purpose. Section 1 of the RTRA
provided a traffic authority with a discretion to make an order where they considered it to
be expedient for one of the purposes described in section I(a) to (g). The purpose of making
the TRO was to enhance bus reliability, travel time and to create an improved environment
for pedestrians and cyclists. It was expedient for the respondent to have regard to the
financial implications of making a TRO to promote amenity. What was a relevant
consideration was a matter for the respondent, subject to the choice of consideration not
being excluded by statute or being intrinsically irrational.

[35]  The balancing of the various considerations over whether to make the TRO was a
matler for the respondentl, operating, in Lhe political field, and amenable to challenge on the
basis of Wednesbury unreasonableness alone (5t Modwen Developments LEd v Secretary of Stafe
for Commumnities and Local Governinent [2017] EWCA Civ 1643, 6). Section 1 of the RTRA did
not mandate the factors to be considered by the respondent (R (Hurst) v London Northern
District Coroner [2007] UKHL 13; [2007] 2 AC 189, 57 — 58). The respondent had regard to
the economic implications of the TRO and considered that it would promote business and
the economy. What weight it gave to that consideration was a matter for the respondent,
not the court. The TRO was issued further to a decision of a full sitting of the Council.

[36]  The purpose of the ETRO was dearly explained. It was to trial the effect of bus
priority routes. The respondent had regard to the objections made to the ETRO. The
respondent explained its reasons for rejecting those objections. Likewise, the respondent
had given cogent reasons in its email to objectors on 17 January 2025 to explain the basis for:

(i) making the TRO; and (ii) the removal of the prohibition on right turns from Union

Page 81



12

Terrace onto Rosemount Viaduct from the TRO. The respondent had complied with its duty

under regulation 17(1)(b) of the 1999 Regulations.

Analysis and decision

[37]  Under his first ground of challenge the appellant complains that the respondent
failed to comply with a “relevant requirement” in relation to the Aberdeen City Council
(City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management) Order 2025 because it did not seek the
consent of the Scottish Ministers to the making of the order. The court is empowered to
quash the TRO only if satisfied that the appellant has been substantially prejudiced by the
failure (paragraph 36(1) of Schedule 9 to the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984). The
respondent contends that the appellant has not been substantially prejudiced because he has
no legitimate interest in any properly aflecled by the TRO; he is nol an owner, lessee or
occupier of any property on or adjacent to any of the roads whose use is restricted by the
TRO. Moreover, he did not object to the making of the TRO.

[38]  In our opinion, this argument takes too narrow and legalistic a view of the
requirement to show that the appellant is substantially prejudiced by the alleged procedural
failure. The reality is that the appellant has played a central role in organising and leading
opposition to the making of the TRO on behalf of significant sections of the business
community in Aberdeen. He was actively engaged in attempting to persuade the
respondent to adopt the “Common Sense Compromise”™. Acting on behalf of a significant
number of local traders, he instructed solicitors to make representations to the respondent in
opposition to the TRO. He used his profile as a person of standing in the business
community to launch and promote a successful crowdfunding campaign; this attracted

support from many local businesses. The appellant has a strong local connection and claims

Page 82



13

that the TRO has adversely affected footfall and sales in the city centre where he has retail
premises.
[39] In anot dissimilar manner to the appellant in Bruce v Moray Couneil [2023] CSIHL 11;
2023 5C 197 he has demonstrated a genuine concern about what he contends is an illegality
in the making of the TRO: Bruce [29]; and Walton v Scottish Ministers [2012] UKSC 44;
2013 SC (UKSC) 67, 86 — 89. Had the respondent sought the consent of the Scottish Ministers
to the making of the TRO they might well have ordered a hearing before a reporter in which
the appellant would have had the opportunity to participate in his capacity as a leading
member of the local business community and the coordinator of the crowdfunding
campaign. Given the nature and extent of the appellant’s involvement in leading the
campaign of opposition to the making of the TRO, we consider that he can properly claim to
have been substantially prejudiced by the alleged procedural {ailure to oblain the consent ol
the Scottish Ministers to the making of the TRO. It cannot be said that his interest is trivial
or minimal. On the contrary, it is substantial and undoubtedly genuine. For similar reasons
we consider that the appellant is entitled to complain that there has been inadequate
notification of the reasons for making the TRO.
[40]  The requirement to obtain ministerial consent does not arise where no owner, lessee
or occupier of premises such as are mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)(a) of paragraph 13 of
Schedule 9 to the RTRA has submitted any objection to the inclusion of a provision of the
type referred to in sub-paragraph (1). The type of provision referred to there is one:
“so permitting or restricting the use of a road as to prevent, for more than 8 hours in
any period of 24 hours, access for vehicles of any class to any premises situated on or
adjacent to that road”.
[11]  The owners, lessees and occupiers of premises who are said to have submitted

relevant objections for the purposes of sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) of paragraph 13 are

Page 83



14

agreed to be those listed in the table set out in paragraph [33] above. Ultimately, the
appellant did not dispute that each of those businesses could obtain access to their premises
by the means described in the table.

[42]  Paragraph 13(1){(a) is best understood by identitying that it contains several different
elements, each of which requires to be satistied before the provision is engaged. First, it
covers provisions included in an order which prohibit or restrict the use of a road. Secondly,
it applies to prohibitions or restrictions on the use of a road which prevent for more than

8 hours in any period of 24 hours access for vehicles. Thirdly, it makes clear that it refers to
prohibitions or restrictions preventing access to any premises situated on or adjacent to the
road or any other premises accessible to vehicles only from the road.

[43]  There is no dispute that the TRO prohibits or restricts vehicular access to the roads
specified therein for the requisile period. The respondent does not accept that any of the
premises listed in the table set out in paragraph [33] above are on or adjacent to a part of a
road which is affected by a restriction, but the argument can be tested on the hypothesis that
at least some of them are so situated. The pivotal question then resolves itself into whether
it can be said that access is prevented to any of the premises, the operative word in the
provision being “prevent”. The appellant argued that any reduction in access was sufficient
to amount to access being prevented within the meaning of the sub-paragraph. We do not
agree that this is a tenable construction of the word “prevent” in the context of the statutory
provision. The word should be given its ordinary meaning, which is to stop something from
happening or someone from doing something. The Oxferd English Dictionary (274 ed. 1989)
defines prevent as meaning: “to stop, keep, or hinder a person or other agent from doing
something”. The normal meaning of the word does not extend to reducing the ability of a

person to do something. The appellant’s construction would mean that any reduction in

Page 84



15

access, however minor, would require the authority to obtain ministerial consent before
making an order. This would be unrealistic and would impose excessive and
disproportionate burdens on central government. It seems highly unlikely that the
legislature intended that every TRO having any degree of impact on access to premises on or
adjacent to an affected road would require ministerial consent before it could be made. We
consider that the appellant has failed to show that access to any of the premises identified as
relevant for the purposes of the appeal has been prevented. It follows that there has been no
failure on the part of the respondent to comply with a relevant requirement. The first
ground of appeal must, therefore, fail.

[44]  The second ground of appeal concerns the appellant’s contention that it was
unlawful for the respondent to take account of the possibility that grant funding awarded by
Transport Scotland for improvement works Lo South College Street might have to be repaid.
It was argued that this was an irrelevant consideration and that the respondent pursued an
improper purpose by resolving to make the TRO to avoid this perceived risk. To take
account of this possibility was said to be inconsistent with the overarching statutory duty to
secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular traffic.

[45]  In our opinion, there is o merit in this ground of appeal. The respondent’s reasons
for making the TRO were set out in a statement of reasons. This explained that bus priority
measures in the form of bus gates/lanes were being established in the city centre to enhance
bus reliability and travel time. The removal of through traffic would establish an improved
environment for pedestrians and cyclists. The key reasons for making the TRO were
obviously to improve amenity and improve the city centre environment. The appellant’s
argument that in making the TRO the respondent was pursuing an improper purpose is

fatally undermined when the true reasons for making the TRO are understood.

Page 85



16

[46]  In any event, the respondent had a wide discretion under the statutory scheme to do
what it considered to be expedient in the public interest. Section 1(1) of the RTRA provides
that the authority may make an order where it appears to it that making the order is
expedient for a wide range of purposes concerned with improving and preserving amenity
and promoting suitable use of the road by what the authority considers to be suitable and
appropriate types of traffic. The use of the term “expedient” emphasises the width of the
authority’s discretionary powers. The word implies no more than that the authority’s action
should be appropriate in all the circumstances (R (HSE) v Wolverhampton City Council [2012]
UKSC 34; [2012] 1 WLR 2264, 24 —26). It is for the authority to consider for itself what it
regards as expedient in this context and its decision on the point will only be capable of being
interfered with where it can be demonstrated to be irrational (R (Hitrst) v London Northern
District Coroner [2007] UKHL 13; [2007] 2 AC 189, 57, citing CREEDNZ Incv Governor General
[1981] 1 NZLR 172, 183).

[17]  As part of its decision on 11 October 202 to make the TRO the respondent agreed
that in accepting grant funding for the South College Street project, there was an expectation
from the Scottish Ministers that bus priority measures would be installed within the city
centre and, should this not be the case, the conditions of the grant award letter explicitly
provided for Transport Scotland to recover tunding from the respondent. The respondent
noted that should the bus prioritisation measures implemented following the South College
Street improvements change, there was a risk that Transport Scotland would seek to recover
funding they had provided for the project. The Chief Officer of Finance advised that a
contingent liability would have to be recorded in the respondent’s financial performance

reports and that if the matter was not resolved by 31 March 2025 provision would have to be

Page 86



17

made in the draft anrual accounts tor the repayment of grant funding. This would not be in
accordance with the respondent’s approved risk appetite statement.

[48]  Given the width of the respondent’s discretionary power to make an order if it
appeared to it expedient so to do, there can be no doubt that it was at least reasonable for the
respondent to have regard to the possibility that the grant funding might have to be repaid it
the TRO was not made. Where a public authority has to consider whether to exercise a
discretionary power to achieve a public objective, it is entitled and usually required to take
into account the cost to the public of so doing, at least to the extent of considering whether
the cost is proportionate to the aim sought to be achieved. The weight to be attached to cost
considerations is a matter on which the authority should reach its own judgement. There is
nothing at all surprising or in any sense improper about the respondent taking account of
the financial implications {or the public purse when considering whether Lo make the TRO.
The respondent was entitled to have regard to the possibility that the grant funding might
have to be repaid if the TRO was not made. This was quintessentially a matter for it to
address in the exercise of its broad discretionary powers. It follows that the second ground
of appeal must fail.

[49]  Grounds 3 and 4 were only faintly argued at the summar roll hearing. They can be
disposed of briefly. Atits meeting on 11 June 2024 the respondent’s Net Zero, Environment
and Transport Committee gave detailed consideration to and rejected the “Common Sense
Compromise” put forward by opponents of the bus priority measures. They considered the
points made about decline in footfall. They had regard to the changing nature of city
centres. They accepted officers” advice that, subject to two modifications, the Aberdeen City
Council (City Centre, Aberdeen) (Traffic Management) {Experimental) Order 2023 should be

made permanent. The respondent concluded that the TRO would promote business and the

Page 87



18

local economy. It would support delivery of the Aberdeen City Centre Masterplan,
contribute to regeneration of the city and maintain sufficient access for business and
industry. These were all conclusions that the respondent was entitled to reach based on the
wide range of evidence before it. The weight it chose to give to the various considerations
was entirely a matter for the respondent.

[50]  There is no substance in the point taken by the appellant to the effect that the Chief
Ofticer of Strategic Place Planning actively sought to weight the June 2024 consultation
report in favour of the benefits of making the ETRO permanent in order to influence a
particular outcome. The point is immaterial. The challenged decision was taken by a
committee of the respondent. There is no suggestion that the committee had regard to
inaccurate information from bus operators. The appellant did not seek to argue that the
statistical dala provided by the bus operalors was inaccurale to the extent that the
respondent was misled into making an erroneous decision.

[51]  As to the point that the ETRO was not truly experimental, this too must be rejected.
The respondent explained the purpose of the ETRO when it came into force. In summary,
its purpose was to trial in practice the effect of the bus priority routes. The report prepared
for the June 2024 committee meeting explained that an experimental order was a method of
introducing traftic management measures and simultaneously carrying out consultation on
them. The respondent had regard to the objections arising from the experiment. As it was
entitled to do, it elected not to accept the points made by the objectors.

[52]  Ground 5 challenges the adequacy of reasons given by the respondent. The email
sent to objectors explained that the decision to make the TRO was principally made at the
meeting of the respondent on 11 October 2024 It stated that, after consideration of the

objections via reports of 11 June and 2 October 2024 (to which hyperlinks were provided),

Page 88



19

the respondent had resclved to make the TRO. The June report set out in detail the various
objections and gave consideration to them. Any objector, on reading the email and the
linked documents, would have appreciated that the objections had been rejected for the
reasons given in the report.
[53]  Separately, the respondent issued a statement of reasons to the public explaining
why the TRO had been made and its effect. In particular, the statement of reasons explained
that the prohibition of the right turn from Union Terrace to Rosemount Viaduct (except for
buses, pedal cycles, taxis and authorised vehicles) was to discourage through traftic from
routing via Union Street. Having regard to the totality of information made available to the
objectors, the reasons for the respondent’s decision to make the TRO were adequately
explained.
[54] The appellant argued thal the responden! had failed to explain the basis on which it
decided that it was expedient to include the modification in the TRO in October 2024 but
subsequently to decide in December that it was not necessary or expedient to do so. The
email sent to objectors explained that the respondent’s Urgent Business Committee on
18 December 2024 instructed that a modification be made to the decision taken on
11 October 2024, “to procedurally meet the [respondent’s] decision” to consider the removal
ot the prohibition on right turns from Union Terrace onto Rosemount Viaduct. The email
continued as follows:
“Accordingly, the proposal to remove the ‘no right turns’ prohibition at Union
Terrace/Rosemount Viaduct from the permanent order will be subject to a statutory
public consultation process in the first quarter of 2025, where any objections
received against its removal will be reported to a relevant Council committee for
consideration.”

[55] We consider that this explanation would have been perfectly intelligible to any

informed reader.

Page 89



20

[36]  For the reasons we have given, there is no merit in any of the grounds of appeal. The

appeal is accordingly refused.

Page 90




Agenda Item 9.4

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit Risk and Scrutiny Committee

DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Report AC2518 — Corporate Landlord Responsibilities

— Follow up Report

REPORT NUMBER

F&C/26/034

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Family and Communities

CHIEF OFFICER

Corporate Landlord

REPORT AUTHOR

Scott Mathieson

TERMS OF REFERENCE

2.2

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

11 On 28 July 2025 Report IA/AC2518 — Internal Audit Report — Corporate
Landlord responsibilities was presented to committee. This report provides the
committee with an update on progress made against the recommendations and
comments on the extent to which the recommendations relate to budgetary

considerations or to the need for updated procedures.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

That the Committee

2.1 Note the content of the report, progress made to date and actions still

outstanding.

3. CURRENT SITUATION

3.1 On the 28" July areport was received by the Committee in relation to

Corporate Landlord responsibilities link to report.

The Committee resol

ved:-

0] to note that the Chief Officer — Corporate Landlord would provide
information to Members outwith the meeting on the number of staff in
the Corporate Landlord cluster and the current level of vacancies in

each area;

(i) to note that the Chief Officer — Corporate Landlord would provide a
report to Committee in two cycles detailing the progress on the audit
recommendations, including detail on which matters were related to
available budget and which were in relation to the updating and
reviewing of procedures; and

(i)  to otherwise n

ote the report.

3.2 As requested by committee, a Service update has been circulated which
identified key current vacancies in the Corporate Landlord structures.

Page 91


http://councilcommittees.acc.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=115312

Review of properties which formed part of audit.

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

Following the presentation of the Audit report, a deep dive into the individual
cases identified during the audit process was undertaken.

Of the 13 properties randomly selected by Internal Audit, the following was
determined.

1 property closed in 2023 and this information should have been shared with
the audit team.

2 properties were under refurbishment during 2024/25 causing certification
gaps due to challenges with access and temporarily ceasing maintenance.
It is unclear if this information was shared with the audit team.

1 property was still under contractor retention period, so checks weren't yet
required. This information should have been shared with the audit team.
Some of the issues identified by Internal Audit related to system challenges
(documentation was held across ACC property files and in specialist
contractor portals), leading to documents not being provided to the audit
team timeously.

The underperformance of one specialist contractor played a part in
certification shortfall, however, addressing performance was in progress
with one contractor being removed from contractual delivery. In this case,
although the work orders were issued, certification documentation had not
been issued timeously.

The remainder of this report presents an update on progress made, with
reference made to any wulnerabilities identified being impacted by available
budget. Although the recommendations are listed separately, there are
interdependencies across recommendations, leading to slight delays in some
of the recommendations being actioned.

Recommended actions from Internal Audit and Progress

Recommended Action on Written Procedures: The Service should review
and update its set of procedures to ensure the practical application of all
corporate landlord requirements are clearly explained. Procedures should be
scheduled for periodic review.

The service agreed with this recommendation and set a time for completion of
December 2025. It is accepted that undertaking some further analysis as
outlined at para 3.4 led to slight delay in the completion of this
recommendation, however, the insight gleaned will undoubtedly strengthen
our amended procedures.

Documented procedures are in the process of either being developed or
reviewed. To date procedures have been updated for the key 6 statutory
maintenance contracts (Gas/ electric/ firefighting/ fixed wiring/ legionella and
emergency lighting). They are in a shared file and are being shared with key
personnel. This will be fully completed by the end of the financial year.

Page 92



3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

3.18

Recommended Action on Contracts:

e The Service should ensure appropriately detailed call off contracts are in
place for planned expenditure in respect of all of its statutory maintenance
requirements.

e The Service should ensure all call-off contracts are formally recorded on
the contracts register system.

e The Service should ensure it has documentary evidence demonstrating
contractors have appropriate certification in line with contract
specifications.

The service agreed with this recommendation and set a time for completion of
April 2026.

At the time the report was presented to Committee, Members were advised that
compliant frameworks were being used and that a review group had been
established to look at future procurement exercises and an improved means of
recording the call off of individual contracts.

This work has progressed and current contract arrangements are being
reviewed in preparation for a tender process as current framework come to an
end. Due to the significant number of call off arrangements annually, a process
has been developed to add call off contracts to Amelior on a scheduled basis
by bulk upload, the Building Services team have been provided with a template
to be maintained and sent to Commercial & Procurement quarterly for upload
to the system.

This action is complete.

Recommended Action on Contractor Performance

e The Service should review how KPI's are set and managed to ensure
these provide assurance statutory timescales are being met.

e The Service should ensure spend and performance is monitored on a
regular basis at a contract level. Issues should be addressed or escalated
as appropriate

The service agreed with this recommendation and set a time for completion of
December 2025.

Without a long-term solution in contract management systems, the service had
agreed to implement further oversight of control to contract KPls and
performance.

Current contractor KPI's are produced and reviewed at monthly contractor
compliance meetings. Any performance issues are identified, discussed and
escalated as required. KPI's will be further developed and included in the new
framework process to aid the process in the longer term.

The initial work on this is complete although further opportunities to improve
exist as works are re-tendered during 2026/2027. A form of monthly update
report across all contracts is in development between Corporate Landlord/
Building Services and will be launched from April 2026.

Page 93



3.19

3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

3.24

3.25

3.26

3.27

4.1

Recommended Action on Planning and Scheduling
e The Service should ensure managementhas comprehensive assurance
that statutory maintenance is taking place as scheduled, and that safety
critical defects/risks are being addressed promptly.
e The Service should review the efficiency and effectiveness of operating
multiple systems / processes for the same purpose and consider
integration/automation where possible.

The service agreed with this recommendation and set a time for completion of
April 2026.

Compliance with statutory requirements are ensured by a combination of
onsite visits during inspection and maintenance, technical/statutory review of
contractor's performance, certification and billing review and attendance at
monthly contractor compliance meetings.

A single accessible current document/certification repository is being
developed, which will be incorporated into the Confirm Suite. Confirm is the
system used for managing public buildings.

Good progress has been made in finding a method to manage documents by
amending existing systems. This is now live but will take 12 months for all
current certification to be in place (for annual inspection information).

Recommended Action on Documentation

The Service should develop and implement an appropriate quality assurance
system to ensure documentation is being reviewed in sufficient detail to
provide assurance corporate landlord responsibilities are being discharged
effectively.

The service agreed with this recommendation and set a time for completion of
December 2025. The Service agreed to introduce additional oversight in this
area and consider the introduction of a Quality Improvement Framework.
Initial meetings to explore how a Framework might integrate with a corporate
approach have been held, this work will continue over the coming year.

A scheduled Confirm system upgrade took place on Friday 23 January 2026.
The update is expected to enhance system functionality and provide
additional configuration options to help fully meet the recommendation.

Following the upgrade, the Service is now exploring options to develop
Confirm to allow external contractors to have controlled direct access,
enabling fully digital submission of invoices, statutory compliance
documentation, and certification. It is thought that this will allow robust and
auditable compliance records.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no immediate financial consideration from the issues raised in this

report. However, implementation of some recommendations—particularly
those related to systems development, staff training, and potential resourcing

Page 94



adjustments—may have future budget implications, which will be fully assessed
and reported,

4.2 Since the report there has been in in year increase in the repair and
maintenance budget for public buildings, due to previous shared contingency
elements with the council’'s budget being allocated to risk areas. This has
increased the budget line from £3.3 million to around £4.8 million.

4.3  Balancing this budget remains challenging with an anticipated overspend in this
area due to several factors out with individual officer's control. Only works of an
essential health and safety nature, works required to make properties wind and
watertight and compliant are being or have been progressed.

4.4  £1.5m was spent on cyclical statutory compliance in 2024/25.

4.5  Current resourcing will continue to be monitored to ensure staffing and statutory
systems capacity aligns with statutory and operational requirements.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Failure to properly discharge Corporate Landlord responsibilities may expose
the Council to legal and regulatory risk under the following key legislation:
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974
Landlord and Tenant Act 1985
Fire (Scotland) Act 2005
Gas Safety Regs 1998
Electricity at Work Regulations 1989
The Lifts Regulations 2016
COSHH 2002

5.2 Risks may include enforcement action, civil liability, or reputational harm should
statutory duties not be met.

6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 there are no new environmental implications in relation to this report.

7. RISK

Category Risks Primary *Target Risk *Does
Controls/Control Level (L, M or | TargetRisk
Actions to achieve H) Level
Target Risk Level Match
*taking into Appetite
account Set?
controls/control
actions
Strategic None
Risk
Compliance | Health and As detailed in report L Yes
Safety risk is

Page 95



checks aren’t
complete

Operational

Buildings
unable to
operate die to
failures

Measures as detailed
in report

Yes

Financial

Increasing
costs to
manage estates

Measures as detailed
in report

Yes

Reputational

Reputation
management
form building
compliance and
health and
safety failure

Measures as detailed
in the report

Yes

Environment
/ Climate

None

8. OUTCOMES

8.1  There are no direct impacts, as a result of this report, in relation to the

Council Delivery Plan, or the Local Outcome Improvement Plan Themes of
Prosperous Economy, People or Place.

8.2 However, Internal Audit plays a key role in providing assurance over, and

helping to improve, the Council’'s framework of governance, risk
management and control. These arrangements, put in place by the

Council, help ensure that the Council achieves its strategic objectives in a
well-managed and controlled environment.

9. IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

Assessment

Outcome

Integrated Impact

Assessment

No assessment required. | confirm this has been
discussed and agreed with Stephen Booth, Chief Officer
Corporate Landlord on 21 Jan 2026.

Data Protection Impact

Not required

Assessment
Other

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS
10.1 Report IA/AC2518 — Internal Audit Report —Corporate Landlord responsibilities
11. APPENDICES
12. REPORT AUTHOR CONTACT DETAILS

Name Scott Mathieson

Title Assistance Operation Manager

Email Address

SMathieson@aberdeencity.gov.uk

Page 96




Agenda Item 9.5

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee
DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Internal Audit Charter

REPORT NUMBER IA/26/002

DIRECTOR N/A

REPORT AUTHOR Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor
TERMS OF REFERENCE 2.1

11

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

PURPOSE OF REPORT

The purpose of this report is to seek agreement for the Internal Audit
Charter.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Committee approve the attached Internal Audit
Charter. No changes have been made to the Charter approved in
September 2025 by the Committee.

CURRENT SITUATION

GIAS require that Internal Audit sections have an Internal Audit Charter that
includes specific requirements contained within the Standards. The
Standards require that the organisation’s Board (for the Council, the Audit,
Risk and Scrutiny Committee) approves the Internal Audit Charter.

Standard 6.2 in Domain Il of the GIAS (Governing the IA Service) requires
the Chief Audit Executive to implement and maintain an Internal Audit
Charter that sets out the purpose of Internal Audit, the Internal Audit
mandate, organisational position, reporting relationships, scope of work,
types of services, and other specifications in accordance with GIAS.

The draft Charter included as an appendix to this report satisfies this
requirement.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Page 97



4.1

5.1

6.1

7.1

8.1

8.2

10.

10.1

There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations
of this report.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations of
this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct environmental implications arising from the
recommendations of this report.

RISK

The Internal Audit process considers risks involved in the areas subject to
review. Any risk implications identified through the Internal Audit process
are detailed in the resultant Internal Audit reports. Recommendations are
made to address the identified risks and Internal Audit follows up progress
with implementing those that are agreed with management. Where planned
progress is not maintained, there is a risk that sufficient work will not have
been completed by the end of the financial year for Internal Audit to
complete its annual opinion on the Council’'s control environment.

OUTCOMES
The proposals in this report have no impact on the Council Delivery Plan.

However, Internal Audit plays a key role in providing assurance over, and
helping to improve, the Council’'s framework of governance, risk
management and control. These arrangements, put in place by the
Council, help ensure that the Council achieves its strategic objectives in a
well-managed and controlled environment.

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

Assessment Outcome

Impact Assessment An assessment is not required because the
reason for this report is to report Internal
Audit’'s progress to Committee. As a result,
there will be no differential impact, because of
the proposals in this report, on people with
protected characteristics.

Data Protection Impact | Not required
Assessment

BACKGROUND PAPERS

There are no relevant background papers related directly to this report.

Page 98




11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix A — Aberdeen City Council Internal Audit Charter.

12. REPORT AUTHOR DETAILS

Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor
jamie.dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk
(01467) 530988

Page 99


mailto:jamie.dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



ABERDEEN

CITY COUNCIL

Internal Audit

Internal Audit Charter




Contents

1 EXECULIVE SUIMMAIY ...oiiiiiiiiieeiiiiie e eeiieee e e ettt e e sttt e e s sttt e e st eee s sabaeeessnsbeeeeennsaeeeeesnnneeas 3
11 Introduction and background..........c.ceeiiiiiiiie e 3
2  Purpose of Internal AUt ........ccccuviiiiiiiiee e e e e e e e 3
2.1 Commitment to Adhering to the Global Internal Audit Standards (GIAS) ........ 4
3 Internal AUAIt MANAALE ..........viieeiiiie et e e e e e e e e raee e e esaneeeennes 4
3.1 Handling INfOrmMation ..........coooiiiiei e e 5
O B 1= 11 11 8 o] PP SPUPPPPPPRP 5
5 Independence, Position, and Reporting Relationships ........ccccooveviiiiiiieeiiiieciieeee 6
6 1A Authority and Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee Oversight ..........cccceeeviiieeeens 6
7 1A Objectives and ReSpoNSIbIlities......c..uvvvviiiii i 7
7.1 Ethics and ProfessionaliSM..........cooiiiiiiiiiie et 7
7.2 (O] o] =T o1 11721 4 V78T 7
7.3 Managing the Internal AUdit SEIVICE ......cccvvviiieiie e 8
7.4 Communication with the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and Senior
Y L= TaE=To [T 01T o | AT PO PP UPPPPPRPPN 9
8 Management RESPONSIDIIITIES ......uviiiiiiiii e 9
9 Scope and Types of Internal AUdit SEIVICES ....cccuiiiiiiiiiiee e 10
10 Internal Audit WOrK Programme .........ccccuveeeiiiiieeeeiiiiie et e esvee e e eirnee e savee e e 11
10.1 Other Sources of Assurance — Coordination and Reliance...........ccccecveevnneenne 11
11 RESOUICING 1.ttt ettt e e et e e e ettt e e e e st e e e ettaeeeesnsaeeeeeansabeaeeensaeeennns 12
12 Fraud and COrTUPTION.......oouii ittt 12
13 Follow-up of agreed audit @CtiONS ........coccviiiiiiiiiieeceeee e e 12
14 Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme .........cccccoevcveeeeeniiieeeesnieeeeeeieennn 13
15 Annual Reporting and Overall CoNClUSION.......ccciiiiiiiiiie e 13
16 Communication and REPOITING ....cceoiiiiieeiiiie e 13
17 Approval and Changes to the IAMandate and Charter .........cccccceevviiiiiivciieeeeenee 14

Page 102



1 Executive Summary

1.1 Introduction and background

In line with section 7(1) of The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Reqgulations 2014, local
authorities must operate a professional and objective internal auditing service in accordance
with recognised standards and practices in relation to internal auditing.

The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014, which is the legislative framework for
integrating adult health and social care extends the above requirement to Integration Joint
Boards (IJB’s).

The Global Internal Audit Standards (GIAS) came into effect in January 2025 and guide the
worldwide professional practice of internal auditing and serve as a basis for evaluating and
elevating the quality of the Internal Audit (IA) Service. The Application Note: GIAS in the UK
Public Sector effective from 1 April 2025, provides a framework for the practice of IA in the UK
Public Sector when taken together with the GIAS. The GIAS (UK Public Sector) sets out
interpretations and requirements which need to be applied to the GIAS, to form a suitable
basis for IA practice in the UK Public Sector.

In addition, CIPFA are releasing a new Code of Practice for the Governance of IA in Local
Government to support compliance with the principles and standards in Domain lll (Governing
the 1A Service) of the GIAS (UK Public Sector). Compliance with the Code must be included
in an IA annual internal quality assessmentwith outcomes reported to committee from 2025/26
onwards and an external quality assessment, due every five years.

Standard 6.2 in Domain lll of the GIAS (Governing the IA Service) requires the Chief Audit
Executive! to implement and maintain an Internal Audit Charter that sets out the purpose of
Internal Audit, the Internal Audit mandate, organisational position, reporting relationships,
scope of work, types of services, and other specifications in accordance with the GIAS.

The Internal Audit Charter for the Aberdeen City Council sets out these requirements and is
based on the Institute of Internal Auditor’s (lIA) 2024 Model Charter.

The 1A Charter is reviewed and approved annually by the Council’'s Corporate Management
Team (CMT) and the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny (AR&S) Committee.

2 Purpose of Internal Audit

In line with the GIAS, the purpose of the IA Service is to strengthen the Council’s ability to
create, protect, and sustain value by providing the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and
Management with independent, risk-based, and objective assurance, advice, insight, and
foresight.

The IA Service enhances the Council’s:

e Successful achievement of its objectives

¢ Governance, risk management, and control processes
e Decision-making and oversight

e Reputation and credibility with its stakeholders

e Ability to serve the public interest.

! GIAS utilise the term Chief Audit Executive. Within the context of the Council, this is the Chief Internal Auditor.

Page 103


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2014/200/regulation/7
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2014/9/pdfs/asp_20140009_en.pdf
https://www.theiia.org/en/standards/2024-standards/global-internal-audit-standards/
https://www.cipfa.org/-/media/files/policy-and-guidance/iasab/global-internal-audit-standards-december-2024.pdf
https://www.cipfa.org/-/media/files/policy-and-guidance/iasab/global-internal-audit-standards-december-2024.pdf
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/consultation-on-the-code-of-practice-for-the-governance-of-ia-in-local-govt
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/consultation-on-the-code-of-practice-for-the-governance-of-ia-in-local-govt

The Council’'s IA Service is most effective when:

e Internal auditing is performed by competent professionals in conformance with the
GIAS (UK Public Sector), which are set in the public interest.

e The IA Service is independently positioned with direct accountability to the Audit, Risk
& Scrutiny Committee

¢ Internal auditors are free from undue influence and committed to making objective
assessments.

IA assurance is provided by delivering an annual programme of audit work that independently
and objectively assesses the design and effectiveness of the controls established to manage
the Council’'s most significant risks.

The IA scope covers all Council activities, and the activities of external parties. The scopealso
covers the Aberdeen City IJB and the North East Scotland Pension Fund

2.1 Commitment to Adhering to the Global Internal Audit Standards (GIAS)

The Council's IA Service will adhere to the Institute of Internal Auditors' International
Professional Practices Framework, consisting of the GIAS and Topical Requirements as well
as the Application Note: Global Internal Audit Standards in the UK Public Sector. When
expressing conformance with standards, the Council’'s IA Service will be clear that they are
conforming with Global Internal Audit Standards in the UK Public Sector.

The Chief Audit Executive (CAE) will report annually to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee
and Senior Management on the IA Service’s conformance with the GIAS (UK Public Sector),
which will be assessed through a quality assurance and improvement programme.

In addition to the primary purpose of Internal Audit, the CAE will also:

e Support the Chief Executive as the Council’'s statutory Head of Paid Service in the
discharge of their duties.

e Support the Council’s statutory Chief Finance Officer in undertaking their duties as the
‘Section 95 Officer’.

e Support the Council’s statutory Monitoring Officer in undertaking their duties but with no
formal role in members compliance with their Code of Conduct.

e Advise on the internal control implications of system or process changes within the
Council.

e Assist management in their duties to prevent and detect fraud and corruption.

e Aim to add value to the Council in all its undertakings.

3 Internal Audit Mandate

In line with the GIAS, the Council's IA Service receives its mandate from the Audit, Risk &
Scrutiny Committee. The mandate sets out the authority, roles and responsibilities, and
empowers the IA Service to provide the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and Senior
Management with independent, risk-based, and objective assurance, advice, insight, and
foresight.

The IA Service’s authority is created by its direct reporting relationship to the Audit, Risk &
Scrutiny Committee. Such authority allows for unrestricted access to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny
Committee.

Page 104


https://www.theiia.org/en/standards/2024-standards/future-of-the-ippf-evolution/the-international-professional-practices-framework/
https://www.theiia.org/en/standards/2024-standards/future-of-the-ippf-evolution/the-international-professional-practices-framework/
https://www.theiia.org/en/standards/2024-standards/global-internal-audit-standards/
https://www.theiia.org/en/standards/2024-standards/topical-requirements/
https://www.cipfa.org/-/media/files/policy-and-guidance/iasab/global-internal-audit-standards-december-2024.pdf

The Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee authorises the 1A Service to:

e Have full and unrestricted access to all functions, data, records, information, physical
property, and personnel pertinent to carrying out IA audit responsibilities. Internal
auditors are accountable for confidentiality and safeguarding records and information.

e Allocate resources, set frequencies, select subjects, determine scopes of work, apply
techniques, and issue communications to accomplish the function’s objectives.

e Obtain assistance from the necessary personnel of the Council, and other
organisations and services from within or outside the Council to complete internal audit

services.

3.1 Handling Information

The GIAS set out the duty on internal auditors to be faithful custodians of the information they
gather, sharing only in limited, defined and controlled ways, and describes the need for
awareness of responsibilities in protecting information and demonstrating respect for the
confidentiality, privacy and ownership of information.

In line with the GIAS (UK Public Sector) internal auditors mustalso be aware of circumstances
under which sharing or publication of information will be required. They must be aware of their
organisation’s policies and procedures for routine publication of certain information and where
there are statutory obligations to share or publish information, for example Freedom of
Information requirements.

4 Definitions
Internal Audit adopted the following definitions set out in the GIAS 2024 Glossary:

Internal Audit

An independent, objective assurance and advisory senice designed to add value and
improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation achieve its objectives by
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness
of risk management, control, and governance processes.

Senices through which internal auditors perform objective assessments to provide

Assur_ance assurance. The nature and scope of assurance senices are determined by Internal
services :
Audit.
Senvices through which internal auditors provide advice to an organisation’s
Advisory stakeholders without providing assurance or taking on management responsibilities.
services The nature and scope of advisory senices are subject to agreement with relevant
stakeholders.
Independence Freedom from conditions that threaten the ability of the internal audit activity to carry

out internal audit responsibilities in an unbiased manner.

In addition, key roles within the Council are fulfilled as follows:
e Chief Audit Executive ‘CAE’ is fulfilled by the Chief Internal Auditor (CIA).

e The ‘Chief Financial Officer’ is fulfiled by the Council's Chief Officer - Finance
(designated statutory Section 95 Officer).

e Senior Management is fulfilled by the Council’'s Corporate Management Team.

e The ‘Board’ role is undertaken by the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee.

Page 105




5 Independence, Position, and Reporting
Relationships

The GIAS state that the CAE should be positioned at a level in the Council that enables 1A
services and responsibilities to be performed without interference from management, thereby
establishing the independence of the IA Service.

The CAE reports functionally to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and administratively (for
example, day-to-day operations) to the Director of Corporate Services. This positioning
provides the organisational authority and status to bring matters directly to Senior
Management and escalate matters to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee when necessary,
without interference and supports the internal auditors’ ability to maintain objectivity.

The CAE is required to confirm to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee, at least annually, the
organisational independence of the IA Service. If the governance structure does not support
organisational independence, the CAE must document the characteristics of the governance
structure limiting independence and any safeguards employed to achieve the principle of
independence. The CAE must disclose to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee any
interference internal auditors encounter related to the scope, performance, or communication
of internal audit work and results. The disclosure will include communicating the implications
of such interference on the IA Service’s effectiveness and ability to fulfil its mandate.

To ensure that IA independence and objectivity is maintained for assurance services, 1A will
remain free from interference from anyone within the Council in relation to audit selection,
scope, procedures, frequency, timing, and report content.

Where IA also has responsibility for non-audit activities, the GIAS require that appropriate
arrangements are established to avoid conflicts of interest.

Additionally, 1A will not be permitted to audit any activities for which they have previously been
responsible within a period of one year and will not engage in any other activity that may impair
judgement or independence.

For advisory services, the IA role will be specifically restricted to providing guidance, views,
and opinions. To comply with independence requirements, 1A will not be involved in any
aspects of operational decisions subsequently taken by management.

6 IA Authority and Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee
Oversight

To establish, maintain, and ensure that the Council’s IA Service has sufficient authority to fulfil
its duties, the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee will:

o Discuss with the CAE and senior management the appropriate authority, role,
responsibilities, scope, and services (assurance and/or advisory) of the IA Service.

o Ensure the CAE has unrestricted access to and communicates and interacts directly
with the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee, including in private meetings without senior
management present.

e Discuss withthe CAE and senior management other topics that should be included in
the IA charter.

Page 106



Participate in discussions with the CAE and senior management about the ‘essential
conditions’ described in the GIAS which establish the foundation that enables an
effective IA Service.

Approve the IA charter, which includes the internal audit mandate and the scope and
types of IA services.

Review the IA charter annually with the CAE to consider changes affecting the
organisation, such as the employment of a new CAE or changes in the type, severity,
and interdependencies of risks to the organisation; and approve the internal audit
charter annually.

Approve the risk-based IA plan.

Provide input to the IA Service’s human resources administration and budgets.

Provide input to senior management on the appointment and removal of the CAE,
ensuring adequate competencies and qualifications and conformance with the GIAS
(UK Public Sector).

Review and provide input to senior management on the CAE’s performance.

Receive communications from the CAE about the IA Service including its performance
relative to its plan.

Ensure a Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been
established and review the results annually.

Make appropriate inquiries of senior management and the CAE to determine whether
scope or resource limitations are inappropriate.

7 1A Objectives and Responsibilities

7.1 Ethics and Professionalism

The CAE will ensure that internal auditors:

Conform with the GIAS (UK Public Sector) including the principles of Ethics and
Professionalism: integrity, objectivity, competency, due professional care,
confidentiality and the Seven Principles of Public Life.

Understand, respect, meet, and contribute to the legitimate and ethical expectations of
the Council and can recognise conduct that is contrary to those expectations.

Encourage and promote an ethics-based culture in the Council.

Report organisational behaviour that is inconsistent with the Council’s ethical
expectations, as described in applicable policies and procedures.

7.2 Objectivity

The CAE will ensure that the Internal Audit Service remains free from all conditions that
threaten the ability of internal auditors to carry out their responsibilities in an unbiased manner,
including matters of engagement selection, scope, procedures, frequency, timing, and
communication. If the CAE determines that objectivity may be impaired in fact or appearance,
the details of the impairment will be disclosed to appropriate parties.

Page 107



Internal auditors will maintain an unbiased mental attitude that allows them to perform
engagements objectively such that they believe in their work product, do not compromise
quality, and do not subordinate their judgment on audit matters to others, either in fact or
appearance.

Internal auditors will have no direct operational responsibility or authority over any of the
activities they review. Accordingly, internal auditors will not implement internal controls,
develop procedures, install systems, or engage in other activities that may impair their
judgment, including:

Assessing specific operations for which they had responsibility within the previous
year.

Performing operational duties for the Council or its affiliates.
Initiating or approving transactions external to the 1A Service.

Directing the activities of any employee that is not employed by the IA Service, except
to the extent that such employees have been appropriately assigned to IA teams or to
assist internal auditors.

Internal auditors will:

Disclose impairments of independence or objectivity, in fact or appearance, to
appropriate parties and at least annually, such as the CAE, the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny
Committee, Management, or others.

Exhibit professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating, and communicating
information.

Make balanced assessments of all available and relevant facts and circumstances.

Take necessary precautions to avoid conflicts of interest, bias, and undue influence.

7.3 Managing the Internal Audit Service
The CAE has the responsibility to:

At least annually, develop a risk-based IA plan that considers the input of the Audit,
Risk & Scrutiny Committee, and senior management.

Discuss the plan with the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and senior management
and submit the plan to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee for review and approval.

Communicate the impact of resource limitations on the IA plan to the Audit, Risk &
Scrutiny Committee and senior management.

Review and adjust the IA plan, as necessary, in response to changes in the Council’s
business, risks, operations, programmes, systems, and controls.

Communicate with the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and senior management if
there are significant interim changes to the IA plan.

Ensure IA engagements are performed, documented, and communicated in
accordance with the GIAS.

Page 108



Follow up on audit findings and confirm the implementation of recommendations or
action plans and communicate the results of IA services to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny
Committee and senior management and for each audit as appropriate.

Ensure the 1A Service collectively possesses or obtains the knowledge, skills, and
other competencies and qualifications needed to meet the requirements of the GIAS
and fulfil the IA mandate.

Identify and consider trends and emerging issues that could impact the Council and
communicate these to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and senior management
as appropriate.

Consider emerging trends and successful practices in internal auditing.
Establish and ensure adherence to methodologies designed to guide the IA Service.

Ensure adherence to the Council’s relevant policies and procedures unless such
policies and procedures conflict with the IA charter or GIAS. Any such conflicts will be
resolved or documented and communicated to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee
and senior management.

Coordinate activities and consider relying upon the work of other internal and external
providers of assurance and advisory services. If the CAE cannot achieve an
appropriate level of coordination, the issue must be communicated to senior
management and if necessary escalated to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee.

7.4 Communication with the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and Senior

Management

The CAE will report to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and senior management on:

The IA Service’s mandate.

The IA plan and performance.

Significant revisions to the IA plan.

Any issues with the budget for the 1A Service.

Potential impairments to independence, including relevant disclosures as applicable.

Results from the QAIP, which include the IA Service’s conformance with the GIAS (UK
Public Sector) and action plans to address the IA Service’s deficiencies and
opportunities for improvement.

Significant risk exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues,
and other areas of focus for the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee that could interfere
with the achievement of the Council’s strategic objectives.

Outcomes of assurance and advisory services.
Resource requirements.

Management’s responses to risk that the |IA Service determines may be unacceptable
or acceptance of a risk that is beyond the Council’s risk appetite.

8 Management Responsibilities

Page 109



Management will cooperate with 1A on audits and provide access to records, systems and
personnel as required within a reasonable timeframe following the request.

Assurance engagements will be subject to a written terms of reference and report. Advisory
and agile engagements will be agreed in writing (for example via email or written terms of
reference) and arelevant output agreed. As a minimum, these will be shared with the relevant
Director, wider CMT, the Chair of the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee, and Chair of the
relevant Policy Committee.

Draft reports will be shared with management for agreement as to the factual accuracy of draft
findings raised, and awareness of IA recommendations designed to address the control
weaknesses identified.

It is management’s responsibility to agree to either:

o Accept and fully implement all IA recommendations.

e Agree to address the risks identified by adopting an alternative approach to that
recommended by IA.

o Accept the risk associated with not implementing IA recommendations with supporting
rationale.

When a draft audit report is delivered, management are required to provide agreed
management actions to all 1A findings raised and supporting recommendations, including
specifying responsibility and anticipated dates for the implementation of these actions, in line
with timeframes specified.

Management is also responsible for ensuring that agreed management actions are
implemented and effectively sustained.

The GIAS also require the CIA to report to both senior management and the Audit, Risk &
Scrutiny Committee, details of management’s response to risk that (based on the CAE’s
judgement) may be unacceptable to the Council. Consequently, any IA findings where
management has accepted the risk will be highlighted at Committee.

9 Scope and Types of Internal Audit Services

The scope of IA services covers the entire breadth of the Council and the 3B, and includes all
activities, assets, and personnel as set out across the Council.

The scope of IA activities also encompasses but is not limited to objective examinations of
evidence to provide independent assurance and advisory services to the Audit, Risk& Scrutiny
Committee and management on the adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk
management, and control processes for the Council.

The nature and scope of advisory services may be agreed with the party requesting the
service, provided the Internal Audit Service does not assume management responsibility.
Opportunities for improving the efficiency of governance, risk management, and control
processes may be identified during advisory engagements. These opportunities will be
communicated to the appropriate level of management.

IA engagements may include evaluating whether:

¢ Risksrelating to the achievement of the Council’s strategic objectives are appropriately
identified and managed.

Page 110



e The actions of Council officers, directors, management, employees, and contractors
or other relevant parties comply with the Council’s policies, procedures, and applicable
laws, regulations, and governance standards.

e The results of operations and projects/programmes are consistent with established
goals and objectives.

e Operations and projects/programmes are being carried out effectively, efficiently,
ethically, and equitably.

e Established processes and systems enable compliance with the policies, procedures,
laws, and regulations that could significantly impact the Council.

e The integrity of information and the means used to identify, measure, analyse, classify,
and report such information is reliable.

e Resources and assets are acquired economically, used efficiently and sustainably, and
protected adequately.

10 Internal Audit Work Programme

The CAE will submit an annual IA work programme to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee
for review and approval which is designed to support provision of an evidence-based annual
opinion.

This work programme will be developed, based on a risk-based prioritisation of the audit
universe including input from a range of key stakeholders including Elected Members, the
Chief Executive, CMT, and the Corporate Risk Management Steering Group.

The nature of evolving risks makes it likely that the audit assignments included in the work
programme may be subject to change. Consequently, the IA work programme will be
reviewed continually and any proposed changes to the approved plan (due to emerging risks,
suspected fraudulent activity or other factors that result in changes to planned IA activities)
will be communicated to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee.

10.1 Other Sources of Assurance — Coordination and Reliance

The GIAS requires the CAE to coordinate with internal and external assurance providers to
consider relying on their work and minimise duplication of effort. This is achieved via
discussions and ongoing risk assessments with External Audit, and other sources of external
assurance, where relevant.

The GIAS (UK Public sector) recognises that there are various relevant outside assurance
providers whose authority flows from separate legal or regulatory sources beyond the control
or influence of the CAE, and they may not have any ability to access the work of those
assurance providers or gain insight into the scope and timing of their work. Under these
circumstances the CAE mustconsider whether it is possible or practical to co-ordinate. Where
they do not co-ordinate, they must set out to the Committee the barriers which prevent
effective co-ordination

Where adopted, a consistent process for the basis of reliance should be established as, where
reliance is placed on the work of others, the CAE remains accountable and responsible for
ensuring that there is adequate support for conclusions and opinions reached where reliance
has been placed on work performed by other assurance providers.

Page 111



Therefore, when dealing with an external party, IA will clearly define the respective roles,
responsibilities, and other expectations (including restrictions on distribution of results of the
engagement and access to engagement records).

IA also reserves the right to raise findings on areas that have not been specifically included in
the IA work programme where significant or systemic control gaps are evident.

11 Resourcing

The GIAS require the CAE to effectively deploy and manage financial, human and
technological resources to implement the IA strategy and achieve its plan and mandate.

The Application Note: Global Internal Audit Standards in the UK Public Sector notes that
funding processes for IA Services in the public sector vary and may prevent the CAE from
being able to seek or obtain additional funding due to other funding priorities within the
organisation. This may impact the way in which the CAE uses resources. In line with the GIAS
(UK Public Sector) the basis for conformance is as follows:

¢ Where there are constraints on resources, the CAE must develop a resource strategy
which suggests practical approaches for consideration by the relevant Committee

e The CAE mustinform the Committee of the impact of insufficient resources and any
options available to mitigate that impact

e Where there are constraints, the CAE must set out in the Charter what alternative
approaches apply to the IA service, and then seek to manage financial, human and IT
resources within those constraints.

The CAE must also inform the Committee of any resource management arrangements at the
organisation that may put at risk the ability of the Internal Audit Service to fulfil its mandate.

The Council’s IA Strategy and IA Plan will include the resource requirements needed to deliver
proposed audit engagements. It will also include a contingency to address unplanned work.
Should circumstances arise during the year that suggests that available resource levels will
fall or appear to be falling below the level required to deliver the IA work programme, the CAE
will communicate the impact of resource limitations to both the CMT and the Audit, Risk &
Scrutiny Committee.

12 Fraud and Corruption

Management is responsible for the prevention and detection of fraud or corruption. A will
assist managementin the discharge of this responsibility. However this Service has not been
delegated to IA; the Council operating a Counter Fraud Team who sit within Finance.

Audit procedures alone cannot guarantee that all fraud or corruption will be detected. 1A will,
however, exercise an appropriate level of professional scepticism during audit work and be
alert to risks and exposures that could allow the opportunity for fraud or corruption to occur.

Discovery of any fraud or irregularity that affects the Council should be reported immediately
to the CAE.

13 Follow-up of agreed audit actions

IA will follow up and report progress with implementation of agreed management actions to
support closure of findings raised, and ultimate addressing of risks, on a regular basis and
seek to confirm that they have been undertaken within agreed timescales.

Page 112


https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/global-internal-audit-standards-in-the-uk-public-sector#:~:text=New%20UK%20Application%20Note%20replaces%20UK%20PSIAS%20from%201%20April%202025&text=Taken%20together%2C%20the%20Global%20Internal,effective%20from%201%20April%202025.

The follow up process involves review of evidence provided by management to support
implementation of agreed management actions, and proportionate re-performance of testing
to confirm that they have been effectively implemented and sustained.

14 Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme

The CAE is responsible for ensuring the quality of audit work and that the IA Service is
continuously seeking improvement. The GIAS defines quality as a combined measure of
conformance with the GIAS and achievement of the IA Service’s performance objectives.

The CAE will develop, implement, and maintain a Quality Assurance & Improvement
Programme (QAIP) that covers all aspects of the IA Service. The QAIP will include external
and internal assessments of the IA Service’s conformance with the GIAS (UK Public Sector),
as well as performance measurement to assess the IA Service’s progress towards
achievement of its objectives and promotion of continuous improvement. If applicable, the
assessment mustinclude plans to address the 1A Service’s deficiencies and opportunities for
improvement.

The CAE will report annually to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and Senior Management
on progress with the 1A Service’s QAIP, including the results of internal assessments (ongoing
monitoring and periodic self-assessments) and external assessments.

External assessments will be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified,
independent assessor or assessment team from outside the Council, whose qualifications
must meet the requirements set out in the GIAS (UK Public Sector).

Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for the Governance of IA in Local Government
must also be reflected in internal and external quality assessments.

Any concerns by Senior Management or the AR&S Committee on the performance of the IA
Service would be handled through the provisions of the Shared Service Agreement that
governs the provision of the work.

15 Annual Reporting and Overall Conclusion
In line with the GIAS (UK Public Sector) the CAE must, at least annually:

e Conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s framework of
governance, risk management and control (annual opinion).

¢ Include a statement on conformance with the GIAS (UK Public Sector) and the results of
the QAIP.

The annual opinion for the Council is based on the outcomes of the audits included in the 1A
work programme, progress with implementation of agreed management actions, the result of
any other IA activities that have identified control gaps that are exposing the Council to risk,
and the professional judgement of the CAE.

16 Communication and Reporting

The CAE is professionally responsible and accountable to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny
Committee for IA performance, and will report regularly on the progress with, and results of its
work to the Committee enabling review and scrutiny of the following areas as required by the
GIAS:

Page 113


https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/consultation-on-the-code-of-practice-for-the-governance-of-ia-in-local-govt
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/consultation-on-the-code-of-practice-for-the-governance-of-ia-in-local-govt

Report

1.

IA Annual Charter

Frequency

Annually

2.

IA Work Programme

Annually

3.

IA work programme delivery progress, including:
e Timetable of planned work.

e Audit outcomes.

o Keythemes and root causes.

¢ Management’s acceptance of risk.

Each Cycle

Proposed changes to the IA work programme

As Required

Open and overdue IA management actions

Each Cycle

Annual overall conclusion (opinion), including:

o Effectiveness of the governance, risk management and control
framework.

¢ |A independence.

e Conformance with the GIAS (UK Public Sector) including ethics
and professionalism requirements.

Annually

Internal Quality Assessments
¢ Results including corrective action plans.

¢ Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for the
Governance of 1A in Local Government.

Annually

External Quality Assessment
e Scope and plan.
e Results including corrective action plans.

e Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for the
Governance of |A in Local Government.

Every Five Years

17 Approval and Changes to the IA Mandate and

Charter

The IA Charter is subject to approval by the Chief Executive and Audit, Risk & Scrutiny
Committee on an annual basis. Approval is evidenced through CMT and Audit, Risk & Scrutiny
Committee meeting papers and minutes.

Circumstances may justify a follow-up discussion between the CAE, the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny
Committee, and senior management on the IA mandate or other aspects of the IA charter.
Such circumstances may include but are not limited to:

A significant change in the GIAS.

A significant reorganisation within the Council.

Significant changes in the CAE, the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee, and/or senior

management

Page 114




e Significant changes to the Council's strategies, objectives, risk profile, or the
environment in which the Council operates.

¢ New laws or regulations that may affect the nature and/or scope of IA services.

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 116



Agenda Iltem 9.6

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee
DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Internal Audit Update Report
REPORT NUMBER IA/26/001

DIRECTOR N/A

CHIEF OFFICER

Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor

REPORT OFFICER

Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor

TERMS OF
REFERENCE

2.3

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

11 The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with an
update on Internal Audit’'s work since the last update. Details are
provided of the progress against the approved Internal Audit plans,
audit recommendations follow up, and other relevant matters for the
Committee to be aware of.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Committee:

2.1 Note the progress of the Internal Audit Plan;

2.2 Note the progress that management has made with implementing
recommendations agreed in Internal Audit reports.

3. CURRENT SITUATION

3.1 Internal Audit's primary role is to provide independent and objective
assurance on the Council’s risk management, control and
governance processes. This requires a continuous rolling review and
appraisal of the internal controls of the Council involving the
examination and evaluation of the adequacy of systems of risk
management, control and governance, making recommendations for
improvement where appropriate. Reports are produced relating to

Page 117



ltem: Page: 2

each audit assignment and summaries of these are provided to the
Audit Committee.

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the
recommendations of this report.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

51 There are no direct legal implications arising from the
recommendations of this report.

6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from the
recommendations of this report.

7. RISK

7.1 The assessment of risk contained within the table below is to be

consistent with the Council’'s Risk Appetite Statement.

Category Risks Primary *Target *Does
Controls/Control Risk Level | Target
Actions to achieve (L, M orH) Risk
Target Risk Level saking into Level
accogunt Match
controls/control Appetite
actions Set?
Strategic Risk | Ability of the | The Internal Audit M Yes
Council to process considers
meet its strategic risks involved
strategic in the areas subject to
objectives review. Any risk

implications identified
through the Internal
Audit process are
detailed inthe
resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council’'s Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those

Page 118




ltem: Page: 3

that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

Compliance | Council The Internal Audit Yes
does not process considers
comply with | compliance risks
relevant involved in the areas
internal subject to review. Any
policies and | risk implications
procedures | identified through the
and external | Internal Audit process
guidance. are detailed in the

resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

Operational Failure of The Internal Audit Yes
the Council | process considers
to deliver operational risks
agreed involved in the areas
services. subject to review. Any

risk implications
identified through the
Internal Audit process
are detailed in the
resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows

Page 119




ltem: Page: 4

up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

Financial

Financial
failure of the
Council,
with risks
also to
credit rating.

The Internal Audit
process considers
financial risks involved
in the areas subject to
review. Any risk
implications identified
through the Internal
Audit process are
detailed in the
resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

Yes

Reputational

Impact of
performance
or financial
risk on
reputation of
ACC.

The Internal Audit
process considers
reputational risks
involved in the areas
subject to review. Any
risk implications
identified through the
Internal Audit process
are detailed in the
resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the

Yes

Page 120




ltem: Page: 5

identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

Environment/ | Service The Internal Audit L Yes
Climate delivery process considers
impacting environmental/climate
negatively risks involved inthe

on City net areas subject to

zero targets. | review. Any risk
implications identified
through the Internal
Audit process are
detailed in the
resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

8. OUTCOMES

8.1 The proposals in this report have no impact on the Council Delivery
Plan.

8.2 However, Internal Audit plays a key role in providing assurance over,

and helping to improve, the Council’'s framework of governance, risk
management and control. These arrangements, put in place by the
Council, help ensure that the Council achieves its strategic
objectives in a well-managed and controlled environment.

Page 121




10.

10.1

11.

111

12.

Name
Title

ltem: Page: 6

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

Assessment Outcome

Impact Assessment An assessment is not required because
the reason for this report is to report
Internal Audit's progress to Committee.
As a result, there will be no differential
impact, as a result of the proposals in this
report, on people with protected

characteristics.
Data Protection Not required
Impact Assessment
BACKGROUND PAPERS

There are no relevant background papers related directly to this
report.

APPENDICES

Appendix A — Internal Audit Update Report

REPORT AUTHOR CONTACT DETAILS

Jamie Dale
Chief Internal Auditor

Email Address  Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.qgov.uk

Tel

(01467) 530 988

Page 122


mailto:Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

‘E_ uuuuuuuuu sr,
B
%
#

O

ABERDEEN

CITY COUNCIL

Internal Audit

Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee

Internal Audit Update Report
February 2026

Page 123



Contents

1 EXECULIVE SUIMMAIY ...oiiiiiiiiieiiiiiee e eeiiiee e ettt e sttt e e s sttt e e et e e e e sabaeeessnbteeeeesnbaaeeeesnnneeas 3
11 Introduction and background..........c.ceeiiiiiiiie e 3
1.2 [ [T | 01 TTe | o) £ PPPRP 3
1.3 Action requested of the ARS COMMITLEE.......ccoovciiiiiiie e, 3

2 INterNal AUAIt PrOgreSS ..o ittt et e st 4
2.1 2025/26 AUGITS ...ttt ettt et sttt et e et e et e e et e e st eeenaree s 4
2.2 Audit reports presented to this COMMItLEE ........ccvvvvvieeiiiiice e, 4
2.3 Follow up of audit recommeNdationsS..........coocueeeiiiieriiiieniceeee e 8

3  Appendix 1 —Grading of Recommendations ........ccccceoeiiiieeiiiiiee e 9

4  Appendix 2 — Audit Recommendations Follow Up — Outstanding Actions............ 10

2 of 12 Internal Audit

Page 124



1 Executive Summary

1.1 Introduction and background

Internal Audit's primary role is to provide independent and objective assurance on the
Council's risk management, control, and governance processes. This requires a
continuous rolling review and appraisal of the internal controls of the Council involving
the examination and evaluation of the adequacy of systems of risk management,
control, and governance, making recommendations for improvement where
appropriate. Reports are produced relating to each audit assignment and these are
provided to the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny (ARS) Committee. Along with other evidence,
these reports are used in forming an annual opinion on the adequacy of risk
management, control, and governance processes.

This report advises the ARS Committee of Internal Audit's work since the last update.
Details are provided of the progress against the approved 2025/26 Internal Audit Plan,
audit recommendations follow up, and other relevant matters for the Committee to be
aware of.

1.2 Highlights

Full details are provided in the body of this report however Internal Audit would like to
bring to the Committee’s attention that since the last update:

e Four reviews have been completed.
e Management continues to work on implementation of agreed actions in
response to recommendations.

1.3 Action requested of the ARS Committee

The Committee is requested to note the contents of this report and the work of Internal
Audit since the last update.

3of 12 Internal Audit

Page 125



2 Internal Audit Progress

2.1 2025/26 Audits

Service

City Regeneration &

Audit Area Position

Trade Waste Final Report Issued

Environment

City Regeneration & Roads Winter Senice Plan Review in Proaress

Environment 9

Clty_ Regeneration & City Region Deal Final Report Issued

Environment

Clty_ Regeneration & Strategic PIaC(_e Planning Review in Progress

Environment Corporate Review

Corporate Senices Agency Costs Final Report Issued

Corporate Senices Voluntary Sewverance Review in Progress

Corporate Senvices Mandgtory Training Review in Progress
Compliance

Corporate Senices Digital and Technology Review in Progress
Demand

Families & Communities RAAC Response Final Report Issued

Families & Communities Out of Authority Placements Review in Progress

Families & Communities PROTECT Review in Progress

Health & Social Care Health and Social Care Review in Proaress

Partnership (staffing) Scotland Act 2019 9

Integration Joint Board IJB Financial Sustainability Review in Progress

North East Scotland Pension i . : .

Fund Key Administrative Processes Review in Progress

2.2 Audit reports presented to this Committee

Net Risk Conclusion
Rating

Report Title vear

‘ Assurance

AC2611 — City 2025/26 Moderate

Region Deal Internal Audit has identified an owerall net risk rating

of MODERATE, with REASONABLE assurance
obtained over the governance and financial spend of
the City Region Deal. Substantial improvements
have been made since the area was last audited,
through implementation of actions to address
identified areas of weakness or improvement.

Howewer, there are risks driven by the impending
closure of the Deal funding period in March 2027.
These have been graded at the Major level due to a
lack of assurance over how projects will be managed
to maximise utilisation of available funding within the
remaining time, and how the councils will obtain
sufficient data to continue to report on delivery of
benefits and outcomes after the Deal ends. As there
is still time to address or mitigate these risks, this does
not impact on the owerall level of assurance, but until
they are addressed there will be an unquantified level
of risk pertaining to the Deal and meeting with the
Governments’ requirements.

4 of 12 Internal Audit

Page 126



Assurance Net Risk

Conclusion
Year

Report Title

Rating

The review identified the following areas where
enhancements could be made to strengthen the
framework of control, specifically: Guidance and
Funding Agreements, Change Management, Project
Expenditure and Progress, Benefits Realisation,
Recording and Reporting, Closedown Arrangements,
Final Reporting, and Lessons Learned, and
Sustainability and Succession Planning.

Recommendations have been made to address the
abowe risks including: seeking formal clarification over
the Governments’ plans, approvals, availability and
timescales for funding; review and enhancing scrutiny
of expenditure forecasts; highlighting the risks and
timelines to partners; and obtaining assurance from
delivery partners over remaining project timelines and
deliverables, sustainability and exit plans, and their
commitment to assisting the councils with ongoing
obligations in respect of project and benefit realisation
data, and asset disposals.

Our recommendations are aimed at maximising the
benefits and reducing risk within the time remaining.
It is recognised that as the Deal is coming to a close,
Management will need to give careful consideration to
the amount of resource they want to put in to address
the points raised in this report. Regardless of the time
left in the Deal, the risks still need to be managed,
especially given long term aspirations. Whilst we do
not make a specific recommendation, consideration
should be given on how the recommendations could
be factored into planning for future projects, e.g. the
Investment Zone.

AC2610 — 2025/26 Moderate
RAAC
Response

The RAAC crisis is unprecedented, representing one
of the most significant structural safety challenges
faced in decades. The response has required a
significant amount of effort by the Council, and it is
recognised that there is not a short term fix or
universal remedial action to address the many
different circumstances and desires of homeowners
and tenants. It is evident officers have undertaken
considerable work to manage RAAC risks facing the
Council. It is also recognised that this is not an
Aberdeen City issue and instead one that is seen
across the United Kingdom.

Assurance was available owver the following areas
under review: Gowvernance and Owersight, Rehoming,
Wider Engagement, Site Security, and Demolition.

Howewer, the review identified areas for improvement
across the framework of control, specifically: Private
Housing, Schools and Other Publicly Owned
Buildings, Housing Support, and Payment Control.

RAAC risks have been subject to regular scrutiny and
owersight from a dedicated RAAC Board through to

5of 12 Internal Audit

Page 127



Assurance Net Risk

Conclusion
Year

Report Title
Rating

Full Council, and Council tenants within RAAC
affected properties hawve all been rehomed. However,
over two years on from high risks being identified in
Balnagask properties, the Council’'s approach to
enforcement action to ensure the safety of occupants
in privately owned homes affected by RAAC is not
fully documented and certain RAAC risk management
controls for schools and other Council owned
buildings are not evident as detailed above. Also,
gaps in record keeping reduce assurance over
housing support and RAAC health and safety advice
which Management indicates has been delivered to
affected Council tenants and private owner
occupiers/tenants.  Furthermore, gaps in payment
control are evident, which risk payment error and
fraud.

Recommendations havwe been made to mitigate
RAAC risks for occupants of affected private homes,
schools and other Council owned buildings; to
improve record ~management  arrangements,
specifically the written correspondence sent to all
households affected by RAAC; and to enhance the
system of payment control.

Considering all aspects of the RAAC response, the
net risk has been assessed as MODERATE, with the
current control framework providing REASONABLE
assurance. This assessment takes into account the
extensive gowernance and owersight of RAAC risks
and the fact all Council tenants and some occupants
of privately owned RAAC affected housing have been
rehomed, whilst also reflecting gaps in the control
environment, and some pockets of higher risk,
particularly in relation to the management of RAAC
within privately owned housing, schools, and other
non-housing  Council  buildings, as well as
weaknesses in payment controls. It is important
howewer to recognise that this is an inherently high-
risk area and given the unprecedented nature of the
circumstances, and the fact that the risks remain live,
a higher lewel of risk is possible.

AC2614 — Trade 2025/26 Moderate

Waste The level of net risk is assessed as MODERATE, with

the control framework deemed to be providing
REASONABLE assurance ower the controls in place
cowering trade waste income and expenditure,
agreements and accounting arrangements.

The audit howewer identified areas where
improvements are required to strengthen the
framework of control, specifically: Written Procedures
and Systems, Contract Management and Records,
Income, Reconciliations and Debtors, Budgets and
Cost Allocation, Performance Information, and Asset
Management.

6 of 12 Internal Audit

Page 128



Report Title Conclusion

Year

‘ Assurance | net Risk

Rating

Recommendations have been made to address the
abowe risks, including: review of procedures and
public-facing information; consideration of
streamlining systems and automating processes;
carrying out periodic reconciliations of system data
and of senice delivery records against charges
inwiced; dewlopment of more robust records
management processes and workflows; periodic
review of internal senice lewels; consideration of
formal apportionment of costs to aid budget
management; and implementation of proportionate
stock controls.

AC2604 — 2025/26 Moderate

Agency Costs The level of net risk is assessed as MODERATE, with

the control framework deemed to provide
REASONABLE assurance over the management of
agency appointments. Where pockets of higher risk
have still remain, this audit recognises that controls
have been enhanced after the last review. This work
by Management includes development of a corporate
procedure, and a marked improvement on the
proportion of on-contract spend and a reduction in
cost owerall.

Howewer, areas of weakness in the implementation
and consistent application of these controls, including
resource requirements, demand management, and
procurement, purchasing, persist. There isvariation in
practice between clusters, and variation between
senice approaches in similar situations, and none are
evidenced as fully compliant.

The Council spends an average of £2.9m per annum
on agency staff, with £2.6m spent in 2024/25. This
has reduced from £3.3m in 2021/22. The main users
include Corporate Landlord (£1.2m) and Operations
(£0.9m), which have recurring substantial demand for
agency workers as a result of local and national
recruitment and retention difficulties. Other spend is
more ad-hoc, based on specific requirements arising
across other clusters. £1.6m was spent in the first six
months of 2025/26. If spend continues at the same
level, costs could reach ower £3m for the current
financial year.

There is potential to strengthen the framework of
control to provide further assurance ower delivery
against the Council’s priorities, specifically: Staff
Guidance and Gowernance, Resourcing and
Onboarding, Monitoring, and Purchase Ordering and
Payment Controls,

Recommendations havwe been made to review and
consolidate agency worker procedures to ensure
requirements and responsibilities across the Council
are clear and consistent, with any exceptions subject
to appropriate governance; to develop and implement

7 of 12 Internal Audit

Page 129



Report Title Conclusion

Year

‘ Assurance | net Risk

Rating

controls to ensure all key stages of the resourcing and
onboarding process havwe been confirmed and
evidenced as complete prior to work commencing; to
standardise processes and data collection to support
effective monitoring and demand management; and
to implement controls to ensure agency spend is
subject to advance specific approvals and purchase
orders, with clarity over rates and duration, to facilitate
a full matching process for ordering, receipt and
payment.

It is acknowledged supporting clusters including
People & Citizen Senices, the Commercial and
Procurement Shared Senice (CPSS), and Business
Senices (Transaction Team), are reliant on
colleagues within individual Functions/Clusters to
facilitate, engage and apply consistent processes.
Howewer, as a corporate risk, Internal Audit considers
that the recommended actions are more appropriately
driven by a corporate approach from the centre.

2.3 Follow up of audit recommendations

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that Internal Audit report the results of
its activities to the Committee and establishes a follow-up process to monitor and
ensure that management actions have been effectively implemented.

As at 30 November 2025 (the baseline for our exercise), 22 audit recommendations
were due and outstanding:

e Two rated as Major
e 15 rated as Moderate
e Five rated as Minor

As part of the audit recommendations follow up exercise, 16 recommendations were
closed:

e 12 rated as Moderate
e Four rated as Minor

Appendix 1 — Grading of Recommendations provides the definitions of each of the
ratings used.

Appendix 2 — Audit Recommendations Follow Up — Outstanding Actions provides a
detailed breakdown of the outstanding audit recommendations that will be taken
forward and followed up as part of the next cycle.

8 of 12 Internal Audit

Page 130



3 Appendix 1 — Grading of Recommendations

| Risk level Definition ‘

This issue / risk level impacts the Council as a w hole. Mitigating actions should be taken at the Senior

Corporate Leadership level.

This issue / risklevel has implications at the functionallevel and the potential to impact across arange of
Function services. They could be mitigated through the redeployment of resources or a change of policy within a
given function.

This issue/ risk level impacts a particular Service or Cluster. Mitigating actions should be implemented by

Cluster the responsible Chief Officer.

Programme and | This issue/ risk level impacts the programme or project that has been review ed. Mitigating actions should
Project be taken at the level of the programme or project concerned.

Net risk rating Description Assurance assessment

A sound system of governance, risk management and control
exists, with internal controls operating effectively and being
consistently applied to support the achievement of objectives in
the area audited.

Substantial

There is a generally sound system of governance, risk
management and control in place. Some issues, non-
Moderate compliance or scope for improvement w ere identified, w hich Reasonable
may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area
audited.

Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance were
identified. Improvement is required to the system of
governance, risk management and control to effectively
manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the area
audited.

Immediate action is required to address fundamental gaps,
w eaknesses or non-compliance identified. The system of
governance, risk management and control is inadequate to
effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the
area audited.

Individual issue

I tisk Definitions

Although the element of internal controlis satisfactory there is scope for improvement. Addressing this issue is
Minor considered desirable and should resultin enhanced control or better value for money. Action should be taken
w ithina 12 month period.

An element of controlis missing or only partial in nature. The existence of the w eakness identified has an impact

IModerate on the audited area’s adequacy and effectiveness. Action should be taken w ithin a six month period.

The absence of, or failure to comply w ith, an appropriate internal control, such as those described in the Council’s
Scheme of Governance. This could resultin, for example, a material financial loss, a breach of legislative
requirements or reputational damage to the Council. Action should be taken w ithin three months.

This is an issue/risk that is likely to significantly affect the achievement of one or many of the Council's
objectives or could impact the effectiveness or efficiency of the Council’s activities or processes. Examples
include a material recurring breach of legislative requirements or actions that willlikely resultin a material
financial loss or significant reputational damage to the Council. Action is considered imperative to ensure that the
Council is not exposed to severe risks and should be taken immediately.

9 of 12 Internal Audit

Page 131



Z<T obed

4 Appendix 2 — Audit Recommendations Follow Up — Outstanding Actions

AC2313 —

Corporate Asset

Management

AC2508 — Group

Structure
Assurance

AC2508 — Group

Structure
Assurance

Grading

Minor

Moderate

Ref

Recommendation

The Senice should dewvelop asset

Original

Due Date

Current
Due
Date

Committee Update

The school estate plan is

Status

In

management plans, linked to the now in place with the Progress
Council’s asset management policy property estates plan due a
and strategic objectives, for all refresh in 2026. The senice
categories of assets. The Senice are currently working
should dewelop a strategy and plan to through the prioritisation of
address the backlog of maintenance. potential projects and spend
requirements as part of the
budget setting process.
1.1b | Finance should align checks of each Oct-25 Mar-26 Senice noted work in In
ALEO with the Council’s Following progress and requested a Progress
the Public Pound guidance short extension to allow for
requirements and report these into completion.
the ALEO Assurance Hub. Finance
will undertake checks of ALEOs
currently reporting to the Council’s
ALEO Hub to ensure they are in line
with the Following the Public Pound
policy requirements, and report these
into the ALEO Hub annually.
1.2 Performance reporting and Oct-25 Mar-26 Management has requested In
monitoring arrangements should be a meeting with Internal Progress

established for Aberdeen Heat and
Power in line with the Council’s
Following the Public Pound guidance.

Audit to discuss the work
carried out to complete this
recommendation. This has
been scheduled and a short
extension has been applied
to allow for review of
evidence and potential
closure.




ceT abed

Recommendation

Original

Due Date

Current
Due

Committee Update

AC2508 — Group Moderate SMART actions should be recorded Management has requested
Structure for ALEO Strategic Partnership and a meeting with Internal Progress
Assurance ALEO Senice Lead meetings for Audit to discuss the work
follow up purposes. carried out to complete this
recommendation. This has
been scheduled and a short
extension has been applied
to allow for review of
evidence and potential
closure.
AC2508 — Group Moderate 1.4a | The ALEO Strategic Partnership Oct-25 Mar-26 Management has requested In
Structure meetings and Senice Leads should a meeting with Internal Progress
Assurance be aligned with the ALEO Assurance Audit to discuss the work
Hub Terms of Reference, or the carried out to complete this
Terms of Reference should be recommendation. This has
revised and Audit, Risk and Scrutiny been scheduled and a short
Committee updated. extension has been applied
to allow for review of
evidence and potential
closure.
AC2418 - 1.1 Strategic Place Planning should work Oct-25 Mar-27 This audit recommendation In
Biodiversity and with partners to agree necessary is being completed through Progress
Natural actions to deliver on local and the development of a
Environment national targets and a consolidated refreshed Natural
SMART action plan, covering the Environment Strategy. This
Council’s responsibilities to achieve is a large body of work that
biodiversity and the natural relies on, and ties into,
environment targets, should be various other workstreams.
formalised. This should cover Aberdeen City Council are
required short-, medium- and long- collaborating with the
term actions, including required James Hutton Institute (JHI)
investment. to define the scope, process
11 of 12 Internal Audit




Current
Due Committee Update

Original

Report radi |
epo Grading Ref Recommendation B B

and delivery of this work.
Completion of the refreshed
Natural Environment
Strategy expected by the
end of financial year
2026/27.

T obed

12 of 12 Internal Audit



Agenda Iltem 9.7

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee

DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Internal Audit Report AC2610 — RAAC Response
REPORT NUMBER IA/AC2610

DIRECTOR N/A

REPORT AUTHOR Jamie Dale

TERMS OF REFERENCE | 2.2

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the planned Internal Audit report on
RAAC Response.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee review, discuss and comment on the
issues raised within this report and the attached appendix.

3. CURRENT SITUATION

31 Internal Audit has completed the attached report which relates to an audit
of RAAC Response.

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations
of this report.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations of
this report.

6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from the

recommendations of this report.

7. RISK

Page 135



7.1

8.1

8.2

10.

10.1
11.
11.1

12.

Name
Title

The Internal Audit process considers risks involved in the areas subject to
review. Any risk implications identified through the Internal Audit process
are detailed in the resultant Internal Audit reports. Recommendations,
consistent with the Council's Risk Appetite Statement, are made to address
the identified risks and Internal Audit follows up progress with implementing
those that are agreed with management. Those not implemented by their
agreed due date are detailed in the attached appendices.

OUTCOMES

There are no direct impacts, as a result of this report, in relation to the
Council Delivery Plan, or the Local Outcome Improvement Plan Themes of
Prosperous Economy, People or Place.

However, Internal Audit plays a key role in providing assurance over, and
helping to improve, the Council’'s framework of governance, risk
management and control. These arrangements, put in place by the
Council, help ensure that the Council achieves its strategic objectives in a
well-managed and controlled environment.

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
Assessment Outcome
Impact Assessment An assessment is not required because the

reason for this report is for Committee to
review, discuss and comment on the
outcome of an internal audit. As a result,
there will be no differential impact, as a result
of the proposals in this report, on people with
protected characteristics.

Privacy Impact Not required
Assessment

BACKGROUND PAPERS

There are no relevant background papers related directly to this report.
APPENDICES
Internal Audit report AC2610 - RAAC Response

REPORT AUTHOR CONTACT DETAILS

Jamie Dale
Chief Internal Auditor

Email Address @ Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

Tel

2 of 24

(01467) 530 988

Internal Audit

Page 136


mailto:Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

L

ABERDEEN

CITY COUNCIL

Internal Audit

Assurance Review of RAAC Response

Status: Final Report No: AC2610
Date: 21 January 2026 Assurance Year: 2025/26
Risk Level: Corporate

Net Risk Rating Description Assurance

Assessment

There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management and control
Moderate in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement w ere identified, Reasonable
w hich may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

| Report Tracking Planned Date Actual Date
Scope issued 09-Sep-25 09-Sep-25
Scope agreed 19-Sep-25 16-Sep-25
Fieldwork commenced 29-Sep-25 02-Oct-25
Fieldwork completed 31-Oct-25 27-Nov-25
Draft report issued 21-Now-25 01-Dec-25
Process owner response 12-Dec-25 12-Jan-26
Director response 19-Dec-25 20-Jan-26
Final report issued 09-Jan-26 21-Jan-26
AR&S Committee 19-Feb-26

| Distribution

Document type | Assurance Report

Directors Eleanor Sheppard, Executive Director — Families and Communities
Process Owner | Stephen Booth, Chief Officer — Corporate Landlord

Stakeholders Jacqui McKenzie, Chief Officer — Housing

Alan McKay, Chief Officer — Capital

Craig Innes, Chief Officer — Commercial and Procurement Senices
Jane Hogg, Locality Inclusion Manager

Scott Whitelaw, New Housing Manager

Grant Tierney Building Standards Manager

Colin Leawer, Corporate Health and Safety Lead

David Cuthbert, Team Leader — Data Team

Helen Sherrit, Finance Partner

Jenni Lawson, Chief Officer — Gowernance*

Jonathan Belford, Chief Officer — Finance*

External Audit*

Lead auditor Agne McDonald, Auditor

*Final Only




1 Introduction

1.1 Area subjectto review

504 homes (366 Council owned; 138 privately owned) in the Balnagask area of Torry in Aberdeen have
been identified as containing Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (RAAC), a lightweight material
used in construction from the 1950s to the 1990s. In addition, RAAC has been identified in other Council
owned buildings, including three secondary schools and the Town House extension, with remedial
action having been taken in the case of these non-housing buildings.

Various statutory remedies are available to local authorities to manage defective and sub-standard
properties.

Due to structural stability safety concerns and the complexity and lengthy timescales anticipated for
remedial works, the Urgent Business Committee agreed in February 2024 to rehome Council tenants
residing at the RAAC identified properties, based on housing needs, through the creation of a specific
“‘RAAC Impact” housing list, with temporary accommodation offered as an interim arrangement where
desired by tenants. In addition, the Urgent Business Committee agreed to provide support and
information at request to owner occupiers and private tenants residing within properties in Balnagask
containing RAAC, to assist in assessing their housing needs, and to include them on the RAAC Impact
housing list where appropriate. A budget of £3m was approved to cowver initial related costs, including
but not limited to staffing costs; specialist consultant fees; contractor access and works; rehoming and
temporary accommodation costs; school transport; utility connections; and security for the affected site.

In August 2024, the Council considered various options for the affected homes and agreed the
demolition and rebuild of homes on site was optimal, approving the initial demolition works, landscaping
and masterplanning exercise for the site. In addition, the Council agreed to take forward negotiations
with private owners to acquire properties woluntarily at Market Value, and to pay reasonable legal and
professional costs along with home loss and disturbance payments. Associated costs are estimated
as follows:

e Demolition and landscaping: £20—-25m ower 3—4 years
e New housing construction: £130+m ower 5-15 years.

A phased approach for the demolition of Council owned properties affected by RAAC was agreed by
the Communities, Housing and Public Protection Committee on March 11, 2025. The report
acknowledged that the Council could only demolish properties they own and allowed time for privately
owned homes to be purchased where appropriate. 46 (33%) out of 138 homeowners have agreed to
sell with 29 (63%) of sales concluded as at 21 October 20251

Relevant chief officers have also advised the Council of engagement with the Scottish Housing
Regulator regarding the expected impact on housing performance and with the Scottish Government
on the financial implications and related funding arrangements.

1.2 Rationale for review

The objective of this review is to obtain assurances around compliance with safety regulations and
mitigation of risks to public safety.

This review has not been undertaken before and has been included in the agreed 2025/26 Internal
Audit Plan due to the significant health and safety, financial and reputational impacts to the Council, as
recognised by the standalone corporate RAAC risk included in the Council’'s Risk Register.

How to use this report

This report has seweral sections and is designed for different stakeholders. The executive summary
(section 2) is designed for senior staff and is cross referenced to the more detailed narrative in later

! The RAAC responseis a live issue w ith continuous developments. Where cognisant of the ongoing nature of the response, to
allow for ease of auditing this date has been used as an anchor point for the review . Where there w illbe further developments
betw een the issue of the draft and final reports, and presentation to Committee, this date w ill be used for reporting purposes.

4 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 138



sections (3 onwards) of the report should the reader require it. Section 3 contains the detailed narrative
for risks and issues we identified in our work.

5 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 139



2 Executive Summary

2.1 Overall opinion

The full chart of net risk and assurance assessment definitions can be found in Appendix 1 — Assurance
Scope and Terms. We have assessed the net risk (risk arising after controls and risk mitigation actions
have been applied) as:

Assurance
Assessment

Net Risk Rating Description

There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management and control
Moderate in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement w ere identified, Reasonable
w hich may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

The organisational risk level at which this risk assessment applies is:

Risk Level Definition

This issue/ risk level impacts the Council as a w hole. Mitigating actions should be taken at the Senior
Leadership level.

Corporate

2.2 Assurance assessment

The RAAC crisis is unprecedented, representing one of the most significant structural safety challenges
faced in decades. The response has required a significant amount of effort by the Council, and it is
recognised that there is not a short term fix or universal remedial action to address the many different
circumstances and desires of homeowners and tenants. It is evident officers havwe undertaken
considerable work to manage RAAC risks facing the Council. It is also recognised that this is not an
Aberdeen City issue and instead one that is seen across the United Kingdom.

Assurance was available over the following areas under review:

e Governance and Oversight — A RAAC Board has been established, chaired over the course
of this audit by the Executive Director — Families and Communities. Membership of the Board
includes chief officers and operational leads from Corporate Landlord, Housing and Capital, as
well as the Building Standards Manager, and officers from Finance, Legal and Corporate
Communications. The Board is meeting weekly and monitoring expenditure against budget;
delivery of Council/Committee RAAC related instructions; building inspections; wluntary
acquisitions from private owners; and risks to owners and tenants. Furthermore, regular RAAC
related recommendations and progress updates have been reported to full Council, the Urgent
Business Committee and Communities, Housing and Public Protection Committee. A RAAC
risk is also included in the Council’s Corporate Risk Register and has been subject to scrutiny
by the Risk Board and Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee.

¢ Rehoming — A “RAAC Impact” housing list has been created to allow for urgent rehoming of
RAAC affected Council tenants and at the time of this review, in November 2025, all Council
tenants in RAAC affected housing have been rehomed, removing health and safety risks to
Council tenants. Also, support and information was made available to affected private
owners/tenants on request to assist in assessment of housing options, with 23 private
owners/tenants subsequently rehomed into an alternative Council house via the ‘RAAC Impact’
housing list as at 21 October 2025.

e Wider Engagement — The Chief Officer — Housing engaged with the Scottish Housing
Regulator, advising of the impact of RAAC within the Council’s housing stock, including its
expected impact on housing performance standards. In addition, the Chief Executive has
contacted both the Prime Minister and Scottish Government to request financial support, with
the Scottish Government indicating in October 2025 that the Council could apply for support
from the Affordable Housing Supply Programme. Also, officers and the Council’s co-leaders
have had various meetings with the Minister for Housing and Scottish Government’s Head of
Building Standards to discuss the Council’'s RAAC Response.

6 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 140



e Site Security —As properties have become vacant, security requirements have been reviewed,
and a contract is in place for onsite controls to monitor and deter anti-social behaviour,
vandalism and theft in and around vacated RAAC affected properties in Balnagask. Evidence
was available of site security patrols at Balnagask in November 2025.

e Demolition — On 11 March 2025, Communities, Housing and Public Protection Committee
noted the appointment of a supplier to provide arange of project management support including
administering demolition of vacant terraces/blocks. As at 21 October 2025 demolition had not
commenced, and Management were in the process of seeking a building warrant for Phase 1
of the demolitions before progressing.

Howeer, the review identified areas for improvement across the framework of control, specifically:

e Private Housing — Building owners are responsible for preventing their buildings from falling
into a dangerous condition. Howewer, where owners do not meet their responsibilities in this
regard, various statutory remedies are available to local authorities to manage defective and
sub-standard properties. Furthermore, under the Building (Scotland) Act 2003, in extreme
circumstances in consultation with relevant partners (e.g. Police, Fire), where it appears that a
building constitutes a danger to persons in or about a building or to the public generally or to
adjacent buildings or places, and building owners do not act to address risks, the Council must
carry out work as it considers necessary to prevent access to the building and relevant adjacent
areas and may recover any expenses from the owner reasonably incurred in doing so. As at
21 October 2025 there were 109 (79%) occupied privately owned homes in Balnagask that are
suspected of containing RAAC based on the similar construction of adjacent properties.
Structural engineer suneys commissioned by the Council on its own housing stock have
identified “low”, “medium” and notably “high” RAAC related risks since November 2023,
concluding in February 2024, following the survey of 49 occupied homes, that there is no reason
uninspected properties within the dewelopment i.e. including any privately owned properties
with original roofs, will show different risk ratings and based on “high” risks present, properties
should be vacated as soon as possible reflecting the Institution of Structural Engineers
(IStructE) guidance, until mitigating action is taken. The RAAC Board is monitoring a risk log
for RAAC affected private homes, which includes the risk of failure of a RAAC panel in a
property. However, in the absence of remedial action, the target “negligible” impact of a panel
failure has not been achieved and instead the impact is classified by Management as
“catastrophic” with a “significant” likelihood of panel failure in RAAC affected private homes.
Management advises the Council has written to private homeowners strongly recommending
they seek an independent assessment of RAAC in their respective properties on several
occasions and have engaged on options for remedial action. Management determined in June
2025 that there would likely be a need to take enforcement action to compel private
homeowners not engaging in the options available to mitigate risks to occupants of private
homes. Howewer, statutory powers available to the Council have not yet been used to compel
homeowners to act, with Management indicating this is due to the considerable implications of
enforcement action on homeowner wellbeing, the risk of occupants being made homeless, as
well as the risk of legal challenge to any notice served since no occupied privately owned home
has been surveyed. Also, Management advises homes purchased by the Council are being
suneyed as they come into the Council’s ownership for monitoring purposes, with only the
identification of any further “critical” risk panels, the highest level of risk, deemed to require the
instigation of enforcement action. However, risk management arrangements do not fully reflect
the Council’s approach to enforcement action where owners fail to fulfil their responsibilities
despite the external structural engineers expectation that uninspected properties will have
similar high risks to inspected properties, and the Institution of Structural Engineers advice on
the requirement for remedial action as soon as possible for such risks. Whilst, it is not for
Internal Audit to determine when enforcement action is required, more than two years on from
RAAC risks being first identified, there is an opportunity to enhance assurance by ensuring
clearer risk management records justify the approach taken and by defining documented
conditions that would trigger enforcement action. Strengthening these areas would help the
Council further demonstrate proactive management of RAAC risks in private housing.

e Schools and Other Publicly Owned Buildings — As reported to Education and Children’s
Senices (E&CS) Committee in February 2024, RAAC was identified in three secondary schools

7 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 141



(St Machar (now removed), Hazelhead and Northfield). In addition, RAAC was identified in the
Town House extension following a similar process. Structural suney reports recommended
the implementation of management strategies for remaining RAAC risks. However, whilst there
was ewvidence various actions had been taken, including annual structural suneys, RAAC risk
assessments attached to site management strategies were overdue for review by Corporate
Landlord and Capital, highlighting overdue control actions, including second reviews of the
operational and commercial portfolio due in January 2024. In addition, there was no record
structural engineer reports are being commissioned following amber and red weather events,
which should have been in place since February 2024. Also, whilst warning signage had been
ordered for Northfield Academy this was not installed until December 2025 due to an owversight
installing it. Where buildings continue to be used with RAAC present and RAAC risks are
inadequately managed, this increases health and safety risks for building occupants.

e Housing Support — Management has advised affected Council tenants were kept updated via
various correspondence throughout 2024, which included scheduling appointments with
Housing and Support officers to discuss housing needs as well as consultation on proposals
for the future of their RAAC affected homes. Howewver, records of correspondence issued have
not been maintained in the Housing System. In addition, of a sample of 20 Council tenants
rehomed, it was noted one (5%) RAAC checklist capturing housing need was absent and
another (5%) was not signed by the tenant to acknowledge receipt. Similarly, Management
advised various support and advice was offered to private homeowners/tenants affected by
RAAC, including recommendations to homeowners to seek independent assessments of RAAC
risks and to support homeowners with remedial action or woluntary acquisitions. However,
again there was no record available detailing what owners/tenants had received what
correspondence. Whilst this records management issue is less relevant for tenants who have
already been rehomed, in the case of private owner occupants/tenants remaining in RAAC
affected properties, this reduces assurance recommended actions and support havwe been
adequately communicated, risking occupant health and safety, albeit it is understood the
manual nature of record keeping could make this an onerous process for officers whilst
prioritising the delivery of related support.

e Payment Control — Urgent Business Committee delegated authority to the Chief Officer —
Housing on 29 February 2024 to rehome Council tenants in RAAC affected properties and pay
home loss and disturbance payments following a permanent mowe. Similarly, Full Council
instructed the Chief Officer — Corporate Landlord in consultation with the Chief Officer — Finance
in August 2024 to take forward negotiations with private homeowners to acquire their properties
with the Council willing to meet reasonable legal and professional costs along with home loss
and disturbance payments. The RAAC Board agreed in July 2024 maximum disturbance
payment values that tenants are eligible for based on the nature of expenditure incurred.
However, on reviewing home loss payments, Internal Audit noted a tenant had been paid
£1,500 twice in error. Whilst Housing maintains a record of disturbance and home loss
payments made, they do not reconcile this to the general ledger/accounts payable reports
risking such occurrences. Also, whilst the required standard of bank account evidence is under
review by Finance, bank account details shared by recipients of disturbance and home loss
payments are not being retained in line with the Council’s Corporate Records Retention and
Disposal Schedule, meaning it was not possible to verify if bank accounts used belonged to
tenants/owners.  Housing advises the approach adopted was agreed with Finance and the
Data Protection Officer. Howewer, these issues increase the risk of payment error and
potentially fraud. In relation to payee identity and bank account evidence, a recommendation
has already been agreed with Finance as part of Internal Audit AC2407 Creditors System to
address this risk. In addition, on reviewing five payments to private homeowners it was not
possible to determine if market value was paid for two (40%) properties as an independent
valuation report had not been carried out, and instead the Council had agreed lump sum
payments with the sellers inclusive of acquisition of heritable property, land and ancillary rights,
home loss and disturbance payments, negotiation fees and legal expenses on a full and final
basis totalling £116.5k. In addition, there was no evidence payments totalling £223k relating to
the purchase of the three remaining properties had been approved by the Chief Officer —
Corporate Landlord, in line with the Council’'s Scheme of Gowvernance and full Council
instructions, since related PTIs were not signed to indicate this approval had been provided.

8 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 142



Where payments are made in the absence of valuation reports or evidence of approval by
officers with delegated authority, this risks financial loss and Best Value.

RAAC risks have been subject to regular scrutiny and owversight from a dedicated RAAC Board through
to Full Council, and Council tenants within RAAC affected properties hawe all been rehomed. However,
over two years on from high risks being identified in Balnagask properties, the Council’s approach to
enforcement action to ensure the safety of occupants in privately owned homes affected by RAAC is
not fully documented and certain RAAC risk management controls for schools and other Council owned
buildings are not evident as detailed abowve. Also, gaps in record keeping reduce assurance over
housing support and RAAC health and safety advice which Management indicates has been delivered
to affected Council tenants and private owner occupiers/tenants. Furthermore, gaps in payment control
are evident, which risk payment error and fraud.

Recommendations have been made to mitigate RAAC risks for occupants of affected private homes,
schools and other Council owned buildings; to improve record management arrangements, specifically
the written correspondence sent to all households affected by RAAC; and to enhance the system of
payment control.

Considering all aspects of the RAAC response, the net risk has been assessed as MODERATE, with
the current control framework providing REASONABLE assurance. This assessment takes into
account the extensive governance and owersight of RAAC risks and the fact all Council tenants and
some occupants of privately owned RAAC affected housing have been rehomed, whilst also reflecting
gaps in the control environment, and some pockets of higher risk, particularly in relation to the
management of RAAC within privately owned housing, schools, and other non-housing Council
buildings, as well as weaknesses in payment controls. It is important however to recognise that this is
an inherently high-risk area and given the unprecedented nature of the circumstances, and the fact that
the risks remain live, a higher level of risk is possible.

2.3 ldentified Risks

Risk Level Number of Risks Identified
2
2
| Minor -
| 4

2.4 Management response

We welcome this comprehensive audit and appreciate the positive engagement with the Audit Team.

As referenced within the report, the RAAC crisis is unprecedented, representing one of the most
significant structural safety challenges faced in decades. In light of the unprecedented nature of the
situation, the RAAC Board members are pleased that the Audit Team can provide assurance on
governance and oversight, the rehoming programme, wider engagement and site security/demolition.

It is important to recognise that the RAAC response spans several distinct roles undertaken by the
Council, each with different legal duties, powers and constraints. These include the Council’s role as
landlord in relation to its own tenants and housing stock, its regulatory and enforcement role in respect
of privately owned housing, and its role as landowner and planning authority in relation to site clearance,
demolition and master planning. Governance arrangements and risk controls have therefore been
applied across these strands, reflecting the Council’s responsibilities in each case.

In responding to the crisis, the Council has tried to take account of risks to the Council and balance
these with the needs of homeowners, this has ensured that consideration for homeowner wellbeing has
shaped a compassionate response. It is recognised that working with homeowners to shape options
for them and keeping these under review in light of both interest and available resources, alongside
detailed Best Value considerations has informed potential timelines for enforcement action. We
recognise that enforcement action will likely be required for a small number of owners now that the final
offer has been made by the Council.

9 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 143



A potential enforcement timeline had originally been mapped out on the basis that the options appraisals
would be accepted/rejected and it was envisaged that owners who had not indicated their intentions
would not be fulfilling their legal obligations, and enforcement would be required. The Scottish
Government intervention, followed by Council approval to offer an enhanced Voluntary Acquisition (VA)
package, fundamentally changed this position. As a result, owners were granted an extended deadline
to confirm their intentions, and the potential enforcement timeline was re-mapped to reflect the revised
approach, enabling a maintained focus on owner wellbeing. This aligned with national procedural
guidance and the RAAC Cross Sector Working Group Guidance to work with the owners and only using
notices in extreme circumstances.

Given the unprecedented nature of the situation, a very agile and pragmatic response has been taken
to establishing systems, processes and procedures during rapidly changing circumstances. It's pleasing
that the vast majority of these are recognised as effective, but also helpful to have Internal Audit identify
areas to be strengthened, particularly around record keeping and payment control.

Where the audit has identified areas for improvement, the Board has addressed these through targeted
governance actions, focused on strengthening documentation, clarity of approval and auditability rather
than fundamental redesign of existing controls. These actions are intended to strengthen clarity,
consistency and auditability as the programme continues.

10 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 144



3 Issues [/ Risks, Recommendations, and
Management Response

3.1 Issues/Risks, recommendations, and management response

Description

L1 Private Housing — The Council’s approach to RAAC in private housing sits within a highly

complex and sensitive context. Officers are managing an unprecedented situation that
affects not only the Council but communities across the UK. We recognise that this inwlves
direct engagement with homeowners and tenants, where decisions can be deeply personal
and, in some cases, life-changing.

Building owners are responsible for preventing their buildings from falling into a dangerous
condition. However:

e Under the Building (Scotland) Act 2003, the Council may serve on the owner of a
building a defective building notice requiring timebound completion of work by the
homeowner to make a building safe.

e Under s29 of the Building (Scotland) Act 2003, where it appears that a building
constitutes a danger to persons in, about it, to the public generally or to adjacent
buildings or places, the Council must carry out work as it considers necessary to
prevent access to the building and relevant adjacent areas and may recover any
expenses from the owner reasonably incurred in doing so, with S30 of the same Act
specifying related dangerous building notice requirements. Local Authority Building
Standards Scotland advised the RAAC Cross Sector Working Group on 25 October
2023 that in practice these powers are generally used in extreme circumstances
following consultation with relevant partners (Fire, Police) and in most situations
building owners are able to resolve any issues without intenention i.e. where they
act on the advice of the local authority.

e Under the Housing (Scotland) Act 2006, where the Council considers a house to be
sub-standard, the Council may require the owner to carry out work to bring it into a
reasonable state of repair.

e Under the 2006 Act, the Council can designate an area as a Housing Renewal Area
and formalise an action plan cowvering each affected house detailing the proposed
action to bring houses into a reasonable state of repair or close or demolish affected
housing.

However, whilst Management advises the Council has written to private homeowners in
Balnagask strongly recommending they seek an independent assessment of RAAC in their
respective properties and on options for remedial action, running awareness campaigns,
community drop in sessions etc, as of 31 October 2025, none of the statutory powers
available to the Council detailed above have been used to compel homeowners to act, albeit
they have been considered in detail.

Occupied Private Housing Risks

RAAC was initially identified in Balnagask following a desktop review of Council owned
housing undertaken in October 2023 and visual inspections of a sample of properties with
concrete roofs by structural engineers, based on spreadsheets shared during this audit.

As at 21 October 2025 there were 109 (79%) occupied privately owned homes in Balnagask
that contained RAAC. The RAAC Board is monitoring a risk log for RAAC affected private
homes that includes the risk of failure of a RAAC panel in a property. Howewer, whilst the
risk log shows a green target risk score with a “negligible” impact if failure occurred, in the
absence of remedial action described in the risk log as very likely to be required, taken either
by the homeowner or the Council through enforcement action, where the homeowner fails to
act, the target “negligible” impact of a panel failure has not been achieved and instead the

11 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 145



Description

impact is classified by management as “catastrophic” with a “significant” likelihood of panel
failure in RAAC affected private homes..

Management advises structural surneys of purchased properties provide an opportunity to
determine if owner occupied stock condition was in a condition consistent with other
properties.

Howewer, structural engineer surveys commissioned by the Council on its own housing stock
have identified “low”, “medium” and notably “high” RAAC related risks since November 2023,
concluding in February 2024 following the suney of 49 occupied homes, that there is no
reason uninspected properties with original roof construction within the development will
show any “meaningful improvement on general condition” compared to inspected properties
and on the basis of “high” risks present, properties should be vacated as soon as possible
until mitigating remedial works are completed, reflecting the Institution of Structural
Engineers (IStructE) guidance, with surveyors recommending a short term management
strategy of awareness raising, roof loading restrictions and condition change monitoring while
properties are being vacated. Based on this advice, and that tenants would be unable to
remain in situ during extensive and disruptive remedial works, all Council tenants have been
rehomed howewer sewveral privately owned houses remain occupied as highlighted above

with no indication RAAC risks have been mitigated.

Management advises that officers have consistently worked to balance the health and safety
risks in privately owned homes where owners fail to accept RAAC panels present a danger
and take mitigating action, with the risk to wellbeing of taking enforcement action, the risk of
legal challenge and associated reputational risks. Management also advises that homes
purchased by the Council are being surveyed as they come into the Council’s ownership for
monitoring purposes, with the identification of any further “critical” risk panels, the highest
level of risk, or an owner not accepting to the risk RAAC presents or fulfilling their legal
obligation to stop their building from becoming dangerous deemed to require the instigation
of enforcement action. However, this approach i.e. in relation to “critical” risk panels, is not
recorded within risk management arrangements in place.

It was also highlighted in IStructE guidance that RAAC panels will continue to deteriorate
over time, but that the cause and rate are unknown, thus allowing for monitoring, inspections
and awareness campaigns. The February 2024 structural engineer report concluded that
RAAC risks highlighted are likely to be measurably worse where there had been historic
water ingress. Also, one (0.006%) of 172 unoccupied Council home inspected was identified
as having a higher critical risk of panel failure; it is not known if any privately owned homes
face such critical risks, which may be the case.

Furthermore, the Council has recognised these risks, advising they have written to private
homeowners and landlords of RAAC affected properties, indicating comprehensive remedial
works will be required and as such the Council will be engaging with private tenants to explore
rehousing options as part of the Council’'s commitment to tenant wellbeing and safety. This
was based on example unaddressed template letters.

Enforcement Action

As explained above, the identification of “critical” risk panels in surveyed properties would
lead to enforcement action as advised by Building Standards. In addition, the RAAC Board
previously agreed in June 2025 that any owners who hawe not engaged with proposed
options offered by the Council to mitigate RAAC risks could be deemed to be acting
irresponsibly and for their safety following a final opportunity for owners to engage in
September 2025, dangerous building notices might require to be issued in October 2025.
However, this did not take place following a funding intervention by the Scottish Government.

Depending on the degree of risk and the simplicity of remedial work, under Building
(Scotland) Act statutory guidance, it may be possible for a local authority to negotiate a
solution with a dangerous building owner without taking formal action. For the local authority

12 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 146



Description

to consider such an arrangement it is imperative the owner agrees at once and confirms as
appropriate to the local authority that they will immediately arrange to undertake the
measures required.

In taking forward woluntary acquisition, Management advises various deadlines have been
used to support the decision making of homeowners, most recently as an enhanced offer to
woluntarily acquire properties, and that instructions to explore alternative options provided by
campaign groups and reconsider the approach taken in light of the availability of additional
resource will have led to delay.

Risk

All observations and risks flagged in this report are made with full cognisance of the
unprecedented nature of RAAC and the fact that this is not solely a Council issue but one
affecting authorities nationwide and that homeowners have a duty not to allow their properties
to fall into a dangerous condition. The Council’s commitment to owners and private tenants
financial and mental wellbeing and its efforts to negotiate woluntary solutions are recognised
and valued. In addition, it is recognised in line with RAAC Cross Sector Working Group
guidance enforcement action is usually only taken in extreme circumstances.

Nonetheless, given the legislative framework, professional and technical advice received on
suneyed properties and the potential health and safety implications where owners fail to act
to mitigate risks, a revised agreed timeline is now thought necessary to ensure risks are
mitigated where necessary and to protect both residents and the Council from reputational
exposure.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Building Standards should formalise when enforcement action requires to be taken and
ensure risk management arrangements clearly document justifications for the approach
adopted.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Management accepts that it would be helpful to reset work previously undertaken in light of
the Council having made their final offer to homeowners and the requirement to give owners
the opportunity to confirm their intentions, and that this should be used to inform an updating
of the RAAC Risk Register in order to justify the approach being taken.

In doing so, it is recognised that responsibility for maintaining the safety and condition of
privately owned properties primarily rests with the owner, and that the Council’s role in this
context is regulatory rather than that of an owner or landlord with direct control. The approach
taken to date has therefore focused on sustained engagement with owners, provision of
information on risk and available options, and the exhaustion of voluntary routes (based on
a people-centred approach) prior to progressing to formal enforcement action, in line with
national guidance and the Council’s duty to act proportionately and within legal and financial
controls.

Mitigating Actions:
An updated 3MB will be presented to the RAAC Board for consideration and approval.
The Risk Log will be updated to reflect the agreed 3MB.

Risk Agreed Person(s) Due Date

Yes Building Standards Manager | January 2026 (Implemented
— 3MB to RAAC Board)
RAAC Board Chair February 2026
13 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 147



Description Moderate

1.2

Schools and Other Public Buildings — Following the sudden unexpected collapse of a
school roof in Kent in 2018, the Standing Committee on Structural Safety issued an alert to
owners of schools and “similar” buildings, dating from the 1960s and 1980s, to emphasise
the potential risks from RAAC construction. This recommended locating buildings where
RAAC planks are present and assessing the condition and structural adequacy of RAAC with
a view to undertaking remedial action, awareness raising of risks and monitoring condition,
or replacing roofs as appropriate.

Also, as reported to Education and Children’s Senices Committee in February 2024,
independent structural engineers undertook a combination of visual and intrusive surveys of
the school estate, finding RAAC to be present at three secondary schools (St Machar,
Hazelhead and Northfield) and none of the city’s primary schools. In addition, RAAC was
identified in the Town House extension following a similar structural survey.

Recommended immediate remedial measures have been addressed at these sites according
to the structural suney reports and remaining RAAC risks were at an amber or green rating,
suitable for applying ongoing management strategies, with identified RAAC removed at St
Machar Academy as supported by a related building warrant completion certificate recorded
in the Council’s buildings standards register. In line with the RAAC management strategies
for the secondary schools above and the Town House, annual suneys took place where
necessary. RAAC management strategies were shared with relevant head teachers, gutter
cleaning has been reqgularly scheduled for the three affected academies and the Town House
extension, and there was evidence of signage in place at Hazelhead Academy and the Town
House. Management assurance was also provided that the management strategy for Town
House had been shared with relevant staff verbally.

However, RAAC risk assessments attached to site management strategies were owverdue
review by Corporate Landlord and Capital based on documents shared during the audit. This
showed overdue control actions, including second reviews of the operational and commercial
portfolio due in January 2024, and there was no record structural engineer reports being
commissioned following amber and red weather events, which should have been in place
since February 2024. In addition, Management advised warning signage was provided to
Northfield Academy at the same time as the other schools, but due to miscommunication
between janitors and the property inspector, these were not installed at the time — this was
rectified during the course of the audit.

Where recommended management strategies are not fully adopted without documented
justification, this increases health and safety risks for building occupants.

IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Corporate Landlord and Capital should ensure non-housing site specific RAAC risks are
managed in line with structural engineer recommended management strategies and Council
RAAC risk assessments.

Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Management accepts that the site management strategies made available to Internal Audit
were overdue for review, with actions taken as aresult of the strategies and regular meetings
with structural engineers not clearly documented. Throughout this period, operational
controls and inspections remained in place, and no unmanaged high-risk conditions were
identified.

Additional control measures have been put in place throughout the period with a reliance on
specific monthly visual checks by building advisors since December 2023. Site management
strategies have not been altered to reflect this.

Annual structural surveys are instructed which will now include a review of the management
arrangements in each site and a review of any additional weather related surveys will be

14 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 148



Description Moderate

reviewed following the outcome of surveys in January 2026 following significant snow
loading.

Mitigating action:

The management strategies for each site will be reviewed in February 2026 reflecting the
outcome of current surveys.

Risk Agreed Person(s) | Due Date
Yes Chief Officer — Corporate March 2026
Landlord

Description Moderate

1.3

Housing Support — On 29 February 2024, Urgent Business Committee instructed the Chief
Officer — Housing to ensure that private owners and tenants who reside within any privately
owned properties in the Balnagask area of Aberdeen that have RAAC in their construction,
are provided with support and information on request to assist them in assessing their
housing options; and add existing owner occupiers and private tenants to the proposed
‘RAAC Impact’ housing list should a need for access to Council homes be identified through
the process of exploring available support and housing options for them in the city.

Council Tenants

Management has advised affected tenants were kept updated via various correspondence
throughout 2024, which included scheduling appointments with Housing and Support officers
to discuss housing needs as well as consultation on proposals for the future of their RAAC
affected homes. However, all contact with households was not recorded within the housing
system, with Management advising a bulk upload of data was not possible, and due to the
pressures on staff resources, it was not considered to be the best use of staff time to manually
update each tenant’s record within the housing system.

In addition, of a sample of 20 Council tenants rehomed, it was noted one (5%) RAAC
checklist capturing housing need was absent and another (5%) was not signed by the tenant.

Private_Owners/Tenants

Support and information was made available to affected private owners/tenants on request
to assist in assessment of housing options, with 23 private owners/tenants subsequently
rehomed into an alternative Council house via the ‘RAAC Impact’ housing list.

The Council has also advised they have written to private homeowners affected by RAAC to
offer wluntary acquisition of affected homes with payment of professional fees; to contribute
where private owners chose to address health and safety risks independently; to collaborate
with homeowners to replace RAAC roofs at a cost to the homeowner; or to undertake
property swaps for existing Council properties and to offer private mental health support
through Scottish Action for Mental Health (SAMH).

In addition, Management advised enhanced wluntary acquisition offers were made in
November 2025 to homeowners which included additional payments to reflect the loss of
value due to the presence of RAAC.

Furthermore, the Management advised the Council has written to private homeowners
strongly recommending they seek an independent assessment of RAAC in their respective
properties.

15 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 149



Description Moderate

Howewer, again there was no record available detailing what owners had received what
correspondence. In the case of private owner occupants/tenants remaining in RAAC affected
properties, this reduces assurance recommended actions and support have been adequately
communicated risking occupant health and safety, albeit it is understood the manual nature
of record keeping could make this an onerous process for officers whilst prioritising the
delivery of related support.

IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Evidence of housing support and health and safety advice delivered to occupants of
defective/dangerous buildings should be adequately recorded for monitoring purposes.

Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Council Tenants

Following the rehoming decision, a letter was issued to all tenants and noted on their record.
A comprehensive checklist was completed with each tenant to assess their housing needs,
and dedicated Housing and Support officers provided assistance, ensuring all interactions
and changing needs were accurately recorded where appropriate. The process regarding
supplementary letters sent to tenants and their inclusion in tenant records was reviewed later
as part of our lessons learned process. The RAAC board determined that while it is preferable
to record such correspondence where feasible, the manual nature of the process rendered it
impractical and without significant added value and doing so was ultimately deemed
unnecessary given the significant demands on the teams involved in supporting families
impacted by RAAC. For the two instances where forms or signatures were incomplete, itis
important to note that these individuals were rehoused according to their assessed needs,
with ongoing communication maintained throughout the rehoming process, effectively
mitigating related risks. As the rehoming process is now complete, no further action is
required, and at the same time the recommendation to document letters in individual files will
be considered if the Council faces any other similar challenges.

Private Owners

Following feedback from private owners, significant time was invested in ensuring that
correspondence was personalised for homeowners. The RAAC Board has utilised a range
of delivery mechanisms including hand delivery and Recorded Delivery in light of homeowner
preferences but recognise that these arrangements have resulted in the Board not holding a
record of homeowner receipt for all correspondence.

Mitigating action:

Records of the receipt of future correspondence regarding health and safety risks will be
recorded for monitoring purposes.

Risk Agreed

Person(s)
Building Standards Manager

| Due Date
February 2026

Description

1.4 Payment Control — Urgent Business Committee delegated authority to the Chief Officer —

Housing on 29 February 2024 to rehome Council tenants in RAAC affected properties with
home loss and disturbance payments following a permanent mowve. Similarly, full Council
instructed the Chief Officer — Corporate Landlord in consultation with the Chief Officer —
Finance in August 2024 to take forward negotiations with private homeowners to acquire

16 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 150



Description

their properties with the Council willing to meet reasonable legal and professional costs along
with home loss and disturbance payments.

As at 24 October 2025, the Council had made £462k of home loss payments; £508k of
disturbance payments and had written off £236k of tenant arrears.

Council Tenant Disturbance and Home Loss Payments

On 23 July 2024 the RAAC Board agreed maximum costings under Disturbance Payments
for Council tenants based on property size as follows:

- Replaceme
. Window .
Floorin Remova - ; nt of white
P_roperty g Is Reconnections Covzrln goods per
Sip4] £ 9 appliance
£ £ £
£
1 bed Flat 1400 300 249.50 400 300 175 2,824.50
2 bed Flat 1600 300 249.50 600 300 175 3,224.50
3 bed
House 1900 300 249.50 700 300 175 3,624.50
4 bed
House 2100 300 249.50 800 300 175 3,924.50
7 bed
H 2600 300 249.50 1000 300 175 4,624.50
ouse

Furthermore, it was agreed that tenants would be entitled to a £1,500 home loss payment
following a permanent mowve, less any outstanding rent arrears.

Payments relating to a sample of 20 tenants were reviewed (i.e. home loss/disturbance
payments) to ensure they were in line with policy/procedure, there was segregation in
requisition and approval of payments and payments had been appropriately approved.

Of the 20 tenants reviewed, 15 (75%) received a removal payment, one (20%) of which
exceeded the maximum permitted disturbance payment by £450. Management advised this
was due to the fact the removal was arranged by the Council using it's contracted removal
company with the above maximum payments only relating to circumstances where the
Council reimbursed the tenant; this was not clear based on the RAAC Board minutes.

In addition, Housing maintains a register of disturbance and home loss payments (“Cost
Spreadsheet - RAAC”) for monitoring purposes. Howewer, on reviewing home loss
payments, Internal Audit noted a tenant had been paid £1,500 twice in error. At the time of
reporting, there was no evidence of the recovery process being actioned.

Housing does not reconcile their records tothe general ledger/accounts payable reports. In
the absence of such a reconciliation there is a greater risk of payment error and fraud.

Bank Account Evidence

It was noted evidence of bank account details shared by recipients of disturbance and home
loss payments was not retained by Housing, meaning it was not possible to verify if bank
accounts used belonged to tenants. Under the Council’s Corporate Records Retention and
Disposal Schedule records documenting the transfer of funds and the processing and
payment of expense claims should be retained for six years plus the current financial year.
Housing advises the approach adopted was agreed with Finance and the Data Protection
Officer.

17 of 24

Internal Audit

Page 151



Description

The deletion of these records reduces assurance owver bank account details used increasing
the risk of payment error and fraud albeit Finance is still in the process of determining the
standard of bank account verification evidence required to be retained. This risk was
mitigated to some extent by the fact all requests to Finance to set up tenant suppliers included
two Housing officers i.e. the approving officer and requestor, and all home loss and
disturbance payment reimbursements reviewed, were supported by receipts/inwices
provided by the tenant.

A recommendation has already been made in report AC2407 Creditors System to
standardise payee identification and bank account evidence requirements and establish a
verification process for ensuring this evidence isin place before the related Council system
account can be used to make payments to the respective payee.

Homeowner Payments

The Council’s Powers Delegated to Chief Officers states that the Chief Officer — Corporate
Landlord has the following power:

“Following consultation with the Convener of the Finance and Resources Committee, to
instruct the Chief Officer - Governance to dispose of or purchase individual properties
following a value for money appraisal where this option is considered by the Chief Officer -
Corporate Landlord to be the most appropriate for the Housing Revenue Account, subject to
(a) market value being achieved or paid; and (b) consultation with ward members on the
proposals, with referral to the Finance and Resources Committee if any ward member does
not agree”.

At a meeting on 21 August 2024, Full Council agreed to instruct the Chief Officer — Corporate
Landlord in consultation with the Chief Officer — Finance to take forward negotiations with
private owners to acquire their properties voluntarily at Market Value, noting that this will be
a valuation of the property at the current date and be on the same basis as the Compulsory
Purchase Order process. In addition to Market Value the Council agreed to meet reasonable
legal and professional costs along with home loss and disturbance payments (as recorded
on the Property Transaction Instruction form). The Chief Officer — Corporate Landlord
notified owners in July 2025 indicating a home loss payment of 10% of the property market
value, legal costs for selling and buying, as well as other reasonable costs, including moving
expenses and early mortgage surrender fees.

The Senice advised, following engagement by a homeowner for the Council to wluntarily
acquire their property, Corporate Landlord would notify the Valuation Office Agency (VOA)
who would undertake an independent valuation. A formal report of the valuation, with
proposed home loss and disturbance payment details, would then be provided to Corporate
Landlord who would send this to Legal along with approval to make payment via a Property
Transaction Instruction (PT). A woluntary acquisition tracker is in place tracking the various
stages of the process, including property inspection, offer and sale conclusion status.

A sample of five wluntarily acquired RAAC affected private homes was reviewed. There
was segregation in requisition and approval of payments in all cases, with Corporate
Landlord approving payments except for certain legal fees approved by Gowernance.
Howevwver, it was not possible to determine if market value was paid for two (40%) properties,
as an independent valuation report had not been carried out, and instead the Council had
agreed lump sum payments with the sellers inclusive of acquisition of heritable property, land
and ancillary rights, home loss and disturbance payments, negotiation fees and legal
expenses on a full and final basis totalling £116.5k. This approach was confirmed on the
Property Transaction Instruction. In the absence of independent valuation reports it is not
clear if the offer at the time represented Best Value. Corporate Landlord advised in some
circumstances woluntary acquisition negotiation reached stalemate and owners met with
Council officials directly to discuss. In these circumstances an all-inclusive payment was
agreed to cowver the market value of the property and a capped amount for all disbursements.

18 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 152



Description

This allowed certainty for sellers and did not leave the Council having to account for any
future claim. All transactions were concluded within the Land Cost Estimate initially
presented by the Valuation Office Agency for the site.

In addition, there was no evidence payments totalling £223k relating to the purchase of the
three remaining properties had been approved by the Chief Officer — Corporate Landlord, in
line with the Council’s Scheme of Gowvernance and full Council instructions, since related
PTIs were not signed to indicate this approval had been provided.

Also, payments made for legal fees totalling £6.5k approved by Gowernance that were not
detailed on the related VOA valuation report or Property Transaction Instruction as with other
properties, meaning Corporate Landlord had not instructed these amounts to be paid on the
seller's behalf. Where payments are not approved by officers with the necessary delegated
authority, this reduces financial control and risks overpayment or payment error.

Budget Monitoring

Finance send RAAC budget monitoring data to Corporate Landlord on an ad hoc basis, with
the most recent being issued 24 October 2025 as at 15 December 2025 - these reports
include details of any private homeowner related payments. However, it was noted that the
ledger transaction descriptions occasionally lack sufficient detail to identify what payments
relate to what homeowners, since payments can be made to solicitors inwlved in the
conweyancing process rather than homeowners, and transactional descriptions do not
always identify property addresses or homeowners that payments relate to. This is
something Corporate Landlord agreed was challenging for budget monitoring purposes,
albeit Legal Senices advise they manually maintain a spreadsheet of private owner
payments. Where ledger transactional data shared for budget monitoring purposes is not
meaningful, this reduces budgetary and payment control.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

a) Housing should review their system of payment control to mitigate the risk of
duplicate payments, with actions taken to specifically address the points identified
abowe, including initiating recovery of the duplicate payment identified.

b) Corporate Landlord should ensure agreement on all property purchases are
supported by independent valuations and that payments are approved by the Chief
Officer — Corporate Landlord, or an officer with the necessary delegated authority .

¢) Finance should work with Corporate Landlord and Housing to review and where
possible enhance RAAC budget monitoring arrangements.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

a) This was an exceptional circumstance in which a significant volume of disturbance
and home loss payments were issued over a short period to council tenants. A robust
process was implemented to support staff handling payment voucher requests from
tenants, including verification and authorisation by senior officers. This process has
since been revised to include the requirement to cross reference any actions that
result in a rejected request, with performance reports provided by finance and to
ensure that council records are retained in line with the Corporate Records Retention
and Disposal Schedule, as a result, this action is complete. This enhanced process
will be implemented if similar circumstances arise in the future. The recovery process
for the duplicate payment has now commenced.

The Board is satisfied that, notwithstanding the isolated errors identified, appropriate
segregation of duties and senior officer oversight were in place throughout, and that
the enhancements made further strengthen the control environment and audit trail
should similar circumstances arise again.

b) Atthe start of the process a Land Cost Estimate was provided to the Council to give
an indication of the Mark et Value of each property, potential home loss, disturbance,

19 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 153



Description

professional fees and other costs. This influenced the overall committee reports
when reporting on the likely cost of voluntary acquisition and included risk elements.
In a very limited number of circumstances where the Valuation Office where unable
to agree an acquisition having met with the homeowners and valued the property,
cases were escalated to the Chief Officer. This is very much in keeping with our
taking a person centred approach. In some cases, ‘all inclusive’ deals were agreed
directly with the figure paid being all inclusive of all payments this allowing owners
to decide whether to incur disturbance costs etc. whilst also giving Council certainty
over the final ‘claim’ level and giving the ability to consider particular requirements of
owners. All payments where within the original land cost estimate and therefore
within the budget available. Formal instructions to legal on these transactions where
formally signed off by the Property Estates Manager rather than the Chief Officer.
Moving forward, all voluntary acquisitions and associated payments will be approved
by the Chief Officer or an officer with appropriate delegated authority, with that
approval explicitly recorded in writing.

Management further notes that, following review of early voluntary acquisitions, the
governance framework has been tightened to ensure that all future offers are
anchored to independent valuation (on enhanced offer terms). This is now
evidenced through the updated Voluntary Acquisition Tracker and revised written
instructions to Legal Services, which together provide a clear and auditable record
of valuation, approval and payment. The nature of the enhanced offers now being
made to homeowners provides further mitigation. The RAAC Board approved a
mechanism to document enhanced payments and approvals in January 2026. As
a result, Additional Payments are now calculated by Legal in line with the approved
policy framework (not by the DV), with independent verification by Finance prior to
payment. Approvals will continue to be explicitly recorded through written
instruction to Legal Services. Services will not proceed to settlement or payment
unless that approval is held on file.

¢) Finance are working with Corporate Landlord and Housing to set up a shared Teams
site to hold all the documentation regarding RAAC expenditure as it is acknowledged
the ledger description does not always assist in the detailed budget monitoring.

This will provide a single, accessible record of approvals, payments and (if necessary)
supporting documentation.

Mitigating Actions:

a) Housing to revise system of payment control

b) RAAC Board to implement agreed documentation designed to provide an
auditable record of payments and approvals.

c) A shared teams site will be established to hold all RAAC expenditure, including
enhanced financial reports.

| Risk Agreed
a) Yes a) Chief Officer — Housing a) Implemented
b) Yes b) Chief Officer — b) January 2026
c) Yes Corporate Landlord c) February 2026

¢) Finance Partner

20 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 154



4 Appendix 1 — Assurance Terms and Rating Scales

4.1 Overall report level and net risk rating definitions
The following lewvels and ratings will be used to assess the risk in this report:

| Risk level Definition

This issue/risklevel impacts the Council as aw hole. Mitigating actions should be taken at the Senior

Corporate Leadership level.

This issue / risk level has implications at the functional level and the potential to impact across a
Function range of services. They could be mitigated through the redeployment of resources or a change of
Policy w ithin a given function.

This issue / risk level impacts a particular Service or Cluster. Mitigating actions should be

Cluster implemented by the responsible Chief Officer.

Programme and | This issue / risk level impacts the programme or project that has been reviewed. Mitigating actions
Project should be taken at the level of the programme or project concerned.

Net Risk Rating Description Assurance
Assessment

A sound systemof governance, risk management and control exists, w ith
internal controls operating effectively and being consistently applied to support Substantial
the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

There is agenerally sound systemof governance, risk management and control
in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement w ere
identified, w hich may put at riskthe achievement of objectives inthe area
audited.

Moderate Reasonable

Significant gaps, w eaknesses or non-compliance were identified. Improvement is
required to the systemof governance, risk management and control to effectively
manage risks to the achievement of objectives inthe area audited.

Immediate actionis required to address fundamental gaps, w eaknesses or non-
compliance identified. The systemof governance, risk management and control
is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the
area audited.

Individual Issue [/ Definitions

Risk Rating

Although the element of internal controlis satisfactory there is scope for improvement. Addressing

Minor o ; A ; -
this issue is considered desirable and should resultin enhanced control or better value for money.

Anelement of controlis missing or only partial in nature. The existence of the w eakness identified
has an impact on the audited area’s adequacy and effectiveness.

Moderate

The absence of, or failure to comply w ith, an appropriate internal control, w hich could resultin, for
example, a material financial loss.

This is anissue/ riskthat could significantly affect the achievement of one or many of the Council's
objectives or could impact the effectiveness or efficiency of the Council’'s activities or processes.
Action is considered imperative to ensure that the Council is not exposed to severe risks.

21 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 155



5 Appendix 2 — Assurance Scope and Terms of
Reference

5.1 Area subjectto review

504 homes (366 Council owned; 138 privately owned) in the Balnagask area of Torry in Aberdeen have
been identified as containing Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (RAAC), a lightweight material
used in construction from the 1950s to the 1990s. In addition, RAAC has been identified in other Council
owned buildings, including three secondary schools and the Town House extension, with remedial
action having been taken in the case of these non-housing buildings.

Various statutory remedies are available to local authorities to manage defective and sub-standard
properties.

Due to structural stability safety concerns, the Urgent Business Committee agreed in February 2024 to
rehome Council tenants residing at the RAAC identified properties, based on housing needs, through
the creation of a specific “RAAC Impact” housing list, with temporary accommodation offered as an
interim arrangement where desired by tenants. In addition, the Urgent Business Committee agreed to
provide support and information at request to owner occupiers and private tenants residing within
properties in Balnagask containing RAAC, to assistin assessing their housing needs, and to include
them on the RAAC Impact housing list where appropriate. A budget of £3m was approved to cover
initial related costs, including but not limited to staffing costs; specialist consultant fees; contractor
access and works; rehoming and temporary accommodation costs; school transport; utility connections;
and security for the affected site.

In August 2024, the Council considered various options for the affected homes and agreed the
demolition and rebuild of homes on site was optimal, approving the initial demolition works, landscaping
and masterplanning exercise for the site. In addition, the Council agreed to take forward negotiations
with private owners to acquire properties woluntarily at Market Value, and to pay reasonable legal and
professional costs along with home loss and disturbance payments. Associated costs are estimated
as follows:

e Demolition and landscaping: £20—-25m ower 3-4 years
e New housing construction: £130+m owver 5-15 years.

A phased approach for the demolition of Council and private homes affected by RAAC was agreed by
the Communities, Housing and Public Protection Committee on March 11, 2025, prioritising Council
owned terraces / housing blocks, to allow time for privately owned homes to be purchased where
appropriate. 46 (33%) out of 138 homeowners have agreed to sell with 29 (63%) of sales concluded
as at 21 October 2025.

Relevant chief officers have also advised the Council of engagement with the Scottish Housing
Regulator regarding the expected impact on housing performance and with the Scottish Government
on the financial implications and related funding arrangements.

5.2 Rationale for review

The objective of this review is to obtain assurances around compliance with safety regulations and
mitigation of risks to public safety.

This review has not been undertaken before and has been included in the agreed 2025/26 Internal
Audit Plan due to the significant health and safety, financial and reputational impacts to the Council, as
recognised by the standalone corporate RAAC risk included in the Council’s Risk Register.

5.3 Scope and risk level of review
This review will offer the following judgements:

e Anowrall netrisk rating at the Corporate lewel.
e Individual net risk ratings for findings.

22 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 156



5.3.1 Detailed scope areas

As a risk-based review this scope is not limited by the specific areas of activity listed below.
Where related and other issues /risks are identified in the undertaking of this review these will
be reported, as considered appropriate by IA, within the resulting report.

The specific areas to be covered by this review are:

Strategic Approach, Gowernance and Owersight

Health and Safety Risk Management

Housing Support and Rehoming of Council Tenants, Owner Occupiers and Private Tenants
Demolition and Associated Health and Safety Risks

Communication and Stakeholder Engagement

e Other RAAC Risks including Schools and Corporate Estate

e Procurement and Budget Monitoring

e Fraud Control

5.4 Methodology

This review will be undertaken through inteniews with key staff involved in the process(es) under review
and analysis and review of supporting data, documentation, and paperwork. To support our work, we
will review relevant legislation, codes of practice, policies, procedures, and guidance.

This review will also encompass an evaluation of the governance, risk management and controls in
place to achieve Best Value and to detect, prevent, and mitigate instances of fraud.

Due to hybrid working practices, this review will primarily be undertaken remotely via electronic
meetings and direct access to systems and data, with face to face contact and site \isits to premises to
obtain and review further records as appropriate.

55 1A outputs

The IA outputs from this review will be:

e Arrisk-based report with the results of the review, to be shared with the following:
o Council Key Contacts (see 1.7 below)
o Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee (final only)
o External Audit (final only)

5.6 IA staff
The IA staff assigned to this review are:

e Agne McDonald, Auditor (audit lead)
e Andy Johnston, Audit Team Manager
e Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor (oversight only)

5.7 Council key contacts

The key contacts for this review across the Council are:

Eleanor Sheppard, Executive Director — Families and Communities

e Stephen Booth, Chief Officer — Corporate Landlord (process owner)
e Jacqui McKenzie, Chief Officer — Housing

e Colin Leaver, Corporate Health and Safety Lead

5.8 Delivery plan and milestones

The key delivery plan and milestones are:

Milestone Planned date

Scope issued 09-Sep-25

23 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 157



Milestone Planned date

Scope agreed 19-Sep-25
Fieldwork commences 29-Sep-25
Fieldwork completed 31-Oct-25

Draft report issued 21-Nowv-25
Process owner response 12-Dec-25
Director response 19-Dec-25
Final report issued 09-Jan-26

24 of 24

Page 158

Internal Audit



Agenda Item 9.8

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee

DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Internal Audit Report AC2604 — Agency Costs
REPORT NUMBER IA/AC2604

DIRECTOR N/A

REPORT AUTHOR Jamie Dale

TERMS OF REFERENCE | 2.2

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the planned Internal Audit report on
Agency Costs.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee review, discuss and comment on the
issues raised within this report and the attached appendix.

3. CURRENT SITUATION

31 Internal Audit has completed the attached report which relates to an audit
of Agency Costs.

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations
of this report.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations of
this report.

6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from the

recommendations of this report.

7. RISK

Page 159



7.1

8.1

8.2

10.

10.1
11.
11.1

12.

Name
Title

The Internal Audit process considers risks involved in the areas subject to
review. Any risk implications identified through the Internal Audit process
are detailed in the resultant Internal Audit reports. Recommendations,
consistent with the Council's Risk Appetite Statement, are made to address
the identified risks and Internal Audit follows up progress with implementing
those that are agreed with management. Those not implemented by their
agreed due date are detailed in the attached appendices.

OUTCOMES

There are no direct impacts, as a result of this report, in relation to the
Council Delivery Plan, or the Local Outcome Improvement Plan Themes of
Prosperous Economy, People or Place.

However, Internal Audit plays a key role in providing assurance over, and
helping to improve, the Council’'s framework of governance, risk
management and control. These arrangements, put in place by the
Council, help ensure that the Council achieves its strategic objectives in a
well-managed and controlled environment.

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
Assessment Outcome
Impact Assessment An assessment is not required because the

reason for this report is for Committee to
review, discuss and comment on the
outcome of an internal audit. As a result,
there will be no differential impact, as a result
of the proposals in this report, on people with
protected characteristics.

Privacy Impact Not required
Assessment

BACKGROUND PAPERS

There are no relevant background papers related directly to this report.
APPENDICES
Internal Audit report AC2604 — Agency Costs

REPORT AUTHOR CONTACT DETAILS

Jamie Dale
Chief Internal Auditor

Email Address @ Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

Tel

2 of 24

(01467) 530 988

Internal Audit

Page 160


mailto:Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

L

ABERDEEN

CITY COUNCIL
Internal Audit

Assurance Review of Agency Costs

Status: Final
Date: 06 February 2026
Risk Level: Function

Report No: AC2604
Assurance Year: 2025/26

Assurance
Assessment

Net Risk Rating

Description

Thereis a generally sound systemof governance, risk management and control
in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement were

Moderate identified, which may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area Reasonable
audited.

Report Tracking Planned Date Actual Date
Scope issued 17-Jul-2025 17-Jul-2025
Scope agreed 24-Jul-2025 24-Jul-2025
Fieldwork commenced 4-Aug-2025 12-Aug-2025
Fieldwork completed 29-Aug-2025 24-0Oct-2025
Draft report issued 26-Sep-2025 25-Nov-2025
Process owner response 17-Oct-2025 20-Jan-2026
Director response 24-Oct-2025 03-Feb-2026
Final report issued 31-Oct-2025 06-Feb-2026
AR&S Committee 19-Feb-2026

| Distribution

Document type

Assurance Report

Director

Andy MacDonald, Executive Director — Corporate Senices

Process Owner

Lesley Strachan, Senice Lead — People & Citizen Senvices

Mel Mackenzie, Strategic Commercial Manager — Commercial & Procurement
Senvices

Bernadette Bularan, Deputy Chief Finance Officer

Stakeholder

Isla Newcombe, Chief Officer — People & Citizen Senices

Craig Innes, Chief Officer — Commercial & Procurement Senvices

Jenni Lawson, Chief Officer — Gowernance, Aberdeen City*

Jonathan Belford, Chief Officer — Finance*

*Final only

External Audit*

Lead auditor

Debbie Steele, Auditor




1 Introduction

1.1 Area subjectto review

The Council has adopted national framework agreements for acquiring agency staff. The frameworks
are made up of multiple suppliers offering a variety of different skilled workers when this is required to
fulfil resource requirements e.g. due to unexpected shortfall of staffing levels or temporary increased
workload.

Within the Corporate Senvices function the clusters of Commercial and Procurement Shared Sences,
People & Citizen Senices, and Finance set the guidance, and provide advisory support to recruiting
functions/ clusters in relation to the engagement and management of agency workers. Day to day
management of agency work, and compliance with procedural requirements is the responsibility of
individual senvices.

Starting from their first day of work the Agency Workers Regulations 2010 mandates assigned agency
workers be treated no less favourably than staff that have been directly recruited into a contracted post

through the recruitment and selection process.

Following completion of a 12-week qualifying period agency workers are entitled to the equal basic
employment and working conditions to the staff who have been recruited directly for the comparable
post i.e. same level of pay and allowances, where applicable. Monitoring processes ensure compliance

with internal regulations and the Agency Workers Regulation 2010.

During 2024/25, the total spend recorded as Agency Expenditure for all senices was £2,571,112.76
with 48.7% being with the Families and Communities Function

1.2 Rationale for the review

The objective of this audit is to ensure that appointments are made from appropriately tendered
contracts and that individual appointments are adequately managed.

The requirement for agency staff may be unawoidable where there is an urgent need to meet demand,
howewer it canresult in additional cost. There are also risks in respect of procurement compliance, and
the additional complexity of managing, co-ordinating, and ensuring the accuracy of payments made for,
staff not directly employed by the Council.

The last audit of this area, AC1712, was concluded in February 2017. The main findings were:

e Ower 40% of agency worker spend was placed with suppliers not on the procurement
framework for agency workers.

e The terms of the Framework Agreement were not adhered to, with agency suppliers being
approached out with the ranked order process.

e The guidance around when itis acceptable to use agency staff was open to interpretation and
procedures were lacking instruction on the processing of agency worker timesheets. Agency
workers were being engaged without approved authorisation, inductions were not being carried
out, and engagement periods exceeded the maximum 12-week qualifying period. Corporate
recruitment procedures were being circumvented with agency suppliers being used to recruit
permanent staff.

e Breaches of Financial Regulations were identified with rates of pay being applied which were
over and abowve the agreed contract rates and inwices had no supporting purchase orders.

The current audit will seek assurance these points have been addressed, and that control systems and
processes are operating effectively to address the relevant risks.
1.3 How to use this report

This report has sewveral sections and is designed for different stakeholders. The executive summary
(section 2) is designed for senior staff and is cross referenced to the more detailed narrative in later
sections (3 onwards) of the report should the reader require it. Section 3 contains the detailed
narrative for risks and issues we identified in our work.

4 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 162



2 Executive Summary

2.1 Overall opinion

The full chart of net risk and assurance assessment definitions can be found in Appendix 1 — Assurance
Scope and Terms. We have assessed the net risk (risk arising after controls and risk mitigation actions
have been applied) as:

. : Description Assurance
Net Risk Rating Y ———

There is agenerally sound systemof governance, risk management and
controlin place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement w ere
identified, w hich may put at riskthe achievement of objectives in the area
audited.

Moderate Reasonable

The organisational risk level at which this risk assessment applies is:

Risk Level Definition

This issue / risk level has implications at the function level and the potential to impact across a range of
Function clusters. They could be mitigated through the redeployment of resources or a change of policy within a given
function.

2.2 Assurance assessment

The level of net risk is assessed as MODERATE, with the control framework deemed to provide
REASONABLE assurance ower the management of agency appointments. Where pockets of higher
risk have still remain, this audit recognises that controls have been enhanced after the last review. This
work by Management includes dewelopment of a corporate procedure, and a marked improvement on
the proportion of on-contract spend and a reduction in cost overall.

However, areas of weakness in the implementation and consistent application of these controls,
including resource requirements, demand management, and procurement, purchasing, persist. There
is variation in practice between clusters, and variation between senice approaches in similar situations,
and none are evidenced as fully compliant.

The Council spends an average of £2.9m per annum on agency staff, with £2.6m spent in 2024/25.
This has reduced from £3.3m in 2021/22. The main users include Corporate Landlord (£1.2m) and
Operations (£0.9m), which hawe recurring substantial demand for agency workers as a result of local
and national recruitment and retention difficulties. Other spend is more ad-hoc, based on specific
requirements arising across other clusters. £1.6m was spent in the first six months of 2025/26. If spend
continues at the same lewel, costs could reach over £3m for the current financial year.

There is potential to strengthen the framework of control to provide further assurance ower delivery
against the Council’s priorities, specifically:

e Staff Guidance and Governance — The Council’s Agency Worker Procedure was last updated
in 2021. While this provides an overview of the required process, it is not aligned with practice.
Clusters regularly engaging agency workers have developed their own processes, custom and
practice, varying in content and detail, including the extent and quality of internal controls.
There are areas within the corporate process where guidance should be strengthened,
including: monitoring of agency requirements and usage, pay parity, supplier selection and
ordering, management of recurring/bulk orders, contract management responsibilities,
sourcing/confirming agreed rates of payment and responsibilities for any variations, inductions
and training, review of timesheets, and document management. These gaps present a risk of
inconsistency, and of any changes made at a corporate level not being filtered through
effectively to cluster level.

5 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 163



e Resourcing and Onboarding — Decisions need to be made in advance to ensure the right
resources are in the right places at the right time. Clusters with regular requirements typically
obtain chief officer authorisation and raise purchase orders for recurring agency usage in bulk,
rather than for individual placements. There is no evidence of regular or routine discussion with
the Talent Team to explore alternative options. Clusters are not fully demonstrating compliance
with the competition and selection requirements included within the agency framework
contracts, presenting a risk of additional cost and legal challenge. There is limited assurance
that IR35 employment status is being confirmed, as noted in the current guidance, in advance
of engaging the senices of each agency worker, presenting a risk of non-compliance, additional
cost, and penalties, with Management advising that the current suite of guidance is being
updated to reflect operational requirements and the latest legislative requirements that has
changed this requirement. Senices’ approaches to communicating and recording essential
qualifications/training, and briefing/onboarding requirements also vary.

e Monitoring — The Council spends an average of £2.9m per annum on agency staff. In previous
years there has been a focus on off-contract spend, with a view to improving procurement
compliance and better utilisation of approved framework providers, to reduce risk and improve
value for money. Whilst off-contract spend has reduced, this is no longer monitored and
centrally reported to the same extent. Agency workers are regularly engaged for more than 12
weeks — with a number identified as having been in place for over a year. Extensions are
generally approved within the purchasing senice, with no further/wider input required. There
is a risk agencies could be seen as a shortcut to resolving resource issues, the ability to attract
talent, or awiding adjustments to senice standards, each of which could be indicative of
underlying issues which should be addressed at a more strategic level.  Without regular
monitoring with results reviewed with relevant clusters, agency use, and costs could escalate
beyond available budgets. Howewer, effective monitoring could be challenging due to the
availability of quality data: central and cluster records are incomplete, and there are
inconsistencies in recording.

e Purchase Ordering and Payment Controls — The Council’s Financial Regulations include a
requirement to issue a formal purchase order (PO) in advance of obtaining goods and senices .
PO'’s are regularly being created for agency work, but there is variation in how and when they
are set up and approved. In many cases combined requirements for agency staff have been
estimated and one agency authorisation form completed covering multiple posts/roles, for up
to ayear in advance, for a defined maximum value (up to £1.2m in one case). Hours, rates,
and lengths of placement are not specified in advance. POs are typically raised for a nominal
sum (e.g. £1) and then revised later. This offers a means to process payments and manage
the owerall budget, but offers limited control, as rates, expected costs, and the length of time
cowered, vary between roles. There is a risk that this creates a cycle of unchecked demand as
PO’s are created or extended to cover costs already incurred on a recurring basis. In breach
of Financial Regulations, orders are not all being approved in advance of the period covered
by a PO. Costs are also not always being aggregated for the purposes of determining the
appropriate procurement governance routes. Failure to aggregate spend and apply the correct
procurement rules presents a risk of legal challenge. At the point of ordering, rates and
placement lengths are not being explicitly agreed and documented in advance. The absence
of formal documentation may put the Council at a disadvantage in the event of an error, or
dispute ower rates or other costs. There is also variation in practice for receipting agency
workers’ hours.

Recommendations have been made to review and consolidate agency worker procedures to ensure
requirements and responsibilities across the Council are clear and consistent, with any exceptions
subject to appropriate governance; to dewelop and implement controls to ensure all key stages of the
resourcing and onboarding process havwe been confirmed and evidenced as complete prior to work
commencing; to standardise processes and data collection to support effective monitoring and demand
management; and to implement controls to ensure agency spend is subject to advance specific
approvals and purchase orders, with clarity over rates and duration, to facilitate a full matching process
for ordering, receipt and payment.

It is acknowledged supporting clusters including People & Citizen Senices, the Commercial and
Procurement Shared Senice (CPSS), and Business Senices (Transaction Team), are reliant on

6 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 164



colleagues within individual Functions/Clusters to facilitate, engage and apply consistent processes.
Howewer, as a corporate risk, Internal Audit considers that the recommended actions are more
appropriately driven by a corporate approach from the centre.

2.3 Identified Risks

Risk Level Number of Risks Identified

2
2
| Minor -
| 4

2.4 Management response

People and Citizen Services, Commercial & Procurement and Finance appreciate the valuable insights
and recommendations provided by the Internal Audit Review into agency costs. We fully recognise both
the challenges and risks identified and remain committed to ongoing improvement in this area.

Since the last audit in 2017, all prior recommendations were successfully addressed, with the
establishment of an Agency Steering Group, including Chief Officers from key departments, to drive
progress. This group has overseen a comprehensive action plan aimed at reviewing agency usage and
spend, prioritising the reduction of non-essential agency activity and ensuring compliance with relevant
frameworks. Importantly, this has included the development and implementation of a robust corporate
procedure.

Significant positive changes have been realised since 2017, including reduced overall spend, lower off-
contract expenditure and the introduction of clearer procedures. Targeted interventions have supported
high-use areas such as Family & Community Services, especially where hard-to-fill roles like Children’s
Social Workers and Teaching positions required additional resource solutions. These measures have
improved access to compliant on-contract providers and reduced reliance on agency staff.

The introduction of the updated corporate procedure has strengthened organisational control over
agency usage and spend. Central oversight ensures all requests (outside of bulk Operations orders)
are properly managed, from initial request through to payment. The procedure has also fostered a
cultural shift, with managers now viewing agency resource as a last resort. This change is reflected in
the reduced spend across all Council functions and clusters.

We would like to thank Internal Audit for their support throughout the review and constructive
recommendations. We are committed to working collaboratively to address the gaps identified in
governance, control, and operational processes relating to the engagement and management of agency
workers across the Council

It is accepted that the audit findings have highlighted that there is a need for improvement in the
approach to managing agency workers, both to ensure compliance with procurement and financial
regulations and to achieve best value for the Council.

Looking ahead, we are proactively updating our policy and guidance to reflect the evolving landscape
and operational requirements. These updates will address the audit findings, within this report and will
ensure that all business areas are clear on their responsibilities and fully accountable for compliance,
reinforcing our commitment to effective resource management and transparent governance.

For information the comparative spend and on/off contract spend is shown below between 2016/17, the
last full year 2024/25 and the first two quarters of 2025/26:

7 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 165



2016/17 2024725 2025/26 Q1 & Q2
Total % Total % Total %
Total Spend E 7,990,488 E 2,220,335 E T.077,678
ON Contract £ 3,887,576 | 49% | £ 2,045993 | 92% | £ 1,009,640 | 94%
OFF Contract £ 4102912 | 51% | £ 174342 | 8% | £ 68,038 | 6%
8 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 166



3 Issues [/ Risks, Recommendations, and
Management Response

3.1 Issues/Risks, recommendations, and management response

Description Moderate

11

Written Procedures and Guidance — The Council’'s Agency Worker Procedure was last
reviewed and updated in 2021. While this provides an oweniew of the required process, it
does not always align with operational practice. Clusters regularly engaging agency workers
have deweloped their own processes through custom and practice, and these vary in content
and detail.

The Agency Worker procedure sets out the roles and responsibilities of the clusters, as
originally planned. Controls were built into the process so that the processes would be
carried out independently to ensure segregation of duties. However, different stages and
clusters are now involved in the process compared with those referenced in the procedure.
There is no clear guidance in the procedure as to their roles and responsibilities, and where
their boundaries are in the process e.g. the procedure details the "Transactions Team" being
responsible for tasks, but managers referenced CHI Admin; Agency Support and Business
Senices undertaking the relevant tasks, in addition to their own cluster’'s role. Lack of clarity
over what each clusteris responsible for has led to the process becoming disjointed. This is
particularly marked for clusters where there is recurring and regular agency usage.

Guidance should be strengthened (either within or adequately signposted from the Agency
Worker procedure) in respect of:

e Monitoring Agency Worker engagements, at both a detailed and a corporate level.

e Pay parity (which can be deferred for 12 weeks to provide a cost saving, is applied
from day one, except where management decide otherwise).

e Current available and adopted frameworks, suppliers, and their distinct rules for
ranking/competition.

e Approved variations in practice (e.g. approaching suppliers simultaneously rather
than one by one).

e Recurring/bulk orders.

e Contract management responsibilities including supplier engagement at a
central/corporate or cluster level.

e Agreed rates to be paid to suppliers, and communicating any changes.

e Responsibilities and central sources of data for agreement and revisions to pay
rates, including pay awards, PAYE/NI revisions, changes to the working week, and
calculation/agreement of back-pay for retrospective changes.

e Required content/minimum standards and records for agency worker inductions.

e Processes for receipt, checking, and approval of timesheets for hours worked, and
invwices against these.

e Document management and retention requirements.

Whilst generally more detailed, cluster/section-level flowcharts and step by step guidance
contained obsolete information and lacked clarity over the context and purpose of specific
steps to aid users’ understanding of their role in the owerall process. There are also
differences in approach (see Appendix 3). Having multiple procedures at this level presents
a risk of inconsistency, and of any changes made at a corporate level not being filtered
through effectively. For example, some contained supplier details (which could be subject to
change), and none cowered IR35 checks.

The absence of up-to-date, consistent procedures and clear guidance across the key controls
creates risk for the Council. Without a unified approach, clusters operate with varying

9 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 167



Description Moderate

practices, leading to potential non-compliance, inefficiencies, and exposure to financial,
legal, and reputational harm.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Agency worker procedures should be reviewed and consolidated to ensure requirements and
responsibilities across the Council are clear and consistent. Any exceptions should be
reviewed, confirmed and logged centrally through an appropriate governance mechanism.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Agreed. The Using Agency Workers Procedure was implemented in 2021 and is currently
under review.

We have developed an action plan to consider and progress the recommendations and this
will include a full review of the agency procedure, agency worker request form and
authorisation process which will be undertaken collaboratively by People & Citizen Services,
Commercial & Procurement and Finance with key stakeholders involved as appropriate -
including end users with larger spend. The findings and recommendations from this Internal
Audit review will be considered and taken account of within the review of the procedure. Itis
proposed that a checklist is incorporated in the procedure for hiring managers to ensure that
steps are followed in each instance.

Roll out of the procedure will be supported by Comms and sessions for hiring managers will
be held to highlight changes to the procedure and responsibilities of hiring managers.

An Agency Steering Group will be re-established with managers from People & Citizen
Services, Commercial & Procurement and Finance to review the effectiveness of the
procedures, monitor spend, compliance with agency spend, and exceptions.

| Person(s)
31 December 2026

Yes Strategic Commercial

Manager, Senice Lead —
People, Deputy Chief
Finance Officer

Description

1.2 Engaging and Onboarding Agency Workers — Decisions need to be made in advance to

ensure the right resources are in the right places at the right time. Clusters with regular
requirements for agency cover typically obtain Chief Officer authorisation and raise purchase
orders for recurring agency usage in bulk, rather than for individual placements. These
clusters review resources against levels of demand on a weekly or daily basis. This data is
used to inform day to day planning and requests to agencies for candidates.

In relation to engaging and onboarding agency workers owerall, the following was identified:

e There is no evidence of regular or routine discussion between senices and the
Talent Team to explore alternative resourcing options before using agency, in line
with the requirements placed on Directors/Chief Officers and Hiring Managers by the
Council’s Agency Workers Procedure (2021). The current agency authorisation form
includes areminder to do so, but no recording mechanisms are in place. If managers
are not doing this, then alternatives may not be appropriately considered, and
demand may not be managed effectively.

e The Establishment Control Board (ECB) reviews all requests to adwertise vacancies,
and job adwvertisements were found for various roles currently covered by agency
workers, however approval to advertise may be paused pending review or further

10 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 168



Description

clarification of requirements. In the interim, agency workers may continue to be used
by default.

e There is variation in liaison with agency suppliers. An Agency Support Team within
Finance leads on this task for some clusters, whilst in contrast to the procedure
others engage direct. In these cases, decisions are not fully documented. Where
requests hawe been made werbally, there is no record to confirm the selection
process was compliant with framework terms and conditions. One cluster selected
candidates based on order of receipt, whilst another referenced moving from the
third-ranked to first-ranked provider due to lack of options, indicating a lack of
understanding of rankings and the requirement to apply them. While the Agency
Support Team helps better demonstrate compliance, suppliers are contacted
simultaneously rather than one by one in ranked order, and selection is up to the
relevant cluster; with decisions largely based on availability, speed of response, and
previous experience with specific workers. Failure to comply with the framework
requirements presents a risk of additional cost through potentially selecting more
expensive suppliers, and in the ewvent of legal challenge owver procurement
compliance.

e The Council’s Agency Workers Procedure notes it is the responsibility of the Hiring
Manager to ensure that any worker is paid PAYE and is not implicated under the Off
Payroll Working (IR35) legislation. The Council’'s Off-Payroll Working (IR35)
guidance clearly sets out that where a contractor is engaged through an agency, the
public-sector body (the Council) is still responsible for undertaking the assessment
and for notifying the agency, for them to make the correct tax and NI deductions.
Howewer, senices had no records of checks having taken place. Whilst most
frameworks cowver this requirement, these are not always used, and it cannot be
assumed that in every case a worker will be on the agency’s payroll. In one case
reviewed, the agency had included ‘n/a’ for tax and national insurance elements of
their rate, and in two others this was blank, with no indication this had been followed
up. The Council could be liable for additional PAYE costs and penalties for non-
compliance. Management has advised that the current suite of guidance cowering
IR35 is out of date and does not reflect the current operations to be followed in
relation to engaging agency workers.

e There are inconsistencies in respect of qualifications and records being checked
prior to work commencing. Where the Agency Support Team is inwolved requests
to agencies include the specific requirements. Lists are returned and candidates
considered, and qualifications and other details are reviewed and held on file in a
structured manner. However, these records were not all complete for workers who
had been engaged. Senices regularly ask for workers to bring physical copies of
documentation on their first day. Where recorded, this indicated 60% of attendees
failed to bring documentation, but, there is limited evidence of workers being rejected
or deferred as a result. P&OD has stated that full onboarding, training, and induction
processes are inappropriate for agency workers because they are not employees of
the Council, and such activities could risk creating an implied employment
relationship: the agency remains responsible for contractual, employment, and
competency requirements. The extent of variation in practice therefore presents
risks to efficient resource management. There are also potential risks in respect of
data protection compliance if personal documentation is obtained and retained if it is
not required.

e Howewer, the Council must provide all necessary local health and safety briefings
and site-specific safety information to ensure safe working practices while the worker
is on Council premises or carrying out Council-related duties. The approach to
providing this, and confirming it has been done, varies.

e The agency worker procedure includes an induction checklist template, but this is
largely blank with senices left to fill in their requirements. The checklist is not
regularly used, and clusters have their own processes for inducting and training new

11 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 169



Description

agency workers. Records varied and were incomplete, reducing assurance that
minimum requirements have been set and completed. It was not possible to confirm
that mandatory corporate training had been completed by any of the agency workers
reviewed. In cases where cluster-specific forms and records are in place, these
generally reflect discussion and confirmation of understanding of key requirements
with the agency worker, rather than the completion of specific training. One cluster
has deweloped a presentation outlining these requirements. Whilst positive, this is
substantially less detailed than the inductions and mandatory training requirements
applicable to employees. If there are gaps, particularly where there is recurring use
of the same workers over an extended period, there may be greater risks to
corporate compliance.

Weaknesses in planning, documentation, and compliance around resourcing and onboarding
agency workers create a risk for the Council. These include potential breaches of
procurement and tax regulations, inconsistent application of frameworks, and inadequate
assurance over worker qualifications and mandatory training, all of which could lead to
financial penalties, operational inefficiencies, and reputational damage.

IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Controls should be implemented to ensure all key stages of the resourcing and onboarding
process hawe been confirmed and evidenced as completed prior to agency work
commencing.

Minimum training requirements should be defined centrally and implemented for all agency
workers. Consideration should be given to additional training requirements depending on
length and frequency of engagement.

The current suite of guidance around IR35 should be reviewed and updated to reflect
operational requirements.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Agreed.

As above, the Using Agency Workers Procedure was implemented in 2021, following the last
internal audit on agency, and is currently under review.

We recognise that the current document is out of date in regards to IR35, PAYE and Training
Checks.

Aberdeen City Council should not need to conduct IR35 assessments for workers procured
through an agency, as these individuals are employed and paid by the agency and not
engaged through personal service companies to which off-payroll working rules apply.
Consequently, the agency holds responsibility for employment status, payroll deductions,
and compliance with relevant legislation.

Full onboarding, training, and induction processes are inappropriate for agency workers
because they are not employees of the Council, and such activities could risk creating an
implied employment relationship. The agency remains responsible for contractual,
employment, and competency requirements.

However, the Council must provide all necessary local health and safety briefings and
site-specific safety information to ensure safe working practices while the worker is on
Council premises or carrying out Council-related duties.

We have developed an action plan to consider and progress the recommendations and this
will include a full review of the agency procedure, agency worker request form and
authorisation process which will be undertaken collaboratively by People & Citizen Services,
Commercial & Procurement and Finance with key stakeholders involved as appropriate -
including end users with larger spend. The findings and recommendations from this Internal

12 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 170



Description

Audit review will be taken account of within the review of the procedure. Itis proposed that a
checklist is incorporated in the procedure for hiring managers to ensure that steps are
followed in each instance.

Roll out of the procedure will be supported by corporate communications to all managers via
the Leadership Forum, and sessions for managers who regularly use agency workers will be
held to highlight changes to the procedure and their responsibilities.

An Agency Steering Group will be re-established with managers from People & Citizen
Services, Commercial & Procurement and Finance to review the effectiveness of the
procedures, monitor spend, compliance with agency spend, and exceptions.
As above, a full review of the agency procedure, agency worker request form and
authorisation process will be undertaken collaboratively by People & Citizen Services,
Commercial & Procurement and Finance with key stakeholders involved as appropriate -
including end users with larger spend. The findings and recommendations from this Internal
Audit review will be considered and taken account of within the review of the procedure.

Itis proposed that a checklist is incorporated in the procedure for hiring managers to ensure
that steps are followed in each instance.

Risk Agreed Person(s) Due Date

Yes Strategic Commercial 31 December 2026
Manager, Senice Lead —
People, Deputy Chief
Finance Officer

Description Moderate

1.3

Monitoring of Agency Usage and Spend — The Council spends an average of £2.9m?! per
annum on agency staff. In previous years there has been a focus on off-contract spend, with
a view to identifying non-compliance with procurement regulations, and supporting better
utilisation of approved framework providers, to reduce risk and improve value for money.
Whilst there are indications off-contract spend has reduced, this is no longer actively
monitored. Internal Audit was advised that the Establishment Control Board (ECB) monitored
on and off-contract spend, howewer the dashboard provided for review contained no data for
2025/26 (as at September 2025), and ECB action notes indicated no reference to review or
actions in respect of agency spend. Commercial and Procurement (CPSS) review the spend
periodically but there is no set schedule or reporting route. Individual clusters’ monitoring,
beyond management of budgets and purchase order values, largely ceased in 2023/24.
Without regular monitoring, agency use, and costs could escalate beyond available budgets.

Effective  monitoring could be challenging due to the availability of quality data. The
Transaction Team holds a central record of agency worker requests and usage, as per the
agency worker procedure, but this only includes engagements managed by the central team.
Individual clusters hold separate records — though these are not fully comprehensive or up to
date - not all agency workers were included in the records, and those no longer engaged were
not all removed/marked as left.

On and off-contract spend monitoring relies on the use of named suppliers, however, spend
may still be non-compliant if an ‘approved’ supplier on one framework supplies senices that
should come from another. Expenditure on consultants’ fees was also found incorrectly coded
as agency spend. The Agency Worker procedure (2021) sought to bring in a standard form

! £2.9m average based on invoices paid and recorded as Agency Staff 2021-2025. There w as areducing trend over this period
from£3.3m to £2.5m. How ever, £1.6mhas been paid in the first six months of 2025/26. If currentyear expenditure continues at
this level, it could reach over £3m.

13 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 171



Description Moderate

for managers to use to request and authorise use of agency , and this includes a list of reasons
for why cower is required. Across a sample of agency worker engagements, where these
forms had been completed, different versions were being used. These included variations in
the number and content of reasons included in this list, limiting the ability to aggregate this
data effectively for later review.

The recorded reasons for engaging agency workers did not always reasonably reflect what
was taking place in practice. For example, agency workers were being engaged on arecurring
basis to meet ‘unexpected critical demand’. There is no evidence of this being scrutinised or
challenged, which contrasts with the approach taken by the ECB in respect of vacancies.
Agency worker orders can be placed or extended with a single approval from a Chief Officer,
and may be delegated. This can lead to orders being placed on a regular basis by a manager,
without CO approval, cumulatively in excess of £50k, presenting a risk to compliance with
procurement governance requirements. Procurement regulations are also being formally set
aside, following Chief Officer consultation with CPSS. There is a risk this could be seen as a
shortcut to resolving resource issues, the ability to attract talent, or awiding adjustments to
senice standards, each of which could be indicative of underlying issues which should be
addressed at a more strategic level.

The Using Agency Workers procedures and authorisation form requires the senice engaging
an agency worker to review options with the Talent Team after eight weeks, with a view to
either ending or extending placements after 12 weeks. There is no evidence of
monitoring/follow-up, and with limited exceptions (e.g. administrative and professional roles
managed more centrally), there is no evidence of this taking place. Agency workers are
regularly being engaged for more than 12 weeks, with a number identified as having been in
place for over a year (central records (see above re completeness and accuracy) show four
‘current’ workers with start dates between 2021 and 2024). Extensions are generally
approved within the purchasing senice, with no further/wider input required.

This may be reflective of a reduced requirement for adjustment following a decision that pay
parity be paid from day one of an agency engagement (formerly after 12 weeks in line with
national Agency Worker Regulations). There are no records to demonstrate whether this is
being applied consistently, and there has been no review to determine whether the additional
cost incurred is justified by the administration costs awided, and/or other benefits (e.qg.
improving the attractiveness of the Council’s offer of agency work).

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

The Council should standardise processes and data collection to support effective monitoring
of agency usage. Agency usage and costs should be tracked and monitored centrally.

Strategic resourcing decisions (e.g. recurring agency demand) should be subject to scrutiny
at the appropriate level.

The Council should review whether the practice of paying the evaluated rate for the job from
day one of agency assignment provides value for money.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Agreed.

As above, the Using Agency Workers Procedure was implemented in 2021, following the last
internal audit on agency, and is currently under review.

We have developed an action plan to consider and progress the recommendations and this
will include a full review of the agency procedure, agency worker request form and
authorisation process which will be undertaken collaboratively by People & Citizen Services,
Commercial & Procurement and Finance with key stakeholders involved as appropriate -
including end users with larger spend. The findings and recommendations from this Internal
Audit review will be considered and taken account of within the review of the procedure. Itis

14 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 172



Description Moderate

proposed that a checklist is incorporated in the procedure for hiring managers to ensure that
steps are followed in each instance.

An Agency Steering Group will be re-established established with managers from People &
Citizen Services, Commercial & Procurement and Finance to review the effectiveness of the
procedures, monitor spend, compliance with agency spend, and exceptions with recurring
agency usage escalated to the Establishment Control Board.

Risk Agreed Person(s) Due Date

Yes Strategic Commercial Manager, 31 December 2026
Senice Lead — People, Deputy
Chief Finance Officer

Description

L4 Purchase Ordering and Payment Controls — The Council’s Financial Regulations require

formal purchase orders (POs) to be issued before goods or senices are obtained. Although
an exception exists for agency usage—supported by authorisation and order forms that set
out rates, cost estimates and required approvals—these forms do not enable payment
through the financial system. As a result, POs continue to be used for agency engagements,
but the timing and method of their creation varies across senices.

For recurring agency requirements, some senices estimate annual needs in advance and
use a single authorisation form to cover multiple posts. Examples include an annual rolling
requirement for up to 36 craft workers (estimated £1.2m) and agency staff within Waste and
Environment (eight drivers and seven others valued at £450k and £331k, each split across
two six-month periods). Because hours, rates and placement lengths are not set upfront,
POs are often initially raised for nominal amounts (e.g. £1) and later adjusted. While this
approach enables work orders and budget management, itoffers limited vsibility of expected
costs and can result in repeated extensions. In one case within Roads (£19k), the initial
authorisation dated 2018 continued to be extended up to 2025, indicating limited periodic
review of alternative options.

For one-off agency engagements, authorisation forms and POs are generally completed for
the maximum anticipated 12-week period in line with procedures. Extensions are supported
by updated approvals. Howewer, not all POs are approved before the period of work begins
(in two of five sampled cases, 15 of 18 POs were retrospective). In some areas, recurring
engagements have been treated as separate pieces of work rather than aggregated, despite
inwolving the same workers or senices (e.g. Estates £86k, Social Care £83k). This may not
fully demonstrate compliance with procurement gowernance requirements. One case
included a 3.10 Memo confirming that procurement rules had been formally set aside; similar
documentation was not always evident elsewhere.

Payment rates are expected to reflect Council pay plus on-costs in line with framework
agreements, but responsibilities for maintaining up-to-date rates are not clearly assigned.
Rate information is held across seweral locations—framework documents, cluster-specific
rate cards and email correspondence—rather than in a central record. Authorisation forms
cowering multiple roles often use average rates, and POs are raised for total values rather
than hours at specified rates. As rates and placement durations are not always formally
agreed at the point of ordering, there is reduced assurance should errors or disputes occur.

Timesheet and receipting practices differ across senices. For recurring agency work, hours
are recorded locally and added to senice spreadsheets, which the agencies then werify
against inwices. While most documentation is retained, some gaps exist (e.g. four of 21

15 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 173



Description

timesheets missing, others unsigned or not clearly checked). Supplier-provided timesheets
are not consistently used for matching, with five of 21 missing and others incomplete. In some
cases, timesheets are submitted before the week ends to meet agency deadlines, which
could increase the chance of pre-approved but unworked hours being paid. For one-off
agency use, reliance on agency timesheets is greater, though pre-agreed rates generally
offer stronger assurance.

Owerall, the extent of variability in purchase ordering, documentation and rate/ timesheet
owersight indicates a requirement to strengthen consistency and compliance with financial
and procurement regulations. While alternative controls exist and enable senices to manage
agency usage, greater standardisation and clearer documentation is needed to provide
assurance and reduce exposure to awidable process risks.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

The Council should dewelop and apply controls to ensure agency spend is subject to advance
approvals and purchase orders, with centrally defined maximum limits in terms of costs and
duration.

Recurring requirements must be subject to regular review and, where appropriate,
aggregated to  determine the correct procurement governance route.
For both recurring and ad-hoc requirements, a Purchase Order must be raised in advance
for each defined engagement or assignment. Each Purchase Order must specify the agreed
rates and duration. This requirement applies to the engagement as a whole and does not
necessitate separate Purchase Orders or processes for each individual supplied by an
agency.

Confirmation that bids/acceptance for work are at the Council’'s approved rates should form
part of the documented ordering process and communication with the supplier for each
engagement.

Payments should not be processed before hours physically worked, and the correct rates for
each placement, have been confirmed by the cluster engaging each agency worker. This
should include a full three-way match between order, timesheet(s) and purchase order.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Agreed.

As above, the Using Agency Workers Procedure was implemented in 2021, following the last
internal audit on agency, and is currently under review.

We have developed an action plan to consider and progress the recommendations and this
will include a full review of the agency procedure, agency worker request form, ordering and
authorisation process which will be undertaken collaboratively by People & Citizen Services,
Commercial & Procurement and Finance with key stakeholders involved as appropriate -
including end users with larger spend. The findings and recommendations from this Internal
Audit review will be considered and taken account of within the review of the procedure. Itis
proposed that a checklist is incorporated in the procedure for hiring managers to ensure that
steps are followed in each instance.

The process for purchase orders to be considered as part of the above although, it may not
be practicable to have individual PO’s raised for each agency appointment due , invoicing
and authorisation implications however the process will be reviewed to ensure that the
appointment of each agency worker and rate agreed is easily identified and confirmed with
the supplier.

Person(s) Due Date
Yes Strategic Commercial 31 December 2026
Manager, Senice Lead —

16 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 174



Description

People, Deputy Chief
Finance Officer

4 Appendix 1 — Assurance Terms and Rating Scales

4.1 Overall report level and net risk rating definitions

The following lewvels and ratings will be used to assess the risk in this report:

Risk Level Definition

This issue / risk level impacts the Council as a w hole. Mitigating actions should be taken at the Senior

Corporate Leadership level.

This issue / risk level has implications at the function level and the potential to impact across arange of
Function clusters. They could be mitigated through the redeployment of resources or a change of policy within a
given function.

This issue / risk level impacts at the Business Plan level (i.e. individual services or departments as a

Cluster w hole). Mitigating actions should be implemented by the responsible Chief Officers.

Programme This issue/ risklevel impacts the programme or project that has been review ed. Mitigating actions shoud
and Project be taken at the level of the programme or project concerned.

Net Risk Rating Description Assurance
Assessment

A sound systemof governance, risk management and control exists, w ith
internal controls operating effectively and being consistently applied to support S EREL
the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

There is agenerally sound systemof governance, risk management and control
in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement w ere
identified, w hich may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area
audited.

Moderate Reasonable

Significant gaps, w eaknesses or non-compliance were identified. Improvement is
required to the systemof governance, risk management and controlto effectively
manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

Immediate actionis required to address fundamental gaps, w eaknesses or non-
compliance identified. The systemof governance, risk management and control
is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the
area audited.

Individual Issue [/ Definitions

Risk Rating

Although the element of internal controlis satisfactory there is scope for improvement. Addressing
Minor this issue is considered desirable and should resultin enhanced controlor better value for money.
Action should be taken w ithin a 12 month period.

An element of controlis missing or only partial in nature. The existence of the w eakness identified
has an impact on the audited area’s adequacy and effectiveness. Action should be taken withina
six month period.

Moderate

17 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 175



The absence of, or failure to comply w ith, an appropriate internal control, w hich could resultin, for
example, a material financial loss. Action should be taken w ithin three months.

This is anissue/ riskthat could significantly affect the achievement of one or many of the Council’s
objectives or could impact the effectiveness or efficiency of the Council’'s activities or processes.
Action is considered imperative to ensure that the Council is not exposed to severe risks and should
be taken immediately.

18 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 176



5 Appendix 2 — Assurance Scope and Terms of
Reference

5.1 Area subjectto review

The Council has adopted national framework agreements for acquiring agency staff. The frameworks
are made up of multiple suppliers offering a variety of different skilled workers when this is required to
fulfil resource requirements e.g. due to unexpected shortfall of staffing levels or temporary increased

workload.

Within the Corporate Senvices function the clusters of Commercial and Procurement Shared Senvces,
People & Citizen Senvices, and Finance all provide governance, advisory and operational support to
recruiting functions/ clusters in relation to the engagement and management of agency workers. Day
to day management of agency work and identification of requirements is undertaken by individual
Senices.

Starting from their first day of work the Agency Workers Regulations 2010 mandates assigned agency
workers be treated no less favourably than staff that have been directly recruited into a contracted post

through the recruitment and selection process.

Following completion of a 12-week qualifying period agency workers are entitled to the equal basic
employment and working conditions to the staff who have been recruited directly for the comparable
post i.e. same level of pay and allowances, where applicable. Monitoring processes ensure compliance
with internal regulations and the Agency Workers Regulation 2010.

During 2024/25, the total spend recorded as Agency Expenditure for all senices was £2,571,112.76
with 48.7% being with the Families and Communities Function.

5.2 Rationale for review

The objective of this audit is to ensure that appointments are made from appropriately tendered
contracts and that individual appointments are adequately managed.

The requirement for agency staff may be unawidable where there is an urgent need to meet demand,
however it canresult in additional cost. There are also risks in respect of procurement compliance, and
the additional complexity of managing, co-ordinating, and ensuring the accuracy of payments made for,
staff not directly employed by the Council.

The last audit of this area, AC1712, was concluded in February 2017. The main findings were:

e Ower 40% of agency worker spend was placed with suppliers not on the procurement
framework for agency workers.

e The terms of the Framework Agreement were not adhered to, with agency suppliers being
approached out with the ranked order process.

e The guidance around when itis acceptable to use agency staff was open to interpretation and
procedures were lacking instruction on the processing of agency worker timesheets. Agency
workers were being engaged without approved authorisation, inductions were not being carried
out, and engagement periods exceeded the maximum 12-week qualifying period. Corporate
recruitment procedures were being circumvented with agency suppliers being used to recruit
permanent staff.

e Breaches of Financial Regulations were identified with rates of pay being applied which were
over and above the agreed contract rates and inwices had no supporting purchase orders.

The current audit will seek assurance these points have been addressed, and that control systems and
processes are operating effectively to address the relevant risks.

5.3 Scope and risk level of review
This review will offer the following judgements:

e Anowrall netrisk rating at the Function level.

19 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 177



e Individual net risk ratings for findings.

5.3.1 Detailed scope areas

As arisk-based review this scope is not limited by the specific areas of activity listed below.
Where related and other issues /risks are identified in the undertaking of this review these will
be reported, as considered appropriate by IA, within the resulting report.

The specific areas to be covered by this review are:

e Procedures

Contracts

Engagement of agency workers
Monitoring of agency workers
Payment processing

5.4 Methodology

This review will be undertaken through inteniews with key staff involved in the process(es) under review
and analysis and review of supporting data, documentation, and paperwork. To support our work, we
will review relevant legislation, codes of practice, policies, procedures, guidance.

This review will also encompass an evaluation of the governance, risk management and controls in
place to achieve Best Value and to detect, prevent, and mitigate instances of fraud.

Due to hybrid working across the Council, this review will be undertaken primarily remotely.

5.5 |A outputs

The IA outputs from this review will be:

e Avrisk-based report with the results of the review, to be shared with the following:
o Council Key Contacts (see 1.7 below)
o Audit Committee (final only)
o External Audit (final only)

5.6 IA staff
The IA staff assigned to this review are:

e Debbie Steele, Auditor (audit lead)
e Colin Harey, Audit Team Manager
e Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor (oversight only)

5.7 Council key contacts
The key contacts for this review across the Council are:

e Andy MacDonald, Executive Director — Corporate Senices

e Isla Newcombe, Chief Officer — People & Citizen Senices

e Craig Innes, Chief Officer — Commercial & Procurement Senices

e Jonathan Belford, Chief Officer — Finance

e Lesley Strachan, Senice Lead — People & Citizen Senices (process owner)

e Mel Mackenzie, Strategic Commercial Manager — Commercial & Procurement Senices
e Bernadette Bularan, Deputy Chief Finance Officer

5.8 Delivery plan and milestones

The key delivery plan and milestones are:

20 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 178



Milestone Planned date

Scope issued 17-Jul-2025
Scope agreed 24-Jul-2025
Fieldwork commences 4-Aug-2025
Fieldwork completed 29-Aug-2025
Draft report issued 26-Sep-2025
Process owner response 17-Oct-2025
Director response 24-Oct-2025
Final report issued 31-Oct-2025

21 of 24

Page 179

Internal Audit



6 Appendix 3 — Variations and Issues

6.1 Variations between Cluster approaches

Building
Services

Environment

One off Agency
Worker
Appointments

Senice
procedures

Review of
alternative
options

Prior liaison with
Talent Team

Prior liaison with
Transactions
Team

Initial liaison with
Agency suppliers

Suppliers
approached in
ranked order

Suppliers
selected in
framework
ranked order

Contract
management

Authorisation
forms - content

22 of 24

Flowchart

Weekly meetings
with contract
managers

No

Yes

Agency support

All approached at
the same time by
email

Not listed or
selected in order

Dependent on
response time

Nominated
contract manager
within Senvice —

Annual meetings
with suppliers.

Various roles

None

No regular
meetings for this
purpose

No

No

Senvice

Verbal
communication —
Not evidenced

Not evidenced.

Nominated
contract manager
within Senvice

Various roles

Page 180

None

No regular
meetings for this
purpose

No

No

Senice

All suppliers not
approached

Not evidenced

Not all suppliers
approached.

None

Various roles

N/A

Unknown

Varies

Yes

Agency support

All approached at
the same time by
email

Yes

CPSS

Individual roles

Internal Audit



Building

Services

Environment

One off Agency
Worker
Appointments

Authorisation
forms - period

Purchase order
forms - approvals

Purchase order —
in advance

Hiring Manager
Authorisation
records

Rates approved
in advance

Communication
with Agencies re
engagement

IR35 status
check

Induction training

Induction records

Covers
Mandatory
training

23 of 24

(Up to 36, £1.2m)

1 year

Chief Officer

1 of 2 (50%)

Process and
records in place,
but approval
records vary

Evidenced in 1 of
4 cases (25%).

The cluster
compiles its own
rate cards.

Via Agency
Support

Not completed

Cluster-specific
presentation

12 of 13 cases
(92%)

No

(Up to 8, £450k)

6 months

Manager

2 of 4 (50%)

No records kept

No.

CHI admin held
copies of some
Agency rates.

Direct with
Agencies

Not completed

Cluster-specific
training matrix

4 of 7 cases
(57%)

Partial (Prevent
and Fraud)

Page 181

(Up to 7, £330Kk)

6 months

Chief Officer

1 of 2 (50%)

No records kept

No.

CHI admin held
copies of some
Agency rates.

Direct with
Agencies

Not completed

No records

No records

No records

12-16 weeks

Varies

3 of 5 (60%)

Yes

Evidenced in 3 of 5
cases (60%).
Framework order
form used as a
record of the
agreed rates. No
breakdown of rate.

Via Agency
Support

Not completed

No records

No records

No records

Internal Audit



Building

Services

Environment

One off Agency
Worker
Appointments

Review with No
Talent Team

after 8 weeks /

end or extend

within 12 weeks

Record of current Yes — Senice
AW specific.

Included leavers.

Monitoring of Not completed

parity

24 of 24

No No

Yes — Senice
specific.

Yes — Senice
specific.

Not up to date.

Not completed Not completed

Page 182

Not up to date.

No

Yes — Central
record.

Not up to date.

Not completed

Internal Audit



Agenda Item 9.9

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee

DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Internal Audit Report AC2611 — City Region Deal
REPORT NUMBER IA/AC2611

DIRECTOR N/A

REPORT AUTHOR Jamie Dale

TERMS OF REFERENCE | 2.2

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the planned Internal Audit report on
City Region Deal.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee review, discuss and comment on the
issues raised within this report and the attached appendix.

3. CURRENT SITUATION

31 Internal Audit has completed the attached report which relates to an audit
of City Region Deal.

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations
of this report.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations of
this report.

6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from the

recommendations of this report.

7. RISK

Page 183



7.1

8.1

8.2

10.

10.1
11.
11.1

12.

Name
Title

The Internal Audit process considers risks involved in the areas subject to
review. Any risk implications identified through the Internal Audit process
are detailed in the resultant Internal Audit reports. Recommendations,
consistent with the Council's Risk Appetite Statement, are made to address
the identified risks and Internal Audit follows up progress with implementing
those that are agreed with management. Those not implemented by their
agreed due date are detailed in the attached appendices.

OUTCOMES

There are no direct impacts, as a result of this report, in relation to the
Council Delivery Plan, or the Local Outcome Improvement Plan Themes of
Prosperous Economy, People or Place.

However, Internal Audit plays a key role in providing assurance over, and
helping to improve, the Council’'s framework of governance, risk
management and control. These arrangements, put in place by the
Council, help ensure that the Council achieves its strategic objectives in a
well-managed and controlled environment.

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
Assessment Outcome
Impact Assessment An assessment is not required because the

reason for this report is for Committee to
review, discuss and comment on the
outcome of an internal audit. As a result,
there will be no differential impact, as a result
of the proposals in this report, on people with
protected characteristics.

Privacy Impact Not required
Assessment

BACKGROUND PAPERS

There are no relevant background papers related directly to this report.
APPENDICES
Internal Audit report AC2611 — City Region Deal

REPORT AUTHOR CONTACT DETAILS

Jamie Dale
Chief Internal Auditor

Email Address @ Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

Tel

2 of 24

(01467) 530 988

Internal Audit

Page 184


mailto:Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

L

Aberdeenshire
COUNCIL

ABERDEEN

CITY COUNCIL

Internal Audit

Assurance Review of City Region Deal

Status: Final
Date: 19 November 2025
Risk Level: Strategic

Report No: AC2611
Assurance Year: 2025/26

Assurance

Description Assessment

Net Risk Rating

There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management and control in
Moderate place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope forimprovement w ere identified, which | Reasonable
may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

| Report Tracking Planned Date Actual Date
Scope issued 4-Jul-2025 4-Jul-2025
Scope agreed 1-Aug-2025 17-Jul-2025
Fieldwork commenced 11-Aug-2025 1-Aug-2025
Fieldwork completed 12-Sep-2025 12-Sep-2025
Draft report issued 10-Oct-2025 6-0Oct-2025
Process owner response 31-Oct-2025 27-0Oct-2025
Director response 7-Nov-2025 19-Nov-2025
Final report issued 14-Nov-2025 19-Now-2025

Document type | Assurance Report

Director Rob Simpson, Director of Business Senices, Aberdeenshire
Alan Wood, Director of Infrastructure and Environment, Aberdeenshire
Gale Beattie, Director of Commissioning, Aberdeen City

Process Stuart Bews, City Region Deal Programme Manager, Aberdeen City
Owners Karlyn Watt, Strategic Finance Manager, Aberdeenshire

Stakeholder

Paul Macari, Head of Planning and Economy, Aberdeenshire
Mary Beattie, Head of Finance, Aberdeenshire

Julie Wood, Chief Officer — City Growth, Aberdeen City
Jonathan Belford, Chief Officer — Finance, Aberdeen City

John Lovie, Accountant, Aberdeenshire

Aigul Gray, Project Support, Aberdeen City

Vicky Morris, Risk and Business Continuity Officer*

Jenni Lawson, Interim Chief Officer — Governance, Aberdeen City*
External Audit*

Colin Harvey, Audit Team Manager

*Final only

Lead auditor

Page 185



1 Introduction

1.1 Area subjectto review

The Aberdeen City Region Deal (the Deal), agreed in November 2016, is a three-way, ten-year
agreement between the UK Gowvernment, the Scottish Government and regional partners including
Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire councils, and Opportunity North East (ONE) - the private sector
partner which leads on innovation projects within the Deal. The total allocations of funding for the capital
projects is £826.2 million.

The Deal’'s aim is to significantly advance economic and infrastructure dewvelopment in the area,
addressing the challenges which business and industry face in the North East of Scotland whilst
grasping opportunities through projects which can enable Aberdeenshire and Aberdeen City to continue
to be an attractive and productive area for organisations to locate and dewelop. Key projects include the
Net Zero Technology Centre (formerly Oil and Gas Technology Centre), Food and Drink and Life
Science Innovation Hubs, a Digital Infrastructure Fund, expansion of Aberdeen Harbour, and
dewelopment of a Strategic Transport Appraisal (STAG).

The councils’ jointly fund £20 million of activity relating to the Digital (£7 million), STAG (£2 million) and
Harbour Expansion (E11 million) elements of the Programme. The Digital and Transport themes are led
by Council based Working Groups whilst the other project themes, Innovation, and Internationalisation,
are led by external Project Boards with which the Council has a Funding Agreement. The councils are
responsible for ensuring projects are appropriately planned and managed and for monitoring their
progress and finances. They also host the Aberdeen City Region Deal Joint Committee, which includes
representation from each stakeholder.

Aberdeen City Council provides programme and project management support for the Deal’s projects
and outcomes. This is a facilitating and liaison role, including communication with key stakeholders
(including the UK and Scottish governments) and project leads, promoting adherence to governance
requirements, and a consistent approach to risk monitoring, reporting of progress and delivery of
benefits.

Aberdeenshire Council is the ‘Accountable Body’ for project funding. It acts as a conduit for
Government and Council funding in accordance with the signed Deal Agreement and the terms of the
Scottish Government’s annual Aberdeen City Region Deal Grant Offer, to provide payments to projects
in line with relevant agreements, spend and progress.

1.2 Rationale for review

The objective of this audit is to provide assurance over the gowernance and financial spend of the
Aberdeen City Region Deal. This review will focus specifically on the final stages and overall delivery.
We will also review implementation of agreed actions from the previous audits to ensure controls are
still operational and effective. As the programme is shortly coming to an end, whilst the audit will focus
on current practice, itis intended that recommendations arising will be forward-facing for application to
similar future projects.

The Deal is managed on behalf of various partners; each stakeholder will have an interest in assurance
ower the governance arrangements. The councils have lead responsibility for programme delivery and
stewardship of funds.

Since 2022/23 the UK and Scottish governments’ funding letter, setting out the terms of their annual
grant offer, includes an expectation for the Deal to be included in the Internal Audit Plan at least every
two years. This is the final planned internal audit of this area, in line with this requirement.

Gowernance of the Deal was last reviewed in 2023/24 (Internal Audit Report 2422/AC2413). Limited
assurance was obtained, due to identified weaknesses in gowernance arrangements, review of
supporting audit trails for expenditure, and delivery of outcomes. Improvements were recommended
around strengthening the governance and reporting arrangements within the councils and from
partners. These included updating and securing flexibility in funding agreements and reviewing
delegations. Further work was recommended to dewvelop and expand the lewvel of data obtained, and its

4 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 186



critical appraisal, inrespect of use of funding, performance against plans, and realisation of benefits, at
a more detailed lewvel proportionate with the level of funds being managed through the City Region Deal.

Key elements of the review for the final stages of the Deal period will include controls over any late-
stage project changes, benefits measurement and reporting, and demonstrating project sustainability
following the end of the funding period. These were highlighted as risk areas in previous audits (Internal
Audit Report 2101, in 2020).

1.3 Howto use this report

This report has seweral sections and is designed for different stakeholders. The executive summary
(section 2) is designed for senior staff and is cross referenced to the more detailed narrative in later
sections (3 onwards) of the report should the reader require it. Section 3 contains the detailed narrative
for risks and issues we identified in our work.

5 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 187



2 Executive Summary

2.1 Overall opinion

The full chart of net risk and assurance assessment definitions can be found in Appendix 1 — Assurance
Scope and Terms. We have assessed the net risk (risk arising after controls and risk mitigation actions
have been applied) as:

Assurance
Assessment

Net Risk Rating Description

There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management and control in
Moderate place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope forimprovement w ere identified, which | Reasonable
may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

The organisational risk level at which this risk assessment applies is:

Risk Level Definition

This issue / risk level impacts the Council as a w hole. Mitigating actions should be taken at the Senior
Leadership level.

Strategic?

2.2 Assurance assessment

Internal Audit has identified an owerall net risk rating of MODERATE, with REASONABLE assurance
obtained ower the governance and financial spend of the City Region Deal. Substantial improvements
have been made since the area was last audited, through implementation of actions to address
identified areas of weakness or improvement.

Howewer, there are risks driven by the impending closure of the Deal funding period in March 2027.
These have been graded at the Major level due to a lack of assurance owver how projects will be
managed to maximise utilisation of available funding within the remaining time, and how the councils
will obtain sufficient data to continue to report on delivery of benefits and outcomes after the Deal ends.
As there is still time to address or mitigate these risks, this does not impact on the owerall level of
assurance, but until they are addressed there will be an unquantified level of risk pertaining to the Deal
and meeting with the Governments’ requirements.

The review identified the following areas where enhancements could be made to strengthen the
framework of control, specifically:

e Guidance and Funding Agreements — The governance framework, including delegations,
change controls, and reporting havwe been updated since the last audit. The dashboard
approach for reporting is providing consistent data to the Board and Joint Committee to aid
them in monitoring progress and decision making, though there is some variation in content.
The 2025/26 grant offer from the Governments was below what was budgeted, due to recurring
underspends; these are continuing. Commitment to continued funding of MOU projects
(additional funding alongside the main Deal), varied in 2024/25, and has not been fully and
formally restored. Work is ongoing to identify and bring forward further projects within the Deal
and MOU to maximise the benefits to be delivered through use of the remaining funding, but
there is limited time remaining for the Deal. The Gowernments have varied the terms of Grant
Offer Letters over the Deal term, and closure guidance is currently in draft. If new requirements
are brought in the final years, existing funding agreements with delivery partners may not fully
provide for these.

¢ Change Management — Clearer and more consistent procedures were implemented following
the last audit. Higher risk changes are being reported, requested and approved through formal
mechanisms. Howewver, re-phasing and delays are evident across various projects, some of
which are not able to spend their allocation because they have not yet fully developed business

! The audit methodology used across both councils is similar, w ith the only variance being slightly different assurance terms e .g.
a Strategic review for Aberdeenshire is considered a Corporate Review for Aberdeen City. For ease of reporting and consistency,
the Aberdeenshire terms have been used.

6 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 188



cases, contracts, or progressed workstreams, and others due to issues which are not within
their direct control. Risks, issues and delays are being reported, and forecasts are being
updated, but these are not being captured promptly in formal change requests. This presented
a low risk in the early years of the Deal but represents a higher risk as the Deal concludes. With
one exception (Harbour Link Road) all projects must be concluded, and final claims paid up to
31 March 2027. Beyond this point, funding may be lost, and any incomplete projects may not
achieve all of their objectives. This presents a reputational risk for the councils, a financial risk
to Aberdeenshire Council as Accountable Body if the Governments deem non-completion to
be a default on the Deal obligations and seek recovery of funding, and a financial risk for
projects/delivery partners if they have committed funds which cannot be reimbursed.

e Project Expenditure and Progress — Reasonable assurance was obtained over the review
and administration of claims by Finance and the Programme Manager. There is more in-depth
review taking place than in previous years, though this is still on a sample basis and a full audit
trail of documentation is not being retained, only confirmation that it has been reviewed.
Council funding is being tracked and remitted as appropriate. Howewver, there remains a high
degree of variation in forecasts from period to period, indicating either risks and issues arising
which were unanticipated, or poor forecasting of requirements. Variance notes indicate the
reason for movement, but there is limited assurance being provided about how they will be
addressed within the remaining time and budget. Without clear mitigations, there is limited
assurance that the project/s will be delivered on time and within budget. If this happens in the
final year/s there is a higher risk projects will not receive and maximise use of all of the available
funding, representing a missed opportunity.

e Benefits Realisation, Recording and Reporting — Benefits were largely determined through
dewvelopment of project business cases, and the Benefits Realisation Plan. Howewer, not all
projects were set out in detail at the outset. Recent projects have not yet concluded and
approved business cases to utilise the remaining funding. Their benefits will need to be
determined, documented, and tracked. As reported in the last audit of this area, there remain
concerns over the use of 'sensitive data' from delivery partners, including e.g. staff pay details,
equalities data, and elements considered commercially sensitive (e.g. R&D investment). Action
in response to this was 'not agreed' by Management as part of the last audit report. The
Gowernment reiterated in March 2024 that it remains a requirement to obtain data on protected
characteristics, and there is no assurance that this has been resolved. Benefits included inthe
benefits tracker include targets up to 20 years after the deal/projects end (up to 2049), but there
is no current plan for obtaining and monitoring and reporting delivery of benefits beyond the
ACRD financial close, and no specific agreement from delivery partners that they will continue
to provide data. If the councils cannot obtain this information and cannot hold delivery partners
to account for it (due to lack of formal agreements on reporting), this could present a
reputational risk, and the Governments’ response to this is an unknown risk.

e Closedown Arrangements, Final Reporting, and Lessons Learned — The Programme
Manager is working with the governments to progress Deal closure arrangements, but these
have stillto be finalised and formalised. There are clear indications of the type of requirements,
and these generally mirror existing reporting arrangements. This should be sufficient to
formulate an appropriate plan and prepare partners for what is likely to be required. A schedule
would be beneficial but has yet to be prepared. There is a risk that if national guidance is
delayed, this will impact on the time available to carry out required tasks.

e Sustainability and Succession Planning — Although funding was not provided with a specific
requirement for continuity post-deal, it was described as an investment and includes a
substantial amount of funding (£826m, of which £294m was from public sector bodies),
therefore an expectation of continuity is implied. Some projects referenced exit plans and
continuity in their business cases, but these were brief and high level. There has been no
formal review or assurance obtained over sustainability/continuity of projects funded by ACRD
beyond the initial funding period, or formal exit plans where these are not intended to continue.
The Gowvernments have included clauses that require them to be notified if assets generated
through the Deal are sold within 10 years of their production, and to remit a relevant proportion
of the proceeds. Such assets have not generally been tracked during the course of the Deal
programme, and an equivalent clause was not included within funding agreements with delivery

7 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 189



partners, which effectively expire when the Deal funding period closes. Aberdeenshire Council
as Accountable Body may bear a higher risk in the event of the Governments seeking to obtain
data the Council cannot get from delivery partners, or should they seek to recover proceeds
from asset sales which have not been remitted to the Council.

Recommendations have been made to address the abowe risks including: seeking formal clarification
over the Governments’ plans, approvals, availability and timescales for funding; review and enhancing
scrutiny of expenditure forecasts; highlighting the risks and timelines to partners; and obtaining
assurance from delivery partners over remaining project timelines and deliverables, sustainability and
exit plans, and their commitment to assisting the councils with ongoing obligations in respect of project
and benefit realisation data, and asset disposals.

Our recommendations are aimed at maximising the benefits and reducing risk within the time remaining.
It is recognised that as the Deal is coming to a close, Management will need to give careful consideration
to the amount of resource they want to put in to address the points raised in this report. Regardless of
the time left in the Deal, the risks stillneed to be managed, especially given long term aspirations. Whilst
we do not make a specific recommendation, consideration should be given on how the
recommendations could be factored into planning for future projects, e.g. the Investment Zone.

2.3 Severe or major issues / risks

Issues and risks identified are categorised according to their impact on the Council. The following are
summaries of higher rated issues / risks that have been identified as part of this review:

Ref Severe or Major Issues / Risks Risk Agreed Risk Rating | Page No.

Benefits Realisation, Recording and
Reporting — Benefits were largely
determined through dewvelopment of project
business cases, and the benefits realisation
plan. Howewer, there is unallocated funding,
and not all projects have reached this stage.
Their benefits will need to be determined,
documented, and tracked.

1.4 17

Benefit data is being updated and reported
regularly to the Joint Committee, as part of a
Projects Benefits Dashboard, which is also
used to supplement annual reporting.
Although this provides a good indication of
progress, targets are not typically broken
down into individual years. Some projects or
outcomes have no targets, and others are 'in
progress' with no current measure. It may
therefore not be straightforward for readers
to gauge whether outcomes are on target. A
2024/25 benefits realisation report, and an
interim evaluation of progress with the deal,
are planned to be reported to the Joint
Committee in November 2025.

As reported in the last audit of this area,
there remain concerns ower the use of
'sensitive  data’ from delivery partners,
including e.g. staff pay details, equalities
data, and elements considered
commercially sensitive. Action in response
to this was 'not agreed' by management as

8 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 190



part of the last audit report. The Government
has however reiterated that it remains a
requirement to obtain data on protected
characteristics.

There is no current plan for obtaining,
monitoring and reporting delivery of benefits
beyond the ACRD financial close. There is
no separate funding for ongoing Programme
Management and Finance input, and no
specific agreement from delivery partners
that they will continue to provide data. The
terms of their funding agreements were for
the duration of the Deal funding period only.

Government guidance on Deal closure is
currently in draft. There will be an ongoing
expectation that the councils continue to
report on the benefits delivered. These
include targets up to 20 years after the
deal/projects end (up to 2049). Most, but not
all of the longer-term targets relate to
economic growth (GVA), which can be
measured (though not necessarily attributed
to individual projects) independently, but
there are also project-specific targets.
Partners to the Deal have worked together in
the spirit of cooperation, and new
opportunities are being progressed with the
same partners with a view to continuing to
work with the Council using similar
structures. Howewer, the incentive to
prioritise working on the Deal may be
reduced after the funding ends. The
councils will however remain accountable.

If the councils cannot obtain this information,
and cannot hold delivery partners to account
for it, this could present a reputational risk,
and the Governments’ response to this is an
unknown risk.

1.6

Sustainability and Succession Planning —
Although there is no specific requirement for
continuity post-deal, ACRD funding was
described as an investment, and includes a
substantial amount of public (and private)
funding, therefore an expectation of
continuity is implied. Some projects
referenced exit plans and continuity in their
business cases, but these were brief and
high lewel. Individual  projects are
responsible for producing/updating their own
business continuity or exit plans. There has
been no formal review or assurance
obtained over sustainability/continuity of
projects funded by ACRD beyond the initial
funding period, or formal exit plans where
these are not intended to continue.

9 of 24

Page 191

19

Internal Audit



The annual Grant Offer Letters include a
requirement to notify the Gowernments if
assets generated through the Deal are sold
within 10 years of their production, and to
remit a relevant proportion of the proceeds.
Such assets hawe not generally been
tracked during the course of the Deal
programme. Draft Deal closure guidance
has a specific section on Tracking of Assets
(including disposals) and a requirement to
keep a list and nominated named officer to
keep track.

Asset tracking and recovery of proceeds
was not cowered in funding agreements
between the accountable body
(Aberdeenshire  Council) and delivery
partners. These only cowered spend and
grant funding during the Deal funding period.
Data will need to be sourced from partners,
and this may prove challenging in the
absence of formal agreements to provide it.
The councils have responsibility for
continuing to provide information to the
Gowernments post-Deal-closure. If they
cannot get it from delivery partners, it is not
clear what action the Gowvernments could
take in the ewent of default on these
obligations outside of the councils’ control.

2.4 Management response
Reputational Risk — Benefits Reporting

Management accepts the reputational risk associated with Benefits reporting, rated as Major. We share
Internal Audit’s concern about the delay in Government’s programme closure guidance, which is
preventing us from finalising plans and providing clarity to partners. Despite repeated engagement to
press for its release, the guidance remains outstanding.

In the meantime, we are using our experience and professional judgement to plan ahead and anticipate
likely requirements. Programme Board has been briefed, and a report will be submitted once the
guidance is published (expected November/December 2025), outlining implications and any additional
partner requirements. These will be formalised through appropriate channels. While the delay is
frustrating, we are prepared to respond quickly once the guidance is available.

Risk — Sustainability and Succession Planning

This risk is also acknowledged, and we agree with Internal Audit that clearer direction is needed. We
expect the forthcoming guidance to define expectations around sustainability and asset reporting. We
have raised this with Government and continue to seek clarity.

Pending formal guidance, we are applying existing knowledge to prepare for anticipated requirements.
The recommended actions align with our current planning and will be implemented once guidance is
received. The delay continues to create uncertainty, but we remain committed to ensuring compliance
and continuity.

10 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 192



3 Issues [/ Risks, Recommendations, and
Management Response

3.1 Issues/Risks, recommendations, and management response

Description Moderate

11

Governance and Funding Agreements — The gowernance framework for the Deal was
updated in February 2024 and has been embedded in relevant processes. This cowvers
delegations, change controls, and reporting. A dashboard approach has been taken to
reporting, which is providing more, and more consistent, data to the Board and Joint
Committee to aid them in monitoring progress and decision making. There is some variation
in content evident, although this largely relates to the stages reached and level of progress
of individual projects.

The 2025/26 Grant Offer Letter from the Governments included application of a 'sensitivity
adjustment’ to reflect their perceived risk of underspend within the financial year. Whilst the
full level of agreed funding remains available, this would need to be formally requested which
presents a risk of delay in Aberdeenshire Council claiming and remitting funds to projects,
which could put delivery partners and projects at risk. This risk is mitigated by a reducing
spend forecast due to risks/issues and delays in some projects within the current year, and
ongoing regular meetings with Government representatives to discuss progress and highlight
potential issues.

MOU funding from the Scottish Government for Digital projects was paused in 2024, and
project dewelopment was therefore paused. An email communication indicates they
anticipate being able to release funding on a case-by-case basis from 2025/26.
Communication is informal, not specific, and previous actions (pausing funding) could
indicate a risk to availability of funds and delivery of projects, particularly if business cases
are not brought forward and agreed timeously. There has been no indication that an
extension beyond 2026/27 is being considered. A proposal to utilise £1m out of £3.4m
remaining digital funds (£2m of which is MOU) was presented to the Joint Committee in
September 2025, with a timeline indicating it would be complete by September 2026 (subject
to approval of the business case by Scottish Government). There is limited time remaining
to identify and bring forward further projects to maximise the benefits to be delivered through
use of the remaining funding.

Funding agreements with two external delivery partners were updated in 2024 to reflect
changes in name, and to incorporate new ‘fair work first' principles which were added by the
Gowernments to the Grant Offer Letter conditions in 2024. Whilst this covered ‘live’ Deal
projects still in payment, no similar requirements were applied for MOU projects which are
still in progress. If the Governments seek to impose further new conditions in the 2026/27
Grant Offer Letter, as part of Deal closure documentation, or to MOU projects, further time
may need to be spent negotiating and documenting changes with delivery partners,
impacting on time and resource for progressing, finalising and reporting on projects.

None of the funding agreements with delivery partners reflect what will happen post-Deal-
closure. This is further discussed at 1.4 below.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Formal clarification should be sought on the availability and timescales for MOU funding.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Agreed.

| Risk Agreed | Person(s) | Due Date

11 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 193



Yes Senice Manager — Major December 2025
Programmes and
Partnerships

Description Moderate

1.2

Change Management — The Programme Manager put clearer and more consistent
procedures in place following the last audit. They have noted they are not gatekeepers, but
their role provides a route to highlighting any risks/issues to the Board/Committee as
appropriate. Higher risk changes are being reported, requested and approved through formal
mechanisms. Howewer, some reliance is being placed on informal communications from
Gowvernment, and it may be a risk to rely on them entirely.

Virements have been agreed between budgets for Digital and Transport, to address a
potential risk for the Harbour Link Road project. Each programme is being reduced by £575k,
representing 3% and 8% of their original grant funded budget (E17m and £7m), and 8% and
29% of the councils’ budgeted contributions (£7m and £2m), respectively. This budget was
available for virement because detailed business cases and funding allocations within these
themes have yet to be fully determined. The Gowvernment provided an indication it was
‘broadly content’, but it also indicated proposals could be strengthened to clarify the impact
on these workstreams and how remaining funding would be used. Business cases have not
been updated to reflect a reduction in scope. These areas also lack detailed targets and
milestones in the live projects dashboard. This underlines risks in respect of progress with
delivery, and achievement of the best outcomes through maximising use of the available
funding.

Re-phasing of projects is common. Delays are evident across various projects, some of
which are not in a position to spend their allocation because they have not yet fully developed
business cases, contracts, or progressed workstreams, and others due to issues which are
not within their direct control. Risks, issues and delays are being reported, and forecasts are
being updated, but these are not being captured promptly in formal change requests. This
presented a low risk in the early years of the Deal but represents a higher risk as the Deal
comes to a close.

With one exception (Harbour Link Road) all projects must be concluded, and final claims paid
up to 31 March 2027, with the final claim to be submitted to the Gowvernments by
Aberdeenshire Council by the 10th working day after 31 March 2027 (14 April 2027)2. If they
do not spend and submit their claims within this period or have formal approval to extend
(which the Gowernments have indicated is not their preference), then this funding may be
lost, and projects may not achieve all of their objectives. This presents a reputational risk for
the councils, and a financial risk for the projects if they commit funds which cannot be
reimbursed.

Depending on the nature and scale of work completed up to this point, failure to achieve the
agreed objectives included in the Deal and supporting business cases could put funding
already received at risk: The annual Grant Offer Letter allows the governments to reassess
or require immediate repayment in the event of any change or departure from the purposes
the grant was awarded, failure to carry out or progress the programme.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Assurance should be obtained from delivery partners that they have reviewed their project
timelines and spend profiles to ensure the agreed outputs and outcomes are achievable
within the remaining time. Any changes required should be progressed promptly through
approved gowvernance routes to ensure they can be requested, considered, agreed and
formally documented in advance.

2 This is based on draft closure guidance, w hich mirrors existing requirements for annual reporting.

12 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 194



Description Moderate

A schedule for drawdown of final payments should be set, and delivery partners made aware
that it will be strictly adhered to, with no recourse to the councils for funding which cannot be
drawn down from the Gowvernments.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Government approvals are secured in line with the agreed change control process. The
example used where Scottish Government said they were ‘broadly content” was an example
where Council contribution was being moved within the deal. As this was not Government
funds, there was no reliance upon Government’s to approve. They were consulted for full
transparency, after they had already advised the decision on virement on Council
contributions was a decision for Council to take. As such, there is no reliance upon the
Government in the example given, and no associated risk.

Impact on work streams:

When council vired funding between deal themes, it moved funding from an area where the
funding was not committed, and therefore there would be no negative impact on the theme
which funding was being moved away from. This was detailed in prior reports which identified
that the objectives of the Transport STA theme would be achieved, and that there was still
unallocated (Council) budget. The risk identified over impact on workstreams was therefore
fully mitigated. For the same reason, business cases were not adjusted to show a reduction
in scope, because there was no reduction in scope.

Risks are flagged in regard to final claims and suggests that any project not completed and
having submitted its final claim by 31 March 2027 would face a risk financially.
PMO shared with Internal Audit the Government Draft Programme closure guidance. This
has specific sections relating to project timeline extensions, and shows flexibility in proposing,
as an example, a second part claim. There is also a section specific for projects with an
agreed extended timeline. This substantially reduces the financial risk identified.
It is suggested that Government preference is not to extend projects — this is speculative and
there is concern that a risk rating may be based upon an assumed Government position.
There is already evidence from the Extension to Link Aberdeen South Harbour (ETLASH)
project, that Government is able and willing to extend where a case is made.

It is suggested that projects may fail to achieve their objective. There is no suggestion at this
time that projects will fail to achieve their objectives, and the most recent annual report and
Interim Evaluation shows that the overall Deal GVA, employment and tax revenues are on
course to be met.

With regards to the mitigating actions:

1. Assurance should be obtained from delivery partners that they have reviewed their project
timelines and spend profiles to ensure the agreed outputs and outcomes are achievable
within the remaining time.

Response — This already occurs on a monthly basis as per Project Status reports and is
reported to programme board and joint committee on a quarterly basis through a programme
dashboard.

2. Any changes required should be progressed promptly through approved governance
routes to ensure they can be requested, considered, and agreed in advance.

13 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 195



Description Moderate

Response — All changes proposed are processed per change control guidance. Unclear
what else we are being asked to do here, or what risk we are being asked to mitigate?

3. Where changes are required, clarity over formal agreement from the Governments should
be obtained and fully documented

Response — this already occurs and would be considered business as usual.

4. A schedule for drawdown of final payments should be set, and delivery partners made
aware that it will be strictly adhered to, with no recourse to the councils for funding which
cannot be drawn down from the Governments.

Response — A schedule for drawdown of payment will be put in place following publication of
programme closure guidance by Government — to ensure alignment. Delivery partners will
be made aware of the strict adherence to this. Content to inform delivery partners that there
will be no recourse to the Councils for any funding that cannot be drawn down from
Governments — however, to note that the accountable body only makes payment to projects
following receipt of grant funding from Government.

Risk Agreed | Person(s) | Due Date
Yes Senice Manager — Major March 2026
Programmes and
Partnerships

Description Moderate

1.3

Project Expenditure and Progress — Reasonable assurance was obtained over the review
and administration of claims by Finance and the Programme Manager. There is more in-
depth review taking place than in previous years, though this is still on a sample basis for
some projects, and for others whilst there are some records on file, and assurance from
Finance that further evidence (inwices, valuations, financial records) is being reviewed,
copies are not routinely being obtained and retained.

Forecasts are updated monthly for inclusion in monthly, quarterly and bi-annual reporting to
the Governments. There is a lot of movement in forecasts, indicating either risks and issues
arising which were unanticipated, or poor forecasting of requirements. This is a recurring
trend, which has been reflected by the Government building in sensitivity adjustments to
reflect a lower level of anticipated claims than budgeted/applied for at the start of the financial
year.

Where movements have been forecast, variance notes indicate the reason for movement,
but there is limited assurance being provided about how they will be addressed within the
remaining time and budget. Without clear mitigations, there is limited assurance that the
project/s will be delivered on time and within budget. If this happens in the final year/s there
is a higher risk projects will not receive and maximise use of all of the available funding,
representing a missed opportunity. As noted abowe, there is also a financial risk for the
projects if they commit funds which cannot be reimbursed.

Data on progress is being collated by the Programme Manager from Project Status Reports
prepared by project leads, into dashboards reported to the Joint Committee on a regular
basis. Risks and issues are being highlighted, though some are being left blank. Higher risk
projects are being reported separately in more detail, providing more assurance and
opportunities for scrutiny by the Committee. Although there is more detail and explanation
of the current issues within these reports, this does not provide substantial additional

14 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 196



Description Moderate

assurance ower the mitigations being applied to bring projects back on schedule, and level
of confidence in delivering within the deal period.

Project closure is being reported on a template, updated following the previous audit.
Lessons learned are being noted, but only at a project level. Benefits derived to date, and
stillto be delivered are being referenced, but in narrative form. There is no direct comparison
of planned against actual benefits at the point each project closes. This is however being
included in quarterly update reports, and the annual benefits dashboard. A snapshot at the
point in time a project concludes may be useful in demonstrating the scale of benefits
delivered during, and after completion.

Council funding is being tracked and remitted as appropriate.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Supporting records should be retained on file to support all payments made.

Increased scrutiny should be applied to forecasting to reduce the scope for variation, and to
provide assurance that action is being taken to mitigate variances' impact on schedule and
budget.

Consideration should be given to capturing the benefits achieved against target at the point
in time each project closes, to provide a baseline for comparison.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Itis suggested that PMO update the project closure template to capture benefits achieved at
that point as a baseline as recommended, It is currently recorded through dashboard but
agree that documenting at project closure would allow a clearer baseline point and the project
closure template will be updated to reflect this.

PMO will consider ways to increase scrutiny of forecasting. PMO will engage through the
PMO network to identify any additional activities undertaken by other deals and seek to apply
any additional good practice identified. PMO will also seek guidance from Government as to
what measures they see in other deals to increase scrutiny around forecasting.

“Supporting records should be retained on file to support all payments made.’
As internal audit has highlighted, there is a more in-depth review taking place than in previous
years. Management fully supports the need for robust audit trails and transparency and are
of the view that the current process which provide open access arrangements to all relevant
evidence and documentation is sufficient. As part of the monthly review of claims from
partner bodies, a template is completed to document and evidence Aberdeenshire Council’s
review and scrutiny of evidence from the partner bodies. This includes viewing invoices,
valuations and financial records which are retained within the respective partner bodies
systems. Retaining duplicate copies of documentation is deemed unnecessary and
potentially counterproductive as the Funding Agreement with each partner body requires
them to retain all evidence for 10 years and give the Council free access toits records. The
risk to the Council of not having access to these records is therefore considered low.

| Person(s) | Due Date

Yes Senice Manager — Major January 2026
Programmes and
Partnerships

15 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 197



Description

L4 Benefits Realisation, Recording and Reporting — Benefits were largely determined

through dewvelopment of project business cases, and the benefits realisation plan. However,
not all projects were set out in detail at the outset. Recent projects (including projects within
the Digital and Transport themes) have not yet concluded and approved business cases to
utilise the remaining funding. Their benefits will need to be determined, documented, and
tracked.

Benefit realisation information is being updated regularly and reported to the Programme
Manager for inclusion in reports to the Joint Committee, as part of a Projects Benefits
Dashboard, which is also used to supplement annual reporting. This includes narrative,
current measures, target measures and dates. Although this provides a good indication of
progress, targets are not typically broken down into individual years, and results/trajectories
may nhot necessarily be linear. Some projects or outcomes have no targets, and others are
‘in progress' with no current measure. It may therefore not be straightforward for readers to
gauge whether outcomes are on target based on the data as currently presented. A 2024/25
benefits realisation report, and an interim evaluation of progress with the deal, are planned
to be reported to the Joint Committee in November 2025.

As reported in the last audit of this area, there remain concerns ower the use of 'sensitive
data' from delivery partners, including e.g. staff pay details, equalities data, and elements
considered commercially sensitive (e.g. R&D investment), ewven though this had been
included in the approved Benefits Realisation Plan. Action in response to this was 'not
agreed' by management as part of the last audit report. During a meeting on benefits
realisation planning in March 2024, the Government reiterated that it remains a requirement
to obtain this data.

There is no current plan for obtaining and monitoring and reporting delivery of benefits
beyond the ACRD financial close. There is an implicit assumption the Programme Manager
and Finance will continue to provide support as and when required, but this is not subject to
specific agreements or funding. There is no specific agreement from delivery partners that
they will continue to provide data, and they will technically no longer be bound by their funding
agreements, which were put in place for the duration of the Deal funding period only.

Government guidance on Deal closure is currently in draft, but regardless of its specific
content there will be an ongoing expectation that the councils continue to report on the
benefits delivered through the City Region Deal in line with those declared as part of the
original Deal, project business cases, and benefits realisation plan. Benefits included in the
benefits tracker include targets up to 20 years after the deal/projects end (up to 2049). Most,
but not all of the longer-term targets relate to economic growth (GVA), which can be
measured (though not necessarily attributed to individual projects) independently, but there
remain specific targets post-deal for projects in the intervening period. Partners to the Deal
have worked together in the spirit of cooperation, and new opportunities are being
progressed with the same partners with a view to continuing to work with the Council using
similar structures. However, the incentive for delivery partners to prioritise working on the
Deal after it ends may be reduced when ongoing funding is no longer contingent on it. The
councils will however remain accountable.

If the councils cannot obtain this information and cannot hold delivery partners to account for
it (due to lack of formal agreements on reporting), this could present a reputational risk, and
the Governments’ response to this is an unknown risk.

IA Recommended Mitigating Actions
Benefits to be realised should be defined for all projects.

Delivery of benefits should be measured and reported in a way which allows for comparison
of current performance against planned at the point in time they are reported.

16 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 198



Description

Formal assurance should be sought from delivery partners over continued access to data to
allow the councils to meet the Gowernments’ ongoing reporting requirements post-deal
closure.

The Benefits Realisation Plan should be updated to reflect the data which can be obtained.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

Management Response.

1. Benefits to be realised should be defined for all projects.
Response — Agreed and is in progress.

2. Delivery of benefits should be measured and reported in a way which allows for
comparison of current performance against planned at the point in time they are
reported.

Response — Benefits realisation is reported on an annual basis. Doing this on a more
frequent basis would put too much information before Board and committee to
consider, and risks loss of oversight of progress over agreed business case targets
which are the primary focus. Where the intention is to provide a trajectory to review
progress at intervals where the target dates is e.g. 10 years away, PMO will reach
out to other Deals to identify approaches taken and to follow existing models.

3. Formal assurance should be sought from delivery partners over continued access to
data to allow the councils to meet the Governments’ ongoing reporting requirements
post-deal closure.

Response — PMO will ensure compliance with any requirements contained within
either the grant offer letter, or the programme closure guidance once published.

4. The Benefits Realisation Plan should be updated to reflect the data which can be
obtained.

Response — PMO do not want to receive any data which would identify an individual
because that would lead to a breach of GDPR regulations. PMO would prefer to
remain compliant with legislation and are happy to inform Government that until
sensitive personal data containing identifiable personal characteristics can be
accumulated, we do not wish for it to be reported as it may identify an individual.
This is because such data requires to be treated with higher protection under GDPR.
Management will therefore review the Benefits Realisation Plan(BRP) to identify any
data which may fall into this category and consider seeking to remove it from the
BRP for simplicity.

| Risk Agreed | Person(s) | Due Date
Yes Senice Manager — Major March 2026

Programmes and

Partnerships

17 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 199



Description

L5 Closedown Arrangements, Final reporting, and Lessons learned — The Programme

Manager is working with the governments to progress Deal closure arrangements, but these
have still to be finalised and formalised. There are clear indications of the type of
requirements, and these generally mirror existing reporting arrangements. This should be
sufficient to formulate an appropriate plan and prepare partners for what is likely to be
required.

Final reporting will require support and coordination from the Programme Manager and
Finance. Both are required to input to future programmes so are likely to remain in a position
to support until all information has been published as required. A schedule would be
beneficial but has yet to be prepared. This would only be indicative at this time, until Deal
closure guidance is completed. There is a risk that if national guidance is delayed, this will
impact on the time available to carry out required tasks.

Lessons learned will need to be a part of closure documentation. This will benefit most from
wider stakeholder inwolvement, and a broad lens to bring in learning from across the deal
landscape - not just specific projects. Lessons are being applied in practice - particularly in
respect of the Accountable Body role, now that the implications are better understood.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

A schedule/timeline should be developed and shared with the Board to highlight the likely
requirements and timescales for reporting.

A review of lessons learned, taking in feedback from partners and stakeholders across the
board, should be scheduled and progressed.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

A report will be presented to Programme Board, accordingly, following the publication of
Government programme closure guidance.

An interim evaluation is underway, and a final evaluation will take place post deal. Both
take account of lessons learned.

| Risk Agreed | Person(s) | Due Date
Yes Senice Manager — Major February 2026
Programmes and
Partnerships

Description

1.6 Sustainability and Succession Planning — Although funding was not provided with a

specific requirement for continuity post-deal, it was described as an investment and includes
a substantial amount of funding (£826m, of which £294m was from public sector bodies),
therefore an expectation of continuity is implied. Some projects referenced exit plans and
continuity in their business cases, but these were brief and high level. Individual projects are
responsible for producing/updating their own business continuity or exit plans. There has
been no formal review or assurance obtained over sustainability/continuity of projects funded
by ACRD beyond the initial funding period, or formal exit plans where these are not intended
to continue.

The annual Grant Offer Letters include a requirement to notify the Gowvernments if assets
generated through the Deal are sold within 10 years of their production, and to remit a
relevant proportion of the proceeds. Such assets have not generally been tracked during the
course of the Deal programme. Draft Deal closure guidance has a specific section on

18 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 200



Description

Tracking of Assets (including disposals) and a requirement to keep a list and nominated
named officer to keep track.

Asset tracking and recovery of proceeds was not cowered in funding agreements between
the accountable body (Aberdeenshire Council) and delivery partners. These only covered
spend and grant funding during the Deal funding period. The Council is protected up to the
point it hands over funds but has limited recourse in the event of default after this point. The
option to suspend provision of further funding will not help recover funds up to 10 years after
the Deal ends. Therefore, the risk to the Council is higher. Data will need to be sourced
from partners, and although the Senice has indicated working relationships have been
amicable during the funding period, this may prove challenging post-Deal in the absence of
dedicated resources (within the councils and partners) and formal agreements to provide it.
The councils have responsibility for continuing to provide information to the Governments
post-Deal-closure. If they cannot get it from delivery partners, itis not clear what action the
governments could take in the event of default on these obligations outside of the councils’
control.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Assurance should be obtained over sustainability and exit plans post Deal closure for projects
with legacy assets and/or continuing operations.

Lists of assets generated and a means of tracking them should be deweloped and shared
with the Programme Manager.

Clarity should be provided to delivery partners over ongoing obligations and expectations in
respect of assets.

Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

There is no expectation on PMO to obtain assurance over sustainability post deal. The
ACRD is capital funding, and the emphasis is upon approved business cases, which is what
we currently report on. if Government were to stipulate this as a requirement, then PMO
would respond accordingly, however it is not a requirement on PMO at this time.

Assets — PMO have engaged already with Government to understand what information is
desired to be made available to Government so that we can collate it in a consistent format
which satisfies their expectations. We are awaiting confirmation from Government on this
but have engaged with the NZTC to provide a list of their assets to Government with a view
to agreeing what level of information Government desire on all Deal assets. This will enable
PMO to give clarity to delivery partners.

Management agree with the risk identified in regard to assets and are already taking action
in this regard which we view as sufficient mitigation pending Government closure guidance.

The area of post deal assurance is not something which Government have asked PMO to
undertak e, and therefore there is no compliance issue with the current reporting. We accept
that it may be considered arisk butare surprised at the major risk rating as it is not something
which Governments have required of PMO.

PMO have set out proposed actions, which would address the risks identified, and note
concern that this audit appears to have a focus on future funding (e.g. Investment Zone)
which are outwith scope.

In regards to specific recommendations:

19 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 201



Description

1. Assurance should be obtained over sustainability and exit plans post Deal closure for
projects with legacy assets and/or continuing operations. (Agree)

2. Lists of assets generated and a means of tracking them should be developed and shared
with the Programme Manager. (Agree)

3. Clarity should be provided to delivery partners over ongoing obligations and expectations
in respect of assets. (Agree)

| Person(s) | Due Date
Yes Senice Manager — Major April 2026
Programmes and
Partnerships

20 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 202



4 Appendix 1 — Assurance Terms and Rating Scales

4.1 Overall report level and net risk rating definitions

The following lewvels and ratings will be used to assess the risk in this report:
‘ Risk Level Definition

This issue / risk level impacts the Council as a w hole. Mitigating actions should be taken at the Senior

Strategic Leadership level.

This issue / risk level has implications at the directorate level and the potential to impact across arange
Directorate of services. They could be mitigated through the redeployment of resources or a change of policy w ithin
a given directorate.

This issue / risk level impacts at the Business Plan level (i.e. individual services or departments as a

Service w hole). Mitigating actions should be implemented by the responsible Head of Service.

Programme This issue/risk level impacts the programme or project that has been review ed. Mitigating actions shoud
and Project be taken at the level of the programme or project concerned.

Net Risk Rating Description Assurance
Assessment

A sound systemof governance, risk management and control exists, w ith
Minor internal controls operating effectively and being consistently applied to support S ERED
the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

There is agenerally sound systemof governance, risk management and control
in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement w ere

R identified, w hich may put at riskthe achievement of objectives in the area ReasEEslE
audited.

Significant gaps, w eaknesses or non-compliance were identified. Improvement is
required to the systemof governance, risk management and controlto effectively
manage risks to the achievement of objectives inthe area audited.

compliance identified. The systemof governance, risk management and control
is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the

Immediate actionis required to address fundamental gaps, w eaknesses or non-
area audited.

Individual Issue [/ Definitions

Risk Rating

Minor

Although the element of internal controlis satisfactory there is scope for improvement. Addressing
this issueis considered desirable and should resultin enhanced controlor better value for money.
Action should be taken w ithin a 12 month period.

Anelement of controlis missing or only partial in nature. The existence of the w eakness identified
has an impact on the audited area’s adequacy and effectiveness. Action should be taken withina
six month period.

The absence of, or failure to comply w ith, an appropriate internal control, w hich could result in, for
example, a material financial loss. Action should be taken w ithin three months.

This is anissue/ riskthat could significantly affect the achievement of one or many of the Council's
objectives or could impact the effectiveness or efficiency of the Council’'s activities or processes.
Actionis considered imperative to ensure that the Council is not exposed to severe risks and shouid
be taken immediately.

21 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 203



5 Appendix 2 — Assurance Scope and Terms of
Reference

5.1 Area subjectto review

The Aberdeen City Region Deal (the Deal), agreed in November 2016, is a three-way, ten-year
agreement between the UK Gowvernment, the Scottish Government and regional partners including
Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire councils, and other organisations including Universities and
Opportunity North East (ONE) - the private sector partner which leads on innovation projects within the
Deal. The total allocations of funding for the capital projects is £826.2 million.

The Deal's aim is to significantly advance economic and infrastructure dewelopment in the area,
addressing the challenges which business and industry face in the North East of Scotland whilst
grasping opportunities through projects which can enable Aberdeenshire and Aberdeen City to continue
to be an attractive and productive area for organisations to locate and develop. Key projects include the
Net Zero Technology Centre (formerly Oil and Gas Technology Centre), Food and Drink and Life
Science Innovation Hubs, a Digital Infrastructure Fund, expansion of Aberdeen Harbour, and
dewelopment of a Strategic Transport Appraisal (STAG).

The councils’ jointly fund £20 million of activity relating to the Digital (£7 million), STAG (£2 million) and
Harbour Expansion (E11 million) elements of the Programme. The Digital and Transport themes are led
by Council based Working Groups whilst the other project themes, Innovation, and Internationalisation,
are led by external Project Boards with which the Council has a Funding Agreement. The councils are
responsible for ensuring projects are appropriately planned and managed and for monitoring their
progress and finances. They also host the Aberdeen City Region Deal Joint Committee, which includes
representation from each stakeholder.

Aberdeen City Council provides programme and project management support for the Deal’s projects
and outcomes. This is a facilitating and liaison role, including communication with key stakeholders
(including the UK and Scottish Governments) and project leads, promoting adherence to governance
requirements, and a consistent approach to risk monitoring, reporting of progress and delivery of
benefits.

Aberdeenshire Council is the ‘Accountable Body’ for project funding. It acts as a conduit for
Government and Council funding in accordance with the signed Deal Agreement and the terms of the
Scottish Government’s annual Aberdeen City Region Deal Grant Offer, to provide payments to projects
in line with relevant agreements, spend and progress.

5.2 Rationale for review

The objective of this audit is to provide assurance over the governance and financial spend of the City
Region Deal. This review will focus specifically on the final stages and owerall delivery. We will also
review implementation of agreed actions from the previous audits to ensure controls are still operational
and effective.  As the programme is shortly coming to an end, whilst the audit will focus on current
practice, it is intended that recommendations arising will be forward-facing for application to similar
future projects.

The Deal is managed on behalf of various partners; each stakeholder will have an interest in assurance
owver the governance arrangements. The councils have lead responsibility for programme delivery and
stewardship of funds.

Since 2022/23 the UK and Scottish Governments’ funding letter, setting out the terms of their annual
grant offer, includes an expectation for the Deal to be included in the Internal Audit Plan at least every
two years. This is the final planned internal audit of this area, in line with this requirement.

Gowernance of the Deal was last reviewed in 2023/24 (Internal Audit Report 2422/AC2413). Limited
assurance was obtained, due to identified weaknesses in gowernance arrangements, review of
supporting audit trails for expenditure, and delivery of outcomes. Improvements were recommended
around strengthening the gowernance and reporting arrangements within the councils and from
partners. These included updating and securing flexibility in funding agreements and reviewing
delegations. Further work was recommended to develop and expand the lewvel of data obtained, and its

22 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 204



critical appraisal, inrespect of use of funding, performance against plans, and realisation of benefits, at
a more detailed lewvel proportionate with the level of funds being managed through the City Region Deal.

Key elements of the review for the final stages of the Deal period will include controls over any late-
stage project changes, benefits measurement and reporting, and demonstrating project sustainability
following the end of the funding period. These were highlighted as risk areas in previous audits (Internal
Audit Report 2101, in 2020).

5.3 Scope and risk level of review
This review will offer the following judgements:

e Anowrall net risk rating at the Strategic? level.
e Individual net risk ratings for findings.

5.3.1 Detailed scope areas

As a risk-based review this scope is not limited by the specific areas of activity listed below.
Where related and other issues /risks are identified in the undertaking of this review these will
be reported, as considered appropriate by IA, within the resulting report.

The specific areas to be cowvered by this review are:

e Follow-up of previous issues to ensure actions have been embedded:
o Gowernance and funding agreements
o Change management
o Evidence and review of project expenditure and progress
o Benefits realisation, recording and reporting
e Final reporting and close-down arrangements
e Sustainability, succession planning and lessons learned

5.4 Methodology

This review will be undertaken through inteniews with key staff involved in the process(es) under review
and analysis and review of supporting data, documentation, and paperwork. To support our work, we
will review relevant legislation, codes of practice, policies, procedures, guidance.

This review will also encompass an evaluation of the governance, risk management and controls in
place to detect, prevent, and mitigate instances of fraud.

Due to hybrid working across the Council, this review will be undertaken primarily remotely.

5.5 |A outputs
The IA outputs from this review will be:

e A risk-based report with the results of the review, to be shared with the following:
o Council Key Contacts (see 1.7 below)
o Audit Committee (final only)
o External Audit (final only)

5.6 IA staff
The IA staff assigned to this review are:

e Colin Harwey, Audit Team Manager (audit lead)
e Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor (oversight only)
e Rachel Brand, Auditor

5.7 Council key contacts

3 The audit methodology used across both councils is similar, w ith the only variance being slightly different ass urance terms e.g.
a Strategic review for Aberdeenshire is considered a Corporate Review for Aberdeen City. For ease of reporting and consistency,
the Aberdeenshire terms have been used.

23 of 24 Internal Audit

Page 205



The key contacts for this review across Aberdeen City Council are:

e Gale Beattie, Director of City Regeneration & Environment

e Julie Wood, Chief Officer — City Development & Regeneration

e Stuart Bews, City Region Deal Programme Manager (process owner)
e Aigul Gray, Project Support

The key contacts for this review across Aberdeenshire Council are:

e Rob Simpson, Director of Business Senvices

e Alan Wood, Director of Environment and Infrastructure

e Paul Macari, Head of Planning and Economy

e Mary Beattie, Head of Finance

e Karlyn Watt, Strategic Finance Manager (process owner)
e John Lovie, Accountant

5.8 Delivery plan and milestones

The key delivery plan and milestones are:

Milestone Planned date

Scope issued 4-Jul-2025

Scope agreed 1-Aug-2025
Fieldwork commences 11-Aug-2025
Fieldwork completed 12-Sep-2025
Draft report issued 10-Oct-2025
Process owner response 31-Oct-2025
Director response 7-Now-2025
Final report issued 14-Now-2025

24 of 24

Page 206

Internal Audit



Agenda Item 9.10

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee

DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Internal Audit Report AC2614 — Trade Waste
REPORT NUMBER IA/AC2614

DIRECTOR N/A

REPORT AUTHOR Jamie Dale

TERMS OF REFERENCE | 2.2

11

2.1

3.1

4.1

51

6.1

PURPOSE OF REPORT

The purpose of this report is to present the planned Internal Audit report on
Trade Waste.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Committee review, discuss and comment on the
issues raised within this report and the attached appendix.

CURRENT SITUATION

Internal Audit has completed the attached report which relates to an audit
of Trade Waste.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations
of this report.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations of
this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct environmental implications arising from the
recommendations of this report.

RISK

Page 207



7.1

8.1

8.2

10.

10.1
11.
11.1

12.

Name
Title

The Internal Audit process considers risks involved in the areas subject to
review. Any risk implications identified through the Internal Audit process
are detailed in the resultant Internal Audit reports. Recommendations,
consistent with the Council's Risk Appetite Statement, are made to address
the identified risks and Internal Audit follows up progress with implementing
those that are agreed with management. Those not implemented by their
agreed due date are detailed in the attached appendices.

OUTCOMES

There are no direct impacts, as a result of this report, in relation to the
Council Delivery Plan, or the Local Outcome Improvement Plan Themes of
Prosperous Economy, People or Place.

However, Internal Audit plays a key role in providing assurance over, and
helping to improve, the Council’'s framework of governance, risk
management and control. These arrangements, put in place by the
Council, help ensure that the Council achieves its strategic objectives in a
well-managed and controlled environment.

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
Assessment Outcome
Impact Assessment An assessment is not required because the

reason for this report is for Committee to
review, discuss and comment on the
outcome of an internal audit. As a result,
there will be no differential impact, as a result
of the proposals in this report, on people with
protected characteristics.

Privacy Impact Not required
Assessment

BACKGROUND PAPERS

There are no relevant background papers related directly to this report.
APPENDICES
Internal Audit report AC2614 — Trade Waste

REPORT AUTHOR CONTACT DETAILS

Jamie Dale
Chief Internal Auditor

Email Address @ Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

Tel

2 0of 20

(01467) 530 988

Internal Audit

Page 208


mailto:Jamie.Dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

L

ABERDEEN

CITY COUNCIL
Internal Audit

Assurance Review of Trade Waste

Status: Final Report No: AC2614
Date: 05 February 2026 Assurance Year: 2025/26
Risk Level: Cluster

Assurance
Assessment

Net Risk Rating Description

There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management and control in
Moderate place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope forimprovement w ere identified, which | Reasonable
may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

| Report Tracking Planned Date Actual Date
Scope issued 01-Sep-25 01-Sep-25
Scope agreed 05-Sep-25 23-Sep-25
Fieldwork commenced 12-Sep-25 05-Sep-25
Fieldwork completed 17-Oct-25 28-Oct-25
Draft report issued 07-Nov-25 17-Dec-25
Process owner response 28-Nov-25 27-Jan-26
Director response 05-Dec-25 05-Feb-26
Final report issued 12-Dec-25 05-Feb-26
AR&S Committee 19-Feb-26

| Distribution

Document type | Assurance Report

Director David Dunne, Interim Executive Director City Regeneration & Environment
Process Owner | Kristine Hultman, Waste & Recycling Manager
Stakeholder Mark Reilly, Chief Officer — Operations

Stuart Youngson, Acting Team Leader Waste & Recycling
Laura Todd, Acting Trade Waste Officer
Jenni Lawson, Chief Officer — Governance*

*Final only Jonathan Belford, Chief Officer — Finance*
External Audit*
Lead auditor Heulwen Beecroft, Auditor

£VUJ



1 Introduction

1.1 Area subjectto review

Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, local authorities have a statutory obligation to collect
commercial waste if requested to do so. Businesses or charities, including those run from home, have
a legal responsibility under the Waste (Scotland) Regulations 2012, to store, transport, recycle and
dispose of their waste in a way that does not harm the environment, and have appropriate business
waste collection/disposal in place with a licenced waste contractor.

The Council provides waste and recycling collection senices for businesses in the City. The collections
provided include mixed recycling for paper, cardboard, glass, plastic containers and metal tin cans; food
waste recycling; garden waste recycling; general waste and collections for bulky items. The types of
waste are similar to those households would generate, and the same refuse collection vehicles are
used. Customers contact the council via the Aberdeen City Council website, contact centre, or email to
make a senice request. Some customers may be visited by trade waste, waste and recy cling officers
or the waste compliance team to discuss the disposal of their waste. If they are a customer who the
Council can serve, a contract is generated and charges appropriate to the waste collection required are
applied.

Waste Transfer Notes (WTN) must be used if a collection senice is in place to ensure there is a clear
audit trail for managing waste legally. WTN's must be kept for at least 2 years and produced if SEPA or
the Council requests. If the Council finds a business acted in a way that did not meet commercial waste
regulation requirements, a fixed penalty notice of up to £500 could be issued.

The Council’'s contractor for waste management is SUEZ (formerly SITA). The contract originally ran
from 2000 to 2025 and has since been extended to 2029.

The cost of the 2025/26 Waste Senices budget as at August 2025 is £21.2m, of which the commercial
waste income budget is £1.1m. The actual outturn for 2024/25 for Waste Senices was £23.9m, of which
commercial waste income contributed £1.1m. The Council receives income from scheduled and ad hoc
collections, the lease and sale of bins, compostable bin liners and miscellaneous charges such as from
work to secure bins. The main expenses allocated to the commercial waste cost code are staffing,
marketing, purchasing bins and liners.

1.2 Rationale for the review

The objective of this audit is to consider whether adequate control is in place cowering trade waste
income and expenditure, that appropriate agreements are in place and that accounting arrangements
are robust.

In addition to the Council’s statutory obligations, the trade waste senice represents a key commercial
activity, generating income through the provision of waste collection senices to businesses. Given its
financial and operational significance, it is essential to ensure that adequate controls are in place.

Controls owver income collection, expenditure, and senice delivery must be robust to prevent financial
loss, ensure compliance with internal policies, and maintain senice quality. Weaknesses in control
could lead to undercharging, unrecorded income, or inappropriate spending.

Formal agreements with customers and suppliers should clearly define senice terms, pricing,
responsibilities, and termination clauses. This ensures legal protection, transparency, and consistency
in senice provision. The absence of proper agreements may expose the council to disputes or loss of
income.

Accurate and timely accounting is critical for financial reporting, performance monitoring, and decision-
making. Ensuring relevant costs and income are included is important so that the senice can
demonstrate it is efficiently run to best effect and maximises cost recovery. This includes correct
inwicing, reconciliation of income, and allocation of expenditure. Weak accounting practices could
result in misstatements or budget over-spends.

The last audit report for the area was AC1608 from January 2016. Previous recommendations were to
review billing and charges, improve reconciliations, review ways to attract and retain customers and

4 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 210



deliver financial management information requirements. In addition, a new Waste Management System
was to be put in place and improvements in income collection for full recovery and management
information were anticipated.

1.3 Howto use this report

This report has seweral sections and is designed for different stakeholders. The executive summary
(section 2) is designed for senior staff and is cross referenced to the more detailed narrative in later
sections (3 onwards) of the report should the reader require it. Section 3 contains the detailed narrative
for risks and issues we identified in our work.

5 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 211



2 Executive Summary

2.1 Overall opinion

The full chart of net risk and assurance assessment definitions can be found in Appendix 1 — Assurance
Scope and Terms. We have assessed the net risk (risk arising after controls and risk mitigation actions
have been applied) as:

Assurance
Assessment

Net Risk Rating Description

There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management and control in
Moderate place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope forimprovement w ere identified, which | Reasonable
may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

The organisational risk level at which this risk assessment applies is:

Risk Level Definition

This issue/ risk level impacts a particular Service or Cluster. Mitigating actions should be implemented by
the responsible Chief Officer.

Cluster

2.2 Assurance assessment

The lewvel of net risk is assessed as MODERATE, with the control framework deemed to be providing
REASONABLE assurance over the controls in place cowering trade waste income and expenditure,
agreements and accounting arrangements.

The audit however identified areas where improvements are required to strengthen the framework of
control, specifically:

e Written Procedures and Systems — Customer-facing information on the Council website, and
internal procedures cowering the senice’s main activities would benefit from review to ensure
they remain relevant and up to date. There are multiple systems used in planning and recording
senice delivery. These would benefit from streamlining and automation where possible, which
would require improvements to the way data is recorded and managed. Data is not currently
well organised and cross-referenced, presenting risks to its completeness and accuracy across
systems. This could impact on data protection compliance as well as reducing process
efficiency.

e Contract Management and Records — Quotations, signed agreements, and variation orders
are not being consistently retained to support the collections and charges currently being made.
Whilst there is a workflow which should be followed, there are no system based controls to
ensure senices do not commence until contracts have been signed and returned and set up
on the system, that senices end promptly on request or for non-payment, and no subsequent
checks to detect potential variations between planned and actual senice delivery. There are
no internal charges for collections from Council premises, though they can be relatively high
use customers. There may therefore be limited incentives to review and reduce waste and the
cost of internal collections.

e Income, Reconciliations and Debtors — Risks were identified in respect of price listvariations.
Although there is a check at the point of processing that the total number and value of inwices
passed to the financial system matches, there is no routine reconciliation between records of
planned and completed collections and amounts inwiced. This presents a risk that all activity
might not be correctly charged. Whilst there are few credits (less than 5%), these arise from
awidable issues that may be indicative of weaknesses in the inwicing and debt-management
processes. There is no equivalent control to detect any potential under-charging.

e Budgets and Cost Allocation — Underlying financial accounting records need to be accurate
to support appropriate management of resources. While there are detailed income records and
budgets, and expenditure is generally being managed appropriately, costs relating to the trade

6 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 212



waste senice are not separately recorded or apportioned from other activities (e.g. domestic
waste collections). Without this data, there is less assurance that the senice is being managed
within budget and adequately recowvering its costs. Desktop reviews of cost estimates are being
undertaken but would benefit from independent review toimprove accuracy and completeness.

e Performance Information — The Senvice tracks costs and income but may benefit from a more
commercial approach to monitoring senice delivery and sales performance.

e Asset Management— The Senice spends around £26k on new/replacement bins each year.
The number of bins with customers could be determined from the collections system, but this
is not routinely reported on and valued. Whilst individual bin values are relatively low, without
detailed records of stock and stock movement, and clear supporting processes, there may be
a risk of items being lost or damaged and costs not being recovered.

Recommendations have been made to address the abowe risks, including: review of procedures and
public-facing information; consideration of streamlining systems and automating processes; carrying
out periodic reconciliations of system data and of senice delivery records against charges inwiced;
dewvelopment of more robust records management processes and workflows; periodic review of internal
senice lewels; consideration of formal apportionment of costs to aid budget management; and
implementation of proportionate stock controls.

2.3 ldentified Risks
Risk Level Number of Risks Identified

| Minor

2.4 Management response

The Service welcomes the audit findings and is committed to strengthening processes where feasible.

We will review internal procedures and publicfacing information. We acknowledge the need for further
process streamlining and automation and will seek developer support whilst recognising that attempts
to secure developer support have historically not gained traction due to competing priorities.

Where multiple systems remain necessary, we are happy to consider what improvements could be
made. This may include devising a new system of customer and account sampling to support our
current efforts.

We will explore improvements to record management, audit trails, and change controls within the limits
of current systems. However, we believe findings relating to record retention may not fully reflect the
availability and accessibility of our documentation.

We recognise a corporatedevel resource gap relating to internal customer waste management and
recommend that internal customers be included in proposed sampling as a practical interim measure.

The Service is happy to review price list data, enhancing safeguards, and to consider implementing a
new system of sampling to review the appropriateness of invoiced amounts. We are open to refining
invoice descriptions on ad hoc invoices and will collaborate with Finance to secure an updated aged
debt procedure.

While formal cost apportionment is conceptually sound, its practical value appears limited given shared
operations and the Trade Waste teams limited influence over costs. We see benefit in periodic
independent review of costs analysis by Finance. We agree to review performance information
requirements, acknowledging that progress may depend on support from corporate teams.

Finally, the Service iswilling to consider incorporating bin values into stock sheets but notes that existing
controls already provide proportionate assurance. Given this, the additional benefit of expanded
reconciliation is unclear relative to the effort required.

7 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 213



3 Issues [/ Risks, Recommendations, and
Management Response

3.1 Issues/Risks, recommendations, and management response

Description Moderate

11

Written Procedures and Systems — The Senice provides customer-facing information on
the Council website outlining the trade waste senices available and businesses’ obligations.
Whilst generally comprehensive, some of the links to external resources were out of date
and no longer available.

Internal procedures exist and cover the main activities; however, they would benefit from
being collated into a single suite of current and relevant documents. Updates should include
accurate information, working links, and version control to strengthen document
management and support future improvements.

Price setting for trade waste collections has been delegated to the Senice as part of the
Council’'s annual budget process. A standard price list is maintained and updated annually
to reflect inflation, but it is not published online. Potential customers must contact the Senice
for a quote, a practice intended to reduce the risk of competitors accessing pricing data.
Howewer, this approach introduces a risk that delays or perceived obstacles could discourage
new business. Furthermore, the Senice does not monitor quote turnaround times or
acceptance rates, relying instead on complaints or direct feedback.

New requests for provision can be logged online but are generally recorded on a typed or
hand-written form, returned by email. Whilst there are guidance notes on the form, content
is free-text narrative, limiting options for ensuring consistent data capture. Details are then
added to a separate database to generate an initial quote and supporting paperwork. If this
were to be streamlined, there could be opportunities for greater automation.

Prior to commencing senices, customers must be set up in the Collections System, and as
a debtor on the Financial System. The collections system is used to manage routes, record
customer details and requirements, to record chargeable senices and prices, and to produce
waste transfer notes. Changes are processed through the system, and instructions
(generated from Access or manually from previous templates) are issued to collection teams
(a change variation order (CVO)) and to finance teams (a finance variation order (FVO)) to
amend physical collections and billing. Although system-generated, these are Word
documents that are now emailed but reflect the continuation of a largely paper-based
process.

The system is also used to issue annual waste transfer notes (WTN) to existing customers.
Generating the WTN requires support from the supplier, as it requires the use of reporting
functionality not currently available to the Senice direct.

When customers request cancellation of senices, this should also go through a formal
process to apply the change on the System, amend physical collections, and issue final
inwices. However, the internal process for account closure focuses on billing, and does not
cower formal variation orders, or collection/recovery of bins issued as part of the senvice.

Analysis highlights that systems could be used more effectively. Currently, multiple systems
are employed to receive and record requests, prepare quotes, set up oramend accounts and
routes, and generate WTNs. This duplication is inefficient and introduces risks around
maintaining consistent records. There is no reconciliation between systems to ensure data
completeness and accuracy, which increases the risk of errors. Ineffective data management
also heightens the risk of non-compliance with UK GDPR principles and requirements.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

8 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 214



Description Moderate

a) Internal written procedures, and public facing information, should be reviewed for
relevance and completeness, with version control information included to aid future
updates.

b) Consideration should be given to streamlining and automating processes where
possible.

c) Where multiple systems are still required, data should be reconciled periodically to
confirm its accuracy and completeness.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

a) We agree to review our witten procedures and public facing information and
consider ways to improve our version control. However, as we are reliant on the
support of ACC Communications to make changes to public facing information, and
given that no changes are currently being made to the website we would seek to
close off this action when new copy has been drafted and issued to our Comms
partner, rather than at the point that the website is amended.

We would like to note that we believe that our decision not to publish our price lists
online remains, on balance, the most appropriate approach. When these prices were
previously made publicly available, they were routinely used by private sector
competitors to secure contracts, including by encouraging existing customers to
change provider. In addition, providing prospective customers with access to pricing
information before their service requirements are fully understood can negatively
affect compliance and income. This creates a risk that businesses may make
decisions based primarily on cost rather than on the level of waste and recycling
services genuinely required. Such behaviour can, in turn, increase the likelihood of
inappropriate waste disposal, including potential misuse of the public realm.

b) Improvements have been made and processes are more efficient than in 2016, when
the lastaudit was undertaken. Itis recognised that more can be done and the service
has been trying to enlist development support for many years but has been unable
to get any traction due to competing priorities. The service agrees to attempt to
request the support of developers again to investigate options for improvements.

c) We agree to consider what improvement we could make. This may include a new
system of customer and account sampling and would support our current efforts.

Risk Agreed | Person(s) | Due Date
Yes Waste & Recycling Manager | July 2026

Description Moderate

1.2

Contract Management and Records — With limited exceptions, businesses must procure a
Trade Waste senice (which may be obtained from either the Council or a suitable private
contractor) as a legal requirement. Original signed legal documents including contracts and
WTNs provide evidence of the scope and lewvel of senices agreed and delivered.

As noted at 1.1 abowe, The Senice uses multiple systems to produce and hold records of
requests, customer details, quotes, senice delivery, and changes. Howewer, these records
are not always complete or consistent. For example, in a sample of 20 cases, original quotes
could not be located for five (25%). Instructions and variation orders were also missing in
seweral cases: 12 of 20 (60%) lacked Collection Variation Orders (CVOs), and five of 12

9 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 215



Description Moderate

(42%) lacked Finance Variation Orders (FVOs). Inconsistencies were also noted between
business names recorded on different systems, with no common identifier to link records.

To create a new schedule, WTN and agreement when a change is requested, procedures
set out that a current client record on Access is duplicated. The system does not prevent
original data being overwritten in error, and there is no record on this system to confirm
whether a customer accepted the offer. From the sample of 20 cases, nine collection
schedules (45%) could not be matched back to these records.

Where agreements were on file, these indicated potential delays between acceptance and
collections commencing. Four of 10 collections did not start on the agreed date, with some
starting up to 30 days after the agreement. Records are not filed in such a way as to indicate
whether this was due to senice delay or a customer request. The Senice has highlighted
that the issue date does not necessarily represent the intended senice start date. Customers
must first sign and return the agreement, and they may also request a future start date. In
addition, reasonable time is required for account setup and coordination with Finance and
Waste Operations. For these reasons, immediate commencement of collections should not
be assumed.

Customers are provided with terms and conditions in relation to their waste senice and are
required to return a signed copy to confirm their acceptance. Whilstthe Senice holds system
records of what it considers has been agreed, and it may be implied this has been accepted
through continued provision and payment for these senices, retention and storage of signed
agreements varies. These are stored either on SharePoint, in paper hard copy, or in emails
with limited structure. Of 20 cases reviewed, five external customer agreements were not
signed, and five internal customer agreements could not be sourced. Of a further 10 new
clients sampled, the associated agreements were not signed. In the event of a dispute, this
could result in financial and reputational risks.

The Senice has stated that senices are not commenced until signed agreements are
returned, with bin delivery and collections contingent on a job ticket and CVO being raised,
which will only be done after agreements are in place. There are however no system based
controls to ensure this workflow operates as intended in practice, further reducing assurance
over the completeness and accuracy of records.

Key client communication is generally by email except for an annual letter by post to advise
of price changes and to provide a WTN. This includes a request to check and confirm the
senice being delivered and charged for is correct, through return of the WTN to the Trade
Waste Team. However, these are not routinely returned, and this is not followed up as the
legal requirement to hold the waste transfer note lies with the customer.

Communication from customers requiring account closure or suspension is not being
retained routinely with other documentation, reducing assurance over termination of senices
and the accuracy of final charges. There are no standard forms or records to support these
changes, and there are no records to confirm bins have been recowered. The Senice
maintains a spreadsheet of account closures, and the change in status is recorded on the
collections system. Two of ten closures reviewed (20%) did not include areason for closure,
and two of ten FVO’s (20%) were not found on file to confirm the accuracy of closure details.

Review of system data highlighted cases where it appeared that collections had continued
after accounts had been closed — for example one customer account closed in 2018 still
showed collections in 2025. The Senice noted that premises could change hands and the
collection schedule remained live for the address whilst the previous owner's account was
awaiting closure. However, the record remains under the previous owner's name. Whilst
continuity of senice is important to maintaining business relationships, this presents a risk.
If customer details, liability and handover dates are not being recorded clearly, separately,
and consistently on the system, there is an increased risk of incorrect billing, and of senices
being provided which will not be paid for.

10 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 216



Description Moderate

Internal customers (e.g. schools, offices, depots etc) are not charged directly in line with the
current price list. The Senice noted that some years ago budgets were moved to Trade
Waste to reflect the cost of providing the senice and remowve the need to recharge internally.
Where requirements change, an illustrative contract is issued to internal customers to show
the value of the senvices provided. They are provided with WTN’s annually or on request.
At the time of testing (November 2025) WTN's had not been printed for 2025/26. The Senice
tracks the owerall value of these collections (variable: estimated as £743k per annum over
169 premises in March 2025), but there have been no further formal adjustments to budgets
to reflect changes. Records indicate internal customers typically have more waste bins and
collections, and therefore a higher collection cost, than external customers. Whilst this may
be reflective of their requirements, the wlume of waste collected from each is not tracked,
and there is no incentive for internal customers to review and reduce the level of senice as
there is no direct financial benefit.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

a) The Senice should dewelop and implement records management processes to
ensure consistent documentation is being recorded in an accessible format for each
customer and transaction. There should be a clear audit trail of all changes. As
part of this, the Senice should determine and apply consistent unique referencing
for customers and premises to facilitate tracking between systems and records.

b) Controls should be built in to the process to ensure only agreed changes take place
— e.g. feedback loops to confirm changes back to source, and reconciliations to
confirm all changes have been reported.

c) The Senice should periodically review the level of senice required by internal
customers, to ensure it continues to provide best value at a corporate level.

Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

a) We have undertaken our own review of the audit sample and were able to source all
but one record. However, recognising the importance of good record keeping, while
at the same time being limited to existing systems until such time as we have the
necessary development support, the team will review processes and consider where
improvements can be made that are effective and proportionate to the risks.

b) To support further improvements, we will consider what further steps we could take
to supplement our current actions. This may include a new system of sampling.

We will investigate the case where internal audit identified system records that
indicated collections continuing following account closure, and take appropriate
action as required. Where a new business occupies a premises, the previous
business name may still be visible in Bartec, but only the designated Primary Payee
can be billed. If no new business is present, invoices are only generated for
scheduled collections; if collections stop, billing stops automatically. Therefore, any
potential impact is limited.

c) This highlights a corporate gap: the need for a dedicated resource (estimated 1 x
FTE) to work with services and review internal waste (and not just the services we
provide) and enforcement of Council policy and provision of guidance. The Waste
Service does not have the capacity to cover this gap in resource, however,
recognising the need to ensure best value for the council , a suggested improvement
would be to include the internal customers in the sampling proposed above.

| Person(s) | Due Date
Yes Waste & Recycling Manager | July 2026

11 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 217



Description Moderate

1.3

Income, Reconciliations, and Debtors — Pricing is revised annually and entered manually
to the collections system. The Senice holds a separate price list for quick reference and
providing quotes. Five price differences (4% of 121) were identified between the two
sources, ranging from 7p more to £17 less on the list than on the system, and 27 prices
(22%) were not included on the list. Prices are added to the system, rather than superseding
them. Where there are variations, or opportunities to select an old, incorrect, or unused price
option, there is a greater risk of incorrect charges, presenting a risk to income and a potential
reputational risk if prices charged are different than quoted.

From a sample of 12 external customers, inwices were generally being raised correctly in
line with recorded agreements, prices, and records of ad-hoc collections or orders. However,
as noted at 1.2 abowe, the variation in supporting records reduces assurance that all planned
and chargeable activities are in line with what has been agreed. There is a risk that
customers could be incorrectly charged, a cost of rework to correct, and reputational risk of
inefficiency.

A monthly interface is run to the Financial System to generate inwoices. Whilst the final
interface process is largely automated, steps leading up to generating the interface data are
reliant on accurate completion of tasks to review and collate inwice data for chargeable
senices logged on the system. The Senvice logs these tasks as they are completed. Inwice
runs are completed for a specified period, and any backdated adjustments would require
manual intervention. Once run, the system records that inwices have been raised. The
Collections system holds a running balance of charges it has calculated as due by customers,
however this is not updated to record ad-hoc charges and does not reduce as payments are
received. These tasks are completed through the debtors system, and there is no feedback
loop. It is assumed that only collections set on the system will have taken place, and that all
chargeable senices planned on the system will be charged through the interface. Although
there is a check at the point of processing that the total number and value of inwices passed
to the financial system matches, there is no routine reconciliation between records of planned
and completed collections and amounts inwiced. This presents a risk that all activity may
not have been correctly charged.

In general, regular inwices (those processed through the interface) hawe standardised
descriptions, which aids in identifying and matching across the systems. Ad-hoc inwoices, or
those that could not pass through the interface, showed more variation — for example
‘Additional Lift requested’ and ‘For Premises’. There is a risk that income that is not well
described could be incorrectly accounted for.

As there is no routine internal process to check whether senices have been charged
correctly, there is reliance on customers to advise of potential errors. Reasons for credit
notes processed by the Trade Waste team included: duplicate inwicing, incorrect
wlumes/frequencies, and missed collections. There were 58 credits raised in 2024/25,
totalling £3,080.91. Whilst the value and numbers are relatively small (in the context of 1,093
inwices (5%) and £1.08m (0.3%) of income), the descriptions indicate awidable issues, that
may be indicative of weaknesses in the inwicing process. There is no equivalent control to
detect any potential under-charging.

Credits raised for 2025/26 to mid-July totalled £11,154.30 and included one for £9,795.71
due to inwices having been raised against the wrong debtor. This was effectively an aged
debt for another debtor, which the Trade Waste team, in this example, was reliant on Senice
Income to identify. Whilst the Senice has stated income recowvery is discussed with Finance
bi-monthly, it is not clear that in this case this has been fully effective. Although contracts
state payments must be made within 28 days or collections will be suspended, this does not
take place automatically. There is a written procedure for the Senice to contact the
customer, and to consider suspension of senices, but this does not include specific
thresholds for its application, presenting risks to consistency and proportionality of action.

12 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 218



Description Moderate

IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

a) The Senice should ensure it has a single complete source of price data, and that
only current prices can be used on the system.

b) Amounts inwiced/charged should be reconciled periodically against records of
completed collection activity.

c) Consideration should be given to development and use of standardised line
descriptions for ad-hoc inwices.

d) The Senice should review the aged debtors process with Finance to ensure there is
clarity over responsibilities and thresholds for action. This should be captured in
updated written procedures.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

a) We can see the benefit of reviewing our system (Bartec) price list to conduct
housekeeping and to consider ways to introduce further protection against new
prices being entered incorrectly. However, on price list variations and risks, we
believe a quick reference version of the operational price list remains appropriate for
officers and supports consistent and efficient application of current pricing.

b) We bill our customers based on scheduled collections only. We will however look to
implement a new sampling system to add extra protections.

c) Options for improvement to standardising invoice descriptions will be considered.

d) Wewill review our aged debtors procedure in collaboration with Finance to document
an end to end process.

| Person(s) | Due Date
Yes Waste & Recycling July 2026
Manager;
Finance Transactions
Manager

Description Moderate

1.4

Budgets and Cost Allocation — The Senice requires appropriate financial data to be able
to make effective and informed decisions regarding changes to pricing and cost
management. Financial information is reviewed by senior managers, but members of the
Trade Waste team other than the Senice Manager were not all familiar with the financial
reports to recognise unusual trends or entries. Although budget monitoring is reviewed
regularly with Finance, a budget adjustment of £180k had been made in the year between
income lines. While the owverall impact was zero, this had not been requested, discussed
with or approved by the Senice Manager.

Underlying financial accounting records need to be accurate to support appropriate
management of resources. While there are detailed income records and budgets, and
expenditure is generally being managed appropriately, costs relating to the trade waste
senice are not separately recorded from other activities. Charges for fuel, fleet recharges,
waste disposal, electricity, gate fees, software support and contract overheads are reviewed
as part of the owerall waste senice regular accounting reports. There is no formal
apportionment of costs between domestic and trade collection activities. Without this data,
there is less assurance that the senice is being managed within budget and adequately

13 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 219



Description Moderate

recovering its costs. Managing the budget against a net income target alone does not fully
take account of the variable expenditure and owerheads incurred in delivery of the senice.

Howewer, the cost of the trade waste senice is estimated annually through a desktop
exercise in which the Waste Manager calculates and documents assumptions on what it
would cost as a standalone senice. Whilstrelatively comprehensive, some of the supporting
data is out of date e.g. fleet and fuel costs are based on 2022 data and RAC estimates, with
factors added for inflation. Owerheads hawve also been estimated for staff costs but were
excluded from the owverall cost calculation. The Senice uses this data, along with projected
income on sewveral scenario bases, to set annual trade waste prices. Calculations may benefit
from independent review (e.g. by Finance) or wider consultation (e.g. with Fleet) to improve
accuracy and completeness.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

a) The Senice should consider more formal apportionment of costs and income across
its component senices.

b) Costings for price setting should be subject to independent review. Consideration
should be given to wider consultation to inform cost estimates.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

a) The Service has given consideration to reviewing the apportionment of costs and
income across its component services. Whilst the principle is sound, and support
has been offered by Finance, the actual benefits are not clear to the Service.
Domestic and trade collections are combined to increase efficiency of services. Any
proportioning would be a desktop exercise that is unlikely to be any more accurate
that the existing method. Also, whilst it is necessary for the TW team to have an
understanding of costs to ensure that prices are set correctly, they do not manage
the collection team and therefore cannot influence the costs, other than by
negotiating with the customer.

b) Although we will continue with the current cost model, for additional assurance we
will ask our Finance partner to review costings on an annual basis.

Risk Agreed Person(s) Due Date

Yes Waste & Recycling July 2026
Manager;
Finance Business Partner

Description

1. : : . . .
5 Performance Information - The Senice uses supplementary information held in

spreadsheets to review key performance data, including tracking and forecasting income, as
this is not available direct from the collections system due to potential anomalies; work is still
ongoing to improve the accuracy of customer records since accounts were temporarily paused
and then re-started following the COVID-19 pandemic (2020-2022). The System therefore
potentially over-states current customer numbers. Until this exercise is completed, there
remains arisk that customer records, and charges, may be inaccurate compared with physical
collections. Recommendations have been made abowe to address this point.

Periodically, exercises are undertaken to identify businesses that may be non-compliant with
waste regulations (i.e. those using domestic waste collections illegally), with a view to
improving compliance and potentially generating new business for the Senice. Whilst data is

14 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 220



Description

available on the number of contacts, this is not linked up to records of quotes provided and
taken up as a direct result.

The Senice does not currently monitor or report on sales leads and take-up rates, there is
limited benchmarking, and it does not routinely undertake analysis of the market and
competition for trade waste collections — though the team has broad experience within the
industry. Although the budget is monitored regularly to review whether income targets are
being met, there is no specific analysis to review any potential impact of price changes on
repeat business.

There is a risk that without clear activity data and analysis, the council may not have a good
benchmark from which to compare income and cost of senicing customers relative to suitable
comparators. As noted abowve the variety of systems and records impact on the quality and
consistency of available data. If this can be improved options for more automated data
collection and reporting would help provide more useful management information going
forward.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

The Senice should review its performance information requirements, and determine efficient
methods for data collection and reporting, to inform management action.

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

We will review our performance information requirements and consider whether assistance is
required from support services e.g. Data and Insights team.

Person(s) | Due Date
Yes Waste & Recycling Manager July 2026

Description

1. . . . .
6 Asset Management— The Senice provides bins/receptacles for waste that are suitable for

collection, as an integral part of the Trade Waste Senice. The Senice does not have
detailed records of the level and value of stock directly held for distribution, it does not hold
or routinely review records of its bins held by customers, and it does not track movements
beyond the issue of job tickets to deliver or collect bins. There is no subsequent confirmation
of delivery or return to stock.

Bins vary in price depending on size, from around £20 to £370. This is below the Council’s
threshold in the Financial Regulations for recording individual items in an inventory (£1,000).
The Senice spends around £26k on new/replacement bins each year. The number of bins
with customers could be determined from the collections system, but this is not routinely
reported on and valued.

Trade waste contracts highlight that customers are responsible for bins whilst in their care.
A charge can be made for loss or damage, but this was not obsered in the accounting
records or procedure paperwork. There is no data to track whether bins are being looked
after and retained in line with their expected useful lifespan. Without detailed records of stock
and stock movement, and clear supporting processes, there is a greater risk of items being
lost or damaged and costs not being recovered.

| IA Recommended Mitigating Actions

Bin stocks and stock movements should be recorded and periodically reconciled to system
records.

15 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 221



Description

| Management Actions to Address Issues/Risks

We will consider ways to incorporate bin value into our stock sheets.

Beyond that we are unclear as to the benefits versus effort. Our stock sheets are updated
weekly, stock checks are conducted quarterly, our customers are expected (and incentivised)
to report changes in their bin numbers, and our crews are expected to report such

irregularities also.

| Person(s) Due Date
Yes Waste & Recycling Manager July 2026

16 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 222



4 Appendix 1 — Assurance Terms and Rating Scales

4.1 Overall report level and net risk rating definitions

The following lewvels and ratings will be used to assess the risk in this report:
‘ Risk Level Definition

This issue / risk level impacts the Council as a w hole. Mitigating actions should be taken at the Senior

Corporate Leadership level.

This issue / risk level has implications at the function level and the potential to impact across arange of
Function clusters. They could be mitigated through the redeployment of resources or a change of policy within a
given function.

This issue / risk level impacts at the Business Plan level (i.e. individual services or departments as a

Cluster w hole). Mitigating actions should be implemented by the responsible Chief Officers.

Programme This issue/ risk level impacts the programme or project that has been review ed. Mitigating actions shoud
and Project be taken at the level of the programme or project concerned.

Net Risk Rating Description Assurance
Assessment

A sound systemof governance, risk management and control exists, w ith
Minor internal controls operating effectively and being consistently applied to support S ERED
the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

There is agenerally sound systemof governance, risk management and control
in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement w ere

R identified, w hich may put at riskthe achievement of objectives in the area ReasenElE
audited.

required to the systemof governance, risk management and controlto effectively
manage risks to the achievement of objectives inthe area audited.

Immediate actionis required to address fundamental gaps, w eaknesses or non-
compliance identified. The systemof governance, risk management and control
is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the
area audited.

Significant gaps, w eaknesses or non-compliance were identified. Improvement is

Individual Issue [/ Definitions

Risk Rating

Minor

Although the element of internal controlis satisfactory there is scope for improvement. Addressing
this issue is considered desirable and should resultin enhanced control or better value for money.
Action should be taken w ithin a 12 month period.

Anelement of controlis missing or only partial in nature. The existence of the w eakness identified
has an impact on the audited area’s adequacy and effectiveness. Action should be taken withina
six month period.

The absence of, or failure to comply w ith, an appropriate internal control, w hich could result in, for
example, a material financial loss. Action should be taken w ithin three months.

This is anissue/ riskthat could significantly affect the achievement of one or many of the Council's
objectives or could impact the effectiveness or efficiency of the Council’'s activities or processes.
Actionis considered imperative to ensure that the Council is not exposed to severe risks and shouid
be taken immediately.

17 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 223



5 Appendix 2 — Assurance Scope and Terms of
Reference

5.1 Area subjectto review

Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, local authorities have a statutory obligation to collect
commercial waste if requested to do so. Businesses or charities, including those run from home, have
a legal responsibility under the Waste (Scotland) Regulations 2012, to store, transport, recycle and
dispose of their waste in a way that does not harm the environment, and have appropriate business
waste collection/disposal in place with a licenced waste contractor.

The Council provides waste and recycling collection senices for businesses in the City. The collections
provided include mixed recycling for paper, cardboard, glass, plastic containers and metal tin cans; food
waste recycling; garden waste recycling; general waste and collections for bulky items. The types of
waste are similar to those households would generate, and the same refuse collection wehicles are
used. Customers contact the council via the Aberdeen City Council website, contact centre, or email to
make a senice request. Some customers may be visited by trade waste, waste and recycling officers
or the waste compliance team to discuss the disposal of their waste. If they are a customer who the
Council can serve, a contract is generated and charges appropriate to the waste collection required are
applied.

Waste Transfer Notes (WTN) must be used if a collection senice is in place to ensure there is a clear
audit trail for managing waste legally. WTN’s must be kept for at least 2 years and produced if SEPA or
the Council requests. If the Council finds a business acted in a way that did not meet commercial waste
regulation requirements, a fixed penalty notice of up to £500 could be issued.

The Council’s contractor for waste management is SUEZ (formerly SITA). The contract originally ran
from 2000 to 2025 and has since been extended to 2029. There is also a 20 year contract with Acciona
which commenced in 2022 to incinerate non-recyclable waste.

The cost of the 2025/26 Waste Senices budget as at August 2025 is £21.2m, of which the commercial
waste income budget is £1.1m. The actual outturn for 2024/25 for Waste Senices was £23.9m, of which
commercial waste income contributed £1.1m. The Council receives income from scheduled and ad hoc
collections, the lease and sale of bins, compostable bin liners and miscellaneous charges such as from
work to secure bins. The main expenses allocated to the commercial waste cost code are staffing,
marketing, purchasing bins and liners.

5.2 Rationale for review

The objective of this audit is to consider whether adequate control is in place cowering trade waste
income and expenditure, that appropriate agreements are in place and that accounting arrangements
are robust.

In addition to the Council’s statutory obligations, the trade waste senice represents a key commercial
activity, generating income through the provision of waste collection senices to businesses. Given its
financial and operational significance, it is essential to ensure that adequate controls are in place.

Controls over income collection, expenditure, and senice delivery must be robust to prevent financial
loss, ensure compliance with internal policies, and maintain senvice quality. Weaknesses in control
could lead to undercharging, unrecorded income, or inappropriate spending.

Formal agreements with customers and suppliers should clearly define senice terms, pricing,
responsibilities, and termination clauses. This ensures legal protection, transparency, and consistency
in senice provision. The absence of proper agreements may expose the council to disputes or loss of
income.

Accurate and timely accounting is critical for financial reporting, performance monitoring, and decision-
making. Ensuring relevant costs and income are included is important so that the senice can
demonstrate it is efficiently run to best effect and maximises cost recovery. This includes correct
inwicing, reconciliation of income, and allocation of expenditure. Weak accounting practices could
result in misstatements or budget over-spends.

18 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 224



The last audit report for the area was AC1608 from January 2016. Previous recommendations were to
review billing and charges, improve reconciliations, review ways to attract and retain customers and
deliver financial management information requirements. In addition, a new Waste Management System
was to be put in place and improvements in income collection for full recovery and management
information were anticipated.

5.3 Scope and risk level of review
This review will offer the following judgements:

e Anowrall netrisk rating at the Cluster lewel
e Individual net risk ratings for findings.

5.3.1 Detailed scope areas

As a risk-based review this scope is not limited by the specific areas of activity listed below.
Where related and other issues /risks are identified in the undertaking of this review these will
be reported, as considered appropriate by IA, within the resulting report.

The specific areas to be cowvered by this review are:

¢ Income - including charges, inwicing, income collection, and reconciliations.

e Expenditure —including cost control, procurement, payments, recovery and reconciliations.

e Agreements —including contract management, formal written agreements, and waste transfer
notes.

e Accounting — including financial management information and financial regulations.

5.4 Methodology

This review will be undertaken through inteniews with key staff involved in the process(es) under review
and analysis and review of supporting data, documentation, and paperwork. To support our work, we
will review relevant legislation, codes of practice, policies, procedures, guidance.

This review will also encompass an evaluation of the governance, risk management and controls in
place to detect, prevent, and mitigate instances of fraud. Considerations will also be given to ensure
the achievement of Best Value across operations.

Due to hybrid working practices, this review will primarily be undertaken remotely via electronic
meetings and direct access to systems and data, with face to face contact and site visits to premises to
obtain and review further records as appropriate.

5.5 |A outputs
The IA outputs from this review will be:

e Avrisk-based report with the results of the review, to be shared with the following:
o Council Key Contacts (see 1.7 below)
o Audit Committee (final only)
o External Audit (final only)

5.6 |A staff
The IA staff assigned to this review are:

e Heulwen Beecroft (audit lead)
e Colin Harwey, Audit Team Manager
e Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor (oversight only)

5.7 Council key contacts
The key contacts for this review across the Council are:

e Gale Beattie, Executive Director City Regeneration & Environment
e Mark Reilly, Chief Officer - Operations
e Kristine Hultman, Acting Waste & Recycling Manager (process owner)

19 of 20 Internal Audit

Page 225



e Stuart Youngson, Acting Team Leader Waste & Recycling
e Laura Todd, Acting Trade Waste Officer

5.8 Delivery plan and milestones

The key delivery plan and milestones are:

Milestone Planned date

Scope issued 01-Sep-25
Scope agreed 05-Sep-25
Fieldwork commences 12-Sep-25
Fieldwork completed 17-Oct-25
Draft report issued 07-Nov-25
Process owner response 28-Nov-25
Director response 05-Dec-25
Final report issued 12-Dec-25

20 of 20

Page 226

Internal Audit



Agenda ltem 9.11

ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL

COMMITTEE Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee
DATE 19 February 2026

EXEMPT No

CONFIDENTIAL No

REPORT TITLE Internal Audit Plan 2026-2029
REPORT NUMBER IA/26/003

DIRECTOR N/A

REPORT AUTHOR Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor
TERMS OF REFERENCE | 2.1

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval of the attached Internal Audit
plan for 2026-2029.

2. RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Committee:

2.1 Approve the attached Internal Audit Plan for 2026-2029.
3. CURRENT SITUATION
3.1 It is one of the functions of the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee to

review the activities of the Internal Audit function, including the approval of
the Internal Audit Plan. The proposed plan for 2026-2029 is attached at
Appendix A, along with the plans for Aberdeen City Integration Joint Board
and North East of Scotland Pension Fund for information.

3.2 All audits included in the attached plan, as well as those in future plans, will
help inform Internal Audit's opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Council’'s framework of governance, risk management and control,
which is expressed in an annual report, and provide assurance to the Audit,
Risk and Scrutiny Committee. Where opportunities for improvement in
controls and their application, or improvements in value for money, are
identified these will be reported along with recommendations for
management to consider.

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations
of this report.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
51 There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations of
this report.

Page 227



6. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from the
recommendations of this report..
7. RISK
7.1 The assessment of risk contained within the table below is to be consistent
with the Council's Risk Appetite Statement.
Category Risks Primary *Target *Does
Controls/Control Risk Level | Target
Actions to achieve (L, M or H) Risk
Target Risk Level waking into Level
account MatCh
controls/control Appetite
actions Set’)
Strategic Risk | Ability of the | The Internal Audit M Yes
Council to process considers
meet its strategic risks involved
strategic in the areas subject to
objectives review. Any risk
implications identified
through the Internal
Audit process are
detailed in the
resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.
Compliance | Council The Internal Audit L Yes
does not process considers
comply with | compliance risks
relevant involved in the areas
internal subject to review. Any
policies and | risk implications
procedures | identified through the
and external | Internal Audit process
guidance. are detailed in the

2

Page 228




resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

Operational

Failure of
the Council
to deliver
agreed
services.

The Internal Audit
process considers
operational risks
involved in the areas
subject to review. Any
risk implications
identified through the
Internal Audit process
are detailed in the
resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

Yes

Financial

Financial
failure of the
Council,
with risks
also to
credit rating.

The Internal Audit
process considers
financial risks involved
in the areas subject to
review. Any risk
implications identified
through the Internal
Audit process are
detailed in the
resultant Internal Audit

Yes

3

Page 229




reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

Reputational

Impact of
performance
or financial
risk on
reputation of
ACC.

The Internal Audit
process considers
reputational risks
involved in the areas
subject to review. Any
risk implications
identified through the
Internal Audit process
are detailed in the
resultant Internal Audit
reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

Yes

Environment/
Climate

Service
delivery
impacting
negatively
on City net
zero targets.

The Internal Audit
process considers
environmental/climate
risks involved in the
areas subject to
review. Any risk
implications identified
through the Internal
Audit process are
detailed inthe
resultant Internal Audit

Yes

4

Page 230




reports.
Recommendations,
consistent with the
Council's Risk Appetite
Statement, are made
to address the
identified risks and
Internal Audit follows
up progress with
implementing those
that are agreed with
management. Those
not implemented by
their agreed due date
are detailed in the
attached appendices.

8.1
8.2

10.

10.1
11.
111

12.

OUTCOMES

The proposals in this report have no impact on the Council Delivery Plan.

However, Internal Audit plays a key role in providing assurance over, and
helping to improve, the Council’'s framework of governance, risk
management and control. These arrangements, put in place by the
Council, help ensure that the Council achieves its strategic objectives in a
well-managed and controlled environment.

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

Assessment

Outcome

Impact Assessment

An assessment is not required because the
reason for this report is to report Internal
Audit's progress to Committee. As a result,
there will be no differential impact, as a result
of the proposals in this report, on people with
protected characteristics.

Assessment

Data Protection Impact

Not required

BACKGROUND PAPERS

There are no relevant background papers related directly to this report.

APPENDICES

Appendix A — Aberdeen City Council - Internal Audit Plan - 2026-29

REPORT AUTHOR DETAILS

Jamie Dale, Chief Internal Auditor
jamie.dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

5

Page 231



mailto:jamie.dale@aberdeenshire.gov.uk

(01467) 530988

Page 232



_‘E ooooooooo sr,
2
i

O

ABERDEEN

CITY COUNCIL

Internal Audit

Aberdeen City Council

Internal Audit Plan
2026-29

1of 17 Internal Audit




Contents

1 EXECULIVE SUIMMAIY ...oiiiiiiiiieeiiiiie e eeiieee e e ettt e e sttt e e s sttt e e st eee s sabaeeessnsbeeeeennsaeeeeesnnneeas 3
11 Introduction and background..........c.ceeiiiiiiiie e 3
1.2 ManagemMeNt COMMENTAIY ... e e s e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeens 3

2 Internal AUt PIAN ...oooiie e 4
2.1 Plan deVelOPMENT ......oo e 4
2.2 Undertaking planned WOTK..........oiioiiiieiiiieee e 6
2.3 RESOUICES. ...ttt 6

3 Appendix 1 —2026-29 Internal AUdit Plan .........ccoceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiceeceec e 8

4  Appendix 2 = Mapping to Council Structure (2026/27 ONlY) ......cceevvevveeeeiiiieeeeee. 16

5 Appendix 3 -=Mapping to Council Risks (2026/27 0NlY).....cccovvveeeeeeeiiiiiiieieeeeeee e, 17

2 of 17 Internal Audit

Page 234



1 Executive Summary

1.1 Introduction and background

Internal Audit's primary role is to provide independent and objective assurance on the
Council's risk management, control, and governance processes. This requires a
continuous rolling review and appraisal of the internal controls of the Council, involving
the examination and evaluation of the adequacy of systems of risk management,
control, and governance.

The purpose of this report is to seek approval of the attached Internal Audit Plan for
2026-2029.

All'audits included in the attached plan, as well as those in future plans, will help inform
Internal Audit’s opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s framework
of governance, risk management and control, which is expressed in an annual report,
and provide assurance to the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee. Where
opportunities for improvement in controls and their application, or improvements in
value for money, are identified these will be reported along with recommendations for
Management to consider.

1.2 Management Commentary

The Internal Audit Plan provides elected members with a mechanism to undertake
scrutiny of the Council’s internal controls as part of a scheduled programme of risk-
based audit work. This Plan, developed by the Chief Internal Auditor in consultation
with the extended Corporate Management Team, reflects the risk appetite of the
organisation and creates the opportunity for the Committee to scrutinise the
effectiveness of our internal controls. The robustness of these controls remains a top
priority and, as such, management support the proportionality and focus of this Plan.

Improvements made to the Internal Audit methodology this year have been helpful. By
alloning Management to determine the timescale for implementing individual
recommendations, prioritisation can be based on all factors, including risk and also
available resource. Changes to the layout of internal audit reports were also
welcomed.

3 of 17 Internal Audit

Page 235



2 Internal Audit Plan

2.1 Plan development

Internal Audit operates with a rolling three-year Plan, designed to provide a clearer
view of priorities and the broader audit universe. This approach offers flexibility in
scheduling work and adapting to changes in risk, priorities, and resources, while
maintaining transparency over planned activity. The Plan is reviewed annually to
ensure it remains aligned with the organisation’s evolving risk environment and
strategic objectives, with updates made as required.

The Plan for 2026-29 is set out at Appendix 1. The planned work with the Aberdeen
City Integration Joint Board and North East Scotland Pension Fund has also been
included.

In formation of the plan, Internal Audit:

e Reviewed historic audit outputs — The initial planning stage involved a
review of completed work from across the previous years. This looked to gauge
the assurance that had been obtained recently and develop a baseline that
could be built upon with the current plan. Where it is hoped that the greatest
coverage can be obtained in a single year, this is not always possible, so
instead it will be ensured that there has been coverage over a number of years,
both previously and forward looking.

e Reviewed the agreed Plan for 2025-28 — In addition to the review of previous
assurance work, the agreed plans for 2026/27 and 2027/28, approved as part
of the 2025-2028 Plan overall, were reviewed. This is the starting position for
the current plan; however, this has changed based on developments in year
and the changing risk profile of the Council.

e Reviewed Management’s progress in implementing agreed audit
recommendations — A review of the work of Management to implement audit
recommendations . This looked to identify any areas where Management has
struggled to implement agreed actions, and where the risks remain, for these
to be factored into the audit plan.

e Reviewed different sources of information — A suite of information, primarily
Committee reporting, was reviewed to further develop Internal Audit's
understanding of the operations and issues of the Council.

e Reviewed information from other assurance providers — Discussions were
held and reports reviewed from other assurance providers, primarily External
Audit. This looked to ensure minimal overlap, whilst also recognising that
Internal Audit is required to gain its own assurances year on year.

e Held discussion with key stakeholders — Discussions were held with key
stakeholders on a one to one basis and as part of other forums across the
Council. These discussions were demand led and focused on three key areas:

o Key risks within the auditable area.
o Any recent or upcoming developments.

4 of 17 Internal Audit

Page 236



o Suggestions for assurance reviews, including value adding pieces of
work.

e Benchmarked against other Scottish Local Authorities — A review of the
Internal Audit plans for other Local Authorities as per their Committee reporting
available online. This looked to gain an understanding of issues being faced
by other Local Authorities and identify any auditable areas for Aberdeen City
Council.

e Utilised Artificial Intelligence — For the first time, Artificial Inteligence
(Microsoft CoPilot) was utilised in the development of the Plan. Where
Microsoft CoPilotis employed where relevant as part of business as usual, in
developing the Plan, the System was utilised for analytical support and to
provide suggestions for considerations of audits based on the Council’s current
operations.

e Mapped to the Council’s functional structure — The proposed Internal audit
Plan, for 2026-27, has been mapped to the Council’s functional structure to
ensure the maximum possible coverage of Council's operations. Please see
Appendix 2.

e Mapped to the Council’s risk register — A review of the Council’s risk
register was carried out, focusing on the Corporate and Cluster levels, and
those risks that are currently outwith appetite. This resulted in the identification
of eight key risk themes that have been used for ensuring appropriate coverage
of different areas across Council operations. Please see Appendix 3.

The plan details what Internal Audit anticipates being able to review in the year,
assuming stability in resources available to the Service. The plan is flexible and can
be amended to reflect changes in priority or because of new risks being introduced or
identified, although consideration needs to be given to the requirement for Internal
Audit to complete sufficient work to provide an evidence based annual opinion. Internal
Audit will continue to review the Council's risk registers and update its own risk
assessments based on audit findings, throughout the Plan’'s term.

All audits included in the attached plan are part of a rolling programme of work, each
element of which will help inform Internal Audit regarding the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Council’s framework of governance, risk management and control,
allowing assurance to be provided regarding those arrangements. Focus will also be
given to key risk areas across all reviews e.g. susceptibility and the occurrence of
fraud. Where opportunities for improvement in controls and their application, or
improvements in Best Value, are identified these will be reported along with
recommendations for Management to consider. This is the priority of the work
however where there are opportunities to provide value adding work, this has been
factored into the plan.

The time allocation for all audits assumes that systems to be reviewed are adequately
documented, detailing the controls put in place by Management, and that testing
identifies that these controls are being complied with. If this is not the case, there will
be an impacton the time taken to review planned areas and on the plan’s achievability.

5 of 17 Internal Audit

Page 237



The Plan also includes time set aside to assist services in developing their controls
and approach to improving compliance. This reflects continuing development of a
more proactive value-added approach by Internal Audit, to supplement the more
traditional core compliance-oriented audit work. For these elements of the Plan there
will not be a separate Internal Audit report to the Audit Risk and Scrutiny Committee.
Highlights from this work will however be provided as part of the regular Internal Audit
progress reports provided to the Committee.

With approval of the Plan, we will work with individual directorates and services to
schedule the audit work for the year. This will look to match our internal resourcing but
also ensure that it is suitable for those relevant stakeholders across the Council. We
will look to ensure that management are not inundated with consecutive audits and
that fieldwork, where most input is required, is at a time which does not clash with
other priorities or commitments.

2.2 Undertaking planned work

When commencing each planned audit, Internal Audit contacts the Director and Chief
Officer responsible for the area to be reviewed along with any other nominated contact
officer. They will be reminded of the objective and scope of the review and of how
Internal Audit intends to achieve the level of assurance required. Officers are invited
to identify any specific aspects of the areato be reviewed that are of particular concern.
Officers are also asked about their risk appetite for the areas under review. All of this
Is factored into the agreed scoping document. Where Internal Audit has planned in
specific reviews around counter fraud, this will be a consideration for all reviews and
factored into scoping where relevant as an inherent risk.

Once fieldwork has been completed, a draft report is issued to the Director and Chief
Officer responsible for the area to be reviewed along with any other nominated contact
officer. Officers will be asked to provide a response to individual findings and to the
report overall. This response should address the points raised and either agree to
address the risks or set out why no action will be taken e.g. within appetite or other
priorities for available resource. At the request of Management, Internal Audit will also
work with officers to ensure their agreed actions recognise the impacts on resource
and where possible seek to ensure automation of processes is considered. Prior to
issuing the final report, Internal Audit seeks confirmation from the Director involved
that they are satisfied with the report and actions agreed to address any identified
issues.

Whilst undertaking planned work, it is possible that Internal Audit may identify
governance issues that are not within the stated scope of the review being undertaken.
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that Internal Audit report such instances
to those charged with governance. In this respect, Internal Audit's reports may contain
issues that appear to be “outwith scope”.

2.3 Resources

6 of 17 Internal Audit

Page 238



To undertake the attached plan, Internal Audit has an establishment of thirteen posts.
It is anticipated that this will be split between Aberdeenshire and Aberdeen City
councils on a 2:1 ratio. Where not presented in this document underlying the Plan is
detailed calculations based on the number of audits days available, which provides
assurance on the level of resource available to deliver the work. On agreement of the
Plan, individual audit days will be assigned to each review, and these will be inline with
the allocation resource, which is again determined to be sufficient to deliver the
planned work.

7 of 17 Internal Audit

Page 239



Ot’¢ abed

3 Appendix 1 — 2026-29 Internal Audit Plan

The below table sets out the Internal Audit Plan for 2026-29. The Plan should be read with the following considerations:

Where each audit has been mapped to a Function (and a Cluster at Appendix 2), some audits will cut across many different
areas of the Council's operations. During the scoping, fieldwork and reporting stages, Internal Audit will engage all officers as
relevant regardless of the area the review has been assigned to.

The same is applicable for the mapping to the Council’'s risk categories. This is to show that consideration has been given to
ensuring the Plan addresses the myriad of risks across the Council’'s operations but individual audits will cut across many
different risk categories; the principal risk has been shown below for ease of review.

Core assurance audits are the typically traditional compliance based reviews that are the foundation for the annual opinion
provided by the Chief Internal Auditor and, where not exclusive, will typically focus on the internal financial controls and
systems. Wider assurance audits are reviews that will focus more on value adding work and the broader governance
framework. Whilst mapping has been provided to show a split in the Plan for the year, the type of review is not exclusive and
Internal Audit will ensure that all work contributes to the annual opinion, whilst also adding value where possible. It is
considered that a mix of both core and wider assurance reviews is required to provide an evidence base on which the Chief
Internal Auditor’s annual opinion can be given.

The planned work with the Aberdeen City Integration Joint Board and North East Scotland Pension Fund for 2026-29 is also

presented.
P Da
0 Auditable Area ODbje e o A a
2026/27
Citv Regeneration To obtain assurance ower the governance arrangements and the agreement in
Yy Reg Joint Mortuary place for management of the Council's responsibilities in relation to the joint Operational Wider
& Environment
mortuary.
To assess whether governance, financial controls, and project management
City Regeneration Capital Programme arrangements for the capital programme ensure delivery within approved budgets, .
h . . ' o . . : o Operational Core
& Environment Delivery timescales, and strategic objectives. This review will also specifically look at the

work of the Capital Control Board

8 of 17

Internal Audit




Tt abed

Function

City Regeneration

Auditable Area

Objective

To assess the adequacy and effectiveness of controls over the issuance,

Principal
Risk

Assurance

> Fixed Penalty Notices processing, and enforcement of Fixed Penalty Notices to ensure compliance with Operational Wider
& Environment o . S
legislation and Council policies.
City Regeneration To evaluate the efficiency, effectiveness, and compliance of the Council's energy . .
& Environment Energy From Waste from waste controls in achieving sustainable waste management. Operational Wider
Corporate Seniices Contractual To assess the adequacy and effectlveness_ of contractual arrangements and Operational Core
Performance performance management for projects across the Council.
. Information To obtain assurance over the Council’s approach to information governance, and . .
Corporate Senices . . : o Strategic Wider
Gowvernance specific compliance with GDPR legislation.
Corporate Senices Recovery of Payroll To provide assurance that overpayments are identified and recovered consistently Financial Core
P Owverpayments and timeously.
To provide assurance on the effectiveness of internal controls, governance and risk
Corporate Senices IT Procurement management processes related to goods and senices procurement in relation to Financial Core
IT.
To consider whether appropriate control is being exercised over the income
. Income Management . - ; : - .
Corporate Senices Svstem management system, including contingency planning and disaster recovery, and Operational Core
y that interfaces to and from other systems are accurate and properly controlled.
. Privileged System To ensure privileged system access across the Council is controlled to mitigate the . .
Corporate Senices Access isk of fraud. Operational Wider
To consider whether procedures for ensuring timely recording of the
Corporate Senices Fixed Asset Register ach|S|t|on/.d|sposaI Qf assets are aqequate, revaluations are undertaken in- Financial Core
accordance with recognised best practice, that a sample of recorded assets exist
and those assets that should be recorded are done so.
Families & Demand for School To obtain assurance over the Council’s approach meeting the demand for school o . .
” ; perational Wider
Communities Places places across the authority.
Famllleg & Housing Void Control To ensure that adequate procedures are in operation relating to the control of woid Operational Core
Communities properties.
Families & Security in Schools To provide assurance that the Council has adequate security arrangements in Operational Core

Communities

respect of the Council’s school estate and its school pupils.

9 of 17

Internal Audit




2 abed

Function

Health & Social

Auditable Area

Child Care to Adult

Objective

To review the adequacy of procedures for transitioning individuals from child care

Principal
Risk

Assurance

impact on attendance.

. ", to adult care senvices, ensuring continuity and compliance with statutory Operational Wider
1 il
Care Partnership Care Transition requirements.
Health & Social Self-Directed Support To obtain assurance over the processes in place for administering self-directed Operational Core
Care Partnership Payments support payments. P
Consultin To support various opportunities for change, including providing appropriate
Various ng checks and challenges to ensure risks, governance and internal controls are given Various Wider
Opportunities . . .
timely consideration as part of key change programmes and systems development.
2027/28
City Regeneratlon Beach Master Plan To review the procurement governance in place with regards to the Beach Master Strategic Wider
& Environment Plan.
ity Regeneration To provi ran h rnan nd financial nd of the In men . .
City ege eratio Investment Zone 0 provide assurance ower the governance and financial spend of the Investment Strategic Wider
& Environment Zone.
City Regeneration Crematorium To ensure that the control framework is designed and operating effectively across Operational Wider
& Environment all aspects of Aberdeen Crematorium. P
Corporate Senices Procurement Fraud To ensure there are robgst procegiures in place to prevent, detect, and address Financial Core
Controls potential fraud in the procurement process.
To evaluate whether low-value procurement activity is compliant with policy,
. Low Value - . " . . . . .
Corporate Senices Procurement Review appropriately controlled, and monitored to mitigate cumulative spend risks and Financial Wider
potential Best Value concerns.
Corporate Senices Bank Reconciliations To obtain assurance that adequate procedures are in place which ensure that Financial Core
P accurate, timely reconciliations are produced, and differences addressed.
Corporate Seniices Councillor Payroll and To assess the accuracy, completeness, and co_mpllance of payroll and expense Financial Core
Expenses payments to councillors.
. Council Financial To obtain assurance that the Council has appropriate arrangements in place to . .
Corporate Senvices - . . s " . T Financial Core
Resilience manage its financial resilience, specifically with the areas within its control.
To obtain assurance that controls in this area are designed and operating
. Attendance . . - ) . - . .
Corporate Senices Management effectively and to determine whether the Council's approach is having a positive Operational Wider

! This review will also engage w ith the relevant functions w ithin the Families & Communities Directorate.

10 of 17

Internal Audit




et abed

Function

Auditable Area

Objective

To ensure controls are in place over the Council’s use of licences across its suite

Principal
Risk

Assurance

Communities

and Kinship

elements of calculation, award and payments of allowances.

Corporate Senices System Licences Operational Wider
of systems.
o To obtain assurance that adequate procedures are in place, and are being
. Access & Sensitive L : L . .
Corporate Senices Records followed, for the management of building access and the holding of sensitive Operational Wider
records.
To assess whether the ALEO Assurance Hub provides effective owersight, risk
Corporate Senices ALEO Assurance management, and compliance monitoring in line with council governance Operational Core
requirements?.
To undertake a review of timesheets and allowance claim forms to ensure that they
Corporate Senices Timesheets are being completed and authorised properly and, where appropriate, clusters Financial Core
could support and justify the hours being claimed.
. RAAC Private Home . .
Families & Owner Sale To evaluate the approach to RAAC private home owner sale transactions to ensure Financial Wider
Communities . transparency, accuracy, and adherence to council policies.
Transactions
Families & . . . . .
. PROTECT To ensure the Council's compliance with PROTECT requirements. Compliance Core
Communities
. To ensure establishments have adequate procedures in place to manage the
Families & : - ) X ! I . .
” Primary Visits financial aspects of the establishment and comply with the Council’s Financial Operational Core
Communities :
Regulations.
Families & . To assess whether IT assets in schools are managed and safeguarded effectively . .
Communities Education IT Assets to prevent loss, misuse, or data security breaches. Operational Wider
To obtain assurance that all aspects of payroll administration are adequately
. controlled, and that payment is being made accurately to bona fide employees,
Families & . - . . .
Communities Teachers Payroll cowering new starts, changes of circumstance, and Ieaver_s along with the payment Financial Core
of additional hours and allowances. A focus will also be given to any overpayments
and their recovery.
Families & Fosterina. Adoption To provide assurance that adequate procedures are in place governing the
9 P Fostering, Adoption and Kinship Care. This review will also focus on the financial Operational Wider

2 This review will also look to provide assurance over the transfer of Bon Accord Care.

11 of 17

Internal Audit




¢ obed

Principal

Function Auditable Area Objective Risk Assurance
Health & Social HSCP Out of Authority To assess whether gowvernance, approyal, and_ monitoring arrangements for out-of- _ _
Care Partnership Placements authority placements ensure compllance W|_th policy, cost-effectiveness, and Financial Core
safeguarding of senice users.
Health & Social Day Care To consider whether adequate control is exercised over income, expenditure, and Operational Core
Care Partnership Establishments payroll across Day Care Establishments. P
Consultin To support various opportunities for change, including providing appropriate
Various ng checks and challenges to ensure risks, governance and internal controls are given Various Wider
Opportunities . . .
timely consideration as part of key change programmes and systems development.
2028/29
City Regeneratlon Fleet Management To gain assurance over the key controls in place regarding vehicle usage. Operational Wider
& Environment
City Regeneration Heritage and Historical | To consider whether adequate control is exercised over heritage / historical assets' Operational Wider
& Environment Assets inventory management owver the key controls in place regarding vehicle usage. P
Citv Regeneration To assess whether processes for securing, monitoring, and enforcing developer
y Reg Deweloper Obligations obligations are robust, transparent, and ensure timely delivery of agreed Operational Wider
& Environment L . )
contributions and infrastructure commitments.
. To review the controls in place to ensure accurate data is used in the Council's : .
Corporate Senices Payroll Data Financial Core
payroll processes.
Corporate Senices First Line Management To review the controls in place to ensure first line Management are aware of their Operational Wider
P Development corporate responsibilities and are discharging these effectively. P
Corporate Senices | Cyber Risk Resilience To provide assurance that cybgr security controls and re§|l|ence measures are Operational Core
effective in safeguarding systems and data against threats.
Corporate Senices Procurement To review the processes in place centrally to monitor procurement across the Strategic Core
P Monitoring Council. This review will look at the resource and capacity within the central Team. 9
To provide assurance that the Council has made appropriate arrangements to deal
. with the requirements of Off-Payroll Working legislation (IR35) and that senices .
Corporate Sences IR35 have taken the required action to identify any individuals who may be subject to the Compliance Core
requirements and are ensuring compliance.
Corporate Senices Disclosure Scotland To provide assurance that appropriate Disclosure Scotland checks are being Compliance Core
P Checks obtained, in advance of employment, as required. P

12 of 17

Internal Audit



Gi¢ abed

Function

Auditable Area

National Fraud

Objective

To review the Council’s engagement and controls for actioning outputs of the

Principal
Risk

Assurance

Corporate Senvces Initiative National Fraud Initiative. Compliance Core
Corporate Senices Credits Management To ensure credits are adequately controlled to mitigate the risk of fraud. Financial Core
. . To provide assurance that arrangements in place adequately manage health and
Fam|l|e§ & Health and Safety in safety risks in the classroom particularly in relation to science and technical Compliance Core
Communities Schools
classes.
. To ensure establishments havwe adequate procedures in place to manage the
Families & - , ) . ; A . .
o Secondary Visits financial aspects of the establishment and comply with the Council’s Financial Operational Core
Communities :
Regulations.
Families & Corporate Parentin To assess whether corporate parenting responsibilities are fulfilled effectively and Compliance Core
Communities P 9 in line with statutory requirements. P
Health & Social Out of Hours Social To ensure that out-of-hours social work arrangements are robust, responsive, and .
. . . Operational Core
Care Partnership Work supported by appropriate gowvernance and risk management processes.
; To evaluate whether Health and Social Care Partnership commissioning
Health & Social L - . . . .
Care Partnershi HSCP Commissioning arrangements are robust, transparent, and aligned with strategic objectives, Operational Core
P ensuring value for money and quality of senices delivered.
: To support various opportunities for change, including providing appropriate
. Consulting . . . . .
Various Opportunities checks and challenges to ensure risks, governance and internal controls are given Various Wider

timely consideration as part of key change programmes and systems dewelopment.

13 of 17

Internal Audit




9t¢ abed

2026/27

Integration Joint

IJB Gowernance

To evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of governance arrangements within
the Integration Joint Board, ensuring compliance with statutory requirements and

Strategic Core
Board . L L ;
clarity of roles, responsibilities, and decision-making processes
Integration Joint Alcohol anth_Drugs To review the ADP’s governance and working arrangements to ensure they are Operational Wider
Board Partnership effective and fit for purpose. P
2027/28
Integration Joint Civil Contingencies To provide assurance that the IJB’s civil contingency a.rrangements are appropriate Strategic Core
Board to meet relevant statutory duties.
2028/29
Integration Joint IJB Performance To provide assurance that the 1JB's performance controls are aligned to its Strategic Core
Board Management Strategic Plan, Medium Term Financial Framework and national outcomes. 9
14 of 17 Internal Audit




/¢ abed

2026/27
North East Pension Fund Fraud
Scotland Pension Prevention and To assess the adequacy and effectiveness of contro_ls designed to preven;, d_etect, Financial Core
Fund Detection and respond to fraudulent pension payments and inaccurate death notifications
2027/28
North East . . . . .
. . To evaluate the effectiveness and compliance of investment strategies, ensuring .
Scotlagtlalml':;ensmn Pensions Investments alignment with regulatory requirements and Fund objectives. Strategic Core
2028/29
North East Pension Fund . .
Scotland Pension Governance To provide assurance over the governance arrangements and procedures in place Strategic Core
Fund Arrangements including risk management and performance management.
15 of 17 Internal Audit




4 Appendix 2 — Mapping to Council Structure (2026/27 only)

The below table maps the Internal Audit Plan for 2026/27 to the Council’'s Service Structure. Where not presented, consideration has
been given, and assurance is provided that the 2027/28 and 2028/29 plans give reasonable coverage of the different services across
the Council®.

orporate Se e Regeneration & O e a es & Co e Othe
Commercial

8¢ abed

Strategic Place Planning

Education & Lifelong Learning

Health & Social Care and 1JB

. IT Procurement
. Contractual Performance

. Demand for School Places
e  Security in Schools

e  Self-Directed Support Payments
. JB Governance
e  Alcohol and Drugs Partnership

Governance

City Development & Regeneration

Children’s Social Work & Family

Pension Fund

. Information Governance

e  Fixed Penalty Notices

. Child Care to Adult Care Transition

. Fraud Prevention and Detection

Digital & Technology

Operations

Corporate Landlord

e  Privileged Systems Access

. Energy From Waste
e  Joint Mortuary

Finance

Capital

Housing

e  Fixed Asset Register
. Income Management System

e  Capital Programme Delivery

e  Housing Void Control

People & Citizen

e Recovery of Payroll Overpayments

Data Insights

3 It is not a requirement to audit each area of the Council each year. How ever, itis noted that Data Insights, Corporate Landlord, and Strategic Place Planning have no scheduled 2026/27 reviews. t
should be noted that these areas have been audited in recentyears, willbe included in w ider Council corporate reviews carried out centrally, and have dedicated audits across 2027/28 and 2028/29.

16 of 17 Internal Audit



61¢ abed

5 Appendix 3 — Mapping to Council Risks (2026/27 only)

A review of the Council’s risk register was carried out, focusing on those at the Corporate and Cluster levels, and those that are
currently outwith appetite. This resulted in the identification of six key risk themes* that have been used for ensuring appropriate
coverage of different areas across Council operations.

| Identified Risk Areas®,6

Workforce Capacity and Organisational Financial Sustainability Compliance”
Resilience

e Recovery of Payroll Overpayments e  Fraud Prevention and Detection ¢ Information Governance

e  Fixed Asset Register

Procurement and Supply Chain

IT, Systems and Cyber Security

Service Delivery®

. IT Procurement
. Contractual Performance

. Income Management System
e  Privileged SystemAccess

. JB Governance
Alcohol and Drugs Partnership

e  Energy From Waste
e  Capital Programme Delivery
e  Fixed Penalty Notices
e  Joint Mortuary
e  Demand for School Places
e  Housing Void Control
e  Security in Schools
e  Self-Directed Support Payments
e  Child Care to Adult Care Transition

*These six key risk themes have been identified by Internal Auditbased on those main areas across the Council’'s Risk Register. Below these overarching themes are individual risks that are being
managed through different mitigating actions, and the Council has a range of differentassurancesover. There are also other unique risks that have not been included above; Internal Audit seeks to
gain reasonable and not absolute assurance.

®Where an audit has been mapped to a certain risk, this w ill not be the only risk that the review will focus on; detailed scoping will be carried out prior to commencement of the w ork, and it is anticipated
that work will cut across many different risks. The mapping above is only for illustrative purposes to show consideration of the different risks the Council faces.

© Some audits are focused on w ider aspects of the Council's operations that do not directly align w ith the six identified risks. Where this is the case, the audit has been mapped to the riskthat is seen
to most align or support the mitigation of overall.

" This category encompasses the corporate risks around Health and Safety Compliance, Climate Change and Civil Contingencies.

8 This category encompasses the corporate risks around Reinforced Autoclaved Concrete Panels and Planks (RAAC) and the Council's responsibilities in relation to Resettlement and Asylum.

17 of 17 Internal Audit



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 250



	Agenda
	5.1 Minute of Previous Meeting of 27 November 2025
	6.1 Committee Business Planner
	9.1 ALEO Assurance Hub Workplan and Terms of Reference - CORS/26/033
	ALEOTofR2026
	ALEOHubWorkPlan2026

	9.2 Use of Investigatory Powers Annual report - CORS/26/032
	9.3 Lessons learned following the decision of the Court of Session: Norman Esslemont v Aberdeen City Council - CRE/26/035
	9.4 Corporate Landlord Responsibilities- Follow Up Report - F&C/26/034
	9.5 Internal Audit Charter - IA/26/002
	Appendix A-InternalAuditCharter

	9.6 Internal Audit Update Report - IA/26/001
	Appendix A-InternalAudit-UpdateReport

	9.7 RAAC Response - AC2610
	9.8 Agency Costs - AC2604
	9.9 City Region Deal - AC2611
	9.10 Trade Waste - AC2614
	9.11 Internal Audit Plan 2026-2029 - IA/26/003
	Appendix A-InternalAuditPlan


